
02/11/2019 - Commerce Tourism (2:30 PM - 4:00 PM) 2019 Regular Session 

Customized 02/12/2019 9:41 AM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 1 of 1 

Tab 1 SB 180 by Stargel; (Similar to H 00423) Lost or Abandoned Personal Property 

 

Tab 2 SB 298 by Montford (CO-INTRODUCERS) Torres; Rural Businesses 

 

Tab 3 SB 414 by Lee; (Identical to H 00233) Sports Development 

 

Tab 5 SB 178 by Gruters; (Identical to H 06031) Florida Tourism Marketing 

 



 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02112019.1520 Page 1 of 2 

2019 Regular Session     The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    COMMERCE AND TOURISM 

 Senator Gruters, Chair 

 Senator Torres, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Monday, February 11, 2019 

TIME: 2:30—4:00 p.m. 
PLACE: Toni Jennings Committee Room, 110 Senate Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Gruters, Chair; Senator Torres, Vice Chair; Senators Hutson, Stewart, and Wright 
 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
SB 180 

Stargel 
(Similar H 423) 
 

 
Lost or Abandoned Personal Property; Providing that 
certain provisions relating to lost or abandoned 
property do not apply to personal property lost or 
abandoned on the premises of certain complexes or 
facilities if certain conditions are met; providing for the 
disposal or donation of personal property lost or 
abandoned on the premises of certain complexes or 
facilities, in certain circumstances, etc. 
 
CM 02/11/2019 Favorable 
RC   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 3 Nays 0 
 

 
2 
 

 
SB 298 

Montford 
 

 
Rural Businesses; Creating the “Florida Rural Job 
and Business Recovery Act”; requiring the 
Department of Economic Opportunity to accept 
applications for certification as a growth fund 
beginning on a specified date; requiring the 
department to certify approved applicants as growth 
funds and to specify their required investment 
authority and investor contributions; providing that an 
investor who makes an investor contribution is vested 
with a credit against state premium tax liability; 
authorizing growth funds to request a written opinion 
from the department as to whether a business 
qualifies as a growth business, etc. 
 
CM 02/11/2019 Favorable 
FT   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 3 Nays 0 
 

 
3 
 

 
SB 414 

Lee 
(Identical H 233) 
 

 
Sports Development; Repealing provisions relating to 
state funding for sports facility development by a unit 
of local government, or by a certified beneficiary or 
other applicant, on property owned by the local 
government, etc. 
 
CM 02/11/2019 Favorable 
ATD   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 3 Nays 0 
 

 
4 
 

 
Presentation by Dana Young, President and CEO of VISIT FLORIDA 
 
 

 
Presented 
        
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Commerce and Tourism 
Monday, February 11, 2019, 2:30—4:00 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02112019.1520 Page 2 of 2 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
5 
 

 
SB 178 

Gruters 
(Identical H 6031) 
 

 
Florida Tourism Marketing; Amending provisions 
relating to the Florida Tourism Industry Marketing 
Corporation direct-support organization and the 
Division of Tourism Marketing of Enterprise Florida, 
Inc., respectively; abrogating the scheduled repeal of 
provisions related to the corporation and the division, 
respectively, etc. 
 
CM 02/11/2019 Favorable 
ATD   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 3 Nays 0 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Commerce and Tourism  

 

BILL:  SB 180 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Stargel 

SUBJECT:  Lost or Abandoned Personal Property 

DATE:  February 8, 2019 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Little  McKay  CM  Favorable 

2.     RC   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 180 allows an owner or operator of a theme park, entertainment complex, zoo, museum, 

aquarium, public food service establishment, or public lodging establishment to elect to dispose 

of or donate lost or abandoned property found on its premises. 

 

Under the bill, an owner or operator who elects to dispose of or donate lost or abandoned 

property must first take charge of the property, maintain a record of the property, and hold the 

property for at least 30 days. The bill prohibits the owner or operator from selling the property. If 

the property remains unclaimed after 30 days, the owner or operator must dispose of or donate 

the property to a charitable institution. If a charitable institution accepts certain electronic 

devices, the bill requires the charitable institution to make a reasonable effort to delete all 

personal data from the device before its sale or disposal. 

 

The bill also provides that the rightful owner of the property may reclaim the property at any 

time before its disposal or donation.   

 

The bill takes effect on July 1, 2019. 

 

 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 180   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

Procedures for Handling Lost or Abandoned Property 

Chapter 705, F.S., requires individuals who find lost1 or abandoned2 personal property to report 

the description and location of the property to a law enforcement officer.3 The law enforcement 

officer must allow the finder of the property an opportunity to make a claim to recover the 

property if the rightful owner is not identified or located.4 If a claim is made, the title of the 

unclaimed property vests in the finder of the property after a 90-day custodial time period.5 If a 

claim is not made, the title of the unclaimed property may vest in the law enforcement officer or 

agency, so long as specified notice requirements are met.6 

 

Exceptions 

Current law exempts institutions of higher learning and public airports from having to report lost 

or abandoned property to a law enforcement officer.7 Instead, the handling of the property occurs 

internally, with a designated individual taking charge of lost or abandoned property and making 

a record of the date the property is found. The designated individual must wait 30 days before 

retaining, trading, donating, selling, or disposing of the property.8 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill allows certain facilities to opt out of the provisions under ss. 705.1015-106, F.S., 

requiring lost or abandoned property to be reported to a law enforcement officer.  

 

Under the bill, the owner or operator of a theme park or entertainment complex,9 a zoo, a 

museum, an aquarium, a public food service establishment,10 or a public lodging establishment11 

licensed under part I of ch. 509, F.S., may opt out of reporting lost or abandoned property to a 

                                                 
1 Section 705.101(2), F.S., defines “lost property” as “all tangible personal property without an identifiable owner which has 

been mislaid on public property, upon a public conveyance, on premises used at the time for a business purpose, or in parks, 

places of amusement, public recreation areas, or other places open to the public. The property must be in a substantially 

operable, functioning condition or have an apparent intrinsic value to the rightful owner.” 
2 Section 705.101(3), F.S., defines “abandoned property” as “all tangible personal property that does not have an identifiable 

owner and that has been disposed on public property in a wrecked, inoperative, or partially dismantled condition. 

Alternatively, it is property without apparent, intrinsic value to the rightful owner.”  
3 Section 705.102, F.S. 
4 Id. 
5 To make a claim, the finder of the property must deposit with the law enforcement agency a reasonable sum sufficient to 

cover the agency’s cost for transportation, storage, and publication of notice. If the rightful owner reclaims the property, he or 

she must refund the deposit to the person who found the property. Section 705.102(2), F.S. 
6 See s. 705.103, F.S., providing specific procedural requirements for abandoned property and lost property before its 

disposition, donation, or sale. 
7 See ss. 705.17-705.184, F.S. 
8 Sections 705.18 and 705.182, F.S. 
9 Section 509.013(9), F.S., defines a “theme park or entertainment complex” as “a complex comprised of at least 

25 contiguous acres owned and controlled by the same business entity and which contains permanent exhibitions and a 

variety of recreational actives and has a minimum of 1 million visitors annually.” 
10 See s. 509.013(5), F.S. 
11 See ss. 509.013(4) and 509.242, F.S. 



BILL: SB 180   Page 3 

 

law enforcement officer. Instead, lost or abandoned property must be delivered to the owner or 

operator of the facility.  

 

The owner or operator must take charge of the lost or abandoned property and maintain a record 

of the date the property was found. If the property is not claimed within 30 days, the owner or 

operator must dispose of or donate the property to a charitable institution that is exempt from 

federal income tax under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

 

The bill allows the charitable institution to sell or dispose of donated property. However, if a 

charitable institution accepts an electronic device12 that is unsecured by a password or other 

personal identification technology, the charitable institution is required to make a reasonable 

effort to delete all personal data from the device before the charitable institution sells or disposes 

of the device. 

 

The bill prohibits the owner or operator from selling the property and also provides that the 

rightful owner of the property is entitled to reclaim the property from the owner or operator at 

any time before the property is disposed of or donated.  

 

The bill takes effect on July 1, 2019. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. State Tax or Fee Increases: 

None. 

E. Other Constitutional Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
12 Section 815.03(9), F.S., defines “electronic device” as “a device or a portion of a device that is designed for and capable of 

communicating across a computer network with other computers or devices for the purpose of transmitting, receiving, or 

storing data, including, but not limited to, a cellular telephone, tablet, or other portable device designed for and capable of 

communicating with or across a computer network and that is actually used for such purpose.” 



BILL: SB 180   Page 4 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

The bill substantially amends section 705.17 of the Florida Statutes. 

 

The bill creates section 705.185 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 180 

 

 

  

By Senator Stargel 

 

 

 

 

 

22-00791A-19 2019180__ 

 Page 1 of 3  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to lost or abandoned personal 2 

property; amending s. 705.17, F.S.; providing that 3 

certain provisions relating to lost or abandoned 4 

property do not apply to personal property lost or 5 

abandoned on the premises of certain complexes or 6 

facilities if certain conditions are met; creating s. 7 

705.185, F.S.; providing for the disposal or donation 8 

of personal property lost or abandoned on the premises 9 

of certain complexes or facilities, in certain 10 

circumstances; authorizing the rightful owner of such 11 

lost or abandoned personal property to reclaim such 12 

property before its disposal or donation; requiring a 13 

charitable institution to make a reasonable effort to 14 

delete certain information from an electronic device 15 

in certain circumstances; providing an effective date. 16 

  17 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 18 

 19 

Section 1. Section 705.17, Florida Statutes, is amended to 20 

read: 21 

705.17 Exceptions.— 22 

(1) Sections The provisions of ss. 705.101-705.106 do not 23 

apply of this chapter shall not be applied to any personal 24 

property lost or abandoned on the campus of any institution in 25 

the State University System or on premises owned or controlled 26 

by the operator of a public-use airport having regularly 27 

scheduled international passenger service. 28 

(2) Sections 705.1015-705.106 do not apply to any personal 29 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 180 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-00791A-19 2019180__ 

 Page 2 of 3  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

property lost or abandoned on premises located within a theme 30 

park or entertainment complex, as defined in s. 509.013(9), or 31 

operated as a zoo, a museum, or an aquarium, or on the premises 32 

of a public food service establishment or a public lodging 33 

establishment licensed under part I of chapter 509, if the owner 34 

or operator of such premises elects to comply with s. 705.185. 35 

Section 2. Section 705.185, Florida Statutes, is created to 36 

read: 37 

705.185 Disposal of personal property lost or abandoned on 38 

the premises of certain facilities.—When any lost or abandoned 39 

personal property is found on premises located within a theme 40 

park or entertainment complex, as defined in s. 509.013(9), or 41 

operated as a zoo, a museum, or an aquarium, or on the premises 42 

of a public food service establishment or a public lodging 43 

establishment licensed under part I of chapter 509, if the owner 44 

or operator of such premises elects to comply with this section, 45 

any lost or abandoned property must be delivered to such owner 46 

or operator, who must take charge of the property and make a 47 

record of the date such property was found. If the property is 48 

not claimed by its owner within 30 days after it is found, or a 49 

longer period of time as may be deemed appropriate by the owner 50 

or operator of the premises, the owner or operator of the 51 

premises may not sell and must dispose of the property or donate 52 

it to a charitable institution that is exempt from federal 53 

income tax under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code for 54 

sale or other disposal as the charitable institution deems 55 

appropriate. The rightful owner of the property may reclaim the 56 

property from the owner or operator of the premises at any time 57 

before the disposal or donation of the property in accordance 58 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 180 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-00791A-19 2019180__ 

 Page 3 of 3  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

with this section and the established policies and procedures of 59 

the owner or operator of the premises. A charitable institution 60 

that accepts an electronic device, as defined in s. 815.03(9), 61 

access to which is not secured by a password or other personal 62 

identification technology, shall make a reasonable effort to 63 

delete all personal data from the electronic device before its 64 

sale or disposal. 65 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2019. 66 



Appearing at request of Chair:   Yes     No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 1 [ Yes   noWhile it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14) C 
T3

CD 3:

>
Q_
Q.

CD
V>
C/>

2
)

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14) >
D
T3
CD
a>

2.
Z5 
(Q
£D

<D
C
CD
(/>r- *

o
K

o
3-
03

CD
)

O
cr
CT

U)'
r 

C 
CQ
O)'

CD
5

CD
C 

C 
CQ
21
0)
c
CD

CD
)

?v

a?
T3

W
CD
3
f t*
3"

CQ

)
3
D
3

7 

CQ

z
o

s
r.)

*

>
CQ
0 '
W

03

>
Q.

3
3

O
O' 03

5

df 1

;

O
3
0

f~ |

I
O
T3
o'

03
t3

Cr

CD

¦o
¦D

I'
Cr

.CD"

;

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



5)'

S 
I
S) 
•o
Q)

O

5
o
t3
6
S
O
O

S’

5> 
S
o
fQ
Ef.
5
tQ

(f)
oo

> C_ z 1
Q. o Q) O
Q. O 13 "D

cB H 13
CD o'

V> r f*
(/) (D

>. /

s
(t>
EJ-.

CQ
D
03

03

S
S'
Cr

0D

1
1 
C 

SS"

Tl
¦o

2
S
fn
3
o
o
%
o

p
0

1
s?I
s

ea 

o



3
</> 

to'

T3
0)

o

<b
"S
c
cr

(D
o
o
5.
S 
¦1

5 
3
o
<D
S'
3 

«Q

C 
o

3  
CD
C3-. C 

CQ  

H S'3 0)
8 g>
CD §
3- C 

-
Q. 3
° S-
co 5»'
"S o'
C   
Q>  .S'

3 CD
8

-g

8 <§C 
TD
c

3' S'
E -   
i-* O*
O' 3 
o o
" ' 3

S 
Q) 2
5- ©

S 2
S' o

o
CD

3
C 
3

~0  3
D CD
3 2
O O
? oCO   
0) s:
C  5
- , C 3 3° 8
0  r5
co
3
C 

3

CO
O "O
© CD
O C 
Cr
© R*

3 o-
- ©

©
a
©

3-
S 

>
"D
T5
CO
Q 
3
Z3 
(Q
0)

C 
2
C
CD
CO

o
IX
03

-<
CO
C 

s

o
cr
cr
t "
H*

"S
CD
eg
co'
r-4-
0

s

CL

O r 

0
eg
eg
0
f hC
-5
0

s
-<
00

73
CO

T3
i00

0
13
I 

CD

>00
o
o
g'
0
Q.
5"
CL
c
0f 5 *
Z20'

0

CL
0

3 > C_
¦Q Q. O
0 CL ex
0
7C

50 _j
0 !Z£.

CQ 0 0

D
n
o-I

>
CD
0

3 -

O 0
© 0 
s ©
§. 0

if
CL ' '

N
¦6'

H  n0 5
0 ® O)

" z000 >
0 Q.
0 0

3
0
03

¦n
r-

0 
ho
00

ho

m 0
3

_

0'
o
0
0

:E
3-
©
3" _
S1 =3
3 (/)
© =
3-. (2
O ¦D
3 O
3 *

? 
oO 0
a  <Z 0

00
Uio
dn
K3

ro
CD

00

C 
0
o'

<
o
0

0
CL
0
0

0 O
3 ¦§-
0  
CD
0

f  0
s

00
0
<"

>
cr
0
o
Q,
O
0
0
Q.
¦U
0
-?
0
o
0
0_

J
¦s
O
3
0

©33
I
CP
CD

©
a-.

CQ

o©

0
s
C
3
Cr
©-i

I
S'
Cr
.S'

ho

CD

?
2

» ©
l b
0

CO O(D  LWm
(P

ai2!i 5s O
» O
§ ©
§ O

COo

I
p
0

§

1
3



This form is part of the public record for this meeting.

3

o

3  
CD Sy
£3-. CD

CQ
55 

§ g>
is-

Q. 2
° 9-
¦8
CD
CD
?c-

3
O
CD
3
O

ll
S t3
Q. C
S'g:

o
3' c 
S+:  3

S 2'
m O

3
D

3
CD

CD
3

3

5 a
D 2.

T3
CD

CD

)

3
CD

3 a
o o
?  0)
CD
0)

O ?
o) ,203 CQ
2: g
® C 
o  3
2 CD
s a>
r ¦5C'

2  C2- CD
CD
2.
CD

'

>
"O
T3

D)
12
Z3 

CQ
0

0
JQ
C
00
O
-h

O
IT
0

<
00

s

o
cr
cr
*<
0"
f¦+*

0
CQ
0"

0
0
Q.

0
CQ
0]
0r-+*
c- 
0

s
<

00

0
T3-i
0
0
0
ZJ
5"

CQ

13
o
Z2
q.'

o
zr

3
cr

O
o
3
3
0

sO
0

(/)
T3
0
0
?C

s 
CQ

T|
O

>
CQ
0

>
Q.
Q.
i

00
0

Z3"t 
O
3 03
0 2
5  S

5

<
2  o)

Q q
CD C/5

S 0
5. 0
== 7 

2
CD CQ
Q. ' '

3  j Co
* 9L §¦ 00

O)
zr 0)00 00
0
0 o
0 Z5

O
c

CQ
r

(/)

r 

0 
h 
0 o

Q _
S  3

§.-§
o"o
5 o
3' 

In
8£
o 0
2.::J'

0

m
0

5.
o
zr
D0
O
Z3

O
zr
0
3
c 
0
b
o
3

o
cr

0
)

o
o'

J'
O
Q
0
00
cno
cn
I J

hooo

0 o
3 I-0 O
O
0

Z3 >
C 
0
Z3
Q.
O
Z3
0
Q.
"0
0

o
D
0

o
T3
0
3

¦§

8
cr

hO

00

¦o
¦o

2
§
%
fii
Si
o
o
%
o

s
p
0

1
S?1
3

00o



3
S'

9
S'

3
QJ
I*
O
¦~h

3
C6

S
o
o
Q.

S 
?S'

3
<t>
(D
3'

«3

V)

'
OJ
Cr
S'

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Commerce and Tourism  

 

BILL:  SB 298 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Montford 

SUBJECT:  Rural Businesses 

DATE:  February 8, 2019 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Harmsen  McKay  CM  Favorable 

2.     FT   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 298 creates s. 288.062, F.S., the Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act (Act or 

Program). The Act encourages investment in rural communities by allowing investors to earn 

state insurance premium tax credits equal to their investment in certified growth funds. In turn, 

the growth funds will invest in qualified growth businesses located in Florida’s non-urbanized 

areas. The Act caps investment at a level that will result in no more than $15 million in tax 

credits cumulatively claimed under the Program each year. 

 

The Department of Economic Opportunity (Department or DEO) will administer the Act by 

certifying growth funds, granting tax credits to investors, and if necessary, revoking the fund’s 

tax credits and authority.  

 

The bill provides ongoing requirements for the growth funds to meet while participating in the 

Act, allows growth funds to reinvest their rural growth investments, and outlines steps for a 

growth fund to withdraw from the program.  

 

The Revenue Estimating Conference has not yet determined the fiscal impact of the bill.  

II. Present Situation: 

The U.S. Census Bureau defines urban areas as urbanized areas of 50,000 or more population 

and urban clusters of at least 2,500 and less than 50,000 population.1 The Census Bureau 

considers anything that is not an urban area to be rural.2 Geographically, 86.2 percent of 

Florida’s land lies in rural areas but only 8.8 percent of Florida’s population lives those rural 

                                                 
1 U.S. Census Bureau, Defining Rural at the U.S. Census Bureau: American Community Survey and Geography Brief, 3 

(Dec. 2016), available at https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/reference/ua/Defining_Rural.pdf (last visited Feb. 8, 2019). 75 

FR 53029 (2011). 
2 U.S. Census Bureau, supra note 1, at 1. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 298   Page 2 

 

areas.3 Higher population density in Florida’s urban areas drives a more robust jobs market and 

overall economic development.4  

 

Economic Development Incentives Targeted to Florida’s Rural Communities 

Rural Economic Development Initiative 

The Rural Economic Development Initiative (REDI) encourages and facilitates the location and 

expansion of economic development projects of significant scale in Florida’s rural communities.5 

The REDI, which is administered by the DEO, coordinates the efforts and resources of state and 

regional agencies on the problems that affect the fiscal, economic, and community viability of 

Florida’s economically distressed rural communities.6 In particular, the REDI acts in rural areas 

of opportunity7 (RAO) to promote the location or expansion of businesses to the RAO to serve as 

economic generators.8  

 

Regional Rural Development Grant Program9 

The Regional Rural Development Grant Program provides matching grants to build the 

professional capacity of Florida’s regional economic development organizations (EDO). 

Additionally, an EDO may use the program’s grants to provide technical assistance to businesses 

within the rural counties and communities that it serves. A grant to an EDO is capped at $50,000, 

or $150,000 in a RAO, per year; the EDO must match the state’s grant with non-state resources. 

The DEO administers the grant program through a contract with Enterprise Florida, Inc.10 In 

fiscal year 2017-2018, the DEO allocated $586,000 to EDOs.11,12  

 

Rural Infrastructure Fund13 

The Florida Rural Infrastructure Fund (Fund) facilitates the planning, preparation, and financing 

of traditional economic development or nature-based tourism infrastructure projects that 

encourage job creation and capital investment in rural communities. The DEO administers the 

Fund and may award grants or loans to local governments or businesses in its role as 

                                                 
3 Florida Legislature Office of Economic and Demographic Research, Florida: An Economic Overview Focusing on County 

Differences, 10 (Jan. 8, 2019), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/Content/presentations/economic/EconomicOverviewFocusingonCounty%20Differences.pdf (last visited 

Feb. 8, 2019).  
4 Id. at 8-13. 
5 Ch. 97-278, Laws of Fla. 
6 Sections 288.0656(3), (6)(a), F.S. 
7 Section 288.0656(1)(d), F.S., defines a “rural area of opportunity” as a rural community, or a region composed of rural 

communities, designated by the Governor, which has been adversely affected by an extraordinary economic event, severe or 

chronic distress, or a natural disaster or that presents a unique economic development opportunity of regional impact. 
8 Section 288.0656(7)(c), F.S. 
9 Section 288.018, F.S. 
10 Florida Dep’t of Economic Opportunity, Regional Rural Development Grants, http://www.floridajobs.org/community-

planning-and-development/rural-community-programs/regional-rural-development-grants (last visited Feb. 8, 2019). 
11 DEO may allocate up to $750,000 from the Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund to the Regional Rural 

Development Grants Program. Section 288.018(4), F.S. 
12 Florida Dep’t of Economic Opportunity, 2018 Incentives Report, 19 (Dec. 28, 2018) (on file with the Senate Committee on 

Commerce and Tourism). 
13 Section 288.0655, F.S. 



BILL: SB 298   Page 3 

 

administrator. The amount awarded and required local government match requirements vary 

based on whether the project is located in a RAO, a catalyst site, or rural community.14  

 

Federal Rural Business Investment Company and Small Business Investment Programs15,16 

Rural Business Investment Companies (RBIC) and Small Business Investment Companies 

(SBIC) are privately owned and managed investment funds that are licensed and regulated by the 

U.S. Department of Agriculture and Rural Development17 and Small Business Administration 

(SBA)18 respectively, that make capital investments in small businesses located in rural 

communities or other qualifying businesses.  

 

An RBIC or SBIC program offers incentives for private capital to invest in small businesses, 

startups, low-income areas, or regions otherwise under economic distress. These programs often 

include special criteria for a certain quantity of the credit to focus on rural or underdeveloped 

areas.  

 

Economic Development Incentives that use Tax Credits 

Rural Job Tax Credit Program19 

The Florida Rural Job Tax Credit Program offers a tax credit incentive to eligible businesses that 

are located within a designated qualified rural area to create new jobs. The tax credit ranges from 

$1,000 to $1,500 per qualified employee and can be taken against either the businesses’ 

corporate income tax or sales and use tax liabilities. A business is limited to no more than 

$500,000 of tax credits per year. The DEO administers this program, and may approve up to $5 

million in tax credits per year; in 2018, the DEO approved $229,000 in rural job tax credits.20 

 

Florida New Markets Development Program21 

The Florida New Markets Development Program (NMDP), similarly to the Program created in 

this bill, uses tax credits to spur economic development. The NMDP allows Florida taxpayers to 

earn tax credits against corporate income tax and insurance premium tax by investing in qualified 

community development entities (CDEs) that make investments in qualified low-income 

community businesses. CDEs are domestic corporations or partnerships that have a primary role 

in administering the tax credit program and act as intermediaries between the investors, 

financiers, and low-income community businesses. The NMDP is modeled after the Federal New 

                                                 
14 Florida Dep’t of Economic Opportunity, Rural Infrastructure Fund, http://www.floridajobs.org/community-planning-and-

development/rural-community-programs/rural-infrastructure-fund (last visited Feb. 8, 2019).  
15 7 C.F.R. s. 4290 et seq. (2009). 
16 15 U.S.C. s. 681-688. 
17 United Stated Department of Agriculture and Rural Development, Rural Business Investment Program, 

https://www.rd.usda.gov/programs-services/rural-business-investment-program (last visited Feb. 8, 2019). 
18 U.S. Small Business Administration, Become an SBIC, https://www.sba.gov/partners/sbics/apply-be-sbic (last visited Feb. 

8, 2019). 
19 Section 212.098, F.S. 
20 Florida Dep’t of Economic Opportunity, 2018 Incentives Report, 20 (Dec. 28, 2018) (on file with the Senate Committee on 

Commerce and Tourism). 
21 Sections 288.991-.9922, F.S.  



BILL: SB 298   Page 4 

 

Markets Tax Credit program.22 The NMDP is capped at a cumulative investment that would 

result in no more than $216.34 million in tax credits, and an annual investment that would result 

in no more than $36.6 million in a single fiscal year.23 

 

Examples of Similar Rural Jobs Acts in Other States 

Utah passed a substantially similar bill, the Utah Rural Jobs Act, which authorizes up to $42 

million in tax credits, and caps the total contributions one entity may make under the program at 

$24.36 million. Additionally, Utah assesses a $50,000 annual fee that is split between all the 

certified growth fund entities.24 

 

In 2017, Georgia created the Georgia Agribusiness and Rural Jobs Act, which is designed to spur 

$100 million in capital investments in rural businesses in the state. Investors may redeem up to 

$15 million in tax credits annually for four years (for a total of $60 million tax credits) against 

their corporate income tax and premium tax liabilities.25  

 

Similar legislation has been proposed in several other states, including Washington. 

Additionally, New Markets Tax Credit Programs, which are structurally similar to the Act, are 

active in several other states, including Florida.26 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates s. 288.062, F.S., the “Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act.” The Act 

presents incentives in the form of tax credits against the state insurance premium tax for 

investors to give funds to certified growth fund entities that, in turn, will make capital or equity 

investments, or loans with a maturity date of at least 1 year, in growth businesses located in non-

urbanized areas of the state. The Act caps investment at a level that will result in no more than 

$15 million in tax credits claimed under the program each year. 

 

A growth business is one that: 

 Has fewer than 200 employees 

 Has its principal place of business operations in an area of Florida that is defined as not 

urbanized by the U.S. Census Bureau; and  

 Participates in approved agribusiness; mining, oil, and gas extraction; utilities and 

construction; manufacturing; transportation and warehousing; professional scientific or 

technical services; healthcare and social assistance; or any industry determined to be 

beneficial to the area. 

 

                                                 
22 Florida Legislature Office of Economic and Demographic Research, Economic Evaluation for Select State Economic 

Development Incentive Programs, 32-36 (Mar. 2017), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/content/returnoninvestment/ROISELECTPROGRAMS2017final.pdf (last visited Feb. 8, 2019). 
23 Section 288.9914(3)(c), F.S. 
24 Utah Code Annotated s. 63N-4-301, et seq. (2017).  
25 Ga. Code Annotated s. 33-1-25, et seq. (2017).  
26 Doug Farquhar, Jump-Starting Rural Economies (Apr. 2018), http://www.ncsl.org/research/environment-and-natural-

resources/jump-starting-rural-economies.aspx (last visited Feb. 8, 2019). 



BILL: SB 298   Page 5 

 

The DEO will administer the Act and monitor jobs created or retained as a result of the growth 

fund entities’ investments in growth businesses.  

 

Tax Credit Application, Approval, and Allocation 

Beginning September 1, 2019, the DEO must accept applications for approval as a growth fund. 

The application must include the following:  

 Total investment authority sought by the applicant;  

 A copy of the applicant’s or an affiliate of the applicant’s license as a rural business 

investment company or small business investment company, as defined in federal law;27  

 Evidence that the applicant or its affiliates have invested at least $100 million in private 

companies that are located in nonmetropolitan counties;  

 An estimate of the total jobs that will be created and retained in the state as a result of the 

applicant’s growth investments;  

 A business plan that includes a 10-year revenue impact estimate of the proposed growth 

investments, including the investment’s effect on state and local tax revenues, and state 

expenditures. This business plan must be prepared by an independent third-party economic 

forecasting firm that uses a dynamic economic forecasting model; and 

 A signed affidavit from the applicant’s investors stating the investment each commits to 

make. 

 

The DEO must grant or deny an application within 30 days of its receipt. The DEO must deny an 

application if:  

 The application is incomplete;  

 The business plan does not evince that the growth investments will be greater than the 

amount of tax credits that would be issued to the applicant’s investors;  

 The growth fund has failed to commit investor contributions equal to at least 75 percent of 

the investment authority it seeks; or  

 The DEO has already approved the investment authority permitted.  

 

If the DEO denies an application on certain grounds, the applicant has 15 days to cure the defect. 

The DEO must review the additional filing and issue an ultimate decision within 30 days of the 

application’s initial submission. Additionally, the DEO may not approve or deny an application 

that is submitted after another, even if the first application requires additional time to amend its 

submissions. 

 

Upon approval of an application, the DEO must provide a notice to the applicant that certifies it 

as a growth fund, states the fund’s investment authority, and specifies the investor contributions 

required. Ten percent of the fund’s investment authority must consist of equity investments 

contributed by the fund’s affiliates.  

 

The DEO may not reduce the growth fund’s investment authority from that requested on its 

application unless such an allocation would cause the DEO to exceed the year’s permitted tax 

credits. If the DEO approves applications received on the same day that seek investment 

authorities that would collectively exceed the permitted annual tax credits, the DEO must 

                                                 
27 See notes 15-18, supra. 



BILL: SB 298   Page 6 

 

approve both applicants, but proportionally reduce each applicant’s investment authority and 

investor contributions to comply with the tax credit limit.  

 

Within 60 days of its certification, a growth fund must collect all of its committed investor 

contributions and any additional cash investments. The fund must provide proof to the DEO that 

it collected all required contributions and investments within 65 days of certification. A fund’s 

certification will lapse if it fails to perform these duties.  

 

The DEO must provide tax credit certificates to investors upon notice from a certified fund that it 

collected the investor’s contribution. 

 

Tax Credit Established 

An investor in a fund is vested with an earned credit against its state premium tax liability equal 

to the value of its contribution to the fund. The investor may not sell, transfer, or allocate the 

credit to any entity other than an affiliate of the fund.  

 

An investor may claim 20 percent of its credit each taxable year from the second through sixth 

year after its investment, exclusive of amounts carried forward. If an investor’s annual tax credit 

portion exceeds its state premium tax liability for the year, the investor may carry forward the 

excess for up to 10 years after it initial forgone use. In order to claim a credit, the investor must 

submit a copy of the tax credit certificate with its tax return for each taxable year it claims the 

credit. 

 

The DEO must notify the Department of Revenue (DOR) the name of an insurance company that 

is allocated tax credits under the Act and the amount of credit given. 

 

Revocation of Tax Credit Certificates and Exit From the Program 

The DEO must revoke a tax credit certificate if:  

 The fund does not invest 100 percent of its investment authority in state growth investments 

within 2 years after the closing date;  

 The fund fails to maintain investments equal to 100 percent of its investment authority until 

the sixth anniversary of its closing date (with a permitted 12 months between receipt of 

capital and reinvestment of that capital);  

 The fund makes a distribution or payment that results in the fund having less than 100 

percent of its investment authority invested in Florida growth investments, or available for 

State growth investments and held in cash or other securities;  

 The fund invests more than $5 million or 20 percent of its investment authority in a business 

that directly, or indirectly through an affiliate, owns, has the right to acquire an ownership 

interest in, makes a loan to, or makes an investment in the fund, an affiliate of the fund, or an 

investor of the fund.  

 

The DEO must give a growth fund notice of a pending revocation and an opportunity to cure. If 

tax credits are revoked, the DEO must re-allocate the investment authority and investor 

contributions on a pro rata basis to each fund that was awarded less than its requested investment 

authority, and any balance to new applicants.  



BILL: SB 298   Page 7 

 

 

On or after the seventh anniversary of the closing date, a growth fund may apply to the DEO to 

exit the program. The DEO must approve the request within 30 days if no tax credit certificates 

issued to the fund’s investors have been revoked, and the fund’s certification has not been 

revoked or is not currently subject to revocation.  

 

The DEO may not revoke a tax credit certificate after a fund exits the program.  

 

Growth Fund’s Reporting Obligations 

Each fund must submit an annual report to the DEO on or before the fifth business day after each 

anniversary of its closing date. The report must include:  

 A bank statement evidencing each of the fund’s investments;  

 The name, location, and industry of each growth business that receives a growth investment; 

 Evidence that a growth business qualified as such at the time the fund made the investment;  

 The number of employment positions at the growth business on the date of the fund’s initial 

investment;  

 The number of new and retained annual jobs and their average salary at each growth 

business;  

 The cumulative amount of growth investments made in the growth business;  

 Any other information required by the DEO; and  

 If available, a report on redeemed or repaid growth investments. 

 

Distributions to the Growth Fund’s Equity Holders 

If a growth fund seeks to pay its equity holders an amount greater than its investment authority, 

the fund must also make a payment to the DEO equal to the proposed distribution multiplied by a 

fraction of which the numerator is the number of new and retained annual jobs reported in the 

fund’s annual report and the denominator of which is the projected number of new and retained 

annual jobs reported on the fund’s application. Therefore, if the fund exceeds its projected job 

development, it will make a smaller payment to the DEO; if it underperforms, the payment will 

be greater. 

 

Additionally, after it exits the program, the fund may not make a payment to its equity holders 

unless it has invested at least 150 percent of its investment authority in growth investments. The 

fund must annually report its growth investments to the DEO until it has made the required 

growth investments.  

 

Miscellaneous  

A fund may request the DEO to issue a written opinion advising whether a potential investment 

business qualifies as a growth business; if the DEO does not respond within 15 days of the 

request, the business is deemed a growth business.  

 

The bill grants the DEO rulemaking authority to implement this program.  

 

The bill provides an effective date of October 1, 2019. 



BILL: SB 298   Page 8 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. State Tax or Fee Increases: 

None. 

E. Other Constitutional Issues:  

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

The Revenue Estimating Conference has not yet determined the fiscal impact of the bill. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Businesses in non-urbanized areas may be able to access funding that would not have 

otherwise been available to them through traditional financing institutions, e.g., bank 

loans. However, these investments will still likely have fees and interest attached to them. 

 

A certified growth fund will likely see a positive financial impact as the result of its 

activity under the program. Similarly, growth fund investors will see a positive impact on 

their tax liabilities as a result of their use of tax credits issued under the program. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The DEO may incur administrative costs to implement the program.  

 

The Department of Revenue reports that it will be required to modify the Unified Tax 

(SUNTAX) System and other necessary updates. The total estimated cost of these 

updates is $82,618.28 

                                                 
28 Florida Dep’t of Revenue, SB 298 Agency Analysis, 5-6 (Jan. 24, 2019) (on file with the Senate Committee on Commerce 

and Tourism). 



BILL: SB 298   Page 9 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

The proposed section 288.062(3)(a), F.S., requires an applicant for certification as a growth fund 

to state the total investment authority it seeks and a potential investor’s “investor contribution” 

commitment. However, the bill defines both “investment authority” and “investor contribution” 

as an amount specified on the certification notice issued by the DEO after the application is 

approved. It would be clearer to define these terms independent of the DEO’s judgment.  

 

The bill refers to the “United States Bureau of the Census.” The name should be the U.S. Census 

Bureau. 

 

The DEO must issue an initial determination within 30 days of its receipt of an application for 

certification. The proposed language also requires the DEO to grant an applicant 15 days to cure 

an insufficient application, but still requires that the DEO issue an ultimate decision regarding an 

insufficient application within 30 days of its initial submission. The bill could be amended to 

allow the DEO time to give notice of insufficient applications, receive responses, and then 

process those responses.  

 

In order to process the tax credit, the DOR requires an investor’s federal identification number 

and the investment’s closing date. The bill only requires the DEO to provide the DOR with the 

investor’s name and the amount of the tax credit that it certified.29 Additionally, the bill could 

provide for notice to the DOR if a program tax credit lapses, or is revoked by the DEO. 

VII. Related Issues: 

It appears that tax credits may be re-issued after the initial round of tax credits have been 

exhausted. Therefore, the Legislature may wish to include an expiration date for the program.30 

Alternatively, the Legislature may wish to consider a cap on the total amount of tax credits that 

may be claimed during the program’s existence.31  

 

A growth zone is defined as an area that is not defined as an urbanized area by the Census 

Bureau. The Census Bureau defines urbanized areas as separate than urban clusters and rural 

areas. It therefore appears that both an urban cluster and rural area are eligible for investment 

from a growth fund under the bill. 

 

Pursuant to s. 288.062(3)(g)1, F.S., a growth fund’s closing date is defined as the date on which 

the fund completes its collection of contributions and investments. Section 288.062(3)(g)1, F.S., 

neither requires a fund to complete a collection of contributions, nor to officially establish the 

date on which it did so. This may result in confusion when establishing a fund’s closing date and 

calculating the date after which its investors may collect their tax credits. It may be clearer to 

                                                 
29 Florida Dep’t of Revenue, SB 298 Agency Analysis, 4 (Jan. 24, 2019)(on file with the Senate Committee on Commerce and 

Tourism). 
30 See, e.g., s. 288.9922, F.S. 
31 See, e.g., s. 288.9914(3)(c), F.S., which places a cap of $216.34 million in tax credits that may be claimed under the Florida 

New Markets Development Program Act; see also, Ga. Code Ann., s. 33-1-25(2017), which places a $100 million cap on 

total tax credits used by the Georgia Agribusiness and Rural Jobs Act.  



BILL: SB 298   Page 10 

 

define the closing date as the date on which the fund provides notice to the department that it has 

collected sufficient contributions and investment, as required in s. 288.062(3)(g)2, F.S. 

 

The bill proposes to vest an investor who has made an investor contribution with a right to a tax 

credit against the investor’s state premium tax liability. A situation could arise wherein an 

investor makes its committed contribution, but the fund in which it invests fails to remain 

certified. Although the investor will not have a tax credit certificate at this point, it is unclear 

how the investor’s vested right would be affected by a lapse in, or revocation of, certification.  

 

It is unclear if s. 288.062(5)(a)3, F.S., which requires 100 percent investment, supersedes s. 

288.062(5)(a)2, F.S., which allows for less than 100 percent invested in growth businesses.  

 

Section 288.062(5)(a)2, F.S., is unclear whether a fund is required to be 100 percent invested in 

growth businesses or their affiliates for the entire time between years three and seven.  

 

It appears that the DEO has the burden to prove that a tax credit certificate should be revoked. 

However, what standard of proof the Department must meet is unclear.  

 

Section 288.062(8), F.S., requires the growth fund to submit an annual report to the DEO. 

However, the DEO has little power to audit or verify these reports. The Legislature may wish to 

empower the DEO to conduct examinations of or audit the growth funds to verify their 

compliance with the Act.32   

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

 This bill creates section 288.062 of the Florida Statutes.   

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                 
32 See, e.g., s. 288.9919, F.S. 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

By Senator Montford 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 1 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to rural businesses; creating s. 2 

288.062, F.S.; providing a short title; defining 3 

terms; requiring the Department of Economic 4 

Opportunity to accept applications for certification 5 

as a growth fund beginning on a specified date; 6 

providing requirements for the application; requiring 7 

the department to grant or deny the application within 8 

a specified timeframe; limiting the amount of 9 

investment authority that may be approved by the 10 

department; requiring the department to deny 11 

applications that do not meet certain requirements; 12 

authorizing an applicant whose application was denied 13 

to provide additional information to the department 14 

within a specified timeframe; requiring the department 15 

to reconsider an application for which additional 16 

information has been submitted and to approve or deny 17 

it within a certain timeframe; prohibiting the 18 

department from reducing the investment authority of 19 

an application or denying an application for reasons 20 

other than those specified; requiring the department 21 

to certify approved applicants as growth funds and to 22 

specify their required investment authority and 23 

investor contributions; requiring that the growth 24 

fund’s investment authority consist of a certain 25 

percentage of equity investments; requiring the growth 26 

fund to collect contributions and investments and 27 

submit required documentation to the department within 28 

a specified timeframe; requiring the department to 29 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 2 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

issue tax credit certificates as appropriate; 30 

providing circumstances under which a growth fund’s 31 

certification lapses; requiring the department to 32 

redistribute lapsed investment authority in a 33 

specified manner; providing that an investor who makes 34 

an investor contribution is vested with a credit 35 

against state premium tax liability; imposing 36 

restrictions on the use of the credit; providing for 37 

the carryover of tax credits; requiring that investors 38 

claiming a credit submit a copy of the tax credit 39 

certificate with their tax returns; requiring the 40 

department to revoke tax credit certificates under 41 

specified circumstances; capping the amount of 42 

investments which growth funds can count toward 43 

satisfaction of certain requirements; requiring the 44 

department to notify growth funds of reasons for a 45 

pending revocation of a tax credit certificate; 46 

requiring growth funds to address issues identified in 47 

the notice within a specified timeframe; providing 48 

that reverted investment authority and investor 49 

contributions do not count toward the limit on total 50 

investment authority and investor contributions; 51 

requiring the department to distribute reverted 52 

investment authority to certain growth funds; 53 

authorizing growth funds to submit an exit application 54 

after a specified period of time; requiring the 55 

department to respond to an exit application within a 56 

certain timeframe; prohibiting the department from 57 

unreasonably denying an exit application; requiring 58 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 3 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

that denial notices state the reasons for denial; 59 

prohibiting growth funds that have exited the program 60 

from making distributions to their equity holders 61 

unless they have made certain growth investments; 62 

requiring such growth funds to continue to annually 63 

report the amount of their growth investments until 64 

required investments are made; providing a formula for 65 

determining the amount a growth fund must pay the 66 

department when making certain distributions; 67 

prohibiting the department from revoking the growth 68 

fund’s tax credit certificate after the growth fund 69 

has exited the program; authorizing growth funds to 70 

request a written opinion from the department as to 71 

whether a business qualifies as a growth business; 72 

requiring that the department notify the growth fund 73 

of its determination within a specified timeframe and 74 

granting growth business status to the business if the 75 

department fails to timely make its determination; 76 

specifying that out-of-state businesses relocating 77 

employees to this state must satisfy a specific 78 

definition within a certain timeframe before a new 79 

principal place of business operations is recognized; 80 

requiring growth funds to submit annual reports to the 81 

department; requiring that the reports provide certain 82 

documentation; authorizing rulemaking; requiring the 83 

department to provide certain notification to the 84 

Department of Revenue; providing applicability; 85 

providing an effective date. 86 

  87 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 4 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 88 

 89 

Section 1. Section 288.062, Florida Statutes, is created to 90 

read: 91 

288.062 Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act.— 92 

(1) This section may be cited as the “Florida Rural Job and 93 

Business Recovery Act.” 94 

(2) As used in this section, the term: 95 

(a) “Affiliate” means an entity that, directly or 96 

indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is 97 

controlled by, or is under common control with another entity. 98 

For purposes of this paragraph, an entity is controlled by 99 

another entity if the controlling entity directly or indirectly 100 

holds the majority voting or ownership interest in the 101 

controlled entity or has control over the day-to-day operations 102 

of the controlled entity by contract or law. 103 

(b) “Closing date” means the date on which a growth fund 104 

completes the collection of all contributions and investments as 105 

required in subparagraph (3)(g)1. 106 

(c) “Department” means the Department of Economic 107 

Opportunity. 108 

(d) “Growth business” means a business that, at the time of 109 

the initial investment in the company by a growth fund: 110 

1. Has fewer than 200 employees; 111 

2. Has its principal place of business operations in one or 112 

more growth zones in the state; and 113 

3.a. Is engaged in an industry classified under the North 114 

American Industry Classification System, as published in 2017 by 115 

the Office of Management and Budget, Executive Office of the 116 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 5 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

President, as sector 11, 21, 22, 23, 31-33, 48-49, 54, or 62; or 117 

b. If not engaged in an industry sector identified in sub-118 

subparagraph a., the department has determined, in light of the 119 

investment, will be beneficial to the growth zone. 120 

(e) “Growth fund” means an entity certified by the 121 

department pursuant to paragraph (3)(f). 122 

(f) “Growth investment” means any capital investment or 123 

equity investment in a growth business or any loan to a growth 124 

business with a stated maturity at least 1 year after the date 125 

of issuance. 126 

(g) “Growth zone” means all areas that are not an urbanized 127 

area as defined by the United States Bureau of the Census. 128 

(h) “High wage” means a wage that is at least equal to the 129 

county average. 130 

(i) “Investment authority” means the amount stated on the 131 

certification notice issued pursuant to paragraph (3)(f) 132 

certifying the growth fund. 133 

(j) “Investor contribution” means an investment of cash, in 134 

the amount specified by the department in its approval of the 135 

growth fund’s certification application, in a growth fund by a 136 

person with a state premium tax liability in exchange for: 137 

1. An equity interest in the growth fund, or 138 

2. A debt instrument, at par value or premium, which has a 139 

maturity date at least 5 years after the closing date and a 140 

repayment schedule that does not exceed level principal 141 

amortization over 5 years. 142 

(k) “Jobs retained” means the number of employment 143 

positions that existed before the initial growth investment at a 144 

growth business, that pay a high wage, and that require at least 145 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 6 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

35 hours of work each week which the growth business’s chief 146 

executive officer or similar officer certifies as being 147 

positions that would have been eliminated but for the initial 148 

growth investment. 149 

(l) “New annual jobs” means the difference between: 150 

1.a. The monthly average of employment positions at a 151 

growth business which pay a high wage and require at least 35 152 

hours of work each week for the preceding calendar year; or 153 

b. If the initial growth investment occurred during the 154 

preceding calendar year, the monthly average of employment 155 

positions at a growth business which pay a high wage and require 156 

at least 35 hours of work each week for the month in which the 157 

initial growth investment was made and the succeeding months 158 

before the end of that calendar year; and 159 

2. The number of full-time high-wage employment positions 160 

at the growth business on the date of the initial growth 161 

investment. 162 

(m) “Principal place of business operations” means the 163 

place or places at which business operations are located and at 164 

which: 165 

1. At least 60 percent of the business’s employees work, or 166 

2. Employees that are paid at least 60 percent of the 167 

business’s payroll work. 168 

(n) “State premium tax liability” means any liability 169 

incurred by any entity under s. 624.509 or s. 624.5091. 170 

(3)(a) Beginning September 1, 2019, the department shall 171 

accept applications for certification as a growth fund on a form 172 

prescribed by the department. The application must include: 173 

1. The total investment authority sought by the applicant; 174 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 7 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

2. A copy of the applicant’s, or an affiliate of the 175 

applicant’s, license as a rural business investment company 176 

under 7 U.S.C. s. 2009cc or as a small business investment 177 

company under 15 U.S.C. s. 681; 178 

3. Evidence that, as of the date the application is 179 

submitted, the applicant or affiliates of the applicant have 180 

invested at least $100 million in private companies located in 181 

nonmetropolitan counties as defined by the federal Office of 182 

Management and Budget on the basis of county or county-183 

equivalent units; 184 

4. An estimate of the number of aggregate new annual jobs 185 

that will be created and that will be retained in this state 186 

because of the applicant’s growth investments; 187 

5. A business plan that includes a revenue impact 188 

assessment projecting state and local tax revenue and reductions 189 

in state expenditures attributable to the applicant’s proposed 190 

growth investments. The business plan must be prepared by a 191 

nationally recognized independent third-party economic 192 

forecasting firm using a dynamic economic forecasting model that 193 

projects the impact of the investment over a period of 10 years 194 

following the date the application is submitted to the 195 

department; and 196 

6. A signed affidavit from each investor stating the amount 197 

of investor contributions each investor commits to make. 198 

(b) Within 30 days after receipt of a completed 199 

application, the department shall grant or deny the application. 200 

The department shall deem applications received on the same day 201 

as being simultaneously received. 202 

(c) The investment authority approved by the department may 203 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 8 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

not exceed an amount that would result in more than $15 million 204 

in tax credits being taken in any one year, excluding any 205 

credits that are carried forward as authorized in paragraph 206 

(4)(c). If approved applications that are simultaneously 207 

received for investment authority collectively would exceed that 208 

limit, the department shall proportionally reduce the investment 209 

authority and the investor contributions for each such 210 

application as necessary to comply with the limit. 211 

(d) The department shall deny an application if: 212 

1. The application is incomplete; 213 

2. The revenue impact assessment submitted pursuant to 214 

subparagraph (a)5. does not demonstrate that the applicant’s 215 

business plan will result in a positive economic impact on this 216 

state over a 10-year period which exceeds the cumulative amount 217 

of tax credits which would be issued to the applicant’s 218 

investors; 219 

3. The investor contributions described in affidavits 220 

submitted pursuant to subparagraph (a)6. do not total at least 221 

75 percent of the total amount of investment authority sought 222 

under the applicant’s business plan; or 223 

4. The department has already approved the maximum amount 224 

of investment authority allowed under paragraph (c). 225 

(e) Within 15 days after receipt of notice that the 226 

department has denied an application on grounds identified in 227 

subparagraph (d)1., subparagraph (d)2., or subparagraph (d)4., 228 

the applicant may provide additional information to the 229 

department to complete, clarify, or cure such defects. The 230 

department shall review the additional information and approve 231 

or deny the application within 30 days after the original 232 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 9 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

submission date of the application. The department may not 233 

approve any application submitted after the original submission 234 

date of the initially denied application until it approves or 235 

denies the application for which additional information was 236 

submitted. 237 

(f) The department may not reduce the requested investment 238 

authority of a growth fund or deny a growth fund application for 239 

reasons other than those described in paragraphs (c) and (d). 240 

Upon approval of an application, the department shall send to 241 

the applicant a notice certifying the applicant as a growth fund 242 

and specifying the amount of the applicant’s investment 243 

authority and the investor contributions required from each 244 

investor who submitted an affidavit with the growth fund’s 245 

application. At least 10 percent of the growth fund’s investment 246 

authority must consist of equity investments contributed by 247 

affiliates of the growth fund. 248 

(g)1. Within 60 days after receiving a certification notice 249 

issued pursuant to paragraph (f), a growth fund shall collect 250 

all investor contributions and additional investments of cash 251 

which are, when added to the investor contributions, at least 252 

equal to the growth fund’s investment authority. 253 

2. Within 65 days after receiving a certification notice 254 

issued pursuant to paragraph (f), a growth fund shall provide to 255 

the department documentation that sufficiently proves that such 256 

contributions and investments have been collected. 257 

3. Upon receipt of the documentation required by 258 

subparagraph 2., the department shall provide to each investor 259 

who made an investor contribution a tax credit certificate in an 260 

amount equal to that investor’s contribution. 261 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 10 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(h) A growth fund’s certification lapses if the growth fund 262 

fails to fully comply with subparagraphs (g)1. and (g)2. If a 263 

certification lapses, the corresponding investment authority and 264 

investor contributions do not count toward the limits on program 265 

funding prescribed by paragraph (c) and the department must 266 

allocate any lapsed investment authority on a pro rata basis to 267 

each growth fund that was not awarded the full investment 268 

authority it applied for. A growth fund may allocate, at its 269 

discretion, the additional investor contribution authority to 270 

any investor that has state premium tax liability. The 271 

department may award any remaining investment authority to new 272 

applicants. 273 

(4)(a) An investor who makes an investor contribution is 274 

vested with an earned credit against state premium tax liability 275 

which is equal to its investor contribution. Twenty percent of 276 

the credit may be used in each taxable year, beginning in the 277 

calendar year following the second anniversary of the closing 278 

date and concluding in the calendar year following the sixth 279 

anniversary of the closing date, exclusive of amounts carried 280 

forward pursuant to paragraph (c). 281 

(b) The credit is nonrefundable and may not be sold, 282 

transferred, or allocated to any entity other than an affiliate 283 

that was an affiliate at the time of the submission of the 284 

investor’s affidavit included in the approved application. 285 

(c) The amount of the credit claimed by an investor may not 286 

exceed the amount of the investor’s state premium tax liability 287 

for the tax year in which the credit is claimed. Any amount of 288 

tax credit which the entity does not claim in a taxable year may 289 

be carried forward for use in future taxable years for a period 290 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 11 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

not to exceed 10 years. 291 

(d) An investor claiming a credit under this section must 292 

submit a copy of the tax credit certificate with his or her tax 293 

return for each taxable year in which the credit is claimed. 294 

(5)(a) The department shall revoke a tax credit certificate 295 

issued under subparagraph (3)(g)3. if, before a growth fund 296 

exits the program in accordance with paragraph (e), any of the 297 

following occurs: 298 

1. Within 2 years after the closing date, the growth fund 299 

does not invest 100 percent of its investment authority in 300 

growth investments in this state; 301 

2. The growth fund, after investing 100 percent of its 302 

investment authority in growth investments in this state within 303 

2 years after the closing date, fails to maintain growth 304 

investments equal to 100 percent of its investment authority at 305 

any time prior to the sixth anniversary after the closing date. 306 

For the purposes of this subparagraph, an investment is 307 

“maintained” even if it is sold or repaid, so long as the growth 308 

fund reinvests an amount equal to the capital returned or 309 

recovered from the original investment, exclusive of any profits 310 

realized, in other growth investments in this state within 12 311 

months after the receipt of such capital. Amounts received 312 

periodically by a growth fund are deemed continuously invested 313 

in growth investments if the amounts are reinvested in one or 314 

more growth investments by the end of the following calendar 315 

year; 316 

3. Before exiting the program in accordance with paragraph 317 

(e), the growth fund makes a distribution or payment that 318 

results in the growth fund having less than 100 percent of its 319 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 12 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

investment authority invested in growth investments in this 320 

state or available for investment in growth investments and held 321 

in cash and other marketable securities; or 322 

4. The growth fund makes a growth investment in a growth 323 

business that directly, or indirectly through an affiliate, 324 

owns; has the right to acquire an ownership interest in; makes a 325 

loan to; or makes an investment in the growth fund, an affiliate 326 

of the growth fund, or an investor in the growth fund. This 327 

subparagraph does not apply to investments in publicly traded 328 

securities by a growth business or an owner or an affiliate of 329 

the growth business. For purposes of this subparagraph, a growth 330 

fund is not considered an affiliate of a growth business solely 331 

because of its growth investment in that business. 332 

(b) The maximum amount of growth investments in a growth 333 

business, including amounts invested in affiliates of the growth 334 

business, which a growth fund may count toward its satisfaction 335 

of the requirements of subparagraphs (a)1. and 2. is 20 percent 336 

of its investment authority, up to a maximum of $5 million. 337 

(c) Before revoking tax credit certificates under this 338 

subsection, the department must notify the growth fund of the 339 

reasons for the pending revocation. The growth fund has 90 days 340 

after the date the notice is received to address, to the 341 

satisfaction of the department, any issue identified in the 342 

notice. 343 

(d) If a tax credit certificate is revoked under this 344 

subsection, the associated investment authority and investor 345 

contributions do not count toward the limit on total investment 346 

authority and investor contributions imposed in paragraph 347 

(3)(c). The department shall distribute reverted investment 348 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 13 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

authority pro rata to each growth fund awarded less than the 349 

requested investment authority for which it applied. Such a 350 

growth fund may allocate, at its discretion, the associated 351 

investor contribution authority to any investor that has state 352 

premium tax liability. The department may award any remaining 353 

investment authority to new applicants. 354 

(e)1. On or after the seventh anniversary of the closing 355 

date, a growth fund may apply to the department to exit the 356 

program and no longer be subject to regulation under this 357 

section except as provided in this paragraph. The department 358 

shall respond to the application within 30 days after receiving 359 

the application. The department shall approve the application if 360 

none of the growth fund’s tax credit certificates have been 361 

revoked and the growth fund has not received a notice of 362 

revocation that is currently pending. The department may not 363 

unreasonably deny an exit application submitted pursuant to this 364 

paragraph. If the application is denied, the notice must include 365 

the reasons for the denial. 366 

2. After its exit from the program pursuant to subparagraph 367 

1., a growth fund may not make distributions to its equity 368 

holders unless it has made growth investments equal to at least 369 

150 percent of its investment authority. The growth fund must 370 

continue to annually report the amount of its growth investments 371 

to the department until it has made the required growth 372 

investments. 373 

3. At any time the growth fund proposes to make a 374 

distribution to its equity holders which, when added to all 375 

previous distributions to its equity holders, would be in excess 376 

of its investment authority, the growth fund must remit to the 377 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 14 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department a payment equal to the proposed distribution 378 

multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the 379 

aggregate number of new annual jobs and jobs retained reported 380 

to the department pursuant to subsection (8) and the denominator 381 

of which is the projected number of new annual jobs and jobs 382 

retained in an application made by the growth fund under 383 

subsection (3). 384 

(f) The department may not revoke a tax credit certificate 385 

after a growth fund exits the program. 386 

(6) Before making a growth investment, a growth fund may 387 

request that the department issue a written opinion as to 388 

whether the business in which it proposes to invest qualifies as 389 

a growth business. The department, no later than 15 business 390 

days after the receipt of the request, shall notify the growth 391 

fund of its determination. If the department fails to timely 392 

notify the growth fund of its determination, the business is 393 

considered a growth business. 394 

(7) An out-of-state business that uses the proceeds of a 395 

growth investment to establish its principal place of business 396 

operations in a growth zone in the state and relocate or hire 397 

employees at the new location is deemed to have its principal 398 

place of business operations in this new location if it meets 399 

the definition of the term “principal place of business” 400 

provided in paragraph (2)(m) within 180 days after receiving the 401 

growth investment, unless granted an extension of time by the 402 

department. 403 

(8)(a) Each growth fund shall submit a report to the 404 

department on or before the fifth business day after each 405 

anniversary of the closing date unless the growth fund has 406 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 15 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

exited the program. The report must provide documentation as to 407 

each growth investment made by the growth fund and include: 408 

1. A bank statement evidencing each growth investment; 409 

2. The name, location, and industry of each growth business 410 

receiving a growth investment, including evidence that the 411 

business qualified as a growth business at the time the 412 

investment was made or a determination notice was issued 413 

pursuant to subsection (6); 414 

3. The number of employment positions at each growth 415 

business on the date of the growth fund’s initial investment; 416 

4. The number of new annual jobs and retained jobs at each 417 

growth business. The number of retained jobs must be calculated 418 

based on the monthly average of high-wage employment positions 419 

and may not exceed the number of retained jobs on the first 420 

anniversary report. If the number of new annual jobs is less 421 

than zero, the growth fund must report the number of new annual 422 

jobs as zero; 423 

5. The average annual salary of the jobs reported under 424 

subparagraph 4.; 425 

6. The cumulative amount of growth investments made in the 426 

growth business; and 427 

7. Any other information required by the department. 428 

(b) The growth fund shall provide the department with an 429 

annual report for redeemed or repaid growth investments if the 430 

annual report for such investments is available. 431 

(9) The department may adopt rules to implement this 432 

section. 433 

(10) The department shall notify the Department of Revenue 434 

of the name of any insurance company allocated tax credits 435 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 298 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

3-00350B-19 2019298__ 

 Page 16 of 16  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

pursuant to this act and the amount of such credits. 436 

(11) This section applies to tax returns or reports 437 

originally due on or after January 1, 2020. 438 

Section 2. This act shall take effect October 1, 2019. 439 



FLORIDA
2019 AGENCY LEGISLATIVE BILL ANALYSIS

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

BILL INFORMATION

BILL NU BER: SB 298

BILL TITLE: Rural Businesses

BILL SPONSOR: Senator Montford

EFFECTIVE
DATE: October 1, 2019

CURRENT COMMITTEE_  

SIMILAR BILLS

BILL NUMBER:

SPONSOR:

IDENTICAL BILLS

BILL NUMBER:

SPONSOR:

PREVIOUS LEGISLATION
YEAR BILL NUMBER/SPONSOR/LAST ACTION:
2018/ SB 990/ Senators Montford and Gibson/ Indefinitely postponed and withdrawn from consideration;

Died in Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, Tourism, and Economic Development
2018/ HB 1415/ Representative Beshears/ Indefinitely postponed and withdrawn from consideration; Died in

Agriculture and Property Rights Subcommittee     

BILL ANALYSIS INFORMATION

DATE OF ANALYSIS: January 24, 2019

LEAD AGENCY ANALYST: Debbie Longman (850) 617-8324



SB 298

POLICY ANALYSIS

1. ANALYSIS OF EACH SECTION THAT AFFECTS THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE.

PRESENT SITUATION
Section 1. Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act f&p. 4-16):

PRESENT SITUATION

The Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act does not currently exist.

EFFECT OF THE BILL

The bill proposes the creation of the Florida Rural Job and Business Recovery Act. The Act provides for a
new credit to be claimed against the state premium tax liability for an investor that contributes to a certified
growth fund. The state premium tax liability is defined as Florida insurance premium tax and retaliatory tax.

The credit is to be claimed at a rate of 20 percent of the investment each year, over a period of five years,
beginning with the calendar year following the second anniversary of the closing date (calendar year that
includes the third anniversary of the closing date, with the first being the actual closing date). If the credit
cannot be fully used in a tax year, the balance for that year may be carried forward for up to 10 years.

The credit may first be claimed on tax returns originally due on or after January 1, 2020. However, since
the first credit allowance date will not occur until at least 2019, the 2021 tax return covering the 2021
calendar year, which is due on or before March 1, 2022, will be the first return upon which the credit could
be claimed.

The bill requires the Department of Economic Opportunity to accept applications for certification as a
growth fund and provides that applicants meet certain requirements. DEO is to certify approved applicants
as growth funds and to specify their required investment authority and investor contributions.

The bill sets forth the conditions under which DEO may deny or revoke a credit, and under what conditions
a credit may lapse. It also provides that DEO may award a credit arising from such events to other
taxpayers. The bill further provides that the credit cannot be sold, transferred, or allocated to another entity
other than to an affiliate (the transfer takes place prior to the issuance of the tax credit certificates by DEO,
so the certificates should be in the name of the insurer that will be claiming the credit). A growth fund may
apply to DEO to exit the program after seven years, after which time, allocated credits can no longer be
revoked or modified.

DEO is to provide the Department of Revenue (DOR) a list of insurers with each insurer s credit amount. A
copy of the tax credit certificate must be submitted with each return on which the credit is claimed.

Section 2. (p, 16): Provides an effective date of October 1, 2018.

2. DOES THE DEPART ENT EXPECT TO DEVELOP, ADOPT, MODIFY OR ELIMINATE ANY RULES,
REGULATIONS, POLICIES, OR PROCEDURES? Kl YES   NO

If yes, explain;
This will require new credit lines on the DR-908. It will also require DOR to
create a credit process against retaliatory tax, which currently does not
exist. The form changes will need to be adopted by rule.

Rule(s) impacted
(provide references to
F.A.C., etc.):

Rule 12B-8.003, F.A.C., will need to be amended to adopt the changes to
Form DR-908, and instructions, Form DR-908N.

2



SB 298

3. WHAT IS THE POSITION OF AFFECTED CITIZENS OR STAKEHOLDER GROUPS? N/A

4, DOES THE BILL REQUIRE THE DEPARTMENT TO SUBMIT, MODIFY OR DELETE ANY REPORTS,
STUDIES OR PLANS?   YES   NO

If yes, provide a
description:

Date Due:

Bill Section Number(s):

5. ARE THERE ANY GUBERNATORIAL APPOINTMENTS OR CHANGES TO EXISTING BOARDS, TASK
FORCES, COUNCILS, COMMISSIONS, ETC. REQUIRED BY THIS BILL?   YES I  NO

Board:

Board Purpose:

Who Appoints:

Changes:

Bill Section Number(s):

FISCAL ANALYSIS

6. DOES THE BILL HAVE A FISCAL IMPACT TO LOCAL GOVERNMENT? The Department of Revenue
does not conduct this analysis. The Revenue Estimating Conference will determine the revenue impact, if
any, to local governments.

7. DOES THE BILL HAVE A FISCAL IMPACT TO STATE GOVERNMENT?

Revenues:

The Department of Revenue does not conduct this analysis, The Revenue
Estimating Conference will determine the revenue impact, if any, to state
government.

Expenditures:
(only expenditure
im acts on the
Department are
identified)

K YES   NO   YES, BUT INSIGNIFICANT   UNABLE TO
DETERMINE

See Additional Comments section below if it is determined there is a
significant operational impact to the Department.

Does the legislation
contain an appropriation
to the Depart ent?

YES B NO

8. DOES THE BILL HAVE A FISCAL IMPACT TO THE PRIVATE SECTOR? The Department of Revenue
does not conduct this analysis.

9. DOES THE BILL INCREASE OR DECREASE TAXES, FEES OR FINES? The Department of Revenue
does not conduct this analysis. The Revenue Estimating Conference will determine the revenue impact on
state and local government, if any.

TECHNOLOGY IMPACT

If any, see attached Fiscal Impact Analysis.

3



SB 298

FEDERAL IMPACT

If any, see Additional Comments section below.

ADDITIONAL COM ENTS

10. STATUTE(S) AFFECTED: Section 288.062, F.S.

11. HAS BILL LANGUAGE BEEN ANALYZED EARLIER THIS SESSION?   YES El NO
If no, go to #12, If yes:

A. Identify bill number or source.

B. Were issues/problems i entified?   YES   NO

a. if yes, have they been resolved?   YES   NO If no, briefly explain.

C. Are new issues/problems created?   YES   NO If yes, briefly identify.

12. DOES THE BILL PRESENT DIFFICULTY IN IMPLEMENTATION, ADMINISTRATION OR
ENFORCEMENT? El YES   NO

If yes, describe administrative problems, technical errors, or other difficulties:

1. The bill requires DEO to notify DOR of the name of each insurance company that is  allocated  tax
credits, and the amount of the tax credits allocated. It does not require DEO to notify DOR when credits
are subsequently revoked or lapse.

2. While DEO is required to provide the name of the entity certified to claim the credit, and the amount of
the credit certified, DOR will also need the federal identification number (FEIN) and the closing date in
order to process the credit correctly and ensure the proper entity receives the credit.

3. The sponsor may want to ensure the claiming of this credit against the insurance premium tax does not
create an increase in the amount of retaliatory tax due.

4. State premium tax liability is defined on lines 169 and 170 as any insurance premium tax liability or any
retaliatory tax liability. It is unclear if a taxpayer must choose between the two, whether the tax credit
certificates would distinguish which tax they were available for, or whether a taxpayer can break the
credit up and annually split its credit amount between both taxes. It may be easier for the taxpayer to
make an election when applying for the credit, so DEO can indicate on the certificate the tax to which
the certificate is applicable.

13. OTHER: None



2019
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
FISCAL I PACT ANALYSIS

Bill number SB 298
Short title Rural Businesses 
Bill sponsor Senator Montford 

Date of Analysis: January 28, 2019
Agency Contact: Debbie Longman Telephone: (850) 617-8324

Estimate amounts required to administer the bill's provisions by appropriation categories (Salaries &
Benefits, OPS, Expenses, Operating Capital Outlay, etc,)   

I. FISCAL IMPACT ON
STATE AGENCY:

(FY 18-19)
$ / FTE

(FY 19-20)
$ / FTE

(FY 20-21)
$ / FTE

(FY 21-22)
$ / FTE

A. REVENUES: All revenue estimates will be provide  by the Revenue Estimating Conference.

B. EXPENDITURES:

1. Recurring $0 $0 $0 $0

FTE

Salaries

OPS

Expense

HR
Contract

Contracted
Services

2. Non-Recurring $0 $0 $0 $82,618

OPS

Expense

OCO

Contracted
Services

$82,618

C. TOTAL: $0 $0 $0 $82,618

GR

TF

II. EXPLANATION OF COST ANALYSIS (Include methodology and assumptions):

The proposed bill creates a new nonrefundable credit against the state insurance premium tax liability
and/or retaliatory tax liability, equal to the amount of the investor contribution made by each taxpayer to
growth funds certified by the Department of Economic Opportunity. The Department of Economic
Opportunity is authorized to issue a total of $15 million in credits in any one year. Provides for an effective
date of October 1, 2019.



Page 2 of 3

B siness Technology Office   System for Unified Tax (SUNTAX): PY 21/22 $16,368 (Non-
Recurrin ): FY 21/22 $66,250 (Non-Recurring) Baca, Stein, White & As ociates (BSWA) Contractor

The proposed bill would require approximately 176 contractor hours at $93 per hour and 824 in-house
hours to provide the necessary modifications to Revenue's Unified Tax System (SUNTAX). Additional
cost for Revenue's e-Services vendor to perform necessary updates are estimated at $66,250. These
hours would be utilized as follows:

176 Contractor Hours
Information Services - SUNTAX team - Gather requirements and design; perform technical
testing

• Modification to I FT File Format
• I FT Website (Modifications to IPT load program, Math Audit code, and credit tracking

tables)
• Test IPT files from BSWA and DPS systems

824 In-house Hours - Gather requirements and design; update functional specifications; perform
functional testing

> Account Management (16 Hours)
• DR-908 form revisions

> Payment and Fund Distr bution (60 Hours)
• Update the Credit Tracking System
» Credit Tracking System configuration changes

> Revenue Processing (332 Hours)
• Business Analyst Hours- SOW, Test Plan/Scripts, and assist with User Acceptance

Testing
• Update DR-908 RIS Template, RIS Export, OCREVAL, Data validation, and SAP Upload

> Electronic Data Interchange (EDI) / Extensible Markup Language (XML) Team (166 Hours)
• IPT XML; XML Guide; XML Schema; XML XPath
• IPT BSWA XML Changes

Receivables Management and Return Reconciliation (88 Hours)
• Update DR-908 Return (new credit line for Schedule III, Resurrect Sch XV, line 9 front

page redirects from Schedule XIV to XV, update file layout, update logic to read/update
Credit Tracking table)

> Data Support Services (32 Hours)
• Updates to Reports showing IPT Data in Bl and ECC Due to New Line Items in Tax

Return
• Updates to BW Extractor of IPT Data

> Information Services - .NET team (120 Hours) - Gather requirements and design; perform
technical testing

• Update DR-908, DR-908 Schedules III, XIV, & XV RIS Template
• Update IMS ImgProc program
» Update IMS Oracle File Packages
• Update SAP-Upload

Information Services - SUNTAX team (10 Hours)
• DR-908: Form Revision

Revenue s e-Ser ices Applications

Revenue s e-Services vendor, Baca, Stein, White and Associates, Inc. (BSWA) will modify the Insurance
Premium Tax (IPT) File and Pay website and the IPT XML application. The required edits and coding
changes to the web applications and databases are classified as "significant-system cost" changes and
will cost an estimated $66,250 ($43,750 web applications and $22,500 XML).



Page 3 of3

Distribution

Revenue Accounting will assist with posting of approved credits, monitoring the status of progress toward
calendar year limitations, and related correspondence. A position is already dedicated to performing
these tasks for similar credit processing.

Tax Information Publication (TIP) and Forms:

A Tax Information Publication (TIP) will be posted the Department s website using existing resources.

The insurance Premium Taxes and Fees Return (DR-908), schedule III, will be updated with a new line
for the credit, A new credit sche ule for credits against the retaliatory tax will be created.

III. Is an appropriation for the Department of Revenue provided in the bill?   YES IS) NO
If yes, provide amount(s) and fiscal year(s) for the appropriation.

IV. COMMENTS:

Current version of the bill allows the credit beginning in the calendar year following the second
anniversary date. Since credits could first be given out in 2019, the first anniversary date would be in
2020 and the 2nd anniversary date would be 2021, which means the credit could first be claimed in 2022
against the 2021 tax liability. Therefore, costs associated with programming updates would be incurred in
the 2021/2022 fiscal year.





While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)

APPEARANCE RECORD

(DeJiver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14) >D
O
CD
0)
zj'

CQ
C 

C 
jQ

CD
(/>

O
zr
0)
n"

CD
(/>

o
cr
cr

CDQ
0)'

CD
CD
Cl

CD
CQ

I #*C
5

CD

£

73
CD

~U
i

CD
)

0
ZJ

zj 
CQ

CD
~o

D
( 
7s
q'

CQ

>
Q_
Q.

)
0

0 T

'l

Cl

1)
o

£

r



3
(o'

S 
i
&)'
tJ
Q)

O

3"
<D
O
C
D*

3
O
o
3.
S 

(o'

3
<1>
E 
3
(Q

3
CD

(Q

3
8
CD

I
O
&
"O
CD
Q>

3
Q)

Cr
CD

CD
Sy
5>'

CD
Co
CD
3
CD

CD

CD T3
Q. C
s-g;

o
3 
St

3   
2 O3'  

3 
§
3-

3
CD

3
C o  

? Es
m o
03 "S
C    

3
C 
3

-3
CD 3
g 3g o3  c  c 

CD

>
~o
T3
(0
Q)
=j'
(Q
0 

0
-Q
C
00

O
0

-<
00

s

D S
C  5.
¦3 §.
o  !
c  CQ
I3"
0 CO
9 ¦o
g cd3  D
Cr
CD g-

© g CD CD

S- 3
3

3-
CO-

O
cr
cr

0
f h

0
eg
0'

0
~5
0
Q.

0
CD

_ 
0
r  '
c
cB

S
-<
0
0

73
0
3
00
0
f  
d'

CQ

>00
O
O
0'
f-t*
0
Q._
Q.
C
0
r   
120'

0

]
O
QL
0

CD
3
0
0
3'

CQ

> C_ Z 1
C o 0 O
Q. O "O

s0 d 0 o'

00
p *
0 CD 73

T|
O~i

>
CQ
0

|
a »
5'
13

1 £2 i9  3
0 a 03
zr
000 >
0 Q.
0 0

0
cn
i \  

m
r~

00
DO
0 
N>

m ~D

3
0_

zr
O
zo
0

tt>
0
D
o'

<
O
0
0
00
CL
0
D

00
cn0
01
DO
i

K3
CD

G 

0
0
l t 0
j

CD
0
<
0'

_

CD
c
0
o'

000
0
0

3
CD

I
C 

0
3
0
&
33
1
Cr
CD"

»
D

C3-"
CQ
O

0

I
I
CD-'i

C 

3
?3
J "

NO

CD

NO
CD
00

¦o
¦o

s
§
§
m
%
m
o
o
%
D

?
0
%

1
sI
a



a5

S'

§
Sr
•o
0)
a
o

Sr
<B
3

C
cr

<B
o
o
S.

-«

Vi'

2
(D
S'
3 

<Q

3  
CD  

g". CD
CQ  

C '

0)
0 
CD
3
CD
S'

§
CD

I
O

&
¦§
CD
Sr

3

O'
CD

CD

.1
T3

o'I
O

2 CD
sv c 

3 
' §

3 
3
D

CO
a -
C .

3-
CD

D

3
CD

f 3

CD  
"5

Co 3>
3
D
3

"S  3
CD CD
S 3
o o3  C  C 
CD S
CO S.
tJ §.
O  -
C  ,2Co CQ

2: o
® CO
9  0  CD
3 Q)
Q- -S'

I?
CD
a
CD

Sr'

>
3

T3
0
0)

CQ
Q)

0
J3
C
0
(/)

O
I 
0

s"

<
00

s

o
cr
cr

0

0
CQ
0'

0
0
Q.

0
CQ
0_'

0
f-+
C
0

s
-K
00

z
o

73
0

5
00
0
Z5
5'

CQ

Tj
0
01
0
O
=r
0
3
cr
0

O
o
3
3
0
o0

(A
¦o

D
0
7 
Z3 

CQ

T1
O-?

>
CQ
0

>
Q.
Q.
~s
00
0

O

0   
g. s
D

0CD -¦

Q 0
0 (A
=S"Q
s  
§. 0
== 7 

S
0 CQ
Q. ' '

-O'

3 _
S’ =3

§.¦§
o' "O
3 O
S' 

In
it
2. =30

3 -H 0
" M S 0 

a 03
zr o>
0
0 DO
0 i
0 O
0 Q

O
C

CQ
z 

T|
r~

0 
h 
0 0
_ .

m J
3
0

zr
0
13
0

vQo' 00
zr Ol
Z5 O
0
O
D

dn
h 

® 1 v

hoO
I 
0

00
3
cr
0
b
0
3

o
cr

0

o
o'

0 o
3 S-0 O
o
0
0
<

o
zr
130
O
ZJ

3
c:
i0

DO
c0
q'

0
00
00

0
-§

s
.CD

0

hO

00

¦o
¦0

2
§
rn

o
o
%
o

ho
CQ
00

0
%
1
s?1
a



Rick Scott
GOVERNOR

FLORIDA DEPA TMENT
ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

December 28, 2018

The Honorable Rick Scott
Governor of Florida
Executive Office of the Governor

Plaza Level 05, The Capitol
400 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Floirda 32399-00001

The Honorable Bill Galvano
Senate President
The Florida Senate
Room 409, The Capitol
404 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100

Speaker of the House
The Florida House of Representatives

Room 420, The Capitol
402 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1300

Dear Governor Scott, President Galvano and Speaker Oliva:

Enclosed please find the Annual Incentives Report as required by section 288.907, Florida Statues. The
report, prepared in conjunction with Enterprise Florida, Inc., covers the timeframe from July 1, 2017
through June 30, 2018. This report provides a detailed review of the performance of the state s various

economic development incentive programs.

cc: Mike Grissom, Interim Chief Executive Officer, Enterprise Florida, Inc.
Mark Kruse, Legislative Affairs Director, Executive Office of the Governor

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity | Caldwell Building | 107 E. Madison Street | Tallahassee, FL 32399
866,FIA2345 | 850.245.7105 | 850.921.3223 Fax

www.floridaiobs.org | vvHA/w.tyt iil. r.c om/f l DFO | www.facebook.com/FLDEO

The Honorable Jose Oliva

Sincerely,

Executive Director

An equal opportunity employer/program. Auxiliary aids and services are a ailable upon request to individuals with disabilities. All voice
tele hone numbers on this document may be reached by persons using TTY/TDD equipment via the Florida Relay Service at 711.





FLORIDA DEPARTMENT »f
ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY



Table of Contents
Introduction and Overview 1

Programs Included in the 2017-2018 Annual Incentives Report 1

Florida s Economic Development Process 2

How It Works 2

Protecting the Taxpayer’s Investment 2

Compliance and Accountability   3

Economic Development Incentives Portal 4

Types of Incentive Programs 4

Approaches for Data Analysis 6

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Program Information 7

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Payments 7

Program Activity and Results 8

Ta  Refunds 8

Grants  

Tax Credits 9

Economic Benefits 10

Program Trends and Utilization 10

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Project Information 11

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Projects  11

Executed Agreements  12

Qualified Target Industries 13

Industry Results 14

Industry Trends   15

Additional Program Reports  10

Florida Job Growth Grant Fund 16

Rural Development Programs 18

Regional Rural Development Grant Program 18

Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund 18

Rural Infrastructure Fund Program 18

Other Tax Credit Programs 20

Rural Job Tax Credit Program 20

Urban High Crime-Area Job Tax Credit Program 20

Appendix A: Executed Agreements 21

Appendix B: Payments 28

Appendix C: Historical Data 50



Appendix D: Glossary 53

Key Terms 53

Programs 55

Appe di  E: Statutes, Laws and Rules 59

Figures and Tables
Figure 1. Economic Development Process  2

Figure 2. Target Industries 15

Table 1. Economic Development Incentive Categories 5

Table 2. Summary of Confi med Performance and Payments During Fiscal Year 2017-2018 7

Table 3. Payments by Program - Three Fiscal Years 7

Table 4. Payments for DOT Programs - Three Fiscal Years 7

Table 5. Tax Refunds - Program Activity for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 8

Table 6. Tax Refunds - Program Results for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 9

Table 7. Grants - P ogram Activity for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 9

Table 8. Grants - Program Results for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 9

Table 9. Projects - Applications, Approvals and Agreements for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 11

Table 10. Summary of Executed Agreements, Commitments and A ards in Fiscal Year 2017-2018 12

Table 11. Maximum State Award for Agreements Executed in Fiscal Year 2017-2018 12

Table 12. Maximum State Award for DOT Programs in Fiscal Year 2017-2018 13

Table 13. Project Commitments by Industry for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 14

Table 14. Confirmed Performance by Industry for Completed Agreements - Three Fiscal Years 14

Table 15. Florida Job Growth Grant Fund - Awarded Proposals for Fiscal Year 2017-2018 17

Table 16. Rural Development Programs   Fiscal Year 2017-2018 19

Table 17. Rural Job and Urban High-Crime Tax Credit Programs - Calendar Year 2017 20

Table 18. Executed Agreements 22

Table 19. Payments 29

Table 20. Grant Approvals 50

Table 21. Tax Refund Approvals 51

Table 22. Tax Credits Approved to be Claimed by Businesses 52



Introduction and Overview

The 2017-2018 Annual Incentives Report has been prepa ed pursuant to s. 288.907, Florida Statutes. This

report reflects a collaborative effort between the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and
Enterprise Florida, Inc. (EFI).

DEO is committed to providing the Florida Legislature and Florida s taxpayers transparency in state incentive

programs. This report provides taxpayers, legislators and other stakeholders  ith:

Performance information for various economic development incentive programs.

Information on the current status of previously executed agreements.

Detailed information on executed agreements and incentive payments made during fiscal year 2017-

2018.

Some of the specific project information remains confidential per s. 288.075, Florida Statutes, as of the

publication of this report. However, all reasonable attempts have been made to include project details where
applicable.

Programs Included in the 2017-2018 Annual Incentives Report

Various programs comprise Florida’s economic development incentive toolkit. These programs are housed in

several different agencies within the state. This report primarily focuses on programs managed by DEO’s

Division of Strategic Business Development and programs marketed by EFI.

Some programs are administered in DEO’s Division of Community Development or in other state agencies

such as the Florida Department of Revenue (DOR) and the Florida Department of Transportation (DOT).
Descriptions and data for these economic development programs have been included throughout, showing the

diverse range of assistance available to Florida’s businesses. A comprehensive list of programs and their

descriptions can be found in Appendix D. Historical information on programs can be found in Appendix C.

In compiling the Annual Incentives Report for fiscal year 2017-2018, data was collected from EFI, DEO’s

Division of Strategic Business Development and Division of Community Development, DOR and DOT.

1



Florid  s Economic Development Process

Florida s economic development process utilizes str tegic measures and partnerships to expand and diversify

Florida’s economy. Stimulating and promoting job creation is a vital part of this process which can ultimately

bring significant benefits to the state as well as its businesses and communities.

The economic development process is dynamic, involving many different groups and complex decisions. It

often takes a business several months or even years to select a location for a new facility or for expansion. M ny

factors make up a business’ site location decision, including cost, avail bility of a skilled workforce, necessaty

infrastructure, a good education system and a business-friendly climate. Because of this complex and

competitive process, DEO and its partners work to provide economic development incentives to attract and

retain businesses in Florida. Economic development incentives play a role in encouraging businesses to choose

Florida over other states and countries that may be under consideration.

How It Works

As part of the early project development process, EFI encourages businesses to expand to or locate in Florida

by marketing the value of doing business in the state. EFI then evaluates the competitive nature of the project

in order to determine if any incentive programs for the particular project are needed. A strong commitment by

the local community can also help to define the level of commitment on behalf of the state.

While the business is vetted, the needs of the project are evaluated and an incentive pack ge is developed. DEO

conducts due diligence, considers the scope of the proposed project, evaluates which incentive programs are

suitable and negoti tes the terms of an agreement. DEO’s due diligence is a thorough investigation of the

business being considered for an incentive program. The process involves analyzing the risk profile of the

business, the particular project details and the recommended incentive package to ensure it is in the best interest

of Florida’s taxpayers. Adjustments are made during the incentive negotiation process to further tailor the

structure of the incentive package to ensure alignment with the business’ needs. Once the incentive package is

finalized, DEO or DOT issues the formal approvals. Following the approval, an agreement between the

business and the state is executed. Figure 1 summarizes the cooperative process involving DEO and Enterprise

Florida.

Figure 1. Economic Developme t Process

IN ft ANNOUNCE
project

HELP COMPANY
itablith In
Florida

NEGOTIATION
ft APPROVAL
of incentives

PROVIDE SERVICE
after ale

COMMUNITY  ISITS
review local assets

BUILD
com etltivenas 

MARKET to
su pect , prospects,

onsultants

ROVIDE FLORIDA
respon e to client

GATHER
Info from

communities

OP N PROJF I ft
IDENTIFY

company needs
CULTIVAT 

elationshlps GENERATE
lead

2



Since 2011, signific nt improvements have been made to the incentive application process, the due diligence

process and the agreement structu es. One way the state protects the taxpayers  investment is by including

performance requirements in agreements which businesses must achieve before incentive funds are paid out to

businesses by the state. Performance by a business is demonstrated with verified job creation, wage figures and

capital investment. All agreements include penalties or other sanctions for non-performance. For the few

agreements structured where the business is set to receive incentive payments before the full scope of the

project is achieved, each agreement includes sanction language for non-performance. These sanctions include

re uiring the business to repay all or a portion of die incentive award plus interest. Non-compliance may also

result in the termination of the executed agreement between the business and DEO. Additionally, to further

protect the state’s investment in economic development incentive programs, funds are often placed into an

escrow account managed by EFI prior to disbursement to the businesses. If any of these businesses do not

meet the performance milestones required for the payments to be disbursed, the escrowed funds are returned

to the state.

Finally, DEO oversees businesses’ compli nce of the performance deliverables set forth in each executed

agreement. More specifically, the state manages and processes tax refund claims, performance reviews and state

and local financial support payments associated with the executed agreements. This includes maintaining all

documentation related to executed agreements and providing information to the public through the online

Economic Development Incentives Portal.

DEO continues to refine and strengthen the incentives application and approval processes. These improved
procedures allow EFI and DEO to protect the taxpayers’ investment while helping to foster an environment
that encourages job creation.

Compliance  nd Account bility

DEO contracts for services from an independent consulting firm to conduct comprehensive performance

audits of each business that receives an economic development incentive. This process is a competitive bid

process, meaning that businesses submit a proposal to the state, after which the business with the best proposal

is chosen to provide the state with services. A contract between the state and the business is competitively

procured on a regular basis.

In 2016, RSM US LLP (RSM), formerly McGladrey LLP, was awarded an agreement to review 100 percent of
all incentive claims, including audit confirmations, procedures used to verify incentive eligibility and DEO’s

records for accuracy and completeness, as required by Florida Law (Ch. 2015-232, § 6, at 310-311, Laws of Fla.)

In accordance with Florida Law, RSM’s primary responsibilities include:

Verifying economic development incentive recipients’ compliance with agreement requirements.

Reviewing and developing the procedures used to verify awardees’ eligibility for payments.

Ensuring the accuracy and completeness of incentive agreement records.

Once performance claims have been reviewed and verified, RSM is required to present its findings to DEO.

DEO’s Bureau of Compliance and Accountability then reviews RSM’s findings and determines eligibility prior
to approving any payments. If all performance conditions are met, the incentive awardee will receive or retain

the full amount eligible for the year. If performance conditions are not fully met, the incentive awardee may be

eligible for a partial payment or, in some cases, may not be eligible for a payment.

3



Economic Development I centives Portal

In 2013, DEO designed and launched a f st-of-its-kind online Economic Development Incentives Portal. The

interactive portal provides access to performance measurements of every non-confidential incentive project

with an e ecuted agreement since 2000 that has received or is on schedule to receive payments from the state.

Confidential projects, approved projects  ithout an executed agreement and withdrawn or vacated projects are

not included. Confidential projects, as defined by s. 288.075, Florida Statutes, are included once their

confidentiality from the state s public record requirements h s expired.

Although only required to update verified performance results annually, DEO updates the portal as data

become available. DEO’s portal provides access to confirmed performance and payments, furthering die

agency’s commitment to account bility and transparency. The portal is accessible to the public through a link on

DEO’s homepage,  ww.FloridaIobs.org. or directly at ww v.Florid Iobs.o g/IncentivesPortal. Real-time, complete

information is available on the portal, allowing the public to access individual business data related to the

incentives described in this report.

Types of Incentive Programs

Florida’s economic development incentives are components of the state’s toolkit, which is critical to improving
Florida’s economy. The toolkit includes programs designed to address specific needs of businesses as they look
to expand or locate in Florida. Each program serves a different role in attracting businesses and retaining jobs,
and the programs come in various forms such as tax refunds, tax credits, tax exemptions and grants. The

majority of Florida’s competitive economic development projects utilize tax refunds.

A thorough analysis of the project’s needs compared to the eligibility requirements of various incentive
programs help dictate which programs may be a good fit for each project. Table 1 summarizes several different

types of incentives.

4



T ble 1. Economic Development Incentive Categories

Tax Credits

Refund of taxes paid

Credit against taxes owed

Tax Exemptions Exemption from taxes
owed

rview of Claims Process

Business pays taxes

State confirms ta  payments
and verifies performance

State issues refund check

State confirms jobs and capital
investment (if applicable)
Business claims credits on
state taxes after meeting
program requirements

DOR issues tax exemption
permit to business

Business uses permit to make
tax exempt purchases

Revenue Source

Annual appropriation

Foregone revenue

Forgone re enue

Grants Grant with a Business achieves Annual appropriation
performance-based performance milestones

agreement State validates performance

State issues check

5



Approaches for D ta An lysis

There are sever l ways to analyze the performance and effectiveness of economic develo ment programs. Two

evaluation approaches, the program and project approach, are utilized in this report to provide a comprehensive

summary of the various economic development programs.

The program approach is based on summarizing data for individual economic development programs. This

section of the report includes information for each program such as the amount of incentives approvals, a

summary of the status of executed agreements and summarized performance results for currently active

agreements. This approach is useful for comparing programs; however, keep in mind that summarizing data

for each program can lead to duplicative job numbers due to the periodic use of multiple economic

development programs for single projects.

The project approach is based on the projects and applications received for each program. This approach
includes information on approvals and executed agreements as well as an overview on agreements in qualified

target industries. Further details for executed agreements and projects are provided in Appendix A and B as

well as the Economic Development Incentives Portal (www.Florid Jobs.org/IncentivesPo   h.

The data presented in this report should be evaluated in context with the goals of the applicable programs, the

highly competitive nature of economic development and the current economic climate.

6



Fisc l Year 2017-2018 Program Info matio 

Fiscal Ye r 2017-2018 Payme ts

During fiscal year 2017-2018, the state paid a total of $33,598,778.38 through the state s economic development
incentive programs. Table 2 summarizes confirmed performance for all projects that were paid this fiscal year
as well as the total state and local financial support payments. The local financial support consists primarily of
monetary payments to the state and subsequendy refunded to the business. Several projects were recipients of
ad valorem tax abatements, which were used as the local financial support match for the Qualified Target
Industry refunds. The total financial support has been adjusted to reflect these ad valorem tax abatements.

Table 2. Summ ry of Confirmed Performance and Payments During Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Number of Confirmed
Confirmed Confirmed Loc l

Projects New Jobs

1 262 | 16,258 $72,268.92 \ $279,961,082.86 ; $33,598,778.38  $3,547,132.44

Table 3 summarizes the total payments made by programs administered by DEO. Tax credits and tax
exemptions  re not included in this table, because these credits and exemptions are not issued through DEO.

Table 3. Payments by Program - Three Fiscal Years

Type of
Pro ram

Pro r m
Fisc l Year
2017-2018

Fisc l Year
2016-2017

Fisc l Year
2015-2016

Grants High-Impact Performance Incentive
Grant $0.00 $9,500,658.00 $4,120,000.00
Innovation Incentive Program $0.00 ! $0.00 $0.00
Quick Action Closing Fund

Paid into Escrow $0.00 i $0.00 ! $23,500,000.00

Tax j
Refunds

P id to Busi ess $14 ,301,902.67 $24,266,773.00 $23,009,345.00

Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus

Qu lified Target Industry and Standalone $1,212,141.00 $724,036.00 $1,370,618.00

j Qualified Target Industry $18,084,734.71 | $3,723,640.00 | $9,758,832.00
!
iTotal | $33,598,778.38 $38,215,107.00 j $61,758,795.00

Table 4 summarizes the total payments made by the Economic Development Transportation Projects program,
which is managed by DOT, for fiscal year 2017-2018. Please note that these payments are not made by DEO.

Table 4. Payments for DOT Programs - Three Fiscal Years

Type of
Progr m

Pro ram
Fiscal Ye r
2017-2018

Fiscal Ye r
2016-2017

1
Fiscal Year
2015-2016

Grants Economic Development
Transportation Projects ! $14,489,229.94 ! $9,296,149.00 | $4,120,000.00

7



Progr m Activity  nd Results

Understanding the us ge and performance of economic develo ment programs is critical to determining their
effecti eness as job creation tools. Measurement of program performance against executed agreement
requirements takes place annually, at a minimum. The following descriptions and tables  uantify key
performance metrics for each program.

Tables 5-8 show a summary of the current status and performance of projects by program for fiscal year 2017-
2018. Many businesses have multi-year agreements and are in the process of completing their performance
requirements. Because of this, each fiscal year may show differences between the numbers for program status
and performance categories. For example, the number of complete agreements may seem low compared to the
number of active agreements or confirmed job numbers may be higher or lower than number of jobs due.

Tables 5 and 7 show the current status of projects by program. Not all businesses decide to commence their
projects in Florida or decide to continue with their project after executing an agreement witii the state. Many
factors may play a role in these decisions, such as changes in operational plans or a failure to get an anticipated
contract (i.e. contracts with federal agencies such as the U.S. Department of Defense). Additionally, some
businesses may begin a project and achieve some performance requirements but fail to fulfill these terms later
on and become ineligible to receive subsequent payments. For tiiese reasons, the status of each
agreement/project falls within one of six categories: active, inactive, terminated, vacated, withdrawn or
complete. Definitions for each of these terms can be found in the glossary.

Tables 6 and 8 summarize the performance of projects in each program during the fiscal year. This information
includes the jobs due and the jobs that were confirmed from businesses for that fiscal year. Confirmed job
performance numbers vary year by year and can be higher or lower than the number of jobs due for each fiscal
year. Years that the number of jobs confirmed are lower do not necessarily indicate diat businesses have not
met their performance requirements. During performance periods, businesses often create more jobs than
required for certain fiscal years even if they drop below their requirements for another fiscal year. This variation
is due to the nature of changing market conditions and business decisions based on altered business plans.

Tax Refunds

able 5.  ax Refunds - Pro ram Activity for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Pro r m Sl l s
Qualified  ar et

Industry

Brownfield Redcvelop ent
Bonus

Qu lified T rget fm/ stiy mil!
St.iml / nc

Active | 165 17
Inactive 1 9 1 
Terminated |  

j        17 _ 1
Vacated I 6 0
Withdrawn 28 0
Complete ± _ ____ _ 12 1



Table 6. Tax Refunds - Program Results for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Perfor ance Cate ory
Qualified Tar et

Industry

Brownfield Redev lopment Bonus
Qualified Target Indust y and

Standalon 

Jobs Due 1 5,345 275
Confirmed Job Performance | 7,239 547
Percent Achieved 135% 1i 199%

Grants

Table 7. Grants - Program Activity for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

] Active

| Inactive

Terminated

Vacated

j Withdrawn

( Complete

4
0
0
0
1
1

71
1
1
0
1

16

1
6
0
0
0
1

Table 8. Grants - Pro ram Results for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Performance C te ory
igh-Imp ct

Performance
Q ick Action
Clo ing Fund

Innov tion
Incentive Pro r  

Jobs Due

Confirmed Job Performance

Percent Achieved

370

1,059

286%

3,389

3,044

90%

0

0

0

T x Credits

DEO is responsible for determining eligibility and approving tax credit program applicants,  hile the DOR
determines the tax credit amount and issues die tax credits to businesses. For the Capital Investment Tax Credit
(CITC) program, DEO also verifies job performance and capit l investment. Because DEO verifies this
information, the CITC program is included in this section. Other tax credit programs are not traditional
economic development incentive programs and are not included in this section. Detailed information on these
additional t x credit programs can be found under  Additional Program Reports. 

As of fiscal year 2017-2018, there are 54 active CITC awardees. These awardees have committed to create 1,338
jobs; DEO has confirmed 1,987 jobs and $369,769,611.25 in capital investment for fiscal year 2017-2018.

9



Economic Be efits

Pursuant to s. 288.061(2), Florid  Statutes, DEO uses an economic impact model established by the Florida
Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) to calculate the economic benefits for each project
requesting state economic development incentives.

Economic benefits are calculated as the gains in state revenue (taxes attributable directiy to the business or

those generated as a result of the increased economic activity rippling through the economy) as a percentage of
the state s investment in the project. The state’s investments are the various incentives offered to the business
via t x refund, tax credit or grant. Based on EDR’s revisions to the model, economic benefits are calculated
in a manner consistent with Return on Investment (ROI) calculations. Results prior to 2013 are expressed

as a Payback Ratio and are not comparable  ith ROI.

During the 2012 legislative session, a requirement was removed from the annual incentives report and EDR
was directed to evaluate and determine the economic benefits of each incentive program over the previous three
years. EDR’s Retu   on Investment for Selec  State Economic Develo ment Incentive Progr ms r ort on economic benefits

was completed on Jan. 1, 2014 with an updated report on Jan. 1, 2017.

Program Trends and Utilization

Several trends are apparent when looking at usage of eco omic development incentive programs. These general
trends are listed below. In fiscal year 2017-2018, four percent of executed agreements are identified as being

woman-owned.

Flexibility is key. Cities, counties and states across the country are being increasingly creative in crafting
compelling offers to attract economic development projects and to meet individual business needs. To
compete, Florida must continue to enhance the flexibility of its economic development programs while
maintaining programs that are fiscally sound and provide a positive return on taxpayer investments.

Economic diversity is critical. Increasing Florida’s economic diversity is critical to the stability and
competitiveness of the state. While Florida ranks at the top for entrepreneurial business, the availability of
reasonable-cost financing continues to be tight for small to medium-sized businesses in Florida and across the
nation. Because of this unavailability, these businesses are seeking other resources. The State Small Business
Credit Initiative program is an example of one such resource that is helping open up access to much needed

inexpensive capital by way of loan participation and bridge financing.

10



Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Project I formation

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Projects

In fiscal ye r 2017-2018, 84 applications were received for the programs listed belo . Table 8 includes the
number of applications received, approvals issued by DEO and executed agreements. Economic Development
Transportation Projects resulting from a line-item appropriation by the Florida Legislature are not included in
the project totals, as these are not considered traditional economic development projects and may or may not
be tied to job creation and capital investment. These projects are awarded and monitored by DOT.

Not all projects are approved and executed in the same fiscal year; therefore, the applications received and
executed agreements represent a slightly different population of projects. The application, negotiation and
approval process can take anywhere from several weeks to several months or occasionally more than a year,
depending on the scope of the economic development project. This timing is the primary reason for the
difference in applications, approvals and executed agreements. In addition, EFI works closely with businesses
through the incentives process and if a business is beheved to be ineligible for a specific incentive, that
information is conveyed as early as possible.

Table 9. Projects - Applications, Approvals and Agreements for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Type of
Pro r  

Pro r m Applications
Received

Approvals
(Certific tions)

Exec ted
reements

Grants High-Imp act Performance
Incentive Grant
1 ~ - _

!

3 3 1
| Innovation Incentive Program 0 0 0
| Quick Action Closing Fund 0 0 0

Tax
Credits Capital Investment Tax Credit 5 5 N/A1
Tax
Refunds i Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus

Q alified  arget Industry and Standalone \ 2 4 1
Qualified Target Industry 74 77 73

Total 84 89 75
he Capital Investment Tax Credit Program does not utilize executed agreements.

11



Executed Agreeme ts

M ny of the state economic development incentive progtams require the business to enter into a performance

agreement with Florida. Exceptions are sales tax credits and exemptions, which are utilized upon a taxable

event after approval by the state. Grants to local governments are overseen by performance agreements with

the government applicant.

Of the 75 executed agreements, six of these were in areas classified as a rural community, Brownfield area or

distressed urban area. These projects have committed to create 861 new jobs and are expected to invest more

than $706,589,500 into these areas.

Table 10 summari es the performance commitments for businesses with agreements executed by DEO in fiscal

year 2017-2018. Trojected Capital Investment  is the amount of capital investment that businesses with

executed agreements estimate they will generate with dieir projects. Not all programs require capital investment

commitments, which is why this category exists separately from  Required Capital Investment.’ This table also

includes the state award amount and the required local financial support commitments associated with these

executed agreements.

able 10. Summary of Executed Agreements, Commitments and Awards in Fiscal Year 2017-2018

„ , „ . , Required Projected
Executed Contract job ' ,a| c ilal

Agreements Require ent Invcstmcnl |nvcsUncn,

Contracted

Aver ge
Ann  l

a e

M  i u 
State
A  rd

Required
Local

Financial
Suppori

75 8,659 $50,500,000.00 | $2,306,258,908.00 | $59,382.59 |$38,907,200.00 [ $11,008,800.00

Table 11 provides a breakdown of the maximum eligible award by program for the agreements executed in

fiscal year 2017-2018. An award of $0.00 indicates that no agreement was executed for that program, and

therefore there are no projects for which there can be a ma imum state award. Tax credits and exemptions are

not included, because these programs do not have executed agreements.

Table 11. Maximum State Awatd fot Agreements Executed in Fiscal Yeat 2017-2018

Type of Pro r m
M ximu  St te

Grants j High-Impact Performance Incentive Grant $1,000,000.00

i Innovation Incentive Program $0.00

j Quick Action Closing Fund $0.00

Tax Refunds i Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus
i Q alified  arget Industry1 and Standalone $1,200,000.00

\ Qualified Target Industry $36,617,200.00

! Total $38,817,200.00
iThe noted maximum state award amount is die Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus portion only. The Qualified

Target Industry portion is included in the Qualified Target Industry total.

12



Table 12 s mmarizes the maximum state award for the Economic Development Transportation Projects
program, which is managed by DOT, in fiscal year 2017-2018.

Table 12. Maximum State Award for DOT Programs in Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Ty e of Pro ram Pro r m

Grants i Economic Development Transportation Projects

Ma imum State
A  rd

$0.00

Qualified Target Industries

Target industries are primarily used by the Qualified Target Industry (QTI) program to identify businesses that
are eligible for tax refunds. Target industry businesses are defined in s. 288.106, Florida Statutes. These

businesses create jobs with higher than average wages in industries that are expected to have a positive economic
impact.

In fiscal year 2016-2017, Florida s target industries were reviewed in conjunction with economic development

organi ations, representatives from the State University System, local governments and other stakeholders as

re uired by s. 288.106(2)(q), Florida Statutes. The review concluded with no substantive changes to the

industries that comprise the list. Figure 2 outlines the targeted industries identified in the fiscal year 2016-2017
review.

In the following tables, all executed agreements and completed agreements for the listed fiscal years are

categorized by target industries and include other programs in addition to the QTI program.

Figure 2. Target Industries

Security

Financial and
Professional
Services

I'lMIl'IMUJ!

Aviation and
Aerospace Global Logistics

and  Trade

Corporate
Headquarters

Information
Technology

Clean
Technology Life Sciences Q
Defense and
Homeland Manufacturing

Research and
Development

13



In fiscal year 2017-2018, the majo it  of DEO s executed agreements were with businesses in these target

industries. Table 13 provides additional details on executed agreements and their commitments by industry.

Table 13. Project Commitme ts by I dustry for Fisc l Year 2017-2018

Industry
Executed

Agreements

Contract Job
Re uire ent

Contr cted
Avera e Annu l

Waee

Projected
C pital

Investment

Aviation/Aerospace i 2 150 $70,408.33 i $54,750,000.00

Corporate Headquarters j 18 2,677 | $60,640.12 j $605,170,901.00

Clean Technologies j 1 60 | $68,500.00 i $6,000,000.00
1

Financial/Professional Services j 10 1,450 $57,571.60 1 $42,974,416.00

Homeland Security/Defense i 0 ! N/A N/A\ N/A
Information Technology j 8 1,354 $60,641.49 | $41,791,000.00

Life Sciences | 0 N/A N/A 1 N/A
Logistics/Distribution | 5 230 $47,908.68 j $57,266,201.00

Not in Target Sector j 0 N/A N/A | N/A
Other Manufacturing | 28 2,523 $56,885.78 $1,453,296,390.00

Research and Development j 3 215 j $79,347.93 j $45,010,000.00

Total | 75 8,659 | $59,382.59  [ $2,306,258,908.00
'This amount is the total weighted average of all wages for the noted executed agreements in these industries.

Industry Results

A review of  rojects with completed incentive agreements in the last three fiscal years is presented below by

target industry in Table 14. The information contained within the table is central to evaluating the quality and

effectiveness of die incentives geared toward targeted industries in Florida.

Table 14. Confirmed Performance by Industry for Completed Agreements - Three Fiscal Years

Industry
Comnlcted Confirmed lob

Confirme Confi med

Aviation/Aerospace 8 1,384 i $71,885.89 129,567,639.52

Corporate Headquarters 17 1,997 | $90,529.92 $91,792,903.99

Financial/Professional Services 11 j 4,692 i $83,937.87 $97,088,209.03

Homeland Security/Defense 2 305 j $51,579.75 $0.00

Information Technology 13 | 1,868 $94,824.79 315,974,978.56

Life Sciences . .. . 6 I 860 $75,330.18 $29,005,975.29

Logistic s / Dis tribution 1 207 ' $59,903.41 $0.00

Not in Target Sector 5 1 841 $25,692.76 $13,405,181.77

Other Manufacturing 10 | 1,419 ! $65,220.61 $50,245,182.26

Research and Development 1 1 13 | $130,016.00 $0.00

Total 74 13,586 ! $78,022.17! $727,080,070.42
his amount is the total weighted average of all wages for the noted completed agreements in these

industries.

14



Industry T ends

Pursuant to s. 288.106(7)(d), Florida Statutes, DEO is tasked with attempting to ascertain the causes fo  a

business  failure to complete its QTI agreement. The follo ing analysis contains the department’s findings and

recommendations.

In fiscal year 2017-2018, 63 agreements were terminated after a status change to inactive, terminated or

withdrawn. Of the 63 agreements, 33 businesses voluntarily withdrew from the program.

Through ongoing communication with the businesses, DEO found a variety of issues affecting businesses’

continued participation in the program. Causes for businesses’ inability to complete their agreements included

the following:

Twenty-six businesses reported not being able to meet the job creation requirement;

Nineteen businesses did not submit performance claims required to remain active in the program;

Seven businesses reported changes in their business plans or market conditions as factors influencing

their ability to meet the requirements;

Two businesses ultimately decided not to locate in Florida; and

Nine businesses did not indicate a reason for withdrawal from the program.

The overall conclusion remains that the QTI program continues to be a successful tool for Florida’s economic

development, and taken as a whole, the projects that remain in the QTI program throughout their entire job

maintenance schedule are successful and provide a positive return-on-investment to the state.

15



Additional Program Reports

This section consists of additional programs that are not traditional economic development incentive programs.

These programs are marketed by EFI and administered by DEO, with the exception of tax credit programs
that are administered by DOR. Pursuant to s. 213.053, Florida Statutes, tax credits claimed are not included in

order to maintain business confidentiality.

Florida Job Growth Gr nt Fund

The Florida Job Growth
Grant Fund, established

by Governor Scott and

the Florida Legislature in
2017, provided $85
million for improving
public infrastructure and

enhancing workforce

training in Florida in fiscal
year 2017-18.

DEO and EFI received
more than 250 proposals

requesting more th n

$877 million in funding
for fiscal year 2017-2018.
These proposals were

reviewed by DEO and
EFI and chosen by
Gove  or Scott based on

their strong retu   on

investment to the state

and to meet the demand

for a robust workforce or

infrastructure needs.

Retu   on investment was

calculated to determine

the best projects for the
state and economic

development in the

regions.

Fiscal Year 2017-2018 Awarded Projects

Through the Florida Job Growth Grant Fund, Governor Scott awarded 33 proposals in fiscal year 2017-2018
that are estimated to return more than $321 million to taxpayers. For more information on the Florida Job

Growth Grand Fund, visit www.FloridaIobs.ors

16



Table 15. Florida Job Growth Grant Fund - Awarded Proposals for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Amount

Infrastructure Proposals

Baker Count $2,297,054.35
Canaveral Port Authority $8,245,000.00

Charlotte County $800,000.00
City of Alachua $6,755,000.00
City of Hialeah 4,000,000.00

City of Jacksonville $6,000,000.00
City of Marianna $1,978,322.00
City of Pensacola $4,000,000.00

City of Port St. Lucie $3,003,247.83
City of Titusville $1,060,500.00

Clay County $2,065,000.00
Columbia County 3,135,600.00

Liberty County $1,448,831.00
Marion County 5,500,000.00

Osceola County $5,800,000.00
Sumter County $838,860.00

Suwannee County $3,125,000.00
Volusia County $1,961,564.00

Washington County $1,821,461.00
Workforce Proposals

Big Bend Technical College $100,000.00
Broward College $3,187,500.00
Chipola College $76,240.00

Collier County Public Schools 3,019,900.00
Eastern Florida State College $3,790,020.00

Florida Gateway College $860,000.00
Florida State College at Jacksonville $710,352.50

Gulf Coast State College 1,923,442.32
j Manatee Technical College $201,500.00
j Pensacola State College $1,860,510.00
| St. Johns River State College | $1,383,237.00
i St. Petersburg College $1,596,858.00

Valencia College 2,320,000.00
Withlacoochee Technical College $135,000.00

Total Amount Awarded $85,000,000.00



Rural Development Prog  ms

The following section summarizes the activit  of the rural programs managed by DEO s Division of
Community Develo ment.

Regional Rur l De elopment Grant Program

The Regional Rural Development Grant Program, created in 1996 by s. 288.018, Florida Statutes, provides

funds to regionally-based economic development organizations  epresenting  ural counties and communities

in order to build the professional capacity of the communities they  epresent.

The maximum grant awa d pe  fiscal yea  is $50,000, or $150,000 if located in a Rural Area of Opportunity.
The grant must be matched each year by an equivalent amount of non-state resources. Up to $750,000 from

funds appropriated to the Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund may be used for this prog am

each fiscal year.

Rur l Community Development Revolving Loan Fund

The Rur l Community Development Revolving Loan Fund, created in 1996 by s. 288.065, Florida Statutes,

provides loans to local gove nments o  economic development organizations to finance initiatives directed

toward maintaining or developing the economic base of rural communities, especially when addressing

employment opportunities.

Eli ible, local gove nments or economic development organizations must be located in:

Counties with populations of 75,000 o  less;
Counties with populations of 125,000 or less if contiguous to a county with a population of fewer than

75,000; or

Rural Areas of Opportunity (RAO).

Appropriations from the State Economic Enhancement and Development (SEED) Trust Fund and the
Economic Development Tmst Fund support the Regional Rural Development Grant Program and the Ru al

Community Development Revolving Loan Fund.

All loan payments are returned to the loan fund and made available for loans for other applicants. Pursuant to

s. 288.065(4), Florida Statutes, appropriated funds are not subject to reversion and will be available until the
funds are approved. However, if the recipient is located within a RAO,  epayments may be retained by the

applicant if funds are used fo   egionally-based economic development organizations  epresenting that area.

Rural Infr structure Fund Program

The purpose of the Rural Infrast ucture Fund Program, created in 2001 by s. 288.0655, Florida Statutes, is to

facilitate the planning, preparing and financing of tradition l economic development or n ture-based tourism

infrastructure projects that encourage job creation and capital investment in ru al communities. DEO may

award up to 40 percent of total infrastructure costs for catalyst site projects and no more than 30 percent of

total infrastructure costs for projects in mral counties that are not located on designated catalyst sites. Catalyst

sites are defined by s. 288.0656, Florida Statutes.

18



The three t pes of grants a ailable under the Rural Infrastructure Fund Program are:

* Total Project Participatio  Grants: Up to 30 percent of the total infrastructure project costs related

to specific job-creating opportunities and up to 40 percent of total costs for catalyst site projects.

Infrastructure Feasibility Grants: Funding for infrastructure feasibility studies, design and

engineering, or other planning and preparation activities that will help facilitate the location or
expansion of specific job-creating opportunities. Grant awards are dependent on the project location

and the degree to which administrative and consultant expenses are minimized. Feasibility Grants  ay

be used in conjunction with Total Project Participation Grants. The total of both grants may not exceed

30 percent of the total project cost.

• $50,000 (maximum) for projects creating at least 100 jobs

• $150,000 (maximum) for projects creating at least 300 jobs

• $300,000 (maximum) for projects in a RAO

Ptecleara ce Review Grants: This grant is used to help local governments access resources available

pursuant to s. 403.973(18), Florida Statutes. Grants may be used for surveys, feasibility studies and

other activities related to the identification and preclearance review of land use modifications. Available

funding and the required match is dependent on the location of the project and the degree to which
administrative and consultant expenses are minimized. If an application for funding is for a catalyst

site, the requirement for local match may be waived pursuant to the process in s. 288.06561, Florida

Statutes. In evaluating applications under this program, DEO will consider the extent to which the

application seeks to minimize administrative and consultant expenses.

• $7 5,000 (maximum) with a 50 percent local match

• $300,000 (maximum) with a 33 percent local match for activities in a RAO

Table 16. Rural Development Programs - Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Progr m
Legisl tive

A pro ri tions Approv ls Amount Awarded

Regional Rural Development
Grant Program $750,000 4 $586,000

Rural Community Development
Revolving Loan Fund $1,170,000.00 1 $1,500,000.002

Rural Infrastructure Fund Program i $1,600,000.00 6 ! $1,600,000.00
p to $750,000 from the Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund may be used to fund

Regional Rural Development Grant Program projects.

The amount awarded exceeded the annual legislative appropriations due to the use of available deobligated
funds from prior years.

19



Other T x Credit Programs

The following programs are managed by DEO and DOR. DEO is responsible for eligibility and approval of
applications for tax credit programs, while DOR issues the tax credits to businesses. These tax credit programs

are based on a calendar year schedule.

Table 17. Rural Job and Urba  High-Crime  ax Credit Programs - Calendar Year 2017

Progra Approv ls Jobs Cre ted T x Credits Approved

Ruraljob Tax Credit |
Program i 4 229 $229,000.00

Urban High-Crime
Tax Credit Program 14 2,094 $3,035,000.00

Rur l Job T x Credit Program

The Ruraljob Tax Credit Program, created in 1999 and under by s. 212.098, Florida Statutes, offers an incentive

for eligible businesses located within one of 36 designated Qualified Rural Areas to create new jobs. The tax
credit ranges from $1,000 to $1,500 per qualified employee and can be taken against either Florida corporate
income tax or Florida sales and use tax. The Ruraljob Tax Credit Program receives a tax credit allocation of

up to $5 million dollars each calendar year.

Urban High Crime-Are  Job Tax Credit Program

The Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit Program, created in 1999 and governed by s. 212.097, Florida
Statutes, offers an incentive for eligible businesses located within one of 13 designated urban high-crime areas

to create new jobs. The tax credit ranges from $500 to $2,000 per qualified job and can be taken against either
Florid  corporate income tax or Florida sales and use tax. The Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit Program

receives a tax credit allocation of up to $5 million dollars each calendar year.

20



Appendix A: Executed Agreements

This table lists projects with agreements that were executed with  ie state during fiscal year 2017-2018. Pursuant

to s. 288.075(6)(b), Florida Statutes, confidential projects cannot be disclosed. Additional considerations when
reviewing the list of executed contracts include:

All agreements require existing Florida businesses to maintain their current employment levels.

Projects located in rural cities, rural communities or Brownfield areas are eligible to request an

exemption of the local financial support requirements. These are denoted as  $0.00  in the respective

column.

21



(A

1
1

a

a c
« « 2
u •- S

S* «

u g

d
<u

a
cu
01
* 
(U
a
u
<u

W

•s
H

o o oo o o
00 in
00 m M-
CO 00 m

<n T-Hm 'C 
m=

o o Oo o o
o o oo o oo o o
o NO ino CO c C 

¥

o o oo o o
o o oo o oo o o
o o mo 00
LO T <

&¥
¥

o o Oo o o
o o oo o oo o in
o m c-o CM 00o CO
I ) in
CO CO

= m=

o o mo CO m
SO

f3
o

52 i 

<0  H 1 «e
H P 2 a I
O O' H 0  
CLi -d

S 0 ,< 

u f l  tr js
o «

U ffi O U ffi

<u
.53 • S3 u

CO in 03 hQ
0 O

CO

& arCO V
H  -H

U
d

-§
d

HH

'5b
or H
0 3 itH

0

¦ 
CU
w
a
i

CM

o  
3 o
U t

PQ
<=«

H
p
u

11
« i

« uB a
o

S ?2
ida

Q * 3
CO  -1

ffi  
u g-

p r o
PQ o a 9 §¦

<1 CO

C 
CO



•o S
v 5
tS   «

<3 bjo

d
u S

oo
fO
VO

t -*'
LO

oo
oo
C 
T I

1
6 

oo
oo
UDo
t -
m=

oo
oo
T I-  
L  

oo
o
CO

(
ir 
LO
m=

oo
ooo
u-r

oo
©o© 
O"

<N
CN

©©
©©© 
© ©
LO

©©
©©
©_~

O
&¥

©©
©©©
©"
©
VO

©©
©©© 
©"
©
O

©©
C ©
-"<
©"
iO

=

©©
©©© 
u- 
r -

©©
©©
©_
u- 

c 

U
d
d

1
¦S  « ©
3  

©©
©

<u

.¦ «N

<n o
« O
U

©©
©©© 
vc ©

©©
©©©
©"
¦  f
oo

3
a

u C 

s   
C/3

pM P

<

o yo a
o

8
tn<f> <U«y3  i

O SQ u ©

©©
00
©_
iO~
r -

©©
©©© 
o"
©

©©
©©© 
©"
vO
1 -
, tr
(N

TJ
a
<3

u

-  
S3 &QJ  
pM P

o
u
A  O fO

O
« o©

©©
©
CO
UD
UD

5=

©©
©©© 
© ©
< 

P
)

Is
_S3 S

0 «
c/5 o

©©
©
<N
LO 
ao
LO

©©
©©© 
© 
OO
C 
u- 

©©
©©© 
©"
©
O 

T <
C 

©©
CO
N 
oo '
VO
m=

©©
©©©©"
VO
VO

S d.
o an
P-crd
t) CS
o  u

A

©©
©©
vo 
r  ©
iO

©©
©©©
©"
©© 
Nr
VO
VO
m=

II
a  O
d 1§ du

u  
3 c/ 

i S' l
I  I

O <L>
<u  

O

©©
©©© 
© ©
I 

*

©©
©©©©"
©
LO
of

*

©©
©©©
©"
©
cO
o m=

Lm
Ow

P3

•d (U
Cd  o

©©
©©©
C 
04
LO
m=

U
d
4
< 
ffi

"d"

a S<u 2
<u 2

5 d

CO

Support Corporation 17- 00191 Palm Be ch Aviation/Aerospace 50 $25,000,000.00 $200,000.00 $40,000.00  $73,685.00 Holiday AL Management Corporate Sub LLC 17-00465 Oran e Headqua ters  157 $100,000.00 j $1,099,000.00  $219,800.00   90,926.00



C8

¦s I
&

fl  TO
S  
u 5

c
a « a

& a
o   «

J ?»
Ch C

id
0

nd

a
<u

J
O
X

<N

o

3 m
£

fcj 8

2 if)

* *3
o

H .a
pq pd

o o o o o © © © © © i
o | © © © Si ©o o o o o © © © © © © © © ss ©

C\ o 00 o Ov d M1 © © cd cd Cv © - 00
LO VO o 00 o 00 © LO vo CM © © © 00 ' j r-H
O LO LO l o - O "H © O- © © © o- tOj to
t - of o' r-H of ©" lo' u-f U-f of ©" r-H ©" © 
C LO o - L CO 00 iO CO CO M- o- M" M-
m= &¥ ¥ T i ¥¥ m= = = ¥ ¥

m=

1
oo OO oo oo oo ©© ©© ©© ©© ©© ©© ©© ©© ©©

!
|

o t© i
©©

o o © o © © © <© © © © cd © cd i cdo o o o o © © © © © © © ©o o o o o © 00 © © © © © © O 1 ©
c o' LO" O'*' LO" ©" T \ co" o ©" © lo'" of ol © 

CM C VO r-H © to © O- M- O 1 CO
¥ 1 O' -H ¥ m ¥

¥ m=

1?

o o o o o © © © © © © © © ©

!

\o  ©o o o o o © © © © © © © © © © i ©
o o o o o © © d © cd © cd cd cd ©i cdo o o o o © © © © © © © © © S ©o o_ © © ©. © © ©_ © M © © o 1 © 
o o iO LO LO © © iO © © © 00 LO © ©o o o- 00 - © © © © LO © LO ~ tV i_n  LO
<N VO &¥ &¥ © CO LO l LO t-h CO CM T-H | T"H

¥ m= &¥ CO ¥ m= = MFr
¥ 1

o o o o o © © © © © © © © © © ©o o o o © © © © © © © © © © © ©
o o o o © © © © d d cd © © © cdo o o o © © -H © © © © © © © © ©o © © CT, © © © © © ©_ © © © 
LO o LO 00 © © O © © O C © © © LOJ ©
CM o CM o © © o- © © LO CM © © © CO ©

L cO C © T ¦< © M- © O © o- © ' M 00
f oc C of oo ©" r-H vd' IO T * = of of
¥ m= © m= m= LO ¥ r-H

¥ Ol ¥ ¥

LO o LO O' LO © CO cO © © © O LO LO © ©
C LO Ol V i Ol © © r-H © LO © CO C O cO iO

r-H T t r-H iO v < T <

W d
0 bf

•a
bf bf d b bf Q bp be

•¦J Q o D o . 9 ¦a .9 . 

g dO a C 3) g • T iV)
C/ g g q g g

i  -Vi

i
a

Information Technology

¦fl
( • 'r-i
Q

•s

u
. -i

1
2
V
a

C/3
tJ

§ a
0 §¦
p j  I  s

II
II (9 u

Finandal/Profe Services

o
-i

2
<d

-a

U
U-i

2
-a

Financial/Profe Services

u
U-i

1
2
¦a

0
M-i

g1
c3

-a

<S)

p
/3

tf)
•5 
o orporate eadquarters

u
.4-i

£
S
8
-a

u
V-i

§
S
•a

o 0 u Pd 9 uihh o o o o p u ffi o °

o' 

i
o
fr
ou

o (
:

4J
I i

oS
•H
g COO  D

E «C d
C/D 1 1

d
o

73 .§
o

2 «

fi
Q 1

2!
Ui

d

N
O

oU
%%
5  CO

£ 8

'Cf-
(N

u
d
vs

od
o
o

o
.9  
s 2
2 8



LO
<N

V gS4 &
a v  ?
s

oo
ooo
o
00
U->
CN=

oo
ooo
oo
o.
10
<N

o
i<3
I' ,

oo
ooo
om

oo
ooo
om
<N

I is g o ol
tr
v X

ba

oo
<N
V 
tn
LO"  -

=

oo
oo
oo
(N
CN

oo
ooo
o
LO
CO
lo"

•¦H
uo

o

c 

0U

1
• i!
CO 10LT)
U  

1?i f -
Ph ir-*

oo
CN

On
r -

oo
oo
o,
C o
CNm=

oo
ooo
o'
o
nc 
oo
co=

a a,o Co
i d

« S o «
U  J

oo
oo
O

oo 
NO

oo
ooo
CN
r--

oo
ooo
o'
NO
O

CJ
•5b
Q

$
C/3
V
Q

oo
oo
or'
IN
Cs 

oo
ooo
o'
NO
c =

oo
ooo
o'
o
CO

C 
pH O

oo
oo
o.
io'
CN

<D

<U
Qh

a
M ©®
pH  -H

oo
CO
00
lo'
NO
m--

oo
ooo
o'
oo 
co'
NO

c 
X
o
fc
o

o
00
00
CN

I
N-
m=

oo
oo
oo'
N-

oo
ooo
o'
N-
CN
&¥

o
p
00
cO
ON
CN
iO
&¥

I 
o'

& E
a  
0 r 1

o «
u Pd

pp

u
d
sU

"S

CN

.a oo

oo
CO
NO
T H
N
LO
6 

oo
oopo'
o
LO
6 

oo
ooo 
o'
o
io_

u
d
o
o

g
CMp

oo
oo
i '
IN
CN

oo
ooo
o'
o
o'
CN
CN

u
a

H-1
cJ

•S
Q

cm
oo t-h
3 S
<u  4-J lMl

CO o

o
p
00
00
N

t-h
N-

oo
ooo 
no'
CO=

oo
ooo 
o'
o
00 
co'

l+h
o

w
§ a
.a

co

cO

§ o
a N-

a
CJ
K
XJo

<u

oo
oop
O 

oo
ooplo'
N-
m=

oo
oo
LO
N-'
CO=

m

o'
K-l

<u oH

o

00-
co J
S2 P< j  H

IIo  
Jp oH U



Contr ct Job Capital Maximum Required Loc l Average Annual

Project County Industry Requirement Investment Eli ible Aw rd Fin nci l Support W  e

oo
ooo
om
t ;
o\
<N

o o o o o o O o o o I oo o o o
d

O p p o -J o
CNo CN o od in d d in d 0

r - V5 O o o NO NO CN NO NO
r - in C \ o o T H V-H V < O L  
00' in CN N NO m l - n~ 00 m m

O m m m m NO NO
m= i r- ¥ = ¥ m= C/D

<U
C/D
<u
d•  
If)
3
(U
C/ o O O o o o o o o o J oo O o o o o o o o o c3 o

o o o o d d d d d Nw do o o o o o o o o o 0o o o o o o 00 o o o
o1 N o N NO NO o o N <uo CM 00 T < CN v 4 i'- N- CN

&¥ m= ¥ &¥ <N &¥ 3

•s

o o o o O O o o o O a
<u oo o o o o o o o o o d o

o o o o d d d d d d do o o o o o o o o o oo o o o o o o o o 0 o
o o" o" o' o' N-" o' o' o' u o'

o C o O 00 00 m o N o om th N ON N- c N V-H +-> o
&¥ ¥ = ¥ ¥ <u

Q
d

•S
Oo
oo
T l
COm

=

Ow
O
I

S £ o ol
G nd
O 4)
U   

V
a ya l
a-s
tr ji
0   u P 

C 
cO
00o

g?
3 a
¦3 8
f-1 a
TS 0

&1
£> 0U

<U Q
T) ¦y-

1
T3
y oo

gi|
1 gi

u

<u
cn

W c/3¦  +J

3
U H

oo
oo
o,o'
om
om

\o
C 



r~-
<N

(Hurt
c
u S

T3 C
« « «
U .« S
.SL fr 5
o J.5? u
i u S

a

r
H

J
<L>

va

d

oo
<N
NO

l  
t "

oo
oo
< 
o'
o
<Nm=

oo
oo
o"
o
U-)
o'
u->

oo
u 
On
LO
ON

oo
o
¥

oo
©oo 
<N
C 

C 
h~
00oo

I
00

o
'Cf1
t -
CO„
I''-"
On

Oo
ooo
o"
o
! -•
m--

Ss jLo al

0  
U ffi



Appendix B: Payments

This table lists all businesses receiving tax refund and grant payments. P yments represent the amount paid out

of the fiscal year 2017-2018 budget. Other payments may have been received by the business in previous years

and/or may be payable in the future depending on business performance. Some businesses may have multiple

payments in one fiscal year due to performance verification at later dates which can cause payments to be

delayed to future fiscal years. Neither DEO nor EFI is aware of any federal incentives received by these projects.

The majority of these payments are for the Qualified Target Industry program and odier programs that do not
require confirmation of capital investment. For programs with a capital investment requirement, the confirmed

investment has been noted. For those active incentive agreements in place prior to March 23, 2012, the

committed average annual wage cannot be disclosed per s. 288.075(6)(a)3., Florida Statutes.

Please note that for projects under the Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus with Qualified Target Industry
progr m, the  Total Payment  includes the Qualified Target Industry tax refund payment amount in addition to

Brownfield Bonus payment amount.

28



T ble 19. Payments - Tax Refunds

oo
o

. <u
a

g•rt   I ap> <D

PQ

oo
o

O 

ON
00

oo
i  
r 
c  
ON
LO

)-

oo
o

C 
OO
NOo

NO

3
m

) CO
o §o

oo
o

oo
o

o
ON
r <
r 
cO 
nc 
CO

<N

(U
'S 
o

§ i
«

u H

Ph

0
$
Ef

PQ
r1 (

1
C/3
3 1

nd 00
a
i i o
<£ 9

S ON
o  o

oo
o

oo
00
co
r~;
io 
NO
oo=

§1
U H

oo
ooo
oo
to
CNf
60=

¦s 
<N
oo 

)-
6 

Oo
©oo©"
Cn|
60=

a
'|

a

<N

<D

o
PQ

a S
U o

COo
<N

oo
<N
60=

oo
o
1 ;

I
(N
0=

H

•B
Ql J
S 

c 
O 

O
NO
U-J
00
00
<N
60=

©
to
o
t -
00
no 
(N

=

1)

H
.a
+-j
o

% <

&
oU

oo
©©©
©"
©©
<N
60=

©©
<N© 
OO
CN
6 =

©©
©©
©,,©'
©©
c !
0=1

CO
<N
O
O

NOr
r '
CN
60=

.a

to
o

CO©
00
'Ct-'©
CN
to
r -

0=

©©
©©©
©'
to
CO
6 =

O

1(5 §
i Pl

O  i

is u

©



o
c 

•o

; g 'S S2
5 c -g s
o ia S* w

gu  
u

•a
»   u

8 2 W-3 (4
ua C Ji w
G      O < <
U

£ S £

a
o
'S

u f3
•a r9
.M  
So c/ 

a s

o

ooo

aj
¦s
s

!
Ph -

< 
T <

r
oU

PQ uj>

f3 8

o
uo
r -
eo 
o-"
Cs

oo
U-5
-
o

C 
0=

H<u 3

o  

<N
r-H

oU

PQ '£

OH O

i
w
ww
q

>i < 

k o
o

N N- co o O o
C r ; i o O o
d d d vd d d d
N" LO m oo 40= 4 =
p D t-H
o d co" vo"
N N" N N"O O VO

1 C CN CN
40= m= 40= 4 =

O CN Cv O CN VO VO
to t  CN O Ov 1 t -

N1 vd cd vd cd d
O C m o - cop T™1 in

Vo" tH t o" vo" m" o"
N" CO CO CN VO m VO
40= 40= 4 = 4 = 4 = 4 0

CO 00 N" CO T l CN OO CO VO i ~ N c VO
-h -h T 1

CO -) VO vo -1 00o N CN i N" co CN
< <

oo
o

¦o

LO
CN
o-

< 

Oo
m=

t-h
VO
Ov
r~- 
'  -
m=

oo
¥

oo
CNo
r - 1
¦N"
&¥

oo
d
4*9=

00
N;
odo
c  
r--
co=

oo
d

c 
l 
id
r-

ov
- t-

oo
do
LO 
o 

u
SP
CS
H
" 
<u

«a

3
a

. 0)
a

0
d1 8p» <u

<    

o
d

HH

t 
u
<3
P-iU5
O
4J

J
.y r o cn
xi dU 8

d



ADS Waste Holdings, Inc. Corpor te l.3.-.00084 St. Johns Headquarters $148,750.00 0 18 100  108,357.78 $0.00

o o o o o o o o o o O o o oo o o o o o o o o o p p p po o o c5 o o o o o o o o o o= m-- m= m= = m=

o

<N
o 
T f
t 

t
6 

S &o c 

o «
U X

bp

<u

& i
O CT1

i TS

u X

<N
-h

r-
rq.
oor
to
<N

Oo
ooo
o'

CM

S I0 ol
M s 0  u IX

r 

c 
CM
o .
t * 
\o

<N

M

oo
oo
t 
¦o'
to

Cn
to
Ot
to
<z>r

Ct

4-r

C 
Ct
o
00
t 
OS
ON

II
litS o
i M

BR BR
0

1
o
H

<1

to
CM

to 
ON
m=

13

PQ

N
O 
to
C 
OC)
r-H
CM
H

tff

ON
CM
(N
CM
to
r -r
to
m=

CM
CN

Q

o

Oror
to

a  
o oi
p TSW 3
u  

a

1
o

CO
„ (U

t>J0 P

iS

NI ~
I s

P n  -J

rq
-H

CN
to
o"
iO

9s  
s 

u X

a
o

y o
co

cS -0X

Na
0 T i

1 H
P-i t- 

N N

CM

ON
o 

N-O 
O'"

§ I
CLi d 
P  sio «
U X

o

ou

M o
o o

< 

<u

•y 9« |
a 3
u X

a
op
O

oU
C/54 >
u

2 1
ph ;
p <

oo
00
ON
NO.
f~~
N-

oo
oo

.to"
C 
C 



oo
o

CM
•o

c 
CO

LO

Oo
o

oo
D

O
'O

1 

=

oo
o

i-O
'= 
c o
co 
T I

=

oo
oo
o.
U-)r
t -
m=

¦a 4
.a fl
So o 
o  
yl P

oo
o

C 

0
g <u

fl
¦g  

Hi8 fc
Q

u
a s<u o
6J0 o
o  
Q   I Bolton Medical 12-00788 Broward ; Development  $19,647.31 i 0__ 58  91 $53,766.74  $0-00



Rese rch  nd |

Bolton Medical 12-00788 Broward Development [ $12,141.76 j 0 45 136 $48,824.63 ;

oo
o

¥

Oo
oo
u->

CO

oo
o

oo
o
ON
no"
oo

<N

oo
©oo
(N
C\
'Cj-

du

f
C 

l.   

oo
©

©©
O

to"
LO
6 

73
\ a
"3 -2
'2   8
S Ji 

• S   <u
Cd P-( C 

©©
©

c\
CO

f©
ON

NO
m=

ow
O

x>

© i
© i
© [

©©
©m=

r ~©
ON :
"ct  
CO ;
On S
¦ t  
m i

I )
LO
cd
O 
<N

r =

- t
O

cO
O m=

3\ a
.2 </,

'2  
§   -s

. 2 8 <u
CL, p-i C 

u
d
tf
§
u

73
a

i O
.3 '73. <*>2 89 -p
•2   (U
Pm co

cO©
cO

d §
6?
<u  

d 9j Ou u

©©
©m

©
cp
O
O
c  
O 
to

73\ d
•§ <»

2 8
•2 W CJ
Cd  m co

8 3
p

ad
O  
d  
¦C a
2 8
C ou u

©©
©m=

s
<N
NO
to
00

LO
co=

©©
LO
<N
NO
f©

<3 

73\ d
•§ ««

2 8
1   s•rd  M <U
m CM CO

t
Os
CO

2 §
2?
p r~i

d  

S  
CM

d s
<u oU U

©©
©

©©
cd
oo
Lf" 
no"
LO

©©
i 
<N
NO
Csf
O 
co=

73\ d
3 •§ «2 8d   .ya   s
d p d•    4 (JJ
d PM CO

'ct
Cn
cO

1!
d

.sd

d dC oU U

i

Centene Management Professional Company, LLC 14-00395 Oran e Services $53,437.50  75 143 143 _ |53,§10.00  $0.00

Financial/

Centene Man gement Professional Company, LLC 14-00395 Or nge I Services $53,437.50 0 | 53 , 196 $49,353.00 $0.00



Financial/ Professional

oo
o

LOo
r o
T "<
CO
I )

¥

oo
o
1 
C7\
'O
r -

oo
o

oo
CN

!
oo
csf
LO
6 

oo
o
LO
G\
'O
r 

3
\ d

.S
y w§
.a 2
P-i P 

d o
4J |s i
(U  

§pya H
M t 1

4J d
d  D &3 2
0 oU U

C\

a 1a?
a d
s
v
<u

oo
o

oo
ooo
'cf
<N

0 rS

u X

PQ

a

5  c ou u

o
o
S
C 

s«
y to
2  oo oo

oo
o
CO
O
of
VDm=

oo
ooo
of
CO
&¥

O-i  tr js
0  U

PQ

o
o

C 

!«
y co
2 co
U o

oo
o

oo
c 
00

co''
o
VH
m=

oo
ooo
LO'
r 
co=

0|T3
o «
U X

oo
ooo
o'
r-H
<N

0,03tr
0
u  J

oo
o

=

o i
r  i
G\ i

C  03
O «J

u PC

§¦

I
U

o CO Cvo T <
cd O Ov
r ov CO

<N
r  co" o"
Cv 1 LO
co= r*H 1

= &¥

LO 00 00
CO Ov o
CO (N CN

oo
ooo
o'
LO
co=

oo
o

oo
o

O
or
O

vO
<N
sf

00
&¥

Oo
c>
LO

00*'

(U LO
'M  

I 
H-l

.• 'p
u

lo"
VO
&¥

<N
o'
(N

&  
g f,o cn
a o3
R1 js
OU ffi

U
d

C/3

jg
u

oo
o

ot 
L 
v 
co
VO
o'
OO
co=

oo
o

oo
ooo
of
CO

=

O

bp

~r
W £ 

oh
co



oo
o

<N

oo
o

C 
00
o 
<»
co'
t -

3\ d
3 .8 M

.8 S §
Ph Ph C/D

< 
Z  

O 
Is
e 9
<U CN

C/ 

<3 £rl

oo
©

OO
Oo© 
u-r
CN
f m=

\ a
3 -8 «,S   8I'g-g
. 8 8 <u
Ph Ph c 

©©
©m=

©©
<N
t'-
CO 
o 
r 

©©
©©
©_
iff
<N
to

3\ d
'2 8
3     

•8  H <U
CP Ph c 

d

3 ( 
8 Z
oU
(U
o w

U PQ
Q

CO •
1

pp w
p p

©s  > ©
0 <N

©©
©
co=

©©
1

oo 
r ~

=

©©
©©© 
i 
i -
m=

13
¦\ d

.8 w
2 89-8

•8  H <u
pH Ph C 

&
ou
o

U PQ
p

co .

p w
p p

g
in

S3 3
a ©> ©
4J CO

CO  -h

©©
©

13\ d
.2  «

'2 81
•8 H <u
Cd Ph CO

&¦ s

(U nQ 
o C 

U PQ
<1 P
co .

PP P
P P

©©
©

©©
CO©
oo
©"
©
m=

13 .8

'g
•   8 is
Cd Ph CO

IIr*
u  
<U U
o  yu g

0
O ¦

D 5 s
PQ  q
P P 8

©©
©

©©
00©
©"
oo
&¥

©©
©©© 
00*'
CN
< 

13
d
•§ w

2 8S 'g -S
• 8 8 iu
Ph Ph CO

,
2 °o8 °
8 M
o d
&  
oU
(U
8
u
<1
CO

PP P  
P P 8

p

<3

©©
©

y-
VO
VO
t*h
VO
VO*'
r 
co=

<N

Solo
« S
<u oo

p ©

©©
©
co=

< 
VO
LO
O
'

co=

OJ
• 
u

Solo
w S
<u 2SP 8 Design Interactive, Inc 14- Rese rch and 00357 Orange Development  $6,666.70 10  25  25 $69,704.42 _ $0.00



Discovery Latin America,

oo
o

oo
oo
< 
A"
•o

rt i

oo
o

oo
A
so
O 
o'
r --

L )
Cs
Os
o"

(N

Ph P-i c 

oo
o

L 
fO
c j
CO
O

Csf
so
¥

oo
oo
so 
in
<N

<u

»  
o cr1

tr  
O w
U ffi

o

so
'c "

Os

oo
ooo
<N
C 

S  O olAnd
J Ou  I

o
•a

<D

<!
w
O

OO
O

5

5

SO
nf
Os
nf-
sO 
nr"
<N

oo
©

CO
nr
n o
LO 
so"
t -

=

3
-8  *

•g g «
d <u .is

p «
P p C 

oo
o
feO=

oo
p

Io
o "
oo
6 

CN

(N

r 
co
<N

I
00
o"
csj

=

d
•S eI 8
p> < 

<1 < 

p 

oo
o
6 

oo
so
so
00 
o"
so

oo
ooo
o"
CO
¥

. 4)
£

g ci 

| 8p-  J
<    

b 

O
ffi
K
o
¦ 

W

oo
©
co=

CO
s
s

LO
C 

so
=

< 

©©
©©
in
r -"
com--

¦r3 wI s
p <u

<1 <1

p

O
X
<£

w Emerson Process Corporate Management, LLLP 11-00433 Bro ard  Headquarters $52,711.03  0  _  __ ___ _ 8  49 $139,239.30 _ $0.00



oo
©

<u -q

e  
o cn
q., tj
O 4J
u  d

PQ

r 
i -©©

i
< 
r-H

s</3
C« H I
(U JO M
O -  

1> g
W S

©©
©
( r

H 5a I
fc(  i
O w
u  d

o
d
i i

a
¦ 

d

'Ocs
u

©W ©

©©
©

=

oo

<u Ca |O cr1

tr
o «
U ffi

o
aH
f
d
• 

C<3
s
(U- >

s  
5- S
d ©

r--
co
©
'O
r -
©"
©

©©
©©© 

3
a

S -S «,

9  
. 3 2 <u
h P-i  O

3
Pp

r
&
-  CO

a §
Pd ©

©©
©

©
C 
C 
©"
r ~
<30=

©©
iO
r -
to

<
CN
60=

<D
'5b

0

(D
H
9 1
< '
pp '

©©
©©© 
co'

C 
60=

s
a

9J
§P
cS

PP
-d c 
d T I

S y
y d

a
V

r8 HPd c 

©©
©

=

N"
<N© 
r "
co

=

o © ©© © ©
o © ©
60= 60= =

LO © CN
00 © CN
I Os (N© O ©
Os IN OO
V C CN
O t IN

60= = 60=

uo c CN
r-H ©
CN

00 CO ©
N"

LO © ©
CN o to

© © ©
VO © ©
-H © ©
o © to

r < r-H ©
00 N- CN
CN to to
CN 0= H
60= 60=

C/D C/D-f H
<y <u < 

i § u <  tJ
3 3 a a. u 3

O d" o  r1
Q-jT}t   s P, 3

tt C 
o w O 4J

; Pd u Pd u Pd

aj <u <u
<u <u !U
"S "S "S

i 1 I
j dH d d
H < 1 1

-t- t- 
d a

j <u

1 1
j M 2
d  

d a
P   W  

3 § q a q ad © Hd © H-d ©
d  W tA W t 
H  H PP =rH

.

IN
O



oo
CO

•O

-< e «8 S g
O «S g- m
H co  j  

U 0

= r

oo
o

LO' 
C o
O;
CO
VO

u
d
03
g

!>
<; <N

00
C  of
HH Ofe O

o
CO

L  
o| 

&¥

u
d
03

>
<ri <n

00
C   j-
I H Oo

r -
c 
CNo
CO
vo"
VO

oo
ooo
v 
VO
m=

s  
o cr
0,03
ti s 
Ou ffi

oo
o

op
C 

00
00

oo
o
40=

CO
CN
oo
VO
uo
CN
00
0=

oo
oo©
op
00
0=

oo
o

=

N
00
C 
VO© 
op '
LO

=

"a
¦\ a

-S CO
•a g «
d oj .y

P d• i  < 
pH C 

=a
bJD

d
<u

H-]
(U
d
O

8
gcu

s d
S

©©
©
40=

N
VO
©
00
T !
o 

VO
0=

©©
©©©
©"
©
CO
4 =

8 3
B a
O S

$
oU

©©
©

=

CO 
oo

0=

©©
©
4 =

cci

r
Ou

8
d
<u

(U
c 

3 CO
73 $

©|o

©©
©
40=

op
P 
(N
CO
v _
©¦
vo
40=

s Sio ol
0,03

Si
u X



Professional

oo
om--

o
od

cn

oo
oo
LO
c f
(N

tS"
8
t!

00
oo
<n
VO

1
LO

\ a

o <u .ya « s
d O !h
.y w iu
pH pH G 

<u

a
<D

nd
rT3

OO
o

CM
CO
v 
cs
( 
u- 

U
d
W
a
4)

03
od

oo
o

*

o
r-
co
O"

O 

oo
o
O

CN
\£5
LO
&¥

-1

oo
om=

vo

od
oo

c 
CO
60=

<N

oo
o

00
° 
or
oo
00 
o 

cO
* 

oo
oo
Ud
r '*'m=

m

Gm
8 3
-3 §
O S

oo
©
GO-

o
r ;
LO
LO
C 
o"

CO
60=

3
j

C 

© I©
©!
60

of
or=

©©
©©
00
LO"
00
60=

CO

Integrity Express Logistics Logistics/ LLC 16-00005 ; Hillsborough j Distribution , $8,871.90 | 12  14  14 . $50,326.32 ; $0.00



J. B. Nottingham & Co., Inc. Corporate

J 3
.2 § . s 6
o (fi 9- to
H e ,2 «o w >
r i  

•a
) u

8 5 bJj wd cs bj 
UJ a ft  M
d 2
o      
u

oo
o

(N
<N
r "
cO

&1
•-d

3
<U
X

oo

SO
00o
id'
C 

2 y
2 i,
o cn
P-, T3

si0   u  J

( 

OO
=

oo
y-
o'
y-
m=

oo
d

O
00
LO

n
Cn d
¦y-

CN

O
r 
NC
NO
ord

o x

•«

&
<u
"S
w
p;
h ;

oo
d

oo
d

oo
d
c %=

o
1

NO

d
y-

<u
a
o

<u
"S
W
p;
h :

PQ

OJ
•3
O

r 
co
CN
N-
00d
t

PQ

oo
d

oo
r ;
00
NO
T-H
o'
C 

Oo
do
d

PQ

0
( i

' 

d
i i

y-
N-

=

oo
do
T-<
CN

<1
OO

bo

o
K
W C 
y CN

3
S

•g i 

f 3
O  s

i
P T3

OO
O

=

o
q
io
r-
r 1
d
NO

o
N-



Masonite Corporation 15- Corporate

oo
o--

u->
00
c 
r 

r "
ON

oo
o

LO

CO
<N
(N
o'
m

< 

r 
in

!
(Nm=

1
c>

0U

1
o 1 

2 8

Oo

oo
ON
d
(N
l  
vc 
f'-

=

oo
o
LO
Cn 
NO
<N

5=

13
<u
a
o
|xj
u

•a
od O
-8  
S 8

oo
d
6 

it
<N
od

r "
m

OO
doo
o'
c 

M

l
¦ 
< i
o

PQ
13 N-H
fl oo
«3 o

Si i o
d iO
'8 1
<u o
'd d

oo
d

CO
co 
LO

=

oo
doo 
vc 
N 

--

o
PQ

3 N-H
rj 00S o

SH 1 O
d t 
-a  

d

oo
doo
it'
it

U
d
6

O
H
•s

<u

oo
d

r-
c 
T-<oTO
c 
CMm=

oo
do
r—<

t
m=

oo
d

CN
L 
ON
(N
<N
t'- '
LO

Oo
doo 
u-f

-

<u
•a
P

O
-S

<n
O ON

'd oo

O
a
<u

o
( 

oo
d

it
it
NO
00 

LO

oo
doo
o'
NO

o
rt

w
O On

-d oo
a noooo
<D
0
o
<u

C 

oo
d
try

oTO
On
O

NO 
no"
NO

Oo
doo
o'
LO

•8
p

o
¦S

it



NeoSystems Corporate Professional

oo
©

<N
LO

tH
VO

<N

&i
OU

oo
©

CO
o 
°o 
vc 
r 

©©
©
uo
<N

r t

•Ti c I s
<U

<1 < 

PQ

©©
©

©
06
co
CN
' tr
r 

©©
©
uo
CvJ.
VO
(N

& y
S I,o oi

,nd
t  s o «
u ffi

3
o

o
ffi

o
c ;
0 

t -
y-

¦ ©©
0 _L
J  
u

w l 1o d

©©
©

=

©©
00
Om
yr
y-

©©
©©
LO
Cvf
u 

=

Ph

©©
©m 

<N©
od©• 
c 
'ct-

C 

,'T3
Mi S O M
u X

pH

<u

I
Ph

©©
©

Gv

©
O

CO 

N-
=

d

j

oU
'

o  
uoo

pH ©

©©
©

©©
©
Ct
Nr
V 

=

<o

a 1
o
Oh T3tr s o «
u  

'S

1)
"S
w
55 iQ '
o:
Ph -

©©
©

©©
o

oo© 
CO
00

©©
©©© 
©,
CO

° &u ffi

Ph

•a

<u

I
S5 mQ l 
«  Oh ©

©©
©

©¦

m=

h I
s  
o oi
Ph Otr sio «j
u X

I
i
W
r   P   

i l-0©
Ph ©

< 

I Corporate

Power Design, Inc. 14-00743 Pinellas j Headquarters j $36,000.00 30 j 97 j 97  $65,235.56  $0-00



Corporate

oo
o

oo
oo
CD
o'
cs

I
<u
ffi

Ph

oo
o

'O
ON
O
r -

r *'
NO
<3 

oo
oo
i  

*

C/5
<u
Q

I
P 

oo
o
<3 

oo
o
LO

fo'
ONm=

\ d
-S M

¦g s «
d o .y5   S
d p «•« w <u

Cd Ph C/D

<u
Ph
o
ou
<u
03
d '
o ¦

•a;
S:
¦as

i-i

oo
o

oo
t '
-h

o'
r 

03\ d
-9 03

•  s «
3   - 
• S w u
Ed P-i c 

<u
Ph
O
0U
(U
03
d  
o
-a:
<u ,
la .

H 1  

oo
o
4a 

NO
t ;

¦d 
o_
co
-)

oo
oom
'dr
NO

•d-

d
'§
r50   

•as
O
h  P

<D

/ 

:
h .

Oo
o
c  

m
O 
LO
N 
<N

Cji 

oo
oo
u%
r  
eo

d
•1
r9C/5 Ij

•a s
O \dQ

o

OJ

C/D

s
S c 
-  o
P-( O

oo
o

<N 1
C  !
c-i
r 
lO 
o ¦ -

oo
<N
cO¦  
o 
LO

oo
oo
io'

C I

d

I s
d

¦a l
'a s 'a  

3 o\2 3

O

«3
Ph
d

C/D

-s  
3? opH o

<u
Ph
d

C/D

d;
PH «

oo
o
< ¥

i-O
00
•d-o 
r-H
NO

oo
o
LO
r~ 
<o
ON
4/%

o
fr'
o

I'< - - +->
,*3

H0 9
H->   
0  y
<u o
d yo&

oo
' o

C  
r  '
iO
m=

oo
o
IO

c "
O 

4J <D

d iC  0nd &id
(U 0 <u

r 
r -
o

03 ( 5
¦9 'P eo
o

.S3 c'SH
o
fr
o
0
d

Q

oo
o
c  

On
O

<N

CM
d 
LO
Cj 

OO
Ooo 
lo"
t -
CO-

5 a0 Pi
Ph P
H s 
0 h9U X

C 
CM
cO
ON
"d-
c "
LO
c/%



oo
o

oo
oo
iSO*'

so

m
t*ho
i 
Os

u
d
to
(U

&

oo

<N
C\1
Os
so
SO 
cn

oo
om
<Nm
£p 

oo
d

oo
o
T  
o'

< ¥

oo
doo
Os 
cn

O

oo
dm=

oo
<N
00
t-h
o'

oo
dom
C fm

so
in
Oo
cn

cn

f&l
§
O o

C/3
< 

HI

oo
d

oo
dm=

oo
in
r--o 

im
&¥

«

S3 I
O , 3
W Jj0  
u X

t?
now

£
1

Oo
d

(N

O
in

so
cn

<N

a
Q C •H (  I 2
<1 < 

u
d
.9
•S
tA

d

<J O
in

d th

OO
d

nt-
00
CN
! -

Oo
d

3\ d
-2

-d Eg
3
.9 8  
d d c 

g

oo
d

in
oo
c 
C 
Os'm
co=

oo
do
in
id
oo

\  
,SS 'd i 2  d o .ya   s
d P w• d  M dj

Cd P-i CO

Oo
d=

oo
nt-
d
d-
s „
in
so
m=

oo
do
in
id
oo
cn=

d o
.53 to2 8
•9 N <U
td P-i co

U
d

C/3
a
u+-1
£«
tn
c 
rd
0
3 :
d i
C  «

d
u
cci
<U

PQ 3H
¦3 d d
d Q Q

C (No Os C\
cn in m
nf o oo o oo

1
11"

1
J-

d- T-H r-H
T 4 d dU A d
H-l <u <u
-l o Uj

d d
<u

.9
0

Ph <D < 
Tl d d
d <u
j CJ <u

C CO CO



Siemens Energy, Inc. 12- Clean

oo
o

oo
om
(N
ir 
r -

oo
o

od'
t-

8 2
•  i
o s

oo
o

oo
©o
v  
r- '

oo
oo
LO
csf
<N

o©
©

oo

r ~
I

ocf

©©
©©
i 
Csf
<N

©l!
<!i

lBjC  I

©©
©
&¥

©©
cS©
'i i
00
60=

a

i
0

oU
u

©©
©
co¬

co
(N
(N
N

oo
=

aS  
o cn
CL|  "OW
o «
u X

CN
r 
O©©
i

C 
t *
d

O
ai
oU
u

00
CN
01
CO
r- 
in
! ¦
co=

<3AU
o
O
j

*0
u
H S•-1 §

©©
©
co=

m©
CN

O

vc 
t--

©©
©
co=

©©
©©
o'
©
CO

CJAU
o

3

u
d
H

w

a

.. .
Ph P-< c 

*E

©©
©
CO

N-
CN
cd
NO

u- 
IN-
m=

j

•B e| a<u
<  < 

©©
©

©
CN
T 1
r 
in
00*'
C 

d

1
o
&
oU
e
<D
X CN

A SH 8

©©
©
co=

<y

S   
o c 

,nd
c<s

u  i

d
• 

o
fr
o
J

J
X w

H o

m
y-



TopBuild Corg. 15-00578 Volusia Headquarters I $15,960.00 j 15    12  12 $193,497.00 $0-00

o
r 
ON
NO

o 

d

S
o vs?
w  Q

oo
o

oo
<N
CO
O

i 

d
•§

'al
.a aob
h3 3

oo
o

¥

c»
nc 
'Ct

d
'I

•a 4
C 3 Q

S
O  =?
h4 P

u
d
•§o
o

H-l

£3 o
fSs

u
d

C/3

C >

o
h-1

d p

£3 o
H 2

U
d
cn

i 
o

o
h 

I*
co

73 §
H S

oo
o

r 
LO

i 
i 

¦"ct

d
'I

tfl Qs
3 3

u
d

C/3

(S)

o

fd i 
C  
73 8-J  
o  
H

oo
o

oo
T 1

ON1
' f

oO
O

"ct
D

LO
C 
u-fm

<ui
S  ,o

o «
U ffi

0
d

I H

u
I I
H-1
y
1
H

S d,o ol
CL|  

U ffi

u
d

HH

4f
u
uI"" <
I

<No
co
< 
r- '
O

<N

ON
00
in
cd

oo
o

o
00
CO

in
NO
6 

O
4
t-~

r
NO
<N

=

<u

a g
S  ,
o cn
n  « siO <4u ffl

i
§ &1
tl
o <U
u ffi

•S 1 
iB °H o

o
o

m
cd
NO
ON'

m 

ON
id
00
CO
oo 

CM
d"

oo
oom
C 
M
¥

Cl-o cr
CL, P -

u pq|o S

oo
om=

in
cd
ON
ip
o '
d-

=

d

I
•   
C  u
o  

2 3

oo

CO
00
cO 
00"
M-

(N

Om
cm

r- 
cd
com=

4
T"H

u
d
C 

1
o
ffi
p
2 :
p  4 :

d

•a 4
•d BSO c 

2 3

d
'|

S
3 3

oo

00
On
dO
00
4~
00m=

s

5
P CM
CJ o

2 2
o

U

73
•\ d

-S  

1 8.8
I 2 

MH P C/3

p  W o
<u 5d+3 o
i o

V4 I
0 CM
frr,
o yu H

¦a I
<u y
>  

M"



Verizon Co porate Resources ! Professional

r--o
o

cnT
r 

oo
oo
o'
I )

oo
o

CO
ON
10
t

C 
vc 
to
m=

U
d
o-t
O l>

OO
o

=

oo
oo
C 
CO
o*'
VO

=

oo
oo
irf
N
o
¥

13\  0
,2 • t  

d ,<u .y
is <-y t>p d•  H  H

Cd P-i oo

13
<u
X

oo
o

oo
N;

CN
C 
Om 

CN

oo
ooo
o'
C 
N 
oo=

13\  
13 .2 co
2 8d cj , ya « g
d p w•rd w < 

Ed Pd O 

X

1

oO
o

=

vo

oo

ov
=

P 

oo
o
00=

o
CN
-•
C 

tr
to
oo=

a I
O ol
ti 20u K

¦a
oC )
C/3

<1

y c 
-a o-v
4) Ooo

oo
o
00=

oo
oo
C 1
VO

oo
o
40

00
CN
to
rH
to '
to
40

oo
o
to

o 

4 

'B
in

d
I I
dd
8  
o
VJ o
¦as

oo
o
4 

oo
"N"
CN
N '
00
40

o
CO

oo

0

3

oo
o
40

S d 
o CT1
n, d
t) 2
° &u ffi

oo
o
40

OV
ov

VO

c "
•  
40

N

to
C 
H

oo
00 
f'

40

oo
o
40

oo
to
vO

N-"
to
40

V
3 
S c 
n  3
« Sio «
U ffi

r 'd-



o
" t
r- 
On

CO
CO
On
C ''
CO

On
CO
CO

I
On 
c "
On

n  *>
'|-  4J

o .a
w 3
p «

oo
ooo
ooo
cOr
m=

a
Ph
¦ 
u
CS
&.

5i 
3

s g o c i
Q-,t3fc( s 
0  U ffi

ow
O

x>

u

i 
On
On
CO
in

m»
o'
c-

o  
't-1 u

o .a
w  
Q w

oo
ooo
o om

i>
o

a
o
</)

s

On
CO
inm
o"

On

o
yy

O  5

o .a
w g
Q m

oo
ooo
oo
00

i

•S eI a> <u
<1 < 

CO
C 
c>
O 
C 
NO
On

O  
+-1 %J

o .a
pq g

W
m
oom
NO
o o
t -
co"

NO
cO
NO
00
C 
ON
c-
<N
o"
c 
CO

00
t ;
in
co
c»
On"
On
&¥

O

o .a
w  
P m

oo
ooo
oom
co

=

r« oB o

co

P (U
.a

u £3C/3 3
M PQ

oo
oo
oror
m
NO
63=

NO

oo
I

no"
NO

w m

m
¦M-

co C3
W pq

o
Bmo 
oo"
On

oo"
CO

oo
t-

cn
NO
CO
co"
c-

w 3
w p 

oo
ooo
in
c 
cn

00
NO
CM
oo"
cn
NO 
m"
co

c 
NO
o
00
T I
o"
O
y

> V)
t> aj
a .a
u  2c«  
w  q

oo

HealthPlan Services, Inc Professional Escrow to 13-00433 Hillsborough Services $176,000.00 Business 118__ 120 726  58,804.07 $8,041,456.00 iQor Holdings, Inc. 14- Corporate Escrow to 00358 I Pinellas j Headquarters j $793,625.91 j Business j 50  50 i 50 . $104,000.32 $2,795,666.50



a
06
oo
< o
<N

V 
d MMI O
V B ||ii,fMiiiil vo
a nWP*ii  *n i H

VC
N-
C 

0 ©
fen

U ¦¦Si

1? OJ
2 .a
u J3u> p
w m

¦

00
i 

O

oc 
O

h> V)
<u

2 .a
u  
C ) P
W pq

oo
©o© 
©"
©
LO
m=

p <u
2 .a
o W
w p

W PQ

©©
©©©
G>©
CO

u
i )

S
(U

CJ

c  
c m

<u
2 .a
u  o
to pm m

<n
<N
00
n~

o\
G\
P-
¥

o  

in

m
vH
co"
00

P <u
2 .a
o  0
co p

W PP

'O
C 

oo
00 
©"

O
«3 =

•q a
3
« 4J
W Q

PP

©
C 
N"

t ''
oo

p <u
2 .a
U   
co p
w m

©©
in
r--
c 

m
(N

u3

-a a

2  
c/D
<u P

VO
cn=

N

p <u
2 .a
u OO
co p

W PQ

<N

. <u

Q C •rj u | 2p <u
<1   

§I ]f
Ph .d

l 1

•8<8 g
ImI

P 4»
2 .a
u  O
co p

W PQ

©©
©©©©"
©m
&¥

|OJ V
cM Q

-o
< 
vd
N"
o

© 
N"
c ©"
m=

©©
!©

c»
r "
oo

<u
2 .a
u  O
CO p
W P 

©©
©©©©"
oo
oo

c ©
©
'O
cn

VO

<u
2 .a
U oo
co p

W PQ

cn
N"
N

So!
a
M

o

00©©©
I

a

1
O

k? o> U

CN
cn=

©©
fen

p <u
2 .a
O oo
CO p

W PQ

©©
©©© 
in
cn
f

fen



Appendix C: Historical Data

As noted in Table 1, some incentives requite annual appropriations by the legislature and others invol e

foregone t x revenue. Tables 20 and 21 detail approvals by year for all programs re uiring an annual

appropriation. These approvals do not represent payments as payments will be made in future years. Table 22

summ rizes the amount of tax credits claimed or approved to be claimed for several tax credit programs.  S /A 

indicates th t there  ere no  pprovals that fiscal year, because the program was not yet created.

able 20. Gr nt Approvals

Fiscal
igh-Imp ct

Perfo m nce Quick Action Innov tion Incentive

Economic
Develo ment

T ansport tion

2017-2018 . $8,170,000.00 $0.00 0.00 oO !O4 3=

2016-2017 0.00 $0.00 $0.00 1 $2,331,437.00

2015-2016 ! $532,000.00 $23,500,000.00 $0.00 ! $8,391,667.00

2014-2015 $7,000,000.00 $44,181,000.00 o:oo4/3= $7,545,466.00

2013-2014 : $10,600,000.00 $44,655,440.00 $0.00 ! $13,454,767.00

2012-2013 | $5,000,000.00 $43,724,500.00 $0.00 $18,999,357.00

2011-2012 | $1,500,000.00 $28,413,000.00 $6,600,000.00 i $14,830,795.00

2010-2011 1i $8,640,000.00 $24,337,700.00 $0.00 $30,342,123.00

2009-2010 : $0.00 25,401,830.00 $0.00 i $4,280,390.00

2008-2009 | $13,984,000.00 $60,579,000.00 $0.00 $27,565,525.00

2007-2008 ; $0.00 i $47,000,000.00 | $249,090,000.00 $9,732,860.00

2006-2007 $0.00 $41,857,800.00 $200,000,000.00 12,039,178.00

2005-2006 i $3,150,000.00 $10,442,200.00 $11,617,198.00

2004-2005 $0.00 $9,272,500.00 j $14,710,964.00

2003-2004  $0.00 $4,400,000.00i j $17,212,039.00

2002-2003 | $0.00 $0.00
! j
1 $17,012,214.00

2001-2002 ! $0.00 $1,350,000.00 1 $14,937,348.00

2000-2001 $2,000,000.00 $900,000.00 N/A $20,158,571.00

1999-2000  

1998-1999

$15,250,000.00

$12,500,000.00

$1,400,000.00
1

$27,866,578.00

$25,047,952.00

1997-1998 j
1996-1997 |
1995-1996 j

$0.00

N/A
N/A | 

$16,230,721.00

$8,595,618.00

$10,023,177.00
1 Please note that the Economic Development Transportation Projects program is managed and paid by

DOT.

50



Table 21. Tax Refu d Approvals

Qualified
Brownfi ld

Redevelopment Bonus

2017-2018 Maximum Award $61,455,000.00 $1,500,000.00 $294,000.00
State Award $48,208,400.00 $1,200,000.00 $294,000.00

2016-2017 Maximum Award $62,591,200.00 $0.00 $300,000.00
State Award $48,838,960.00 $0.00 $300,000.00

2015-2016 Maximum Award $60,788,000.00 $0.00 570,000.00
State Award 48,468,200.00 $0.00 $570,000.00

2014-2015 Maximum Award $58,373,900.00 $630,000.00 $0.00
State Award $46,699,120.00 $504,000.00 $0.00

2013-2014 Maximum Award $55,324,300.00 $875,000.00 $2,660,000.00
State Award $44,259,440.00 $700,000.00 $2,178,000.00

2012-2013 Ma imum Award $60,975,040.00 $4,022,500.00 $5,160,000.00
State Award $48,780,072.00 $3,218,000.00 $4,128,000.00

2011-2012 Maximum Award $58,063,500.00 $7,697,500.00 $5,982,500.00
State Award $46,450,800.00 $6,158,000.00 $4,786,000.00

2010-2011 Maximum Award 37,940,810.00 $4,552,500.00 $3,437,500.00
State Award $30,352,648.00 $3,642,000.00 $2,750,000.00

2009-2010 Maximum Award $33,863,300.00 $4,790,000.00 $1,112,500.00
State Award $27,090,640.00 $3,832,000.00 $890,000.00

2008-2009 Maximum Award $34,125,000.00 $5,070,000.00 $230,000.00
State Award $27,300,000.00 $4,056,000.00 $184,000.00

2007-2008 Maximum Award $23,710,000.00 $472,500.00 $812,500.00
State Award $18,968,000.00 $378,000.00 $650,000.00

2006-2007 Maximum Award $36,611,000.00 $1,545,000.00 $3,072,500.00
State Award $29,288,800.00 $1,236,000.00 $2,458,000.00

2005-2006 Maximum Award $55,670,867.00 $2,942,500.00 $1,567,500.00
State Award $44,536,694.00 $2,354,000.00 $1,254,000.00

2004-2005 Maximum Award $56,954,000.00 $2,360,000.00 $1,250,000.00
State Award $45,563,200.00 $1,888,000.00 $1,000,000.00

2003-2004 Maximum Award $41,964,800.00 $4,322,000.00 $312,500.00
State Award $33,571,840.00 $3,457,600.00 $250,000.00

2002-2003 Maximum Award $45,675,100.00 $1,982,500.00 $312,500.00
State Award $36,540,080.00 $1,586,000.00 $250,000.00

2001-2002 Maximum Award $37,576,950.00 $125,000.00
State Award $30,061,560.00 $100,000.00

2000-2001 Maximum Award $50,546,800.00 $100,000.00
State Award $40,437,440.00 $80,000.00

1999-2000 Maximum Award $56,223,500.00 $300,000.00
State Award $44,978,800.00 $240,000.00

1998-1999 Maximum Award $26,607,880.00 $845,000.00 T / A
| State Award | $21,286,304.00 $676,000.00

JN/A

1997-1998 i Maximum Award $59,995,152.00 ! $231,250.00
| State Award $47,996,122.00 185,000.00

| 1996-1997 M ximum Award j $34,298,000.00
State Award $27,438,400.00 XT / A

| 1995-1996 Maximum Award j $26,557,500.00
1 IN/ A

State Award | $21,246,000.00

See plossan for definitions of Maximum Award and State Award
51



Capital Investment Tax Credit p ogram numbers indicate amount of tax credits actually claimed by businesses.

Capital Investment Tax Credit is provided as an aggregate figure for the amount of credit claimed for years

prior to 2010 in order to maintain business confidentiality per s. 213.053, Florida Statutes. This information is

provided by DOR. The Rural Job Tax Credit and Urban High-Crime Job Tax Credit programs  data represent
the total amount of tax credits approved to be claimed each year.

Table 22. T x Credits Approved to be Claimed by Businesses

C l nd r Year Capit l Invest ent Ta  C edit Ru  l Job Tax Credit
Urban High-Crime Job

2017 ! $2,788,624.00 | $229,000.00 $3,035,000.00

2016 $3,195,830.00 $0.00 $2,424,000.00

2015 $30,728,469.00 j $94,000.00 $1,604,500.00

2014 $21,505,655.00 $46,000.00 $2,069,500.00 i

2013 $7,174,654.00 $27,000.00 $1,172,500.00

2012 $9,972,724.00 | $187,000.00 $2,460,500.00

2011 $13,777,245.00 | $431,000.00 $790,500.00

2010 $14,743,581.00 $181,000.00 1,259,500.00

2009 $204,000.00 $855,000.00

2008 | $66,000.00 $517,500.00

2007 $204,000.00 | $654,000.00

2006
$70,970,525.00

$647,500.00 $1,014,000.00

2005 1 $673,000.00 ! $1,761,000.00

2004 50,000.00 $1,053,500.00

2003 $1,008,000.00 $1,069,000.00

2002 1 $584,000.00 $2,673,500.00

2001 . $o $257,000.00 $2,486,500.00

2000 $ _ $21,000.00 | $4,999,500.00

1999 $0 $0.00 $260,500.00

1998 [ N/A $0.00 [ $0.00

52



Appendix D: Glossar 

Key Terms

Contract Activity
Active

The business is cur ently performing and in good standing.

Complete
The business has met the terms of its contract and received eligible incentive payments.

Inactive

The business has received one or more incentive payments after meeting a portion of its contract
commitments but is ineligible for future payments.

Terminated

An incenti e contract was executed, but die business has not received any payments and is ineligible
for future payments.

Vacated

An incentive contract was never signed by the business and therefore no agreement was executed.

Withdrawn
An incentive contract was executed, but the business  oluntarily chose not to pursue current or future
payments.

Perform nce Inform tion

Average Annual Wage
The average wage of project jobs for the latest performance period/refund period for active
agreements after March 23, 2012. This report utilizes weighted average for several tables. Weighted
average is the total of all wages divided by all jobs.

Base Jobs

Positions paid directly or indirectly by the business during the 12 full calendar months prior to the

approval date or letter preserving inducement (LPI) date.

Capital Investment

The amount of capital expenditures a business makes at the project location on or after the approval

date.

Contracted

Required per a business  executed agreement  ith DEO.
xample: Contracted New Jobs, Contracted Average Annual Wage

Confirmed
Verified by DEO and third-party auditor. Confirmed number could be cumulative or for the latest
performance/refund period.

Contract Job Requirement

Total contract job commitment for the life of the project, which could include base/retained jobs in
addition to net new jobs.

53



Jobs
Also:  roject Jobs
Full-time, salaried employees or full-time equivalent (FTE) em loyees, who work at least 35 paid hours

per week, performing tasks that direcdy relate to the products/services of the project.

Jobs Due
Total number of new jobs businesses are contractually obligated to have in place. Jobs due could be
cumulative or for the latest performance/refund period.

Job Performance
Number of jobs created, which could include base/retained jobs in addition to net-new jobs.

Net-New Jobs

New jobs resulting in a net increase in overall employment at the project location in connection with

the project during the applicable performance/refund period.

New Jobs
Jobs created by the business on or after the approval date or LPI date.

Project
Indicates the creation of a new business or expansion of an existing business in Florida.

Retained Jobs

Positions paid directly or indirectly by the business prior to the approval date in the contact. These
jobs are identified as being at risk if the business does not decide to remain and/or expand in Florida.
Ret ined jobs may be the same as, or a subset of, a business s base jobs.

Fin ncial Inform tion
Approval Date
The date that DEO approved the project for eligibility in a particular program. In the case of the Quick
Action Closing Fund, the approval date is the date the project is approved by the Governor or
Legislative Budget Commission depending on the award amount.

Maximum Eligible Award
lso: Maximum  w rd

The total maximum amount that a business could be eligible to receive for the project; diis amount
typically includes the state award and required local financial support. Some programs do not require
local financial support.

Maximum State Award
Also: State Award
The maximum amount that a business could be eligible to receive for the project from DEO.

Local Financial Support
Also: IjocalMatch
Indicates the community’s portion of the award paid per the requirements of the Florida Statutes.

Required Local Financial Support
Also:  eq ired Local Match
Indicates the total amount of local financial support that the community is required to commit to
throughout the life of the project.

54



State Amount
Portion of the aw rd paid by the state.

Programs

Grants

Economic Development Transportation Projects (s. 339.2821. Florida Statutes)

The Economic Development Transportation Projects (EDTF) grant, established in 1980, is awarded to

a local government to alleviate transportation impediments as an inducement for a specific business

to remain, expand or locate in Florida. The infrastructure funded through this grant serves as permanent

community improvements for the benefit of Floridians. Effective July 1, 2012, administration of the

EDF was transferred from DEO to DOT.

Florida Small Business Technology Growth Program (s. 288.95155. Florida Statutes)

The Florida Small Business Technology Growth Program, established in 1998, provides financial
assistance to businesses having high job growth and emerging technology potential and fewer than 100
employees. Funding comes from the Florida Technology Research Investment Fund housed within
EFI. Moderate-risk and high-risk ventures that offer the greatest opportunity for compelling economic
development impact are given the highest funding priority.

Florida State Small Business Credit Initiative (Established through H.R. 5297)
Florida was awarded $98.1 million from the U.S. Department of the Treasury for participation in the

State Small Business Credit Initiative (SSBCI), a program created to establish access to capital for small
businesses through the Small Business Jobs Act of 2010. The Legislative Budget Commission

established budget authority to allow DEO to administer the SSBCI in 2011. Florida was approved to

operate a Capital Access Program, a Venture Capital Program and a Small Business Loan Support

Program. Through its partners, DEO continues to administer the the Venture Capital and Small

Business Loan Support programs.

High-Impact Performance Incentive Grant (s. 288.108. Florida Statutes)

Enacted in 1997, the High-Impact Performance Incentive (HIPI) Grant is reserved for major facilities
operating in designated portions of high-impact sectors, including clean energy, life sciences, financial

services, information technology, silicon technology, transportation equipment manufacturing and a

corporate head uarters facility. This performance-based grant is paid in two equal installments, one

upon commencement of operations and the other upon commencement of full operations.

Innovation Incentive Program (s. 288.1089. Florida Statutes)

The Innovation Incentive Program was created in 2006 as a tool to allow the state to compete

effectively for high-value research and development, innovation business and alternative and renewable

energy projects. These are long-term investments made by the state in industry clusters that are critical

to Florida s future of economic diversification. All innovation projects include a performance-based

contract with the state, which outlines specific milestones that must be  chieved for grant payment as

well as compliance requirements. For additional information related to the Innovation Incentive

Program, please see Flo id  Economic Development P ogr m Ev lu tions   Ye r 1 by the Office of

Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability (OPPAGA) and the Retur  on Inves ment

for Select State Economic Development Incentive Progr ms by the Office of Economic and

Demographic Research (EDR).

55



Quick Action Closing Fund (s. 288.1088. Florida Statutes)
The Quick Action Closing Fund was created in 1999 as a  deal closing  tool in highly competitive

negotiations for  rojects where Florida s traditional incentives are not enough to win the deal. This

tool is critical to the state s abilit  to attract projects where Florida is at a significant competitive

disadvantage. All Quick Action Closing Fund projects include a performance-based contract with the

state, which outlines specific milestones that must be achieved.

Regional Rural Development Grant Program (s. 288.018. Florida Statutes)

The Regional Rural Development Grant Program, established in 1996, is a matching grant program

that provides funding to regionally-based economic development organizations representing rural

counties and communities for the purpose of building the professional capacity of their organizations.

The matching grants may also be used by an economic development organization to provide technical

assistance to businesses within the rural counties and communities that it serves. The maximum

amount an organization may receive in any year is $50,000, or $150,000 in a Rural Area of Opportunity
and must be matched each year by an equivalent amount of non-state resources.

Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund (s. 288.065, Florida Statutes)
The Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund, created in 1996, provides loans to

designated rural local governments to finance economic development projects which either maintain

or create new jobs and strengthen the economic base of rural communities. Eligible local governments

must be designated rural counties as defined in s. 288.0656, Florida Statutes.

Rural Infrastructure Fund Program (s. 288.0655. Florida Statutes)

The Rural Infrastructure Fund (RIF) program, established in 1999, facilitates the planning, preparing,
and financing of traditional economic development or nature-based tourism infrastructure projects that

encourage job creation and capital investment in rural communities. The department may award up to

40 percent of total infrastructure costs for catalyst site projects, and no more than 30 percent of total

infrastructure costs for projects in rural counties that are not located on designated catalyst sites. There

are three types of grants under this program: Total Project Participation Grants, Infrastructure

Feasibility Grants and Preclearance Review Grants.

Florida Job Growth Grant Fund (s. 288.101. Florida Statutes)
In 2017, the Legislature created the Florida Job Growth Grant Fund and tasked DEO, along with the

DOT and EFI, to review and identify public infrastructure and workforce training proposals that

promote economic opportunity across the state. In its first year, the Florida Job Growth Grant Fund

provided $85 million for public infrastructure and workforce training projects that supported growth

and employment in Florida’s diverse industries.

56



Tax Credits
Capital Investment Tax Credit (s. 220.191. Florida Statutes)
The Capital In estment Ta  Credit (CITC), established in 1998, is used to attract and grow capital-

intensive industries in Florida. It is an annual credit, provided for up to 20 years, against only the

corporate income tax liability or the premium tax liability generated by a qualifying project. Eligible
projects are those in designated high-impact portions of the following sectors: clean energy, life

sciences, financial services, information technology, semi-conductors, transportation equipment

manufacturing, advanced manufacturing or a corporate headquarters facility.

Florida Space Business Incentives Act (s. 220.194. Florida Statutes)

The Florida Space Business Incentives Act, established in 2011, creates incentives to attract launch,

payload, research and development and other space business to Florida. The tax credits are approved

on a first-come, first-served basis. Only one application can be submitted by a business or organization

each fiscal year. To qualify, the business must create 35 new jobs in Florida and invest at least $15

million in Florida on a spaceflight project in the three previous taxable years. Once granted a tax credit,

the business must file an annual report on the spaceflight project s progress. As of June 30, 2018, no

applications have been received.

Rural Job Tax Credit Program (s. 212.098. Florida Statutes)
The Rural Job Tax Credit Program, established in 1997, is a tax credit provided for businesses in one

of 36 designated rural areas. A new business must have at least 10 qualified employees when applying

and receives a $1,000 tax credit for each employee. The maximum amount allotted for the Rural Job

Tax Credit Program is $5 million per calendar year and a business may receive $500,000 as a maximum

tax credit.

Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit Program (s. 212.097. Florida Statutes)
The Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit Program, established in 1997, allows businesses to receive

a tax credit when hiring full-time employees while operating within one of the 13 designated urban

high-crime areas. A new business in a tier-one area which has at least 10 qualified employees receives

a $1,500 tax credit for each employee; a new business in a tier-two area which has at least 20 qualified

employees receives a $1,000 tax credit for each employee; and a new business in a tier-three area which

has at least 30 qualified employees receives a $500 tax credit for each employee. The maximum credit

amount that may be approved during any calendar year is $5 million.

Tax E emptions
Semiconductor, Defense, or Space Technology Sales Tax Exemption (s. 212.08(5)0). Florida Statutes)
The Semiconductor, Defense, or Space Technology Sales Tax Exemption is for industrial machinery

and equipment used in semiconductor technology facilities to manufacture, process, compound, or

produce semiconductor technology products for sale or for use by these facilities; industrial machinery

and equipment used in defense or space technology facilities to design, manufacture, assemble, process,

compound, or produce defense technology products or space technology products for sale or for use

by these facilities; and building materials purchased for use in manufacturing or expanding clean rooms

in semiconductor-manufacturing facilities qualify for the tax exemption.

57



Space Flight Activities Sales Tax Exemption (s. 212.08( 16). Florida Statutes)
The Space Flight Activities Sales Tax Exemption is for the sale, lease, use, storage, consumption

or distribution of any orbital space facility, space propulsion system, space vehicle, satellite or station

of any kind possessing space flight capacity. The sale, lease, use, storage, consumption or distribution

of tangible personal property placed on or used aboard any orbital space facility, space propulsion

system, space vehicle, satellite or station of any kind qualify for the tax exemption. This exemption

is not affected by the failure of a launch to occur or the destruction of a launch vehicle or any

components thereof.

T   Refunds
Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus Tax Refund (s. 288.107. Florida Statutes)
The Brownfield Redevelopment Bonus Tax Refund, established in 1997, serves to improve economic

opportunities within Florida s Brownfield areas. These areas have been designated as Brownfields due

to the presence or perceived presence of environmental contamination. To be eligible for bonus

refunds, a Brownfield area must have an executed rehabilitation agreement with the Department of

Environmental Protection (DEP) or with a local government delegated by the DEP. This incentive is

a partnership between the state and local communities as 20 percent of the award may be provided

by the local city or county government. This tax refund is available as a standalone or as a bonus in

addition to the Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund. All Brownfield Bonus projects include a

performance-based contract with the state, which outlines specific milestones that must be achieved

and verified by the state prior to payment of refunds.

Qualified Target Industry Tax Refund (s. 288.106. Florida Statutes)
The Qualified Target Industry (QTI) Tax Refund, established in 1994, serves to attract new high-

quality, high-wage jobs for Floridians. Tax refunds are made to qualifying, pre-approved businesses

creating new jobs within Florida’s target industries. The targeted industries include: aviation and

aerospace, clean technology, defense and homeland security, financial and professional services,

headquarters, information technology, life sciences, logistics and distribution, and manufacturing. All

QTI projects include a performance based contract with the state, which outlines specific milestones

that must be achieved and verified by the state prior to payment of refunds. This incentive is a

partnership between the state and local community as 20 percent of the award comes from the local city

and/or county government. Pursuant to s. 288.106(9), Florida Statutes, an applicant may not be

certified as qualified after June 30, 2020.

58



Appendi  E: Statutes, Laws and Rules

Florida Statutes

Chapter 212- Sales. Use,  nd Other Transactions
s. 212.02- Definitions

s. 212.08- Sales, rental, use, consum tion, distribution and storage tax; s ecified exemptions

s. 212.097- Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit Program

s. 212.098- Rural Job Tax Credit Program

Chapter 213- St te Revenue Laws: General Provisions

s. 213.053- Confidentiality and information sharing

Chapter 215- Fi  nci l M tters: General Provisions
s. 215.97- Florida Single Audit Act

Chapter 220- Income Tax Code

Part II- T x Imposed; Apportionment
s. 220.1895- Rural Job Tax Credit and Urban High-Crime Area Job Tax Credit
s. 220.191- Capital investment tax credit

s. 220.194- Corporate income tax credits for spaceflight projects

Chapter 288- Commercial Development and Capital Improvements
Part 1- General Provisions

s. 288.018- Regional Rural Development Grants Program

s. 288.061- Economic development incentive application process

s. 288.065- Rural Community Development Revolving Loan Fund

s. 288.0655- Rural Infrastructure Fund

s. 288.0656- Rural Economic Development Initiative

s. 288.06561- Reduction or waiver of financial match requirements

s. 288.075- Confidentiality of records

s. 288.076- Return on investment reporting for economic development programs

s. 288.095- Economic Development Trust Fund

s. 288.101- Florida Job Growth Grant Fund

s. 288.106- Tax refund program for qualified target industry businesses

s. 288.107- Brownfield redevelopment bonus refunds

s. 288.108- High-impact business

s. 288.1088- Quick Action Closing Fund
s. 288.1089- Innovation Incentive Program

Part VIII- Enterprise Florida, Inc.
s. 288.907- Annual incentives report

Part IX- Technology Department

s. 288.95155- Florida Small Business Technology Growth Program



Chapter 339- Transportation Finance and Planning
s. 339.2821- Economic de elopment trans ortation projects

Ch pter 403- Environment l Control
Part IX- Expedited  ermitting
s. 403.973- Expedited permitting; amendments to comprehensive plans

Florida Laws

Ch. 2015-232  Section 6, at 310-311

Federal I . ws

H.R, 5297- Small Business Jobs Act of 2010



DE 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT«/

ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

Department of Economic Opportunity
Caldwell Building | 107 East Madison Street | Tallahassee, FL 32399-4120

(850) 717-8960 | www.FloridaJobs.org

K5 T £   P P i &  K
FLORID .
Enterprise Florida, Inc.

800 North Magnolia Avenue, Suite 1100 | Orlando, FL 32803

(407)956-5600 | www.EFIorida.com



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Commerce and Tourism  

 

BILL:  SB 414 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Lee 

SUBJECT:  Sports Development 

DATE:  February 8, 2019 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Anderson  McKay  CM  Favorable 

2.     ATD   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 236 repeals the Sports Development program created in 2014, in s. 288.11625, F.S., which 

thus far has not been funded by the Legislature. The bill also repeals law related to program 

funding and reporting requirements. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2019. 

II. Present Situation: 

Professional Sports in Florida 

Florida is home to 10 teams currently competing in the five major professional sports leagues. 

The oldest major professional sports team in the state is the Miami Dolphins football franchise of 

the National Football League (NFL), founded in 1966 as part of the now-defunct American 

Football League. Orlando City Soccer Club began playing in the Major League Soccer (MLS) in 

2015.1 Below is a summary table of information on major professional sports franchises in 

Florida: 

 
Franchise Sport League Year 

Founded 

Facility Facility 

Opened 

County  

Miami Dolphins Football NFL 1966 Hard Rock 

Stadium 

(previously Sun 

Life Stadium) 

1987 Miami-Dade 

                                                 
1 Inter Miami CF is an expansion team in MLS due to begin play in 2020. See 

https://www.prosoccerusa.com/mls/expansion/miami/inter-miami-fort-lauderdale-stadium-training-facility-lockhart-

beckham-mcdonough/ (last visited February 8, 2019).  

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 414   Page 2 

 
Tampa Bay 

Buccaneers 

Football NFL 1976 Raymond James 

Stadium 

1998 Hillsborough 

Miami Heat Basketball NBA 1988 American 

Airlines Arena 

1999 Miami-Dade 

Orlando Magic Basketball NBA 1989 Amway Center 2010 Orange 

Tampa Bay 

Lightening 

Hockey NHL 1992 Amalie Arena 

(previously 

Tampa Bay 

Times Forum) 

1996 Hillsborough 

Florida Panthers Hockey NHL 1993 BB&T Center 1998 Broward 

Miami Marlins Baseball MLB 1993 Marlins Park 2012 Miami-Dade 

Jacksonville 

Jaguars 

Football NFL 1995 TIAA Field 

(previously 

EverBank Field) 

1995 Duval 

Tampa Bay Rays Baseball MLB 1998 Tropicana Field 1990, 

occupied 

by Rays 

since 1998 

Pinellas 

Orlando City 

Soccer Club 

Soccer MLS 2015 Orlando City 

Stadium  

2017 Orange  

 

In addition to the 10 major professional sports teams, Florida is also home to the MLB’s Spring 

Training Grapefruit League, with 15 teams holding preseason training and exhibition games in 

the state.2 

 

State Incentives for Professional Sports Franchises 

Professional Sports Franchise Program 

The Professional Sports Franchise program provides the procedure by which professional sports 

franchises in Florida may be certified to receive state sales and use tax revenue to pay for the 

construction or renovation of a facility for a new or retained professional sports franchise.3 Local 

governments, non-profit, and for-profit entities may apply to the program. Approved applicants 

are eligible to receive annual payments totaling $2,000,004 from the state for not more than 30 

years.4 The Department of Revenue (DOR) disburses the payments. The program is limited to 

eight certified facilities at one time.5 

 

Currently, there are eight certified new or retained professional sports franchise facilities in 

Florida receiving distributions under the program. The facilities and the payment distribution for 

each are as follows: 

 

                                                 
2 For general information related to professional sports in Florida, see Florida Sports Foundation at http://www.flasports.com/ 

(last visited February 8, 2019). 
3 Section 288.1162, F.S. 
4 Section 212.20(6)(d)6.b., F.S. 
5 Section 288.1162(6), F.S. 



BILL: SB 414   Page 3 

 

Facility name Certified entity Franchise 
First 

Payment 

Contract 

Expiration  

Total 

payments as 

of February 

2019 

Hard Rock 

Stadium 

(previously Sun 

Life Stadium) 

Dolphins 

Stadium/ South 

Florida Stadium 

Florida 

(Miami) 

Marlins6 

06/1994 06/2023 $51,333,436 

TIAA Field 

(previously 

EverBank 

Field) 

City of 

Jacksonville 

Jacksonville 

Jaguars 

06/1994 05/2024 $49,500,099 

Tropicana Field City of St. 

Petersburg 

Tampa Bay 

Rays 

07/1995 06/2025 $47,333,428 

Amelie Arena 

(previously 

Tampa Bay 

Times Forum) 

Tampa Bay 

Sports 

Authority 

Tampa Bay 

Lightning 

09/1995 08/2025 $47,000,094 

BB&T Center Broward 

County 

Florida 

Panthers 

08/1996 07/2026 $45,166,757 

Raymond 

James Stadium 

Hillsborough 

County 

Tampa Bay 

Buccaneers 

01/1997 12/2026 $44,333,422 

American 

Airlines Arena 

BPL, LTD Miami Heat 03/1998 03/2028 $41,833,417 

Amway Center City of Orlando Orlando 

Magic 

02/2008 01/2038 $22,166,711 

(Information from the Department of Revenue)7 

 

Sports Development Program 

In 2014, the Legislature created the Sports Development program to authorize distributions of 

state sales and use tax revenue to fund professional sports franchise facilities, up to an annual cap 

of $13 million for all certified applicants.8 Applicants are evaluated and recommended by the 

Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO), and distributions must be approved by the 

Legislature. A facility cannot be a participant of this program while receiving any distributions 

under another state sports facility program. Distributed funds are used for the construction or 

improvement of a professional sports facility. The maximum annual distribution for a single 

facility is $3 million, and distributions can be made for up to 30 years for a potential maximum 

amount of $90 million per certified applicant. No funding has been approved by the Legislature 

for this program. 

 

The professional sport franchises that can participate in the program include the National 

Football League, the National Hockey League, the National Basketball League, Major and Minor 

                                                 
6 The Marlins franchise relocated from Sun Life Stadium to Marlins Park for the 2012 baseball season. 
7 Department of Revenue, Professional Sports Franchise distributions by Fiscal Year, (February 1, 2019) (on file with the 

Senate Commerce and Tourism Committee).  
8 Sections 212.20(6)(d)6.f. and 288.11625, F.S. 



BILL: SB 414   Page 4 

 

League Baseball, Major League Soccer, the North American Soccer League, the Professional 

Rodeo Cowboys Association, and a promoter or host of a signature event administered by the 

Breeders’ Cup Limited or the National Association of Stock Car Auto Racing (NASCAR).9 In 

2015 and 2016, three applicants were recommended by the DEO but distributions were not 

approved by the Legislature in either year.10 The DEO did not receive any applications for 

funding during the 2018 application period.11  

 

Reports 

Reports on both programs conducted by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government 

Accountability (OPPAGA) and the Office of Economic and Demographic Research (EDR) are 

required every three years, according to a timetable set forth in statute.12 The Sports 

Development program in s. 288.11625, F.S. was scheduled for its first report on January 1, 2018, 

but was not evaluated in the EDR report because it has never been funded or implemented.13 The 

OPPAGA report noted that no funds have been issued through the Sports Development 

Program.14  

 

Sales and Use Tax 

Chapter 212, F.S., contains the state’s statutory provisions authorizing the levy and collection of 

Florida’s sales and use tax, as well as the exemptions and credits applicable to certain items or 

uses under specified circumstances. A six percent sales and use tax is levied on tangible personal 

property and a limited number of services. Additionally, s. 212.20, F.S., contains statutory 

direction for the schedule of distributions approved pursuant to ss. 288.1162 and 288.11625, F.S. 

 

Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax Program 

The Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax Program is the largest source of state-shared revenue 

received by local governments. The program provides ad valorem and utility tax relief, in 

addition to providing eligible local governments revenues for local programs.15 A local 

government may also pledge funds from the program for payment of principal and interest on 

any capital project.16 Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax Program funds received by a county 

may be allocated for the purposes of ss. 288.1162 and 288.11625, F.S. 

                                                 
9 Section 288.11625(3)(g), F.S. 
10 The facilities that were recommended include the Jacksonville Jaguars’ EverBank Field (now known as TIAA Field), the 

Miami Dolphins’ Hard Rock Stadium, and the Daytona International Speedway. See Law360, 3 Florida Stadiums Clear 

Hurdle to Renovation Tax Funds, https://www.law360.com/articles/754061/3-florida-stadiums-clear-hurdle-to-renovation-

tax-funds, (last visited February 8, 2019). 
11 Letter from Ken Lawson, Executive Director, Department of Economic Opportunity, to President Galvano, President of the 

Florida Senate, and to Jose Oliva, Speaker of the Florida House (February 1, 2019) (on file with the Senate Committee on 

Commerce and Tourism). 
12 Section 288.0001, F.S. 
13 See http://edr.state.fl.us/content/returnoninvestment/SportsGrantsandPrograms2018.pdf (last visited February 8, 2019). 
14 Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability, Florida Economic Development Program Evaluations 

– Year 5, Report No. 17-14, page 45, (December 28, 2017), available at: 

http://www.oppaga.state.fl.us/MonitorDocs/Reports/pdf/1713rpt.pdf (last visited February 8, 2019). 
15 Office of Economic and Demographic Research, 2018 Local Government Financial Information Handbook, (September 

2018), available at: http://edr.state.fl.us/Content/local-government/reports/lgfih18.pdf, (last visited on February 8, 2019). 
16 Section 218.64, F.S. 



BILL: SB 414   Page 5 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 236 repeals s. 288.11625, F.S., the Sports Development program. The bill removes the ability 

of a qualified applicant to receive state funding for the construction, reconstruction, renovation, 

or improvement of professional sports facilities under the program. 

 

The bill also amends: 

 Section 212.20(6)(d)6.f., F.S., repealing language directing the Department of Revenue to 

make distributions related to s. 288.11625, F.S.; 

 Section 212.205, F.S., amending language to reflect the repeal of s. 212.20(6)(d)6.f., F.S.; 

 Sections 218.64(2) and 218.64(3)(c), F.S., repealing language authorizing the use of local 

government half-cent sales tax revenue relating to s. 288.11625, F.S.; and 

 Section 288.0001(2)(c), F.S., repealing language directing the OPPAGA and the EDR to 

provide an analysis of the program under s. 288.11625, F.S., every three years. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2019. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. State Tax or Fee Increases: 

None. 

E. Other Constitutional Issues: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Indeterminate. No state funding was authorized and no applicants were ever approved by 

the Legislature under the program being repealed. 



BILL: SB 414   Page 6 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 212.20, 212.205, 

218.64, and 288.0001.  

 

This bill repeals section 288.11625 of the Florida Statutes.  

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

By Senator Lee 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 1 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to sports development; repealing s. 2 

288.11625, F.S., relating to state funding for sports 3 

facility development by a unit of local government, or 4 

by a certified beneficiary or other applicant, on 5 

property owned by the local government; amending ss. 6 

212.20, 218.64, and 288.0001, F.S.; conforming 7 

provisions to changes made by the act; amending s. 8 

212.205, F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; providing 9 

an effective date. 10 

  11 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 12 

 13 

Section 1. Section 288.11625, Florida Statutes, is 14 

repealed. 15 

Section 2. Paragraph (d) of subsection (6) of section 16 

212.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 17 

212.20 Funds collected, disposition; additional powers of 18 

department; operational expense; refund of taxes adjudicated 19 

unconstitutionally collected.— 20 

(6) Distribution of all proceeds under this chapter and ss. 21 

202.18(1)(b) and (2)(b) and 203.01(1)(a)3. is as follows: 22 

(d) The proceeds of all other taxes and fees imposed 23 

pursuant to this chapter or remitted pursuant to s. 202.18(1)(b) 24 

and (2)(b) must shall be distributed as follows: 25 

1. In any fiscal year, the greater of $500 million, minus 26 

an amount equal to 4.6 percent of the proceeds of the taxes 27 

collected pursuant to chapter 201, or 5.2 percent of all other 28 

taxes and fees imposed pursuant to this chapter or remitted 29 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 2 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

pursuant to s. 202.18(1)(b) and (2)(b) must shall be deposited 30 

in monthly installments into the General Revenue Fund. 31 

2. After the distribution under subparagraph 1., 8.9744 32 

percent of the amount remitted by a sales tax dealer located 33 

within a participating county pursuant to s. 218.61 must shall 34 

be transferred into the Local Government Half-cent Sales Tax 35 

Clearing Trust Fund. Beginning July 1, 2003, the amount to be 36 

transferred must shall be reduced by 0.1 percent, and the 37 

department shall distribute this amount to the Public Employees 38 

Relations Commission Trust Fund less $5,000 each month, which 39 

must shall be added to the amount calculated in subparagraph 3. 40 

and distributed accordingly. 41 

3. After the distribution under subparagraphs 1. and 2., 42 

0.0966 percent must shall be transferred to the Local Government 43 

Half-cent Sales Tax Clearing Trust Fund and distributed pursuant 44 

to s. 218.65. 45 

4. After the distributions under subparagraphs 1., 2., and 46 

3., 2.0810 percent of the available proceeds must shall be 47 

transferred monthly to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 48 

Counties pursuant to s. 218.215. 49 

5. After the distributions under subparagraphs 1., 2., and 50 

3., 1.3653 percent of the available proceeds must shall be 51 

transferred monthly to the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 52 

Municipalities pursuant to s. 218.215. If the total revenue to 53 

be distributed pursuant to this subparagraph is at least as 54 

great as the amount due from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 55 

Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial Assistance 56 

Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000, no municipality may 57 

shall receive less than the amount due from the Revenue Sharing 58 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 3 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Trust Fund for Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial 59 

Assistance Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000. If the 60 

total proceeds to be distributed are less than the amount 61 

received in combination from the Revenue Sharing Trust Fund for 62 

Municipalities and the former Municipal Financial Assistance 63 

Trust Fund in state fiscal year 1999-2000, each municipality 64 

must shall receive an amount proportionate to the amount it was 65 

due in state fiscal year 1999-2000. 66 

6. Of the remaining proceeds: 67 

a. In each fiscal year, the sum of $29,915,500 must shall 68 

be divided into as many equal parts as there are counties in the 69 

state, and one part must shall be distributed to each county. 70 

The distribution among the several counties must begin each 71 

fiscal year on or before January 5th and continue monthly for a 72 

total of 4 months. If a local or special law required that any 73 

moneys accruing to a county in fiscal year 1999-2000 under the 74 

then-existing provisions of s. 550.135 be paid directly to the 75 

district school board, special district, or a municipal 76 

government, such payment must continue until the local or 77 

special law is amended or repealed. The state covenants with 78 

holders of bonds or other instruments of indebtedness issued by 79 

local governments, special districts, or district school boards 80 

before July 1, 2000, that it is not the intent of this 81 

subparagraph to adversely affect the rights of those holders or 82 

relieve local governments, special districts, or district school 83 

boards of the duty to meet their obligations as a result of 84 

previous pledges or assignments or trusts entered into which 85 

obligated funds received from the distribution to county 86 

governments under then-existing s. 550.135. This distribution 87 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 4 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

specifically is in lieu of funds distributed under s. 550.135 88 

before July 1, 2000. 89 

b. The department shall distribute $166,667 monthly to each 90 

applicant certified as a facility for a new or retained 91 

professional sports franchise pursuant to s. 288.1162. Up to 92 

$41,667 must shall be distributed monthly by the department to 93 

each certified applicant as defined in s. 288.11621 for a 94 

facility for a spring training franchise. However, not more than 95 

$416,670 may be distributed monthly in the aggregate to all 96 

certified applicants for facilities for spring training 97 

franchises. Distributions begin 60 days after such certification 98 

and continue for not more than 30 years, except as otherwise 99 

provided in s. 288.11621. A certified applicant identified in 100 

this sub-subparagraph may not receive more in distributions than 101 

expended by the applicant for the public purposes provided in s. 102 

288.1162(5) or s. 288.11621(3). 103 

c. Beginning 30 days after notice by the Department of 104 

Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that an 105 

applicant has been certified as the professional golf hall of 106 

fame pursuant to s. 288.1168 and is open to the public, $166,667 107 

must shall be distributed monthly, for up to 300 months, to the 108 

applicant. 109 

d. Beginning 30 days after notice by the Department of 110 

Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that the 111 

applicant has been certified as the International Game Fish 112 

Association World Center facility pursuant to s. 288.1169, and 113 

the facility is open to the public, $83,333 must shall be 114 

distributed monthly, for up to 168 months, to the applicant. 115 

This distribution is subject to reduction pursuant to s. 116 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 5 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

288.1169. A lump sum payment of $999,996 must shall be made 117 

after certification and before July 1, 2000. 118 

e. The department shall distribute up to $83,333 monthly to 119 

each certified applicant as defined in s. 288.11631 for a 120 

facility used by a single spring training franchise, or up to 121 

$166,667 monthly to each certified applicant as defined in s. 122 

288.11631 for a facility used by more than one spring training 123 

franchise. Monthly distributions begin 60 days after such 124 

certification or July 1, 2016, whichever is later, and continue 125 

for not more than 20 years to each certified applicant as 126 

defined in s. 288.11631 for a facility used by a single spring 127 

training franchise or not more than 25 years to each certified 128 

applicant as defined in s. 288.11631 for a facility used by more 129 

than one spring training franchise. A certified applicant 130 

identified in this sub-subparagraph may not receive more in 131 

distributions than expended by the applicant for the public 132 

purposes provided in s. 288.11631(3). 133 

f. Beginning 45 days after notice by the Department of 134 

Economic Opportunity to the Department of Revenue that an 135 

applicant has been approved by the Legislature and certified by 136 

the Department of Economic Opportunity under s. 288.11625 or 137 

upon a date specified by the Department of Economic Opportunity 138 

as provided under s. 288.11625(6)(d), the department shall 139 

distribute each month an amount equal to one-twelfth of the 140 

annual distribution amount certified by the Department of 141 

Economic Opportunity for the applicant. The department may not 142 

distribute more than $7 million in the 2014-2015 fiscal year or 143 

more than $13 million annually thereafter under this sub-144 

subparagraph. 145 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 6 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

f.g. Beginning December 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016, 146 

the department shall distribute $26,286 monthly to the State 147 

Transportation Trust Fund. Beginning July 1, 2016, the 148 

department shall distribute $15,333 monthly to the State 149 

Transportation Trust Fund. 150 

7. All other proceeds must remain in the General Revenue 151 

Fund. 152 

Section 3. Subsection (2) and paragraph (c) of subsection 153 

(3) of section 218.64, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 154 

218.64 Local government half-cent sales tax; uses; 155 

limitations.— 156 

(2) Municipalities shall expend their portions of the local 157 

government half-cent sales tax only for municipality-wide 158 

programs, for reimbursing the state as required pursuant to s. 159 

288.11625, or for municipality-wide property tax or municipal 160 

utility tax relief. All utility tax rate reductions afforded by 161 

participation in the local government half-cent sales tax must 162 

shall be applied uniformly across all types of taxed utility 163 

services. 164 

(3) Subject to ordinances enacted by the majority of the 165 

members of the county governing authority and by the majority of 166 

the members of the governing authorities of municipalities 167 

representing at least 50 percent of the municipal population of 168 

such county, counties may use up to $3 million annually of the 169 

local government half-cent sales tax allocated to that county 170 

for any of the following purposes: 171 

(c) Reimbursing the state as required under s. 288.11625. 172 

Section 4. Paragraph (e) of subsection (2) of section 173 

288.0001, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 174 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 414 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20-00387-19 2019414__ 

 Page 7 of 7  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

288.0001 Economic Development Programs Evaluation.—The 175 

Office of Economic and Demographic Research and the Office of 176 

Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability (OPPAGA) 177 

shall develop and present to the Governor, the President of the 178 

Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 179 

chairs of the legislative appropriations committees the Economic 180 

Development Programs Evaluation. 181 

(2) The Office of Economic and Demographic Research and 182 

OPPAGA shall provide a detailed analysis of economic development 183 

programs as provided in the following schedule: 184 

(e) Beginning January 1, 2018, and every 3 years 185 

thereafter, an analysis of the Sports Development Program 186 

established under s. 288.11625. 187 

Section 5. Section 212.205, Florida Statutes, is amended to 188 

read: 189 

212.205 Sales tax distribution reporting.—By March 15 of 190 

each year, each person who received a distribution pursuant to 191 

s. 212.20(6)(d)6.b.-e. s. 212.20(6)(d)6.b.-f. in the preceding 192 

calendar year shall report to the Office of Economic and 193 

Demographic Research the following information: 194 

(1) An itemized accounting of all expenditures of the funds 195 

distributed in the preceding calendar year, including amounts 196 

spent on debt service. 197 

(2) A statement indicating what portion of the distributed 198 

funds have been pledged for debt service. 199 

(3) The original principal amount and current debt service 200 

schedule of any bonds or other borrowing for which the 201 

distributed funds have been pledged for debt service. 202 

Section 6. This act shall take effect July 1, 2019. 203 



Ron DeSantis
GOVERNOR

Ken Lawson
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT €
ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY

February 1, 2019

The Honorable Bill Gal ano
Senate President
The Florida Senate
The Capitol - Room 409
404 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100

The Honorable Jose R. Oliva
Speaker of the House
The Florida House of Representati es
The Capitol - Room 420
402 S. Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300

E: Section 288.11625, Florida Statutes, Sports Development Program

Dear Preside t Galvano and Speaker Oliva:

As required by section .288.11625(4) (d), Florida Statutes, the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity
must provide a list of ranked applicants to the Legislature by February 1 of each year. The Agency did not
receive any applications for funding under the Sports development program during the 2018  pplic tion
period.

Should you have any questions, please contact me at 850-245-7298.

KL/km

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity | Caldwell Building | 107 E. Madison Street | Tallahassee, FL 32399
850.245.7105 | www.FloridaJobs.org

www.twitter.com/FLDEO |www.facebook.com/FLDEO

An equal opportunity employer/program. Auxiliary aids and service are available upon request to individuals with
disabilities. All voice telephone numbers on this document may be reached by persons using TTY/TTD equipment via

the Florida Relay Service at 711.







3
(n
S'

S
S'

Q)

O

Sr
CD

"Q
c
O'

<5
o
o

S 

S'

2
C 
CD

?
(Q

C 
oo

0)

73
CD
-D

s0
U)

zj 
(Q

0

0

>
?
T
r*

?

r

4

"*  

>
n
<f

f

CD > c_
u Q. o
0 Q. O"
0
?5' H
o xn

CO <f> 0
o

a
o

>
CD
0

3
o’

0

C   

Q o
0 C 
=VD
s 0
§. 0

it
Id
S  3
1
g.-g
O 3
=5 O

3-

c 

r cu

r

u 
H
yJ

C3

( 

<y

|

;<

7
|c

£
X

13
zr
o
3
0

0
3
0

*cr
r-

i
o
-q
o'

r
c *

>
CD0

o 0
3. =* 0

o
3

Cr
.CD-

I
CD
CJ-,
3

CQ
O
CD

0

0

5
2
S
S
£
o
o
%
o

3
0

1
s?1
3



VISIT FLORIDA 

DELIVERING VALUE TO 

TAXPAYERS
Dana Young

President and CEO

VISIT FLORIDA



An Attractive State for Visitors



Record-breaking Success



Transparency and Accountability 

 Complete and total transparency throughout the organization in 

everything we do.

 VISIT FLORIDA posts an abundance of information online for the 

public to view, including contracts, expenditure information, salaries 

and other information to ensure that VISIT FLORIDA is operating 

transparently. 



Why Market?

 Facing intense competition, Florida must be top-of-mind as a vacation 
destination, or less visitors will come to our state. 

• Travelers don’t necessarily have a destination selected when they decided 
to take a vacation.

• Florida must be one of the initial destinations a potential visitors considers in 
those “I-want-to-get-away” moments.

• According to a 10-year research project by McKinsey, “getting into the initial 
consideration set of brands early on in the decision-making process is 
critical.  Nearly 70 percent of brand choices are made at this point—the 
beginning of the journey—when a consumer is first triggered to shop.”





Crisis Response

 VISIT FLORIDA works before and during crisis events to ensure our 
visitors and our partners are safe and have the best available 
information. This includes providing up-to-date lodging information 
for evacuees and first responders. 

 After a crisis event, VISIT FLORIDA immediately works to correct 
misperceptions in the market as to which areas of the state are open 
for business. 

 Finally, VISIT FLORIDA assists in the recovery of affected areas 
through tourism marketing support when the time is right. 







Partnership

 VISIT FLORIDA has more than 12,000 small, 
medium and large business partners 
throughout the state.

 Partnerships are most important to small and 
medium businesses that often do not have 
marketing budgets. 

 VISIT FLORIDA provides  turnkey marketing 
opportunities in domestic and international 
markets. This enables small businesses in 
Florida to reach potential customers they could 
not otherwise reach.

 VISIT FLORIDA also partners with several state 
agencies to benefit veterans and promote 
visitation to the state parks system.



Campaigns

 VISIT FLORIDA has identified five key domestic consumer segments that have 
the potential to drive the greatest visitation to Florida: 

• Winter travelers

• Families

• Adventure travelers 

• Experience travelers 

• Weekend getaway travelers

 International efforts focus on Florida’s foundation markets – Canada, the U.K., 
Brazil and Germany, as well as other select international markets. 

 Data drives VISIT FLORIDA’s marketing efforts so potential travelers experience 
Florida content when they are most receptive to it.





How We Can Work Together

 VISIT FLORIDA Reauthorization

• Passage of SB 178 by Senator Joe Gruters and companion legislation 
filed by Representative Mel Ponder 

 Full Funding

• Support Governor DeSantis' VISIT FLORIDA budget recommendation 
on $76 million.

• “Although our state has much to offer, we cannot rest on our laurels and 
hope that our tourism success will continue without a strong state-level 
marketing program.” 

- Governor Ron DeSantis’ FY 2019-20 Budget Recommendations





 

 

The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Commerce and Tourism  

 

BILL:  SB 178 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Gruters 

SUBJECT:  Florida Tourism Marketing 

DATE:  February 8, 2019 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Anderson  McKay  CM  Favorable 

2.     ATD   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 178 removes the scheduled repeal date for the Florida Tourism Industry Marketing 

Corporation, doing business as VISIT FLORIDA, and the scheduled repeal date for Division of 

Tourism Marketing within Enterprise Florida, Inc.  

 

The bill does not affect state revenues or expenditures.  

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2019.  

II. Present Situation: 

Enterprise Florida, Inc. and the Division of Tourism Marketing 

Enterprise Florida, Inc. (EFI) is a corporate entity organized and operated within Florida law 

governing non-profit corporations and is not a unit or entity of state government.1 EFI acts as the 

economic development organization for Florida, using expertise from both the private and public 

sectors.2 Initially created in 1992, EFI had only two responsibilities: to assist in the state’s 

economic development efforts and to develop a strategic plan to improve the state’s economic 

development. In 1996, the Legislature created the Office of Tourism, Trade, and Economic 

Development, which recognized EFI as the lead economic development entity (broadening its 

responsibilities) and required an incremental increase in private funding of EFI operations.3 

Currently, EFI serves as the state’s economic development strategist, business recruiter, and 

facilitator of public-private investment for business ventures.4 

 

                                                 
1 Section 288.901(1), F.S. 
2 Section 288.901(2), F.S. 
3 Chapter 96-320, Laws of Fla. 
4 See https://www.enterpriseflorida.com/about-efi/ (last visited February 8, 2019). 

REVISED:  2/11/19       



BILL: SB 178   Page 2 

 

 

 

Pursuant to s. 288.92, F.S.; EFI is statutorily required to maintain at least five divisions related to 

the following areas: 

 International Trade and Business Development; 

 Business Retention and Recruitment; 

 Tourism Marketing; 

 Minority Business Development; and 

 Sports Industry Development.5 

 

EFI’s Division of Tourism Marketing is the mechanism created in statute through which EFI 

interacts and contracts with its direct support organization, VISIT FLORIDA. VISIT FLORIDA 

largely acts as EFI’s Tourism Marketing Division. Statutory requirements, such as the annual 

development and implementation of a 4 year marketing plan, are duplicative between VISIT 

FLORIDA and the Division of Tourism Marketing.6 The Division must be staffed by VISIT 

FLORIDA, but that staff is not considered to be employed by EFI.7 

 

 

Pursuant to s. 288.923, F.S.; the Division of Tourism Marketing is statutorily required to: 

 Maintain and implement the contract with VISIT FLORIDA;8  

 Advise the Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) and EFI on the development of 

domestic and international tourism marketing plans;9 

 Develop a 4 year marketing plan;10 and 

 Submit an annual report pursuant to s. 288.92, F.S.11 

 

The Division of Tourism Marketing will sunset on October 1, 2019, unless s. 288.923(6), F.S., is 

repealed or amended. This is consistent with VISIT FLORIDA’s sunset date in s. 288.1226(14), 

F.S. 

 

VISIT FLORIDA 

The Florida Tourism Industry Marketing Corporation, known as VISIT FLORIDA, serves as 

Florida’s statewide destination marketing organization, and represents the state’s entire tourism 

industry.12 VISIT FLORIDA is a 501(c)(6) not-for-profit corporation and a direct support 

organization of Enterprise Florida, Inc.13 VISIT FLORIDA’s primary responsibilities include: 

 Administering domestic and international advertising campaigns; 

 Conducting research on tourism and travel trends; 

 Conducting domestic and international marketing activities; and 

 Managing the state’s five welcome centers. 

                                                 
5 Section 288.92, F.S. 
6 Sections 288.923(3) and 288.1226(5)(a), F.S. 
7 Section 288.923(5), F.S. 
8 Section 288.923(4)(a), F.S. 
9 Section 288.923(4)(b), F.S. 
10 Section 288.923(4)(c), F.S. 
11 Section 288.923(4)(d), F.S. 
12 Section 288.1226, F.S. 
13 Section 288.923, F.S. 



BILL: SB 178   Page 3 

 

 

 

VISIT FLORIDA also administers a number of small grant programs that provide organizations 

and state agencies funding for certain tourism-related activities. Grant funds total less than $2 

million per year.14 

 

VISIT FLORIDA operates the state’s five official welcome centers under contract with EFI.15 

Four welcome centers are located along the main travel corridors leading into the state and the 

fifth welcome center operates in the Capitol Complex in Tallahassee. The Department of 

Transportation owns the buildings that house the four highway welcome centers, but the centers 

are staffed and managed by VISIT FLORIDA.16 

 

EFI, in conjunction with the DEO, appoints VISIT FLORIDA’s 31-member board of directors.17 

The board provides guidance, input and insight into the evolution and development of VISIT 

FLORIDA programs, processes, and messages; acts as a steering council for various committees; 

and works directly with VISIT FLORIDA executive staff to guide strategy. VISIT FLORIDA’s 

board of directors is composed of 16 regional members, with at least two representing each of 

the six statutorily designated geographic areas of the state, and 15 additional tourism industry 

related members, including: 

 One from the statewide rental car industry; 

 Seven from tourist-related statewide associations; 

 Three from county destination marketing organizations; 

 One from the cruise industry; 

 One from an automobile and travel services membership organization; 

 One from the airline industry; and 

 One from the space tourism industry.18 

 

VISIT FLORIDA will sunset on October 1, 2019, unless s. 288.1226(14), F.S., is repealed or 

amended. This is consistent with Division of Tourism Marketing’s sunset date in s. 288.923(6), 

F.S. 

 

Compliance with s. 20.058, F.S. - CSO/DSO Transparency and Reporting Requirements 

Section 20.058, F.S., establishes a comprehensive set of transparency and reporting requirements 

for each citizen support organization (CSO) and direct support organization (DSO). 

 

Reporting Requirements 

Section 20.058(1), F.S., requires each CSO and DSO to annually submit, by August 1, the 

following information to the agency it supports: 

 The CSO or DSO’s name, mailing address, telephone number, and website address; 

                                                 
14 Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability, Florida Economic Development Program Evaluations 

Year 5 Report 17-13, December 1, 2017. Available at: http://www.oppaga.state.fl.us/Summary.aspx?reportNum=17-13 (last 

visited February 8, 2019). 
15 Section 288.12265, F.S. 
16 See https://www.visitflorida.com/en-us/visitor-services/florida-welcome-centers.html (last visited February 8, 2019) 
17 See http://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/who-we-are/board-of-directors/ (last visited February 8, 2019). 
18 Section 288.1226(4), F.S. 



BILL: SB 178   Page 4 

 

 

 The statutory authority or executive order that created the CSO or DSO; 

 A brief description of the mission and results obtained by the CSO or DSO; 

 A brief description of the CSO or DSO’s plans for the next three fiscal years; 

 A copy of the CSO or DSO’s code of ethics; and 

 A copy of the CSO or DSO’s most recent Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form 990.19 

 

The DEO, on behalf of EFI, has submitted this information annually with regards to VISIT 

FLORIDA.20 

 

Transparency of Reported CSO or DSO Information 

Section 20.058(2), F.S., provides that each agency receiving information from a CSO or DSO 

pursuant to s. 20.058(1), F.S., shall make such information available to the public through the 

agency’s website. If the organization maintains a website, the agency’s website must provide a 

link to the organization’s website. 

 

The DEO, Enterprise Florida, Inc., and VISIT FLORIDA each have links on their websites to the 

other entities.21 VISIT FLORIDA provides online access to their public records and information 

required in s. 20.058(1), F.S. to the public.22 

 

Section 20.058(3), F.S., provides that, by August 15 of each year, each agency shall report to the 

Governor, the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the 

Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability the information provided by 

each CSO and DSO. The report must also include a recommendation by the agency, with 

supporting rationale, to continue, terminate, or modify the agency’s association with each 

organization. 

 

The DEO submitted its report by August 15, 2018, on behalf of EFI, in which the DEO 

recommends the continued collaboration and association between the DEO, EFI, and VISIT 

FLORIDA.23  

 

Contract Requirements 

Section 20.058(4), F.S., provides that any contract between an agency and a CSO or DSO must 

be contingent upon the CSO or DSO submitting and posting information pursuant to s. 20.058(1) 

and (2), F.S. The contract must also include a provision for the orderly cessation of operations 

and reversion to the state of state funds held in trust by the organization within 30 days after its 

                                                 
19 The IRS Form 990 is the an annual information return required to be filed with the IRS by most organizations exempt from 

federal income tax under 26 U.S.C. s. 501. The most recent Form 990 provided by VISIT FLORIDA is from 2016 and 

available here: https://www.visitflorida.org/media/52357/annual-tax-return-2017.pdf (last visited February 8, 2019). 
20Department of Economic Opportunity, 2018 DSO Report, available at 

http://floridafiscalportal.state.fl.us/Document.aspx?ID=18027&DocType=PDF (February 8, 2019); See also 

https://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/media/public-records/ and https://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/what-we-do/ (last 

visited February 8, 2019).  
21 See http://www.floridajobs.org/ (last visited February 8, 2019). 
22 See https://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/media/public-records/ (last visited February 8, 2019).  
23 Department of Economic Opportunity, 2018 DSO Report, available at 

http://floridafiscalportal.state.fl.us/Document.aspx?ID=18027&DocType=PDF (February 8, 2019).  



BILL: SB 178   Page 5 

 

 

authorizing statute is repealed, the contract is terminated, or the organization is dissolved. If an 

organization fails to submit the required information for two consecutive years, the agency head 

shall terminate any contract between the agency and the organization. 

 

Though the Operating Agreement for Direct – Support Activities between Enterprise Florida, 

Inc. and VISIT FLORIDA does not appear to reference the 20.058(1) and (2), F.S. posting 

requirements, the DEO provided the required information in its 2018 DSO report. The contract 

between the DEO and VISIT FLORIDA does provide that VISIT FLORIDA assets revert to the 

state in the event of dissolution of VISIT FLORIDA.24 

 

Compliance with s. 215.981, F.S. - CSO/DSO Audit Requirements 

Section 215.981(1), F.S., requires each CSO and DSO created or authorized pursuant to law with 

annual expenditures in excess of $100,000 to provide for an annual financial audit of its accounts 

and records.  

 

VISIT FLORIDA submitted its most recent annual financial audit in compliance with ss. 

288.1226(7) and 215.981(1), F.S. to OPAGGA, the Florida Auditor General, and DEO on 

September 17, 2018.25  

 

Compliance with s. 112.3251, F.S. - CSO/DSO Ethics Code Requirement 

Section 112.3251, F.S., requires a CSO or DSO created or authorized pursuant to law to adopt its 

own ethics code. The ethics code must contain the specified standards of conduct and disclosures 

provided in ss. 112.313 and 112.3143(2), F.S.26 A CSO or DSO may adopt additional or more 

stringent standards of conduct and disclosure requirements and must conspicuously post its code 

of ethics on its website.27 

 

VISIT FLORIDA has their code of ethics posted online and it is in compliance with sections 

112.313 and 112.3143 of the Florida Statutes.28  

 

Compliance with Specific Administrative Requirements 

 

Sections 288.1226 and 288.923, F.S. specify administrative requirements for VISIT FLORIDA 

and the EFI Division of Tourism Marketing. As part of the DSO sunset review legislative staff 

have reviewed their compliance with these requirements, and with the resources available, have 

found that the following requirements are met: 

 Board of directors based on region and industry;29 

 Contracts with EFI;30 

                                                 
24 VISIT FLORIDA, SB18-003 Visit Florida – DEO Agreement Executed FY2017-18, (February 8, 2019) (on file with the 

Senate Commerce and Tourism Committee). 
25 See https://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/media-and-public-records/audits/ (last visited February 8, 2019). 
26 Some of the standards of conduct and disclosures in ss. 112.313 and 112.3143(2), F.S., include misuse of public position, 

solicitation or acceptance of gifts, unauthorized compensation, and voting conflicts. 
27 Section 112.3251, F.S. 
28 See https://www.visitflorida.org/about-us/media/public-records/miscellaneous/ (last visited February 8, 2019). 
29 Id. 
30 Section 288.923(3), F.S. 



BILL: SB 178   Page 6 

 

 

o VISIT FLORIDA maintains a standing contract with EFI and an annual contract 

is adopted with DEO. 

 Annually updates their 4 year marketing plan;31 

 Annually completes financial and compliance audits;32 

 Operates in the Sunshine per ss. 119 and 286, F.S.; and 33 

 Submits a quarterly report to EFI.34 

  

For the 2018-19 Fiscal Year, VISIT FLORIDA received a legislative appropriation of $76 

million.35 VISIT FLORIDA receives its state fund appropriations from DEO and not EFI. As a 

result, VISIT FLORIDA has an annual contract for funding with DEO, and an operating 

agreement with EFI.36  

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 178 removes that scheduled repeal dates for the Florida Tourism Industry Marketing 

Corporation, known as VISIT FLORIDA, and the Division of Tourism Marketing within 

Enterprise Florida, Inc.  

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. State Tax or Fee Increases: 

None. 

E. Other Constitutional Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
31 Section 288.923(4)(c), F.S. 
32 Sections 288.923(4)(d)(4) and 288.1226(7), F.S.  
33 Sections 288.1226(9) through 288.1226(13), F.S. 
34 Section 288.1226(8), F.S. 
35 Chapter 2018-9, Laws of Fla. 
36 VISIT FLORIDA, SB18-003 Visit Florida – DEO Agreement Executed FY2017-18, (February 8, 2019) (on file with the 

Senate Commerce and Tourism Committee). 



BILL: SB 178   Page 7 

 

 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill repeals sections 288.1226(14) and 288.923(6) of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2019 SB 178 

 

 

  

By Senator Gruters 

 

 

 

 

 

23-01087-19 2019178__ 

 Page 1 of 1  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to Florida tourism marketing; amending 2 

s. 288.1226 and s. 288.923, F.S., relating to the 3 

Florida Tourism Industry Marketing Corporation direct-4 

support organization and the Division of Tourism 5 

Marketing of Enterprise Florida, Inc., respectively; 6 

abrogating the scheduled repeal of provisions related 7 

to the corporation and the division, respectively; 8 

providing an effective date. 9 

  10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Subsection (14) of section 288.1226, Florida 13 

Statutes, is amended to read: 14 

288.1226 Florida Tourism Industry Marketing Corporation; 15 

use of property; board of directors; duties; audit.— 16 

(14) REPEAL.—This section is repealed October 1, 2019, 17 

unless reviewed and saved from repeal by the Legislature. 18 

Section 2. Subsection (6) of section 288.923, Florida 19 

Statutes, is amended to read: 20 

288.923 Division of Tourism Marketing; definitions; 21 

responsibilities.— 22 

(6) This section is repealed October 1, 2019, unless 23 

reviewed and saved from repeal by the Legislature. 24 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2019. 25 





 

 

                                  August 1, 2018 
 
Ms. Trina Travis, PMP®  
Senior Manager, Partnerships and Strategic Initiatives 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 
107 E. Madison Street 
Tallahassee, FL  32399-4135 
 
Ms. Merideth Middleton, M.A.T.S. 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 
Contract Manager, Workforce Services, Contracts and Grants 
107 E. Madison Street 
Tallahassee, FL  32399-4135 
 
Submitted via email to:  Trina.Travis@deo.myflorida.com 

Merideth.Middleton@deo.myflorida.com  
 
Re: August 1, 2018 Report - Florida Concrete Masonry Education Council, Inc.  
 
Dear Ms. Travis and Ms. Middleton, 
 
As required by section 6.3 of the Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) between the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (“DEO”) and the Florida Concrete 
Masonry Education Council, Inc. (the “Council”), the following information is provided 
with reference to the pertinent subsections of the MOA: 
 
6.3.1 – Florida Concrete Masonry Education Council, Inc. 

 
P.O. Box 12018 
Gainesville, FL 32604 
 
407.988.6414 
 
www.floridamasonrycouncil.org 

 
6.3.2 – The Council was created by Florida Statute 446.53. 

 
6.3.3 – The mission of the Council is to coordinate a statewide program to inform and 
educate the public about the sustainability and economic benefits of concrete masonry 
products and train individuals in the field of concrete masonry.  To accomplish this 
mission the Council has: 
 
➢ Contracted with the Florida Masonry Apprentice and Educational Foundation 

(MAEF) to maintain and add apprenticeship programs throughout Florida using the 
National Center for Construction Education and Research (NCCER) curriculum, 
retain and add apprentices, retain and add contractors for the apprenticeship 
program, implement a masonry ‘Quick Start’ program, maintain pre-
apprenticeship programs in schools throughout Florida, and develop an 
educational campaign to increase awareness of masonry pre-apprenticeship and 
apprenticeship programs. The campaign is presented at middle school career  

 

Board of Directors  
 

Monica Manolas 
CEMEX  

Chair  
  
Robert Carlton 
Capital Concrete & Masonry Solutions 

Vice Chair & Treasurer 
 

Darryl Fales 
Preferred Materials Concrete 

Secretary 
 

Justin Lord 
Central Broward Construction 

Immediate Past Chair  
 

Jim Painter  
FL Concrete Masonry Education Council 

Executive Director  
  
Trina Travis 
FL Dept. of Economic Opportunity 

Liaison 
 

Dr. Michael Armbruster 
Orange County Public Schools 
 

Randy Dunlap  
Titan Florida 
 

Adam Freeman 
A-1 Block 
 

Troy Maschmeyer 
Maschmeyer Concrete Company 
 

Antonio R. Obregon  
Formrite Construction 
 

Jay Snyder 
MASONPRO, Inc. 
 

Preston Sparkman  
Quality Precast 
 

Address: 
P.O. Box 12018 

Gainesville, FL 32604  
 

Email: 
Jim@floridamasonrycouncil.org 

 
 
 
  
  
  

  
  



 

Ms. Trina Travis  
Ms. Merideth Middleton 
August 1, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
exploration classes, high school career fairs, parent nights, and other opportunities to promote the masonry 
profession. 
 
➢ Continued its efforts to expand opportunities to work with the Florida Department of Corrections on its in-

facility training programs that are located throughout the state. The continuing goals are to provide inmates 
with masonry pre-apprenticeship training and improve the referral process for ex-offenders to their local 
CareerSource offices for subsequent referral to masonry employers.   

 
➢ Continued outreach efforts to Local Workforce Development Boards to encourage the use of Workforce 

Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) training dollars to support the training of masons for the construction 
industry.   

 
➢ Contracted with the Masonry Association of Florida (MAF). MAF has authored white papers for publication in 

the American Institute of Architects (AIA) magazine, created and distributed a quarterly Newsletter to over 
2,600 industry professionals, presented webinars relating to industry relevant changes to the Florida Building 
Code, and provided Continuing Education to the industry. 

 
➢ Through its contract with MAF, continued to provide a Help Desk for engineers, architects, contractors, and 

code inspectors.   
 
➢ Through its Executive Director, the Council participated with the Construction Industry Workforce Consortium. 

Consortium members meet to address the workforce issues challenging the construction industry.  
 
➢ Contracted with the Florida Concrete & Products Association (FC&PA) to continue informing and educating the 

public about the benefits of masonry construction. The website has been enhanced with additional vignettes, 
e.g., interviewing a homeowner, builder, and architect asking, “Why Block?”, and produced a 30-second 
television spot that pays homage to masons. Across social media platforms, the following has been achieved: 

 

• Facebook: 1,987 followers 

• Website visits from Facebook: 2,419 

• Impressions on Facebook: 110,310 

• YouTube: summer spot (masons) – 38,460 views 

• YouTube: We Rely on Block (architect, builder, homeowner interviews) – 1,084 views 
 

➢ FC&PA has produced and distributed digital media campaigns. The “Here We Go Again” hurricane digital ad 
campaign has brought large numbers of visitors to the website.  

 
➢ Contracted with the Rinker School of Construction Management at the University of Florida to provide a 

residential market analysis report. The report identified areas and types of opportunity within Florida for 
masonry construction and increased masonry construction market share.  

 
➢ Applied for and received a grant from the National Concrete Masonry Association (NCMA) to partially fund the 

migration of the print version of NCCER masonry training to an online learning environment. Provided additional 
industry financial support can be obtained, the migration will be completed. If completed, this will significantly 
increase the ability to deliver certified masonry training to many more Florida citizens. 

 



 

Ms. Trina Travis 
Ms. Merideth Middleton 
August 1, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
6.3.4 – The Council’s plan for 2018 - 2021 is provided as an attachment to the email conveying this report. 
 
6.3.5 - The Council’s current Code of Ethics is provided as an attachment to the email conveying this report. 
 
6.3.6 - The Council’s 2017 federal Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax 
(Form 990) is provided as an attachment to the email conveying this report.  Also attached is the Council’s initial 
2019 Budget, which was approved at the Council’s June 14, 2018 Annual Meeting. 
 
6.3.7 – This report and its referenced attachments are in portable document format (PDF) to facilitate publication 
on the DEO website.  The link to the Council’s website is: http://www.floridamasonrycouncil.org. 
 
Together we are building a sustainable Florida with Florida resources and Florida manpower one block at a time. If 
you have any questions, please contact me at: jim@floridamasonrycouncil.org or 352.494.8960. 
 
Sincerely, 

Jim Painter 

Jim Painter 
Executive Director 
Florida Concrete Masonry Education Council, Inc. 

 

cc: Anita Richardson, DEO (via email: Anita.Richardson@deo.myflorida.com) 
 

Attachments to the email conveying this report: 

• Strategic Plan: 2018-2021 

• Code of Ethics 

• IRS Form 990 - 2017 

• Initial 2019 Budget 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 1 

Draft Strategic Plan: July 2018 – June 2021 
 
The Florida Concrete Masonry Education Council has identified the following as its Strategic Plan for the 
period specified above. 
 
Goals: 
 

• Make masonry a top 10 preferred career option for Florida's technical and vocational students and 
others looking for high skill, high wage careers, 

• Identify and leverage additional funding sources for industry training, 

• Make masonry the top choice for building single and multi-family homes throughout Florida, 

• Maintain the industry’s ‘materials of choice’ standing for commercial and industrial buildings, 

• Create living (and higher) wage jobs for Florida residents,  

• Retain the masonry workforce through economic ebbs, 

• Pursue masonry as a skilled trade that requires state licensing, 

• Create masonry industry career paths, and  

• Create safe and efficient homes for Floridians, thereby saving lives and reducing property loss. 
 
Challenges: 
 

• Age and eminent retirement of many of its current employees; predominantly masons, laborers, 
and supervisory personnel, 

• Difficulty attracting and training a sufficient number of the next generation of industry employees, 

• Insufficient number of contractors. If our contractors don’t participate, we won’t have jobs for the 
apprentices, 

• Inconsistent attendance in apprenticeship programs, 

• Difficulty attracting and compensating qualified instructors, 

• Lack of reliable transportation to/from home/office/work sites/education campus, 

• Lack of documentation by those interested in masonry industry careers, and 

• Lack of documentation, housing, transportation, and/or restricted or prohibited access by ex-
offenders to certain job sites. 

 
Strategies for Overcoming Challenges and Achieving Goals: 
 

• Develop a single Statewide Masonry Apprenticeship Program. Each chapter within this system 
would have a subcommittee to run the local apprenticeship program. One representative from each 
chapter would make up the State Executive Committee, 

• Promote a masonry program to all high schools that offer a construction trades curriculum, 

• Implement a platform (“hall”) to connect masonry contractors and individual service providers, 

• Explore the possibly of starting Trade Schools within public school districts/community colleges.   
Encourage these institutions to provide buildings and instructors with oversight by an all industry 
board, 

• Develop a ‘train-the-trainers’ methodology for employer worksites and correctional institutions, 

• Digitize training text books and implement a learning management system to enable and encourage 
flexible and independent learning and validation of acquired knowledge, 



 2 

• Work with the State of Florida to develop and implement incentive programs for contractors that 
employ apprentices. The incentive programs would be integrated with the CareerSource Florida 
system, 

• Encourage industry members to sit on/participate with Local Workforce Development Boards,   

• Facilitate the hiring of fully certified and industry experienced professionals to deliver ‘hands-on’ 
learning to each contractor’s yard,  

• Facilitate alternative means of and transportation services, e.g., an industry supported ‘UBER/Lyft-
like’ programs, coordination with automotive services training programs to repair vehicles and make 
the vehicles available for students use,  

• Promote and offer a plan reading course to third year students or any mason interested in becoming 
a foreman, and  

• Develop and implement incentive programs to attract and retain masonry industry interest, 
employment, continuing education, and advancement.  Incentives could include: 

• Student stipends (pay for attendance/performance), 

• Providing meals for weekend class/workshop attendance, 

• Awarding tools to recognize advancement throughout training programs, 

• Cash awards for completing training, graduation, class standing, etc., and  

• Providing on-going transportation assistance, low cost vehicle purchase/finance programs. 

• Promote purpose, i.e. being an artisan, being responsible for the safety and security of homebuyers, 
opportunities to earn and learn, working outside, multiple career paths to attract individuals to 
masonry careers,  

• Identify and publicize high technology and advanced manufacturing careers available within the 
masonry industry, 

• Expand the supply chain of workers via social media, 

• Continue to develop and maintain a strong and effective social media presence, 

• Provide masonry construction life cycle costs and value engineering for builders, 

• Provide value propositions to multiple industry constituencies and consumers, 

• Develop alternative training programs and training delivery systems,  

• Continue to inform the public about the benefits of masonry construction, and 

• Acquire data and analysis to support and measure initiatives. 
 
Measurements of Progress: 
 

• Increase in number of training/apprenticeship programs throughout the State, 

• Increase in the number of participating educational institutions, 

• Increase in the number of participating contractors, 

• Increase in the number of students, 

• Increase in the number of program graduates, 

• Increase in wages, 

• Meeting the employment and training needs of contractors, and 

• Increase in the construction of residential and commercial concrete structures as verified by third 
party market analysis reports. 

  



1	
	

Florida Concrete Masonry Education Council, Inc. 
CODE OF ETHICS/CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY1 

 
PREAMBLE 

(1) It is essential to the proper conduct and operation of the Florida Masonry Education Council, Inc. 
(herein “Council”), a direct support organization (“DSO”), that its board members, officers, and 
employees remain independent and impartial and that their position is not used for private gain.  
Therefore, the Florida Legislature, pursuant to sections 112.3251, 112.313, and 112.3143(2), 
Florida Statutes (2014), requires the Council, operating as a DSO, to establish a Code of Ethics 
that protects against conflicts of interest and establishes standards of conduct for DSO board 
members, officers and employees in situations where conflicts may arise.   
 

(2) It is the policy of the state that no DSO board member, officer, or employee shall have any 
interest, financial or otherwise, direct or indirect, or shall incur any obligation of any nature 
which is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of his or her duties for the DSO.  To 
implement this policy and strengthen the faith and confidence of the people in DSOs, there is 
enacted a Code of Ethics/Conflict of Interest Policy setting forth standards of conduct required of 
Council board members, officers and employees in the performance of their official duties.   

STANDARDS 

The following standards of conduct are enumerated in Chapter 112, Florida Statutes (2014), and are 
required by section 112.3251, Florida Statutes, to be observed by DSO board members, officers and 
employees and shall apply to board members, officers, or employees of the Council: 

1. Prohibition of Solicitation or Acceptance of Gifts 

A DSO board member, officer, or employee shall not solicit or accept anything of value to the recipient, 
including a gift, loan, and reward, promise of future employment, favor, or service, based upon any 
understanding that the vote, official action, or judgment of the DSO board member, officer or employee 
would be influenced thereby. 

2. Prohibition of Accepting Compensation Given to Influence a Vote 

A DSO board member, officer, or employee shall not accept any compensation, payment, or 
thing of value when the person knows, or, with reasonable care, should know that it was given to 
influence a vote or other action in which the DSO board member, officer, or employee was 
expected to participate in his or her official capacity. 

3.  Salary and Expenses  

																																																													
1	Previously	reviewed	and	approved	by	the	Florida	Department	of	Economic	Opportunity	and	adopted	by	the	
Florida	Concrete	Masonry	Education	Council	as	the	Code	of	Ethics	to	protect	against	conflicts	of	interest	and	
establish	standards	of	conduct	for	board	members,	officers	and	employees.	



2	
	

A DSO board member or officer shall not be prohibited from voting on a matter affecting one’s 
salary, expenses, or other compensation as a DSO board member or officer, as provided by law.   

4. Misuse of Public Position 

A DSO board member, officer or employee shall not corruptly use or attempt to use one’s 
official position or any property or resource of the Council which may be within one’s trust, or 
perform one’s official duties to secure a special privilege, benefit, or exemption.  

5.  Prohibition of Misuse of Privileged Information 

A DSO board member, officer or employee shall not disclose or use information not available to 
members of the general public and gained by reason of one’s official position for one’s personal 
gain or benefit or for the personal gain or benefit of any other person or business entity. 

6.  Post-Office/Employment Restrictions 

A person who has been elected to any DSO board or office or who is employed by a DSO may 
not personally represent another person or entity for compensation before the governing body of 
the DSO of which he or she was a board member, officer, or employee for a period of two years 
after he or she vacates that office or employment position. 

7. Prohibition of Employees Holding Office 

A person may not be both a DSO employee and a DSO board member at the same time. 

8.  Requirements to Abstain From Voting 

A DSO board member or officer shall not vote in official capacity upon any measure which 
would affect his or her special private gain or loss, or which he or she knows would affect the 
special gain or any principal by whom the board member or officer is retained.  When abstaining, 
the DSO board member or officer, prior to the vote being taken, shall make every reasonable 
effort to disclose the nature of his or her interest as a public record in a memorandum filed with 
the person responsible for recording the minutes of the meeting, who shall incorporate the 
memorandum in the minutes.  If it is not possible for the DSO board member or officer to file a 
memorandum before the vote, the memorandum must be filed with the person responsible for 
recording the minutes of the meeting no later than 15 days after the vote. 

9. Failure to Observe DSO Code of Ethics/Conflict of Interest Policy 

Failure of a DSO board member, officer, or employee to comply with the Code of 
Ethics/Conflict of Interest Policy may result in the removal of that person from their position.  
Further, failure of the DSO to observe the Code of Ethics/Conflict of Interest Policy may result in 
the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity terminating its Agreement with the DSO. 



Contribution: $0.0125/CMU

Jan - Dec 2019

Income
Approved by Board

June 2018
2019 Contributions 2,052,000.00
Projected Carry Forward Cash 317,000.00 1

5% Reserve -150,000.00
Carry Forward of 5% Reserve Cash 0.00

Total Income 2,219,000.00
2,219,000.00

Expense
Marketing and Advertising 750.00
Operating Expenses

Bank Service Charges 250.00 2

Postage/Mailings 200.00 3

Office Supplies 200.00
Telephone/Computer Expense 1,500.00
Board Meetings & Board Travel 1,500.00
Insurance- Liability-D&O 2,500.00
Meeting Expense (other) 2,000.00
Exec Director Travel Expense 28,000.00

Total Operating Expenses 36,900.00
Employee Expenses

Payroll Admin Fees 2,050.00 4

Payroll Taxes 10,000.00
Workers Comp 1,000.00
Benefits 15,000.00
Salary 107,625.00
Bonus if earned 0.00

Total Employee Expenses 135,675.00
Professional Fees

Filing Fees 1,600.00
Auditing and Taxes 10,000.00
Legal Fees 5,000.00
Management Fee 150,000.00

Total Professional Fees 166,600.00

Contracted Services:
UF Market Study 51,612.00
MAEF Training Contract 403,700.00
Education of the Public Contracts

MAF
(Education of Engineers and Architects/ Codes and Standards) 255,000.00
FC & PA (Education - Public Information & Education) 1,004,000.00
Masonry Codes and Standards 0.00

Total Other Expenses 1,714,312.00
Unobligated Surplus 165,513.00

Total Expense 2,219,000.00
0.00

1
2
3
4 Increases in prices since 2017; expected to increase in 2019

New budget item for ACH payments
Based on 2018 current forecast with actuals

Reduction in planned expenditures due to switching to ACH payments

Notes



Verdeja, De Armas & Trujillo, LLP
255 Alhambra Cir Ste 560 
Coral Gables, FL  33134-7417

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC
POST OFFICE BOX 12018
GAINESVILLE , FL 32604



July 24, 2018

CONFIDENTIAL

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC
POST OFFICE BOX 12018
GAINESVILLE, FL  32604

Dear :

We have prepared the following  returns from information provided by you without verification 
or audit.

We suggest that you examine these returns carefully to fully acquaint yourself with all items 
contained therein to ensure that there are no omissions or misstatements. Attached are 
instructions  for signing and filing each return. Please follow those instructions carefully.

Enclosed is any material you furnished for use in preparing the returns.  If the returns are 
examined, requests may be made for supporting documentation. Therefore, we recommend that 
you retain all pertinent records for at least seven years.

In order that we may properly advise you of tax considerations, please keep us informed of any 
significant changes in your financial affairs or of any correspondence received from taxing 
authorities.

If you have any questions, or if we can be of assistance in any way, please call.

Sincerely,

Verdeja, De Armas & Trujillo, LLP

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax (Form 990)

Verdeja, De Armas & Trujillo, LLP
255 Alhambra Cir Ste 560

Coral Gables, FL 33134-7417
305-446-3177



Other expenses (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a–11d, 11f–24e)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total expenses. Add lines 13–17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Gross receipts

Check if applicable:
For the 2017 calendar year, or tax year beginning

Application pending

City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

Amended return

terminated

Room/suiteNumber and street (or P.O. box if mail is not delivered to street address)

Initial return

Name change

Address change

Name of organization

  Go to www.irs.gov/Form990  for instructions and the latest information.Internal Revenue Service
Department of the Treasury

OMB No. 1545-0047

Form

Telephone numberE

Employer identification numberDCB
, and endingA

Open to Public  Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public.

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax 2017990
Inspection

Doing business as

G $
F Name and address of principal officer:

H(a)

H(b)

H(c)

Is this a group return for subordinates?

Are all subordinates included?

If "No," attach a list. (see instructions)

Group exemption number  

Yes No

NoYes

I

J

K

Tax-exempt status:

Website:  
Form of organization:

501(c) 4947(a)(1) or 527( )   (insert no.)

Corporation Trust Association Other  L Year of formation: M State of legal domicile:
SummaryPart I

1

2
3
4
5
6
7a
b

Briefly describe the organization's mission or most significant activities:  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Check this box  
Number of voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1a)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Number of independent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2017 (Part V, line 2a)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIII, column (C), line 12  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, line 34  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7b

7a
6
5
4
3

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25% of its net assets.

8
9

10
11
12

Contributions and grants (Part VIII, line 1h)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Program service revenue (Part VIII, line 2g)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Investment income (Part VIII, column (A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other revenue (Part VIII, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c, 10c, and 11e) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total revenue – add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Prior Year Current Year

13
14
15
16a

b
17
18
19

Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1–3)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 5–10) . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (A), line 11e) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total fundraising expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25)   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

20
21
22

Beginning of Current Year End of Year
Total assets (Part X, line 16)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total liabilities (Part X, line 26)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

DAA
Form 990 (2017)

Sign
Here

Paid
Preparer
Use Only

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is
true, correct, and complete. Declaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Signature of officer Date

Type or print name and title

CheckPreparer's signature Date PTIN

self-employed

Firm's name Firm's EIN  

Firm's address Phone no.

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions.

Part II Signature Block

May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? (see instructions)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . NoYes

Ac
tiv

iti
es

 &
 G

ov
er

na
nc

e
Re

ve
nu

e
Ex

pe
ns

es
Ne

t A
ss

ets
 o

r
Fu

nd
 B

ala
nc

es

501(c)(3)

ifPrint/Type preparer's name

 

 

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except private foundations)

Final return/

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC

POST OFFICE BOX 12018

GAINESVILLE FL 32604

47-1255713

407-895-9333

JUSTIN LORD

1,748,926

X

X
WWW.FLORIDAMASONRYCOUNCIL.ORG

X 2014 FL

SEE SCHEDULE O

14
14
1
0

0
0

1,705,542 1,748,926
0
0
0

1,705,542 1,748,926
0
0

123,787 131,796
0

0
1,402,993 2,025,021
1,526,780 2,156,817
178,762 -407,891

1,153,256 730,258
15,107 0

1,138,149 730,258

JIM PAINTER EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MANUEL ALVAREZ 07/24/18 P01404480

VERDEJA, DE ARMAS & TRUJILLO, LLP 20-4989621
255 ALHAMBRA CIR STE 560
CORAL GABLES, FL  33134-7417 305-446-3177



Form 990 (2017) Page 2
Part III Statement of Program Service Accomplishments

1 Briefly describe the organization's mission:

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on the2
prior Form 990 or 990-EZ?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If "Yes," describe these new services on Schedule O.

3

4

Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program
services?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If "Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.
Describe the organization's program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services, as measured by
expenses. Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to others,
the total expenses, and revenue, if any, for each program service reported.

4a (Code:  . . . . . . . . . ) (Expenses $ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . including grants of $  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ) (Revenue $  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . )

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

)$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .(Revenue)$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .including grants of$ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .) (Expenses(Code:  . . . . . . . . .4b

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4c (Code:  . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . including grants of $  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . )) (Expenses $  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . )(Revenue

.

4d Other program services (Describe in Schedule O.)
(Revenue )$(Expenses )$including grants of$

4e Total program service expenses  
Form 990 (2017)DAA

NoYes

Yes No

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part III . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X

SEE SCHEDULE O

X

X

2,156,817
IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 446.531, F.S., THE FCMEC WILL COORDINATE A
STATEWIDE PROGRAM TO INFORM AND EDUCATE THE PUBLIC ABOUT THE SUSTAINABILITY
AND ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF CONCRETE MASONRY PRODUCTS AND TRAIN INDIVIDUALS IN
THE FIELD OF CONCRETE MASONRY. FURTHER, AS DIRECTED IN SECTION 1011.80(4),
F.S., THE FCMEC WILL ESTABLISH BASELINE DATA OF PRIORITY TARGETS FOR THE
PURPOSE OF FORMULATING ANNUAL OUTCOME MEASUREMENTS.

2,156,817



1

Checklist of Required SchedulesPart IV
Page 3Form 990 (2017)

2
3

4

5

6

7

Is the organization described in section 501(c)(3) or 4947(a)(1) (other than a private foundation)? If “Yes,”
complete Schedule A  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Is the organization required to complete Schedule B, Schedule of Contributors (see instructions)?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to
candidates for public office? If “Yes,” complete Schedule C, Part I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501(h)
election in effect during the tax year? If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part II  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Is the organization a section 501(c)(4), 501(c)(5), or 501(c)(6) organization that receives membership dues,
assessments, or similar amounts as defined in Revenue Procedure 98-19? If "Yes," complete Schedule C,

Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts for which donors
have the right to provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? If
“Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easement, including easements to preserve open space,
the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part II  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

8

9

10

11

12a

13
14a

b

15

16

Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets? If “Yes,”
complete Schedule D, Part III . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization report an amount in Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability, serve as a
custodian for amounts not listed in Part X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or
debt negotiation services? If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part IV  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in temporarily restricted

If the organization's answer to any of the following questions is “Yes,” then complete Schedule D, Parts VI,
VII, VIII, IX, or X as applicable.

Did the organization obtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? If “Yes,” complete
Schedule D, Parts XI and XII  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)? If “Yes,” complete Schedule E . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than $10,000 from grantmaking,
fundraising, business, investment, and program service activities outside the United States, or aggregate

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or
for any foreign organization? If “Yes,” complete Schedule F, Parts II and IV  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of aggregate grants or other
assistance to or for foreign individuals? If “Yes,” complete Schedule F, Parts III and IV  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

17

18

19

Did the organization report a total of more than $15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on

Did the organization report more than $15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on

Did the organization report more than $15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part VIII, line 9a?

Yes No

19

18

17

16

15

14b

14a
13

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2
1

DAA

Form 990 (2017)

endowments, permanent endowments, or quasi-endowments? If “Yes,” complete Schedule D, Part V  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 10? If "Yes,"
complete Schedule D, Part VI  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

of its total assets reported in Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VII  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization report an amount for investments—other securities in Part X, line 12 that is 5% or more

Did the organization report an amount for investments—program related in Part X, line 13 that is 5% or more
of its total assets reported in Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VIII  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

reported in Part X, line 16? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IX  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15 that is 5% or more of its total assets

Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 25? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization's separate or consolidated financial statements for the tax year include a footnote that addresses
the organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

"Yes," and if the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedule D, Parts XI and XII is optional  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Was the organization included in consolidated, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? If

Part IX, column (A), lines 6 and 11e? If “Yes,” complete Schedule G, Part I (see instructions)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part VIII, lines 1c and 8a? If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part II . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part III . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part III  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

a

b

c

d

e
f

11a

11b

11c

11d
11e

11f

b
12a

12b

foreign investments valued at $100,000 or more? If “Yes,” complete Schedule F, Parts I and IV . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X



Form 990 (2017)

DAA

NoYes

Form 990 (2017) Page 4
Part IV Checklist of Required Schedules (continued)

28

a
b

c

29
30

31

32

33

34

35a

36

37

Was the organization a party to a business transaction with one of the following parties (see Schedule L,

A current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A family member of a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? If "Yes," complete
Schedule L, Part IV  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
An entity of which a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee (or a family member thereof)
was an officer, director, trustee, or direct or indirect owner? If “Yes,” complete Schedule L, Part IV . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization receive more than $25,000 in non-cash contributions? If “Yes,” complete Schedule M  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualified
conservation contributions? If “Yes,” complete Schedule M  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization liquidate, terminate, or dissolve and cease operations? If “Yes,” complete Schedule N,
Part I . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization sell, exchange, dispose of, or transfer more than 25% of its net assets? If "Yes,"
complete Schedule N, Part II  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization own 100% of an entity disregarded as separate from the organization under Regulations
sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Part I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Was the organization related to any tax-exempt or taxable entity? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Part II, III,
or IV, and Part V, line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have a controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If "Yes" to line 35a, did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a

Section 501(c)(3) organizations. Did the organization make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable
related organization? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization conduct more than 5% of its activities through an entity that is not a related organization
and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R,

37

36

35a
34

33

32

31

30

29

28a

28b

28c

Part VI  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

21

22

23

24a
24b

24c
24d

25a

25b

26

27
substantial contributor or employee thereof, a grant selection committee member, or to a 35% controlled
Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to an officer, director, trustee, key employee,

current or former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, highest compensated employees, or
Did the organization report any amount on Part X, line 5, 6, or 22 for receivables from or payables to any

year, and that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization's prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ?
Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified person in a prior
transaction with a disqualified person during the year? If “Yes,” complete Schedule L, Part I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Section 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations. Did the organization engage in an excess benefit
Did the organization act as an “on behalf of” issuer for bonds outstanding at any time during the year?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

to defease any tax-exempt bonds?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the year
Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

through 24d and complete Schedule K. If “No,” go to line 25a  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$100,000 as of the last day of the year, that was issued after December 31, 2002? If “Yes,” answer lines 24b
Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding principal amount of more than

organization's current and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated
Did the organization answer “Yes” to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5 about compensation of the

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for domestic individuals on

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to any domestic organization or

27

26

b

25a
d

c
b

24a

23

22

21
domestic government on Part IX, column (A), line 1? If “Yes,” complete Schedule I, Parts I and II  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part IX, column (A), line 2? If “Yes,” complete Schedule I, Parts I and III  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

employees? If "Yes," complete Schedule J  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

entity or family member of any of these persons? If “Yes,” complete Schedule L, Part III . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Part IV instructions for applicable filing thresholds, conditions, and exceptions):

38 Did the organization complete Schedule O and provide explanations in Schedule O for Part VI, lines 11b and
3819? Note.  All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O.

b
controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)? If “Yes,” complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35b

disqualified persons? If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part II  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

20b
20a

If “Yes” to line 20a, did the organization attach a copy of its audited financial statements to this return?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .b
Did the organization operate one or more hospital facilities? If “Yes,” complete Schedule H  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .20a

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X



Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax CompliancePart V
Page 5Form 990 (2017)

Yes No

DAA Form 990 (2017)

1a
b
c

2a

b

3a
b

4a

b

5a
b

Enter the number reported in Box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- if not applicable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Enter the number of Forms W-2G included in line 1a. Enter -0- if not applicable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and
reportable gaming (gambling) winnings to prize winners? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Enter the number of employees reported on Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax
Statements, filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by this return . . . . . . . . . .
If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Note. If the sum of lines 1a and 2a is greater than 250, you may be required to e-file (see instructions)
Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of $1,000 or more during the year?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes,” has it filed a Form 990-T for this year? If “No” to line 3b, provide an explanation in Schedule O  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other authority
over, a financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securities account, or other financial
account)?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes,” enter the name of the foreign country:   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
See instructions for filing requirements for FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts

Was the organization a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the tax year?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

c
6a

b

7
a

b
c

d
e
f

g
h

8

9
a
b

10
a
b

11
a
b

12a
b

If “Yes” to line 5a or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than $100,000, and did the

If “Yes,” did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contributions or
gifts were not tax deductible?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Organizations that may receive deductible contributions under section 170(c).
Did the organization receive a payment in excess of $75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods

If “Yes,” did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services provided?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it was
required to file Form 8282? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If “Yes,” indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed during the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If the organization received a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?  . . . . . . . . . .
If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?  . . . . . . .
Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds. Did a donor advised fund maintained by the
sponsoring organization have excess business holdings at any time during the year?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.
Did the sponsoring organization make any taxable distributions under section 4966?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the sponsoring organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Section 501(c)(7) organizations. Enter:
Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part VIII, line 12 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, for public use of club facilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Section 501(c)(12) organizations. Enter:
Gross income from members or shareholders  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gross income from other sources (Do not net amounts due or paid to other sources
against amounts due or received from them.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Section 4947(a)(1) non-exempt charitable trusts. Is the organization filing Form 990 in lieu of Form 1041?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes,” enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1c

2b

3a
3b

4a

5a
5b
5c

6a

6b

7a
7b

7c

7e
7f
7g
7h

8

9a
9b

12a

1a
1b

7d7d

10a
10b

11a

11b

12b

2a

.

and services provided to the payor? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

organization solicit any contributions that were not tax deductible as charitable contributions?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part V  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

13aa
13 Section 501(c)(29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers.

b

Is the organization licensed to issue qualified health plans in more than one state?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Note.  See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O.
Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which
the organization is licensed to issue qualified health plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Enter the amount of reserves on hand  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .c 13c

13b

14a
14bb

14a Did the organization receive any payments for indoor tanning services during the tax year? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? If "No," provide an explanation in Schedule O  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(FBAR).

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

0
0

X

1
X

X

X

X
X

X

X



Section C. Disclosure

1b

1a

2

Form 990 (2017)DAA

NoYes

Form 990 (2017) Page 6
Part VI Governance, Management, and Disclosure For each "Yes" response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a "No"

response to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes in Schedule O. See instructions.

Section A. Governing Body and Management

1a

b
2

3

4
5
6
7a

b

8
a
b

9

10a

11a

Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the tax year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Enter the number of voting members included in line 1a, above, who are independent  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with
any other officer, director, trustee, or key employee? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization delegate control over management duties customarily performed by or under the direct
supervision of officers, directors, or trustees, or key employees to a management company or other person?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization make any significant changes to its governing documents since the prior Form 990 was filed?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization become aware during the year of a significant diversion of the organization’s assets?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have members or stockholders?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have members, stockholders, or other persons who had the power to elect or appoint
one or more members of the governing body?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Are any governance decisions of the organization reserved to (or subject to approval by) members,

Did the organization contemporaneously document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during the year by the following:
The governing body?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governing body?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes,” did the organization have written policies and procedures governing the activities of such chapters,
affiliates, and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with the organization's exempt purposes?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Has the organization provided a complete copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the form?  . . . . . . . . .

Is there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part VII, Section A, who cannot be reached at
the organization’s mailing address? If “Yes,” provide the names and addresses in Schedule O  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

3
4
5
6

7a

7b

8a
8b

9

10a

11a

Yes No

12a
b
c

13
14
15

a
b

16a

b

Section B. Policies (This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Revenue Code.)

Did the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? If “No,” go to line 13  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Were officers, directors, or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annually interests that could give rise to conflicts?  . . . . . .
Did the organization regularly and consistently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? If “Yes,”
describe in Schedule O how this was done . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have a written whistleblower policy?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization have a written document retention and destruction policy?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the process for determining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by
independent persons, comparability data, and contemporaneous substantiation of the deliberation and decision?
The organization’s CEO, Executive Director, or top management official  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other officers or key employees of the organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes” to line 15a or 15b, describe the process in Schedule O (see instructions).
Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or similar arrangement
with a taxable entity during the year?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
If “Yes,” did the organization follow a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its
participation in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax law, and take steps to safeguard the
organization’s exempt status with respect to such arrangements?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

12a
12b

12c
13
14

15a
15b

16a

16b

17
18

19

20

List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 is required to be filed   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 (or 1024 if applicable), 990, and 990-T (Section 501(c)(3)s only)
available for public inspection. Indicate how you made these available. Check all that apply.

Describe in Schedule O whether (and if so, how) the organization made its governing documents, conflict of interest policy, and
financial statements available to the public during the tax year.
State the name, address, and telephone number of the person who possesses the organization's books and records:  

Own website Another's website Upon request

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

b
10b

b Describe in Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organization to review this Form 990.

stockholders, or persons other than the governing body?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If there are material differences in voting rights among members of the governing body, or
if the governing body delegated broad authority to an executive committee or similar
committee, explain in Schedule O.

Other (explain in Schedule O)

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X

14

14

X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X

X

FL

X

FOCUSED MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS 2153 SE HAWTHORNE ROAD SUITE 201
GAINESVILLE FL 32601 352-872-5901



compensation

organization

compensation from

Section A.

Independent Contractors
Compensation of Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, Highest Compensated Employees, andPart VII

Page 7Form 990 (2017)

DAA Form 990 (2017)

Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees
Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the1a

List all of the organization's current officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardless of amount of
compensation. Enter -0- in columns (D), (E), and (F) if no compensation was paid.

List all of the organization's current key employees, if any. See instructions for definition of "key employee."

who received reportable compensation (Box 5 of Form W-2 and/or Box 7 of Form 1099-MISC) of more than $100,000 from the
organization and any related organizations.

List all of the organization's former officers, key employees, and highest compensated employees who received more than
 $100,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

List all of the organization’s former directors or trustees that received, in the capacity as a former director or trustee of the
organization, more than $10,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.
List persons in the following order: individual trustees or directors; institutional trustees; officers; key employees; highest
compensated employees; and former such persons.

Check this box if neither the organization nor any related organization compensated any current officer, director, or trustee.

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)
Name and Title Position

related
compensation

Reportable

organizations
organization

(W-2/1099-MISC)

Reportable
amount of
Estimated

from the

otherfrom
the

organizations
and related

(W-2/1099-MISC)Individual trustee
or director

employee
Highest compensated

Institutional trustee

O
fficer

Key em
ployee

Form
er

•
organization's tax year.

List the organization's five current highest compensated employees (other than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee)
•
•

•
•

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VII . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

organizations
below dotted

week

hours for

Average
hours per

related

(list any

line)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

officer and a director/trustee)
box, unless person is both an
(do not check more than one

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

PRESTON SPARKMAN

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

ANTONIO R. OBREGON

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

JAMES FINCH

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

ADAM FREEMAN

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

BERNANDO DIAS

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

KELLY CURTIS

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

RANDY DUNLAP

BOARD MEMBER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

TROY MASCHMEYER

CHAIRMAN
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

JUSTIN LORD

VICE CHAIRMAN
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

MONICA MANOLAS

SECRETARY
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0

RICK EDWARDS

TREASURER
3.00
0.00 X 0 0 0



Form 990 (2017)DAA

Form 990 (2017) Page 8
Part VII Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees (continued)

d Total (add lines 1b and 1c)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
2 Total number of individuals (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than $100,000 of

reportable compensation from the organization  

3

4

5

Yes No

5

4

3
Did the organization list any former officer, director, or trustee, key employee, or highest compensated
employee on line 1a? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J for such individual  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
For any individual listed on line 1a, is the sum of reportable compensation and other compensation from the
organization and related organizations greater than $150,000? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J for such
individual  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did any person listed on line 1a receive or accrue compensation from any unrelated organization or individual
for services rendered to the organization? If “Yes,” complete Schedule J for such person  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Section B. Independent Contractors
1 Complete this table for your five highest compensated independent contractors that received more than $100,000 of

compensation from the organization. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year.

2 Total number of independent contractors (including but not limited to those listed above) who
received more than $100,000 of compensation from the organization  

(A)
Name and business address Description of services

(B) (C)
Compensation

Individual trustee
or director

Institutional trustee

O
fficer

Key em
ployee

employee

Form
er

Highest compensated

and related
organizations

the
from other

from the

Estimated
amount of

(W-2/1099-MISC)
organization

Reportable
compensation

Name and title
(F)(E)(D)(C)(B)(A)

organization

compensation

line)

(list any

related

hours per
Average

hours for

week

below dotted
organizations

(W-2/1099-MISC)

Reportable

organizations
related

compensation from

 Total from continuation sheets to Part VII, Section A  . . . . . . . . . . .c
1b Sub-total  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

(do not check more than one
box, unless person is both an
officer and a director/trustee)

Position

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

(12) ROBERT CARLTON
3.00

BOARD MEMBER 0.00 X 0 0 0
(13) DARRYL FALES

3.00
BOARD MEMBER 0.00 X 0 0 0
(14) JAY SNYDER

3.00
BOARD MEMBER 0.00 X 0 0 0
(15) JIM PAINTER

40.00
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 0.00 X 107,500 0 0

107,500

107,500

1

X

X

X

0



Form 990 (2017)

DAA

Form 990 (2017) Page 9
Part VIII Statement of Revenue

(A) (B) (C) (D)
Total revenue Related or Unrelated Revenue

exempt
function
revenue

business
revenue

excluded from tax
under sections

512-514

1a
b
c
d
e
f

g
h

Federated campaigns  . . . . . .
Membership dues  . . . . . . . . . .
Fundraising events  . . . . . . . . .
Related organizations  . . . . . .
Government grants (contributions)  . . .
All other contributions, gifts, grants,
and similar amounts not included above

Noncash contributions included in lines 1a-1f:
Total.  Add lines 1a–1f  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1a
1b
1c
1d
1e

1f

 

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

2a

g
f
e
d
c
b

All other program service revenue  . . . . . . . . . .

$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 Total.  Add lines 2a–2f  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

, 
G

ift
s,

 G
ra

nt
s

an
d 

O
th

er
 S

im
ila

r 
Am

ou
nt

s
Pr

og
ra

m
 S

er
vic

e 
Re

ve
nu

e

3

4
5

6a
b
c
d

Investment income (including dividends, interest,
and other similar amounts)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Income from investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds
Royalties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Gross rents
Less: rental exps.
Rental inc. or (loss)
Net rental income or (loss)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 
 
 

Busn. Code

 

(i) Real (ii) Personal

(ii) Other(i) Securities

 d
c

b

7a Gross amount from
sales of assets
other than inventory
Less: cost or other
basis & sales exps.
Gain or (loss)
Net gain or (loss)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 

a
b

8a

b
c

Gross income from fundraising events
(not including
of contributions reported on line 1c).
See Part IV, line 18  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Less: direct expenses  . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income or (loss) from fundraising events  . . . . . . . .

Gross income from gaming activities.
See Part IV, line 19  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Less: direct expenses  . . . . . . . . . . .
Net income or (loss) from gaming activities  . . . . . . . . . .

Gross sales of inventory, less
returns and allowances  . . . . . . . . .
Less: cost of goods sold  . . . . . . . .
Net income or (loss) from sales of inventory  . . . . . . . . .

11a
b
c
d
e

Total revenue. See instructions.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

10a

9a

b

b

c

c

b
a

a
b

 

 

12

All other revenue  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total. Add lines 11a–11d  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Busn. CodeMiscellaneous Revenue

 

O
th

er
 R

ev
en

ue

 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VIII . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

1,748,926

1,748,926

1,748,926 0 0 0



Statement of Functional ExpensesPart IX
Page 10Form 990 (2017)

DAA Form 990 (2017)

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations must complete all columns. All other organizations must complete column (A).

Do not include amounts reported on lines 6b,
7b, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part VIII.

1

2

3

4
5

6

7
8

9
10
11

a
b
c
d
e
f
g

12
13
14
15
16
17
18

19
20
21
22
23
24

a
b
c
d
e

25
26

Grants and other assistance to domestic organizations
and domestic governments. See Part IV, line 21  . . . . . . . . . .
Grants and other assistance to domestic
individuals. See Part IV, line 22  . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Grants and other assistance to foreign
organizations, foreign governments, and foreign
individuals. See Part IV, lines 15 and 16  . . . . . . . . . .
Benefits paid to or for members  . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Compensation of current officers, directors,
trustees, and key employees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Compensation not included above, to disqualified
persons (as defined under section 4958(f)(1)) and
persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B)  . . . . . . . .
Other salaries and wages  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pension plan accruals and contributions (include
section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions)
Other employee benefits  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Payroll taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Fees for services (non-employees):
Management  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Legal  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accounting  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Lobbying  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Professional fundraising services. See Part IV, line 17
Investment management fees  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other. (If line 11g amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column

Advertising and promotion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Office expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Information technology  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Royalties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Occupancy  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Travel  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Payments of travel or entertainment expenses
for any federal, state, or local public officials
Conferences, conventions, and meetings  . . .
Interest  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Payments to affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization  . . .
Insurance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other expenses. Itemize expenses not covered
above (List miscellaneous expenses in line 24e. If
line 24e amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column
(A) amount, list line 24e expenses on Schedule O.)

All other expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total functional expenses. Add lines 1 through 24e  . . . . .

fundraising solicitation. Check here  if

organization reported in column (B) joint costs
from a combined educational campaign and

following SOP 98-2 (ASC 958-720)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(A) (B) (C) (D)
Total expenses Program service Management and

general expensesexpenses
Fundraising
expenses

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part IX  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Joint costs. Complete this line only if the

(A) amount, list line 11g expenses on Schedule O.)  . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X

107,500 107,500

15,842 15,842
8,454 8,454

145,003 145,003
4,442 4,442
8,000 8,000

1,840,238 1,840,238

665 665
1,146 1,146

22,283 22,283

933 933

2,291 2,291

BANK CHARGES 20 20

2,156,817 2,156,817 0 0



Form 990 (2017)

DAA

Form 990 (2017) Page 11
Part X Balance Sheet

(A) (B)
Beginning of year End of year

1
2
3
4
5

6

7
8
9

10a

b
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23
24
25

26

27
28
29

30
31
32
33
34

22

21
20
19
18
17
16
15
14
13
12
11
10c

9
8
7
6

5

4
3
2
1

29
28
27

26
25

24
23

34
33
32
31
30

Cash—non-interest bearing  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Savings and temporary cash investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Pledges and grants receivable, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Accounts receivable, net  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Loans and other receivables from current and former officers, directors,
trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees.

Loans and other receivables from other disqualified persons (as defined under section
4958(f)(1)), persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B), and contributing employers and

Notes and loans receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Inventories for sale or use . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prepaid expenses and deferred charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or

Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Investments—publicly traded securities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Investments—other securities. See Part IV, line 11  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Investments—program-related. See Part IV, line 11  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Intangible assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other assets. See Part IV, line 11  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total assets. Add lines 1 through 15 (must equal line 34) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Grants payable  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Deferred revenue  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Tax-exempt bond liabilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Escrow or custodial account liability. Complete Part IV of Schedule D  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Loans and other payables to current and former officers, directors,
trustees, key employees, highest compensated employees, and 
disqualified persons. Complete Part II of Schedule L  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other liabilities (including federal income tax, payables to related third

Total liabilities. Add lines 17 through 25  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Organizations that follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here  
complete lines 27 through 29, and lines 33 and 34.

and

Unrestricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Temporarily restricted net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Permanently restricted net assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

complete lines 30 through 34.
Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here  

Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipment fund  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or other funds  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total net assets or fund balances  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total liabilities and net assets/fund balances  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

As
se

ts
Li

ab
ili

tie
s

Ne
t A

ss
et

s 
or

 F
un

d 
Ba

la
nc

es

10a
10b

Complete Part II of Schedule L . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

other basis. Complete Part VI of Schedule D  . . . . . . . . . .

and

sponsoring organizations of section 501(c)(9) voluntary employees' beneficiary
organizations (see instructions). Complete Part II of Schedule L . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

of Schedule D  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

parties, and other liabilities not included on lines 17-24). Complete Part X

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part X . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

696,277 308,187

456,979 422,071

1,153,256 730,258
15,107

15,107 0
X

1,138,149 730,258

1,138,149 730,258
1,153,256 730,258



OtherAccrualCash

3b

3a

2c

2b

2a

NoYes

If “Yes,” did the organization undergo the required audit or audits? If the organization did not undergo the
the Single Audit Act and OMB Circular A-133? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in

 of the audit, review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If “Yes” to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes responsibility for oversight

Were the organization's financial statements audited by an independent accountant? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Were the organization's financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990:

b

3a

c

b

2a

1

Part XII Financial Statements and Reporting

Page 12Form 990 (2017)

DAA

Form 990 (2017)

If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked “Other,” explain in
Schedule O.

If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain in
Schedule O.

required audit or audits, explain why in Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo such audits.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Reconciliation of Net AssetsPart XI
Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

11 Total revenue (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total expenses (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2 2

3
4

9

10

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XII  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

3 Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2 from line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year (must equal Part X, line 33, column (A))  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other changes in net assets or fund balances (explain in Schedule O)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3 through 9 (must equal Part X, line
33, column (B))  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4
5
6

5
6
7
88

7

9
10

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Donated services and use of facilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Investment expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Prior period adjustments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were compiled or
reviewed on a separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:

Separate  basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis

Both consolidated and separate basisConsolidated basisSeparate  basis
separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:
If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were audited on a

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

1,748,926
2,156,817
-407,891

1,138,149

730,258

X

X

X

X

X

X



Employer identification number

DAA

Name of the organization

Internal Revenue Service
Department of the Treasury

OMB No. 1545-0047

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ.

  Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ.

Complete if the organization is a section 501(c)(3) organization or a section 4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust.
(Form 990 or 990-EZ)

Reason for Public Charity Status (All organizations must complete this part.) See instructions.Part I

SCHEDULE A Public Charity Status and Public Support
2017

(i) Name of supported

Open to Public
Inspection

The organization is not a private foundation because it is: (For lines 1 through 12, check only one box.)
1
2
3
4

5

6
7

A church, convention of churches, or association of churches described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(i).
A school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii). (Attach Schedule E (Form 990 or 990-EZ).)
A hospital or a cooperative hospital service organization described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(iii).
A medical research organization operated in conjunction with a hospital described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(iii). Enter the hospital's name,
city, and state: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
An organization operated for the benefit of a college or university owned or operated by a governmental unit described in
section 170(b)(1)(A)(iv). (Complete Part II.)
A federal, state, or local government or governmental unit described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(v).
An organization that normally receives a substantial part of its support from a governmental unit or from the general public
described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi). (Complete Part II.)
A community trust described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi). (Complete Part II.)8

10 An organization that normally receives: (1) more than 33 1/3% of its support from contributions, membership fees, and gross
receipts from activities related to its exempt functions—subject to certain exceptions, and (2) no more than 33 1/3% of its
support from gross investment income and unrelated business taxable income (less section 511 tax) from businesses
acquired by the organization after June 30, 1975. See section 509(a)(2). (Complete Part III.)

11
12

An organization organized and operated exclusively to test for public safety. See section 509(a)(4).
An organization organized and operated exclusively for the benefit of, to perform the functions of, or to carry out the purposes 
of one or more publicly supported organizations described in section 509(a)(1) or section 509(a)(2). See section 509(a)(3). 
Check the box in lines 12a through 12d that describes the type of supporting organization and complete lines 12e, 12f, and 12g.

a

b

c

that is not functionally integrated. The organization generally must satisfy a distribution requirement and an attentiveness
d

e

f Enter the number of supported organizations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Provide the following information about the supported organization(s).g

organization
(ii) EIN (iii) Type of organization

(described on lines 1–10
document?

listed in your governing
(iv) Is the organization

Yes No

(v) Amount of monetary
support (see

Total
Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

  Go to www.irs.gov/Form990  for instructions and the latest information.

above (see instructions))

(E)

(D)

(C)

(B)

(A)

Check this box if the organization received a written determination from the IRS that it is a Type I, Type II, Type III 
functionally integrated, or Type III non-functionally integrated supporting organization.

Type III non-functionally integrated. A supporting organization operated in connection with its supported organization(s)

requirement (see instructions). You must complete Part IV, Sections A and D, and Part V.

its supported organization(s) (see instructions). You must complete Part IV, Sections A, D, and E.
Type III functionally integrated. A supporting organization operated in connection with, and functionally integrated with,
organization(s). You must complete Part IV, Sections A and C.

Type II. A supporting organization supervised or controlled in connection with its supported organization(s), by having
control or management of the supporting organization vested in the same persons that control or manage the supported

the supported organization(s) the power to regularly appoint or elect a majority of the directors or trustees of the 
Type I. A supporting organization operated, supervised, or controlled by its supported organization(s), typically by giving

supporting organization. You must complete Part IV, Sections A and B.

instructions) instructions)
other support (see

(vi) Amount of

9 An agricultural research organization described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ix) operated in conjunction with a land-grant college
or university or a non-land grant college of agriculture (see instructions). Enter the name, city, and state of the college or
university:  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC 47-1255713

X



(Explain in Part VI.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

governmental unit or publicly

Section A. Public Support

Total support. Add lines 7 through 10

loss from the sale of capital assets
Other income. Do not include gain or

is regularly carried on  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

activities, whether or not the business
Net income from unrelated business

rents, royalties, and income from 
payments received on securities loans,
Gross income from interest, dividends,

line 1 that exceeds 2% of the amount
supported organization) included on

each person (other than a
The portion of total contributions by
Total.  Add lines 1 through 3  . . . . . . . . . . . .

The value of services or facilities

 to or expended on its behalf  . . . . . . . . . . . .

 organization's benefit and either paid
Tax revenues levied for the

First five years. If the Form 990 is for the organization’s first, second, third, fourth, or fifth tax year as a section 501(c)(3)
Gross receipts from related activities, etc. (see instructions)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Amounts from line 4 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Public support. Subtract line 5 from line 4.

include any "unusual grants.")  . . . . . . . . . .

membership fees received. (Do not
Gifts, grants, contributions, and

Page 2Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

13
12
11

9

8

6

4

3

2

1

(e) 2017(d) 2016(c) 2015(b) 2014(a) 2013

(Complete only if you checked the box on line 5, 7, or 8 of Part I or if the organization failed to qualify under
Support Schedule for Organizations Described in Sections 170(b)(1)(A)(iv) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi)Part II

Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) (f) Total

furnished by a governmental unit to the
organization without charge  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

5

Section B. Total Support

7

similar sources  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

10

organization, check this box and stop here . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Section C. Computation of Public Support Percentage

12

14 Public support percentage for 2017 (line 6, column (f) divided by line 11, column (f))  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Public support percentage from 2016 Schedule A, Part II, line 14  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .15

16a 33 1/3% support test—2017. If the organization did not check the box on line 13, and line 14 is 33 1/3% or more, check this
box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

b 33 1/3% support test—2016. If the organization did not check a box on line 13 or 16a, and line 15 is 33 1/3% or more, check 
this box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
10%-facts-and-circumstances test—2017. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 16a, or 16b, and line 14 is17a
10% or more, and if the organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test, check this box and stop here. Explain in
Part VI how the organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported

b 10%-facts-and-circumstances test—2016. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 16a, 16b, or 17a, and line

Explain in Part VI how the organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test. The organization qualifies as a publicly
15 is 10% or more, and if the organization meets the "facts-and-circumstances" test, check this box and stop here.

18 Private foundation. If the organization did not check a box on line 13, 16a, 16b, 17a, or 17b, check this box and see

14
15

%
%

DAA

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) (f) Total

Part III. If the organization fails to qualify under the tests listed below, please complete Part III.)

(a) 2013

shown on line 11, column (f)  . . . . . . . . . . . .

organization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

supported organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

instructions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(b) 2014 (c) 2015 (d) 2016 (e) 2017 

 

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

85,000 1,223,248 1,705,542 1,748,926 4,762,716

85,000 1,223,248 1,705,542 1,748,926 4,762,716

1,022,412
3,740,304

85,000 1,223,248 1,705,542 1,748,926 4,762,716

4,762,716

78.53

X



Section B. Total Support

unrelated trade or business under section 513

Part III Support Schedule for Organizations Described in Section 509(a)(2)
(Complete only if you checked the box on line 10 of Part I or if the organization failed to qualify under Part II.

1

2

3

6

8

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017 Page 3

Gifts, grants, contributions, and membership
fees received. (Do not include any "unusual grants.")  . .

Public support. (Subtract line 7c from

Gross receipts from admissions, merchandise
sold or services performed, or facilities
furnished in any activity that is related to the

Gross receipts from activities that are not an

Total.  Add lines 1 through 5  . . . . . . . . . . . .

Section A. Public Support

organization’s tax-exempt purpose  . . . . . . . . . . .

Tax revenues levied for the4
organization's benefit and either paid
to or expended on its behalf  . . . . . . . . . . . .

organization without charge  . . . . . . . . . . . . .

furnished by a governmental unit to the
5 The value of services or facilities

Amounts included on lines 1, 2, and 37a
received from disqualified persons . . . . . .

Amounts included on lines 2 and 3b
received from other than disqualified
persons that exceed the greater of $5,000
or 1% of the amount on line 13 for the year  . . .

c Add lines 7a and 7b . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Amounts from line 6 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .9

royalties, and income from similar sources  . . . .

payments received on securities loans, rents,
10a Gross income from interest, dividends,

Unrelated business taxable income (lessb
section 511 taxes) from businesses
acquired after June 30, 1975 . . . . . . . . . . . .

c Add lines 10a and 10b  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Net income from unrelated business11
activities not included in line 10b, whether
or not the business is regularly carried on  . . . . .

(Explain in Part VI.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

loss from the sale of capital assets
12 Other income. Do not include gain or

Total support. (Add lines 9, 10c, 11,13

14 First five years. If the Form 990 is for the organization’s first, second, third, fourth, or fifth tax year as a section 501(c)(3)
organization, check this box and stop here . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Section C. Computation of Public Support Percentage

Public support percentage from 2016 Schedule A, Part III, line 15 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

15 Public support percentage for 2017 (line 8, column (f) divided by line 13, column (f))  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
16
Section D. Computation of Investment Income Percentage

18
Investment income percentage for 2017 (line 10c, column (f) divided by line 13, column (f))  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .17
Investment income percentage from 2016 Schedule A, Part III, line 17  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

17 is not more than 33 1/3%, check this box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

33 1/3% support tests—2017. If the organization did not check the box on line 14, and line 15 is more than 33 1/3%, and line19a

b 33 1/3% support tests—2016. If the organization did not check a box on line 14 or line 19a, and line 16 is more than 33 1/3%, and
line 18 is not more than 33 1/3%, check this box and stop here. The organization qualifies as a publicly supported organization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

20 Private foundation. If the organization did not check a box on line 14, 19a, or 19b, check this box and see instructions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

%
%

16
15

17
18

%
%

DAA

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

(f) Total(a) 2013 (b) 2014 (c) 2015 (d) 2016 (e) 2017

(f) Total

line 6.) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) 

Calendar year (or fiscal year beginning in) 

and 12.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If the organization fails to qualify under the tests listed below, please complete Part II.)

(e) 2017(d) 2016(c) 2015(b) 2014(a) 2013

 

 

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



DAA

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

Part IV Supporting Organizations

Sections A, D, and E. If you checked 12d of Part I, complete Sections A and D, and complete Part V.)

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017 Page 4

Section A. All Supporting Organizations

(Complete only if you checked a box in line 12 on Part I. If you checked 12a of Part I, complete Sections A
and B. If you checked 12b of Part I, complete Sections A and C. If you checked 12c of Part I, complete

Are all of the organization’s supported organizations listed by name in the organization’s governing 
documents? If "No," describe in Part VI how the supported organizations are designated. If designated by 
class or purpose, describe the designation. If historic and continuing relationship, explain.
Did the organization have any supported organization that does not have an IRS determination of status
under section 509(a)(1) or (2)? If "Yes," explain in Part VI how the organization determined that the supported
organization was described in section 509(a)(1) or (2).

1

2

3a

b

c

4a

b

c

5a

b

c
6

7

8

9a

b

c

10a

b

Did the organization have a supported organization described in section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6)? If "Yes," answer
(b) and (c) below.
Did the organization confirm that each supported organization qualified under section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6) and 
satisfied the public support tests under section 509(a)(2)? If "Yes," describe in Part VI when and how the
organization made the determination.
Did the organization ensure that all support to such organizations was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B) 
purposes? If "Yes," explain in Part VI what controls the organization put in place to ensure such use.
Was any supported organization not organized in the United States ("foreign supported organization")? If
"Yes," and if you checked 12a or 12b in Part I, answer (b) and (c) below.
Did the organization have ultimate control and discretion in deciding whether to make grants to the foreign
supported organization? If "Yes," describe in Part VI how the organization had such control and discretion
despite being controlled or supervised by or in connection with its supported organizations.
Did the organization support any foreign supported organization that does not have an IRS determination
under sections 501(c)(3) and 509(a)(1) or (2)? If "Yes," explain in Part VI what controls the organization used
to ensure that all support to the foreign supported organization was used exclusively for section 170(c)(2)(B) 
purposes.
Did the organization add, substitute, or remove any supported organizations during the tax year? If "Yes,"
answer (b) and (c) below (if applicable). Also, provide detail in Part VI, including (i) the names and EIN 
numbers of the supported organizations added, substituted, or removed; (ii) the reasons for each such action;
(iii) the authority under the organization's organizing document authorizing such action; and (iv) how the action
was accomplished (such as by amendment to the organizing document).
Type I or Type II only. Was any added or substituted supported organization part of a class already
designated in the organization's organizing document?
Substitutions only. Was the substitution the result of an event beyond the organization's control?
Did the organization provide support (whether in the form of grants or the provision of services or facilities) to 
anyone other than (i) its supported organizations, (ii) individuals that are part of the charitable class benefited 
by one or more of its supported organizations, or (iii) other supporting organizations that also support or 
benefit one or more of the filing organization’s supported organizations? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
Did the organization provide a grant, loan, compensation, or other similar payment to a substantial contributor 
(defined in section 4958(c)(3)(C)), a family member of a substantial contributor, or a 35% controlled entity with 
regard to a substantial contributor? If "Yes," complete Part I of Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ).
Did the organization make a loan to a disqualified person (as defined in section 4958) not described in line 7? 
If "Yes," complete Part I of Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ).
Was the organization controlled directly or indirectly at any time during the tax year by one or more 
disqualified persons as defined in section 4946 (other than foundation managers and organizations described 
in section 509(a)(1) or (2))? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
Did one or more disqualified persons (as defined in line 9a) hold a controlling interest in any entity in which 
the supporting organization had an interest? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
Did a disqualified person (as defined in line 9a) have an ownership interest in, or derive any personal benefit 
from, assets in which the supporting organization also had an interest? If "Yes," provide detail in Part VI.
Was the organization subject to the excess business holdings rules of section 4943 because of section 
4943(f) (regarding certain Type II supporting organizations, and all Type III non-functionally integrated 
supporting organizations)? If "Yes," answer 10b below.
Did the organization have any excess business holdings in the tax year? (Use Schedule C, Form 4720, to 
determine whether the organization had excess business holdings.)

Yes No

1

2

3a

3b

3c

4a

4b

4c

5a

5b
5c

6

7

8

9a

9b

9c

10a

10b

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



DAA Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

Part IV Supporting Organizations (continued)
Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017 Page 5

NoYes

2

1

organizations and what conditions or restrictions, if any, applied to such powers during the tax year.
describe how the powers to appoint and/or remove directors or trustees were allocated among the supported
controlled the organization’s activities. If the organization had more than one supported organization,
tax year? If "No," describe in Part VI how the supported organization(s) effectively operated, supervised, or
regularly appoint or elect at least a majority of the organization’s directors or trustees at all times during the

Section B. Type I Supporting Organizations

11

c
b

a
Has the organization accepted a gift or contribution from any of the following persons?
A person who directly or indirectly controls, either alone or together with persons described in (b) and (c) 
below, the governing body of a supported organization?
A family member of a person described in (a) above?
A 35% controlled entity of a person described in (a) or (b) above? If "Yes" to a, b, or c, provide detail in Part VI.

11a
11b
11c

Did the directors, trustees, or membership of one or more supported organizations have the power to

Did the organization operate for the benefit of any supported organization other than the supported 
organization(s) that operated, supervised, or controlled the supporting organization? If "Yes," explain in Part 
VI how providing such benefit carried out the purposes of the supported organization(s) that operated, 
supervised, or controlled the supporting organization.

Section C. Type II Supporting Organizations

Were a majority of the organization’s directors or trustees during the tax year also a majority of the directors
or trustees of each of the organization’s supported organization(s)? If "No," describe in Part VI how control

1

or management of the supporting organization was vested in the same persons that controlled or managed 
the supported organization(s).

Section D. All Type III Supporting Organizations

Did the organization provide to each of its supported organizations, by the last day of the fifth month of the
organization’s tax year, (i) a written notice describing the type and amount of support provided during the prior tax

1

year, (ii) a copy of the Form 990 that was most recently filed as of the date of notification, and (iii) copies of the 
organization’s governing documents in effect on the date of notification, to the extent not previously provided?
Were any of the organization’s officers, directors, or trustees either (i) appointed or elected by the supported2

the organization maintained a close and continuous working relationship with the supported organization(s).
organization(s) or (ii) serving on the governing body of a supported organization? If "No," explain in Part VI how

supported organizations played in this regard.
income or assets at all times during the tax year? If "Yes," describe in Part VI the role the organization’s

3
significant voice in the organization’s investment policies and in directing the use of the organization’s
By reason of the relationship described in (2), did the organization’s supported organizations have a

Section E. Type III Functionally-Integrated Supporting Organizations

3

2

1 Check the box next to the method that the organization used to satisfy the Integral Part Test during the year (see instructions).
The organization satisfied the Activities Test. Complete line 2 below.
The organization is the parent of each of its supported organizations. Complete line 3 below.
The organization supported a governmental entity. Describe in Part VI how you supported a government entity (see instructions).

Activities Test. Answer (a) and (b) below.
a

b

a

c
b
a

b

Did substantially all of the organization’s activities during the tax year directly further the exempt purposes of 
the supported organization(s) to which the organization was responsive? If "Yes," then in Part VI identify 
those supported organizations and explain how these activities directly furthered their exempt purposes, 
how the organization was responsive to those supported organizations, and how the organization determined 
that these activities constituted substantially all of its activities.
Did the activities described in (a) constitute activities that, but for the organization’s involvement, one or more 
of the organization’s supported organization(s) would have been engaged in? If "Yes," explain in Part VI the 
reasons for the organization’s position that its supported organization(s) would have engaged in these 
activities but for the organization’s involvement.
Parent of Supported Organizations. Answer (a) and (b) below.
Did the organization have the power to regularly appoint or elect a majority of the officers, directors, or 
trustees of each of the supported organizations? Provide details in Part VI.
Did the organization exercise a substantial degree of direction over the policies, programs, and activities of each 
of its supported organizations? If "Yes," describe in Part VI the role played by the organization in this regard.

Yes No

1

2

1

NoYes

Yes No

1

2

3

NoYes

2a

2b

3a

3b

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



DAA

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

Part V Type III Non-Functionally Integrated 509(a)(3) Supporting Organizations
Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017 Page 6

1 Check here if the organization satisfied the Integral Part Test as a qualifying trust on Nov. 20, 1970 (explain in Part VI).See 
instructions. All other Type III non-functionally integrated supporting organizations must complete Sections A through E.

1
2
3
4
5
6

7
8

1

Section A - Adjusted Net Income

Net short-term capital gain
Recoveries of prior-year distributions
Other gross income (see instructions)
Add lines 1 through 3.
Depreciation and depletion
Portion of operating expenses paid or incurred for production or 

collection of gross income or for management, conservation, or 
maintenance of property held for production of income (see instructions)

Other expenses (see instructions)
Adjusted Net Income (subtract lines 5, 6 and 7 from line 4).

Section B - Minimum Asset Amount

Aggregate fair market value of all non-exempt-use assets (see 
instructions for short tax year or assets held for part of year):

a
b
c
d
e

Average monthly value of securities
Average monthly cash balances
Fair market value of other non-exempt-use assets
Total (add lines 1a, 1b, and 1c)
Discount claimed for blockage or other

factors (explain in detail in Part VI):

8
7
6
5

4
3
2 Acquisition indebtedness applicable to non-exempt-use assets

Subtract line 2 from line 1d.
Cash deemed held for exempt use. Enter 1-1/2% of line 3 (for greater amount, 

see instructions).
Net value of non-exempt-use assets (subtract line 4 from line 3)
Multiply line 5 by .035.
Recoveries of prior-year distributions
Minimum Asset Amount (add line 7 to line 6)

Section C - Distributable Amount

7

6
5
4
3
2
1 Adjusted net income for prior year (from Section A, line 8, Column A)

Enter 85% of line 1.
Minimum asset amount for prior year (from Section B, line 8, Column A)
Enter greater of line 2 or line 3.
Income tax imposed in prior year
Distributable Amount. Subtract line 5 from line 4, unless subject to 

emergency temporary reduction (see instructions).

instructions).
Check here if the current year is the organization's first as a non-functionally integrated Type III supporting organization (see

8
7
6

5
4
3
2
1

(A) Prior Year
(B) Current Year

(optional)

(optional)
(B) Current Year

(A) Prior Year

1a
1b
1c
1d

2
3

4
5
6
7
8

3
2
1

6

5
4

Current Year

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



Page 7Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

Type III Non-Functionally Integrated 509(a)(3) Supporting Organizations (continued)Part V

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

DAA

Section D - Distributions Current Year
1
2

3
4
5
6
7
8

9
10

Amounts paid to supported organizations to accomplish exempt purposes
Amounts paid to perform activity that directly furthers exempt purposes of supported
organizations, in excess of income from activity
Administrative expenses paid to accomplish exempt purposes of supported organizations
Amounts paid to acquire exempt-use assets
Qualified set-aside amounts (prior IRS approval required)
Other distributions (describe in Part VI). See instructions.
Total annual distributions. Add lines 1 through 6.
Distributions to attentive supported organizations to which the organization is responsive
(provide details in Part VI). See instructions.
Distributable amount for 2017 from Section C, line 6
Line 8 amount divided by line 9 amount

Section E - Distribution Allocations (see instructions) Excess Distributions
(i) (ii)

Underdistributions
Pre-2017

(iii)
Distributable

Amount for 2017

8

7

6

5

4

3

2
1

a
b
c
d
e
f
g
h
i
j

a
b
c

a
b
c
d
e

Distributable amount for 2017 from Section C, line 6
Underdistributions, if any, for years prior to 2017
(reasonable cause required-explain in Part VI). See

Excess distributions carryover, if any, to 2017:

From 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total of lines 3a through e
Applied to underdistributions of prior years
Applied to 2017 distributable amount
Carryover from 2012 not applied (see instructions)
Remainder. Subtract lines 3g, 3h, and 3i from 3f.
Distributions for 2017 from 
Section D, line 7: $
Applied to underdistributions of prior years
Applied to 2017 distributable amount
Remainder. Subtract lines 4a and 4b from 4.
Remaining underdistributions for years prior to 2017, if
any. Subtract lines 3g and 4a from line 2. For result
greater than zero, explain in Part VI. See instructions.
Remaining underdistributions for 2017. Subtract lines 3h
and 4b from line 1. For result greater than zero, explain in
Part VI. See instructions.
Excess distributions carryover to 2018. Add lines 3j
and 4c.
Breakdown of line 7:
Excess from 2013
Excess from 2014  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

From 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Excess from 2015  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

From 2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Excess from 2016  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

instructions.

From 2013

Excess from 2017  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



Page 8Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017

III, line 12; Part IV, Section A, lines 1, 2, 3b, 3c, 4b, 4c, 5a, 6, 9a, 9b, 9c, 11a, 11b, and 11c; Part IV, Section
Supplemental Information. Provide the explanations required by Part II, line 10; Part II, line 17a or 17b; PartPart VI

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2017DAA

B, lines 1 and 2; Part IV, Section C, line 1; Part IV, Section D, lines 2 and 3; Part IV, Section E, lines 1c, 2a, 2b,
3a and 3b; Part V, line 1; Part V, Section B, line 1e; Part V, Section D, lines 5, 6, and 8; and Part V, Section E,
lines 2, 5, and 6. Also complete this part for any additional information. (See instructions.)

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



  Attach to Form 990. 

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

Conservation Easements. 

Does each conservation easement reported on line 2(d) above satisfy the requirements of section 170(h)(4)(B)(i) 

Number of states where property subject to conservation easement is located   . . . . . . . . .

If the organization received or held works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets for financial gain, provide the

2017
Supplemental Financial StatementsSCHEDULE D

Part I Organizations Maintaining Donor Advised Funds or Other Similar Funds or Accounts.

(Form 990)
Part IV, line 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11a, 11b, 11c, 11d, 11e, 11f, 12a, or 12b.

Employer identification number

OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

Name of the organization

  Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990,

(a) Donor advised funds (b) Funds and other accounts

a
b
c
d

Total number of conservation easements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total acreage restricted by conservation easements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Number of conservation easements on a certified historic structure included in (a)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Number of conservation easements included in (c) acquired after 7/25/06, and not on a

Assets included in Form 990, Part X  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Assets included in Form 990, Part X  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Held at the End of the Tax Year

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 6.

works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of
public service, provide, in Part XIII, the text of the footnote to its financial statements that describes these items.
If the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet
works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of
public service, provide the following amounts relating to these items:
(i)
(ii)

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1
2
3
4
5

6

Total number at end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Aggregate value of contributions to (during year) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Aggregate value of grants from (during year) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Aggregate value at end of year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization inform all donors and donor advisors in writing that the assets held in donor advised
funds are the organization’s property, subject to the organization’s exclusive legal control?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Did the organization inform all grantees, donors, and donor advisors in writing that grant funds can be used
only for charitable purposes and not for the benefit of the donor or donor advisor, or for any other purpose

Yes

Yes

No

No
Part II

Complete lines 2a through 2d if the organization held a qualified conservation contribution in the form of a conservation

Purpose(s) of conservation easements held by the organization (check all that apply).

2

1

easement on the last day of the tax year.

Preservation of land for public use (e.g., recreation or education)
Protection of natural habitat
Preservation of open space

Preservation of a certified historic structure
Preservation of a historically important land area

Open to Public
Inspection

tax year   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

3 Number of conservation easements modified, transferred, released, extinguished, or terminated by the organization during the

4
5 Does the organization have a written policy regarding the periodic monitoring, inspection, handling of

violations, and enforcement of the conservation easements it holds?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Staff and volunteer hours devoted to monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year6

7 Amount of expenses incurred in monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year

8
and section 170(h)(4)(B)(ii)?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

balance sheet, and include, if applicable, the text of the footnote to the organization’s financial statements that describes the
9 In Part XIII, describe how the organization reports conservation easements in its revenue and expense statement, and

organization’s accounting for conservation easements.

NoYes

Yes No

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 8.
Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets.Part III

If the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), not to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet1a

b

2
following amounts required to be reported under SFAS 116 (ASC 958) relating to these items:

a
b

$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
$

DAA
For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990.

conferring impermissible private benefit? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

2a
2b
2c

2d

  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

  $  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 
 

 
 

historic structure listed in the National Register  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

  Go to www.irs.gov/Form990  for instructions and the latest information.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 7.

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC 47-1255713



(a) Current year

Provide the estimated percentage of the current year end balance (line 1g, column (a)) held as:

Are there endowment funds not in the possession of the organization that are held and administered for the

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

DAA

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 9, or reported an amount on Form

Amount

Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets (continued)Part III
Page 2

Public exhibition

Using the organization’s acquisition, accession, and other records, check any of the following that are a significant use of its3

a

collection items (check all that apply):

Scholarly research
Preservation for future generations

b
c

e Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

d Loan or exchange programs

XIII.
4 Provide a description of the organization’s collections and explain how they further the organization’s exempt purpose in Part

During the year, did the organization solicit or receive donations of art, historical treasures, or other similar5
assets to be sold to raise funds rather than to be maintained as part of the organization’s collection?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . NoYes

Part IV Escrow and Custodial Arrangements.

Yes Noincluded on Form 990, Part X?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1a Is the organization an agent, trustee, custodian or other intermediary for contributions or other assets not

b If “Yes,” explain the arrangement in Part XIII and complete the following table:

Beginning balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .c
d Additions during the year  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Distributions during the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .e
f Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Did the organization include an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability?  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .2a
If “Yes,” explain the arrangement in Part XIII. Check here if the explanation has been provided on Part XIII  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .b

NoYes

Endowment Funds.Part V

Contributions  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .b
Beginning of year balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1a

c Net investment earnings, gains, and

Grants or scholarships  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .d
e Other expenditures for facilities and

Administrative expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .f
g End of year balance  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

programs  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(b) Prior year (c) Two years back (d) Three years back (e) Four years back

c Temporarily restricted endowment   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Permanent endowment   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .b

2
a Board designated or quasi-endowment   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .%

%
%

3a
organization by:
(i)
(ii)

unrelated organizations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
related organizations  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

If “Yes” on line 3a(ii), are the related organizations listed as required on Schedule R? . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .b
4 Describe in Part XIII the intended uses of the organization’s endowment funds.

Yes No
3a(i)
3a(ii)

3b

Part VI Land, Buildings, and Equipment.

1a
b
c
d
e

Land  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Buildings  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total.  Add lines 1a through 1e. (Column (d) must equal Form 990, Part X, column (B), line 10c.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(d) Book value(c) Accumulated(b) Cost or other basis(a) Cost or other basis

(investment) (other)

Description of property

1c
1d
1e
1f

 

losses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

depreciation

The percentages on lines 2a, 2b, and 2c should equal 100%.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 11a. See Form 990, Part X, line 10.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 10.

990, Part X, line 21.

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



Cost or end-of-year market value

(b) Book value (c) Method of valuation:

Page 3
Part VII Investments—Other Securities.

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

(a) Description of security or category

(including name of security)

Financial derivatives  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Closely-held equity interests  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Total.  (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 12.)  

(a) Description of investment

Investments—Program Related.Part VIII

(c) Method of valuation:(b) Book value

Cost or end-of-year market value

(b) Book value

Other Assets.

(a) Description

Part IX

DAA

Part X

(a) Description of liability

Other Liabilities.

(b) Book value

Liability for uncertain tax positions. In Part XIII, provide the text of the footnote to the organization’s financial statements that reports the
organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740). Check here if the text of the footnote has been provided in Part XIII . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Federal income taxes

Total.  (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 13.)  

Total.  (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 15.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Total.  (Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 25.)  

1.

2.

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(1)

(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(E)
(F)
(G)
(H)

(9)
(8)
(7)
(6)
(5)
(4)
(3)
(2)
(1)

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

(9)
(8)
(7)
(6)
(5)
(4)
(3)
(2)
(1)

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(3)
(2)

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11e or 11f. See Form 990, Part X,
line 25.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 11d. See Form 990, Part X, line 15.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 11c. See Form 990, Part X, line 13.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 11b. See Form 990, Part X, line 12.

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

X



Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements With Expenses per Return.

Reconciliation of Revenue per Audited Financial Statements With Revenue per Return.

DAA

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017
Part XI

Page 4

Part XII

a

1 Total revenue, gains, and other support per audited financial statements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
2

b
c
d
e

b
c

a

3
4

5

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12:
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Donated services and use of facilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Recoveries of prior year grants  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other (Describe in Part XIII.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Add lines 2a through 2d  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Amounts included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, but not on line 1:
Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other (Describe in Part XIII.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Subtract line 2e from line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Add lines 4a and 4b  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Total revenue. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12.) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

1

2a
2b
2c
2d

2e
3

4a
4b

4c
5

1

Add lines 4a and 4b  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Subtract line 2e from line 1  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:

Add lines 2a through 2d  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Other losses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Donated services and use of facilities  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:

5

4
3

a

c
b

e

Prior year adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
c
b

2
Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1

a

5
4c

4b

d

4a

3
2e

2d
2c
2b
2a

Part XIII
Provide the descriptions required for Part II, lines 3, 5, and 9; Part III, lines 1a and 4; Part IV, lines 1b and 2b; Part V, line 4; Part X, line
2; Part XI, lines 2d and 4b; and Part XII, lines 2d and 4b. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.

Total expenses. Add lines 3 and 4c. (This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 18.)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Supplemental Information.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

Complete if the organization answered “Yes” on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

1,748,926

1,748,926

1,748,926

2,156,817

2,156,817

2,156,817

PART X - FIN 48 FOOTNOTE

THE ORGANIZATION IS EXEMPT FROM INCOME TAX UNDER SECTION 501(C) (3) OF THE

INTERNAL REVENUE CODE AND THEREFORE, HAS MADE NO PROVISION FOR FEDERAL

INCOME TAXES IN THE ACCOMPANYING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.  IN ADDITION, THE

ORGANIZATION QUALIFIES FOR THE CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTION DEDUCTION UNDER

SECTION 170 (B) (1) (A) AND HAS BEEN CLASSIFIED AS AN ORGANIZATION OTHER

THAN A PRIVATE FOUNDATION UNDER SECTION 509 (A) (2).

THERE ARE NO RESERVES HELD FOR UNCERTAIN TAX POSITIONS AT 12/31/2017.  THE

ORGANIZATION IS NO LONGER SUBJECT TO U.S. FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL INCOME

TAX EXAMINATIONS BY TAX AUTHORITIES FOR YEARS BEFORE 2014.



Page 5
Part XIII Supplemental Information (continued)

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

Schedule D (Form 990) 2017

DAA

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713



Form 990 or 990-EZ or to provide any additional information.

Employer identification numberName of the organization

Internal Revenue Service
Department of the Treasury

OMB No. 1545-0047

Complete to provide information for responses to specific questions on(Form 990 or 990-EZ)
SCHEDULE O Supplemental Information to Form 990 or 990-EZ

2017
Open to Public
Inspection

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2017)
DAA

   Attach to Form 990 or 990-EZ.
  Go to www.irs.gov/Form990 for the latest information.

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY
EDUCATION COUNCIL INC 47-1255713

FORM 990 - ORGANIZATION'S MISSION

IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 446.531, F.S., THE FCMEC WILL COORDINATE A

STATEWIDE PROGRAM TO INFORM AND EDUCATE THE PUBLIC ABOUT THE SUSTAINABILITY

AND ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF CONCRETE MASONRY PRODUCTS AND TRAIN INDIVIDUALS IN

THE FIELD OF CONCRETE MASONRY. FURTHER, AS DIRECTED IN SECTION 1011.80(4),

F.S., THE FCMEC WILL ESTABLISH BASELINE DATA OF PRIORITY TARGETS FOR THE

PURPOSE OF FORMULATING ANNUAL OUTCOME MEASUREMENTS.

FORM 990, PART VI, LINE 11B - ORGANIZATION'S PROCESS TO REVIEW FORM 990

FORM 990 IS CIRCULATED AMONG MEMBERS OF THE ORGANIZATION'S BOARD OF

DIRECTORS FOR REVIEW, COMMENTS AND APPROVAL PRIOR TO SUBMISSION

FORM 990, PART VI, LINE 12C - ENFORCEMENT OF CONFLICTS POLICY

EVERY MEETING AGENDA OF THE COUNCIL (BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES)

CONTAINS TEXT INFORMING COUNCIL MEMBERS OF THEIR RESPONSIBILITY TO DECLARE

A CONFLICT OF INTEREST AS IT RELATES TO ITEMS BEFORE THE COUNCIL FOR

ACTION.  THE TEXT INCLUDES A LINK TO THE COUNCIL'S CONFLICT OF INTEREST

MEMORANDUM THAT A MEMBER WOULD COMPLETE.  ADDITIONALLY, EVERY MEETING

AGENDA PROACTIVELY ASKS THE MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE IF ANY HAVE A CONFLICT OF

INTEREST.  IF A CONFLICT OF INTEREST IS NOT DECLARED AT A MEETING BUT A

MEMORANDUM INDICATING A CONFLICT OF INTEREST IS RECEIVED AFTER A MEETING,

THE MEMORANDUM IS READ INTO THE MINUTES AT THE NEXT MEETING OF THE BOARD OF

DIRECTORS.

FORM 990, PART VI, LINE 19 - GOVERNING DOCUMENTS DISCLOSURE EXPLANATION



DAA

Page 2Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2017)

DAA

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2017)

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Name of the organization Employer identification number

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

.  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

THE FLORIDA CONCRETE MASONRY 47-1255713

GOVERNING DOCUMENTS ARE MADE AVAILABE TO THE PUBLIC UPON REQUEST.

FORM 990, PART IX, LINE 11G - OTHER FEES FOR SERVICES

DESCRIPTION

            PROGRAM SERVICE         MGT & GENERAL           FUNDRAISING

OTHER FEES EXPENSES

             $   1,840,238          $           0          $           0

PAGE 1 OF 1





2018-19



2018-19 VISIT FLORIDA

MARKETING 
PLAN



TABLE OF CONTENTS

8
PERFORMANCE
SNAPSHOT

4
OVERVIEW

14 
FLORIDA 
VISITORS

28
MARKETING
APPROACH

24
INSIGHTS & 
CONSIDERATIONS



4

| 
 O

V
E

R
V

IE
W

OVERVIEW

IN THIS SECTION

ABOUT VISIT FLORIDA 5

NO. 1 TRAVEL DESTINATION IN THE WORLD 6

MARKETING PRINCIPLES 6

MARKETING PLANNING PROCESS 7

TRENDS WE ARE WATCHING 7

 



5

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W
  | 

ABOUT VISIT FLORIDA
VISIT FLORIDA, the state’s official tourism marketing corporation, serves as Florida’s source for travel planning to 

visitors across the globe. VISIT FLORIDA is a not-for-profit corporation created as a public/private partnership by  

the Florida Legislature in 1996.

As the Sunshine State’s No. 1 industry, tourism was responsible for welcoming a record 116.5 million visitors in  

2017. Based on the latest economic impact study, Florida visitors spent $112 billion and supported 1.4 million  

Florida jobs. According to the Florida Office of Economic and Demographic Research, for every $1 the state  

invests in VISIT FLORIDA, $2.15 in tax revenue is generated.

Each year, the Florida Legislature appropriates public funding to be allocated for tourism marketing.  

VISIT FLORIDA is required to match this public investment dollar for dollar, by partnering with the state’s  

tourism industry through cooperative advertising campaigns, promotional programs and many other innovative 

ventures. Through this partnership, VISIT FLORIDA serves more than 12,000 tourism industry businesses, including 

Busch Gardens Tampa, Disney Destinations, The Hertz Corporation, LEGOLAND Florida Resort, SeaWorld Parks & 

Resorts Orlando, Simon Shopping Destinations and Universal Orlando Resort.

VISIT FLORIDA facilitates tourism industry participation in domestic and international travel trade and consumer shows, 

as well as media missions to the top global visitor markets. VISIT FLORIDA also works closely with travel agents, tour 

operators, meeting and event planners, and is responsible for operating Florida’s Official Welcome Centers.

2020 STRATEGIC PLAN 
In order to keep Florida ahead of the competition, VISIT FLORIDA and its Board of Directors have implemented a strategic 

plan that will carry the Florida tourism industry through 2020.

5

PURPOSE ..........Brighten the lives of all.

VISION ...............Establish Florida as the No. 1 travel destination 
in the world.

MISSION ............Strengthen Florida’s share of the 
global travel market.

GOAL ..................Maximize the economic impact of travel 
and tourism to Florida.

OBJECTIVE .....$100 billion in tourism-related 
spend by 2020.

VALUES ...........Make an impact. Work purposefully and live 
passionately. Innovate.

STRATEGY 01: DRIVE DEMAND

STRATEGY 02: INCREASE YIELD

STRATEGY 03: BRAND ENGAGEMENT

STRATEGY 04: INDUSTRY ALIGNMENT

Learn more about VISIT FLORIDA: VISITFLORIDA.org
Follow our corporate blog: SunshineMatters.org



6

| 
 O

V
E

R
V

IE
W

MARKETING PRINCIPLES

  CREATE VALUE & ADD VALUE 
Every VISIT FLORIDA program or initiative must create 

and add value for travelers and for industry Partners. If the 

industry can produce a program at the same cost and with 

the same impact, there is no reason for VISIT FLORIDA to 

invest resources in the program. VISIT FLORIDA programs 

must provide the Florida tourism industry a strategic 

advantage and must inspire consumers with valuable 

information or a valuable service.

 SOMETHING FOR EVERYONE, BUT 
 NOT EVERYTHING FOR EVERYONE  

There is a tendency in membership organizations to stick 

to the “Fairness Doctrine” – build programs to the lowest 

common denominator and provide the same benefits to 

all members in all cases. The result is often a marketing 

structure that tends toward mediocrity. 

VISIT FLORIDA represents an industry that is remarkable in 

its breadth and diversity and a “one-size-fits all” approach 

simply will not work. VISIT FLORIDA has made a strategic 

decision to prioritize efforts on valuable programs that are 

good for Florida. We strive to provide programs that work 

for all Partners, but we recognize that not all programs will 

be a good fit for every Partner.
 

 IF IT’S WORTH DOING, 
 IT’S WORTH DOING RIGHT 

While wise financial stewardship is critical in all that 

we do, VISIT FLORIDA will not sacrifice quality to save 

money; nor will we initiate a new program or continue 

with an existing program without dedicating the 

resources necessary to make the program a success. 

VISIT FLORIDA will protect our brand promise and will 

commit to do it right or not do it at all.

  QUALITY VS. QUANTITY 
Scale matters, but impact matters more. The impact of 

a promotion on consumer behavior is more important 

than the number of people that the promotion reaches. 

VISIT FLORIDA is committed to delivering high-quality 

innovative programs that give Florida a competitive 

advantage. These programs will be thoroughly vetted, 

measured and optimized to ensure they maximize the 

impact of every dollar spent. 

  DIGITAL FIRST 
Constant technological advancement has left the world 

of marketing in a state of permanent transformation. In 

order to ensure that VISIT FLORIDA thrives in the future, 

it must be a marketing company that thinks digital first. 

We will invest in platforms, partners and people who 

understand how technology will evolve and can provide 

VISIT FLORIDA a competitive advantage as a destination 

marketer.

  TRAVELER-CENTRIC  
The goal of all VISIT FLORIDA efforts is to deliver 

visitors to the state. Our ability to be successful requires 

a comprehensive understanding of Florida’s visitors 

and potential travelers. Prioritizing the traveler helps 

VISIT FLORIDA deliver greater results for our Partners 

and ultimately the residents of Florida. 

 DATA-DRIVEN    
In order for VISIT FLORIDA to compete in a hyper- 

competitive landscape, every decision must be data-

driven. Priority will be placed on programs that can be 

measured and optimized and can provide data that 

continuously improve our ability to attract potential 

visitors. 

NO. 1 TRAVEL DESTINATION IN THE WORLD
VISIT FLORIDA’s vision – to establish Florida as the 

No. 1 travel destination in the world – is ambitious but 

achievable. To succeed, VISIT FLORIDA must build a 

strategic marketing platform that aligns the collective 

interests of the Florida tourism industry and provides 

integrated marketing opportunities for the industry to 

leverage.

VISIT FLORIDA must prioritize its resources to focus 

only on programs that maximize impact and create 

and add value for travelers and industry Partners. 

That means following a set of principles that guide all 

marketing decisions.



7

O
V

E
R

V
IE

W
  | 

MARKETING PLANNING PROCESS
The record success that Florida has experienced during the 

past seven years is a direct result of the collaborative effort 

by the entire tourism industry. 

Working with critical Florida stakeholders and Industry 

Partners, VISIT FLORIDA kicked off the Marketing 

Planning process in December 2017 at the Florida Tourism 

Leadership Summit. This event was designed to open 

conversations with industry stakeholders and develop 

a list of priorities for the coming year.

Marketing and travel are some of the fastest-changing industries. To stay current, we follow the compelling 
developments and story lines across those industries. Here are some with near-term importance. 

TRENDS WE ARE WATCHING

  TIME OFF 
The battle to persuade Americans to take their earned 

vacations continues. What feels like progress can look 

like we’re running in place. Yes, vacation day usage is 

up two years running, but the fact remains that more 

than half of Americans are still leaving vacation time on 

the table. The reasons are familiar: an always-on work 

culture, the “work martyr” mentality, and anxiety around 

perceived commitment to career. What’s worse, many of 

the largest generation of workers are showing these telltale 

behaviors. Millennial women, who according to the data 

say they appreciate vacation time, are taking less time off. 

They report feeling guilty, they worry about a workload 

that never stops growing, they fear of being replaced. 

Reinforcing the physical, spiritual and career benefits of a 

vacation with this trend-setting demographic will be more 

important than ever.

PERMANXIETY OR STATE OF FEAR  
Travelers today face an endless barrage of worries about 

personal security, terrorism, extreme weather events, 

racial tensions, and other geopolitical crises. In 2017, Skift 

coined the term permanxiety to describe a “near-constant 

state of anxiety that exists around the world” and 

pervades every part of our lives through continuous news 

updates and often inflammatory social media. Added to 

that, in some parts of the world there are growing fears of 

“the other” – different cultures, different religious beliefs, 

and different political views. One of the travel industry’s 

greatest achievements over the past 100 years has been 

creating a shared experience that unites strangers. Will 

our industry be able to address this new anxiety of 

travelers? How do we as marketers rise above the noise 

and say, “Welcome to Florida”?
  

 PRIVACY PROTECTION 
The gift of digital technology has been the ability to 

deliver personalized campaigns to individual consumers. 

But in the past two years we’ve come to realize that 

the 21st-century information highway was missing 

guardrails. The large tech companies have been outed 

for being careless with our personal information and 

for leaving the gates wide open to malicious agents. 

Consumers and Congress are asking hard questions and 

digital marketers suddenly have arrived at a crossroads. 

Citizens want their data and privacy protected and they 

negatively view brands that enter their personal space 

uninvited. Emerging technologies such as “blockchain” 

allow consumers to insulate themselves from advertising 

and protect and potentially monetize their online data. 

Questions remain around the role of regulation, self-

monitoring, and what data is acceptable for businesses 

to monitor, collect, and share? As new privacy measures 

are sorted out, we will continue to protect data and 

partner with brands that do the same.

 HERE COMES GEN Z 
This year, the oldest members of Generation Z will be 
graduating from college and entering the workforce. 
The research suggests that Gen Z is very different from 
Millennials and marketers should not assume that the 
same strategies will work across generations. When it 
comes to travel, Gen Z is incredibly influential. They are 
already buying their own trips and affecting family travel 
decisions. They want to experience the world like a local 
and change it for the better. They watch twice as many 
videos on mobile than any other generation and are won 
over by videos that tell a story. Building strategies to 
connect with this next generation of travelers will be a 
priority in the coming years.

As a result, VISIT FLORIDA developed short-term and 

long-term plans to make Florida the No. 1 travel destination 

in the world.

Many of the initiatives and strategies in this Marketing Plan 

and in VISIT FLORIDA’s marketing approach are directly 

connected to the feedback and workshops from the Florida 

Tourism Leadership Summit.



| 
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 S
N

A
P

S
H

O
T

8

PERFORMANCE
SNAPSHOT

IN THIS SECTION

SEVEN YEARS OF RECORD VOLUME 9 

MARKET SHARE 10

HOTEL OCCUPANCY AND REVENUE 11

ECONOMIC IMPACT 12 



P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 S

N
A

P
S

H
O

T
  | 

9

SEVEN YEARS OF 
RECORD VOLUME 
If there is one proof of the popularity of the 

Florida vacation brand, one confirmation that 

marketing matters, look at how far and fast 

we have come. From 2011 to 2017 – one record 

year after another – the number of visitors to 

Florida has increased by 33.4 percent, or 

29.2 million additional vacationers. The newest 

benchmark is 2017’s 116.5 million visitors. A 

critical part of maintaining this trend line is 

identifying opportunities for improvement. 

Here’s one: International visitor volume is down 

from its 2013 apex by 8 percent. Canadian 

visitation rebounded in 2017, but we have 

work to do in Europe and South America. The 

potential is there for growth. These are good 

challenges to have.

Source: VISIT FLORIDA

DOMESTIC VISITOR VOLUME
(in millions)

This chart shows the volume of domestic visitors to Florida 
over the past 10 years.

60,000,000

70,000,000

80,000,000

90,000,000

100,000,000

110,000,000

2013

78.8

2013

15.4

2014

83.2

2014

15.3

2015

91.3

2015

15.2

2016

97.9

2016

14.5

2017*

102.3

2017*

14.2

2008

76.1

2008

8.1

2009

71.2

2009

9.6

2010

71.2

2010

11.1

2011

74.7

2011

12.6

2012

77.6

2012

13.9

Source: VISIT FLORIDA

INTERNATIONAL VISITOR VOLUME
(in millions)

This chart shows the volume of international visitors to Florida 
over the past 10 years.

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

14,000,000

16,000,000

TOTAL VISITOR VOLUME
(in millions)

This chart shows the total visitor volume to the state over the past 10 years.

Source: VISIT FLORIDA

50,000,000

60,000,000

70,000,000

80,000,000

90,000,000

100,000,000

110,000,000

120,000,000

2013

94.1

2014

98.5

2015

106.6

2016

112.4

2017*

116.5

2008

84.2

2009

80.9

2010

82.3

2011

87.3

2012

91.5

CANADA

3.5M*

DOMESTIC

102.3M*

OVERSEAS

10.7M*

38
10-YR 

VISITOR VOLUME 
INCREASE

*estimate is preliminary and subject to change



| 
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 S
N

A
P

S
H

O
T

10

MARKET SHARE
LARGEST SHARE OF VACATION TRAVELERS OF ALL U.S. STATES

For more than a decade now, the Sunshine State has 

been the uncontested leader among American vacation 

destinations.

Florida’s share of U.S. tourists has hovered around 16 

percent and remains at least four points better than the 

closest competitor.

That good news is offset by cautionary research data: 

Interest in traveling to Florida within the next two years 

experienced a 2-point year-over-year decrease and travel 

intent for some of Florida’s top competitive destinations 

had a significant increase.

To maintain our market dominance, keeping Florida top of 

mind among likely travelers is more important than ever.

FLORIDA’S MARKET SHARE
This chart tracks Florida’s share of the domestic vacation travel market.

Source: D.K. Shifflet & Associates

18.0%

16.0%

14.0%

12.0%

10.0%

14.8%

2008

14.2%

2007

15.5%

2009

14.9%

2010

15.8%

2011

15.7%

2012

16.2%

2013

15.8%

2014

15.9%

2015

16.1%

2016

INTERESTED IN VISITING OVER TIME
This chart shows the top states that travelers are interested in visiting over the next two years..

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

45%

50%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

Source: MMGY Global. Portrait of American Travelers 2017-2018
Respondents could select more than one state. The states shown generated the most responses.

California Florida New York Hawaii Alaska Colorado

10-YR INCREASE IN 
MARKET SHARE

PERCENTAGE POINTS

2.0

16.2%

2017



P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 S

N
A

P
S

H
O

T
  | 

11

FLORIDA

73.9% 
Occupancy

$138.06 
ADR

$101.96 
RevPar

Rooms Sold Growth 4.6%

SOUTH ATLANTIC

68.0% 
Occupancy

$123.40 
ADR

$83.91 
RevPar

Rooms Sold Growth 2.9%

UNITED STATES

65.9% 
Occupancy

$126.72 
ADR

$83.57 
RevPar

Rooms Sold Growth 2.7%

HOTEL OCCUPANCY AND REVENUE 
FLORIDA EXPERIENCED RECORDS FOR OCCUPANCY, ADR AND REVPAR

 
Top-line hotel numbers confirm that 2017 was another 
outstanding year for the Florida hotel industry. Occupancy, 
Average Daily Rate (ADR) and Revenue per Available Room 
(RevPar) all rose to historic benchmarks.

In 2017, nearly 9,000 additional rooms were added to 
Florida’s hotel inventory, but demand was greater. Average 
monthly occupancy was 73.9 percent – a year-over-year 
increase of 3.2 percent. More growth is expected: 46,000 
rooms will be added by 2020.

The ADR grew by 2.6 percent and remained above $110 even 
during the slower months. Room rate peaked in March, with 
11 million rooms sold at a daily average of $168. September 
was lowest at $115.

Florida also shines brightest in regional and national 
comparisons, outpacing the South Atlantic and greater 
United States for Occupancy, RevPAR and Rooms Sold.

In the past five years, Florida’s hotel occupancy has averaged 
3.6 percent annual growth; the ADR on average has risen 4 

percent annually.

Source: STR, Inc.

OCCUPANCY RATES
This chart shows the five-year trend of Florida occupancy rates 

compared to U.S. rates.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

80.0%

70.0%

60.0%

50.0%

40.0%

Florida United States

Source: STR, Inc.

AVERAGE DAILY ROOM RATE
This chart shows the five-year trend of Florida average daily room rates 

compared to U.S. rates.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

$140.00

$120.00

$100.00

$80.00

$60.00

Florida United States

Source: STR, Inc.

REVENUE PER AVAILABLE ROOM
This chart shows the five-year trend of Florida revenue per available room 

compared to U.S. rates.

2017

$110.00

$100.00

$90.00

$80.00

$60.00

$70.00

2013 2014 2015 2016

Florida United States

HOTEL OCCUPANCY AND ADR
This chart compares Florida’s hotel industry against the values from the 

South Atlantic region and the U.S. in 2017.

QUICK FACTS

• 67 new hotels opened in 2017, adding 
nearly 9,000 additional rooms.

• 46,000 new hotel rooms are set to be 
completed by 2020.

1.4%

2.6%3.2% 5.9%

2.9% 4.3%

0.9% 2.1% 3.0%



| 
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 S
N

A
P

S
H

O
T

12

TOURISM’S POWERFUL ECONOMIC IMPACT
OUT-OF-STATE VISITOR SPENDING CONTINUES TO HIT RECORD HIGHS

More than ever, out-of-state vacationers remain vital 

contributors to the Florida economy. One of six Florida 

jobs is supported by visitor spending. Tourism sales 

account for nearly 10 percent of the state economy. 

And since 2010, Florida tourism has been on a roll: six 

consecutive years of growth, with annual spending up 43 

percent in that stretch to almost $112 billion (see chart).

Here are some other highlights:

· 78 visitors support one Florida job.

· Nearly 80 percent of lodging employment, 53 percent 
 of recreational employment, and 41 percent of jobs in 

the food and beverage industry are directly supported 
by out-of-state visitor spend.

· Spending on food and beverage in 2016 was up 
 4.2 percent.

· Visitor spending in Florida increased by 3.1 percent in 
2016; in the United States, the increase was 1.9 percent. 
(source: U.S. Travel Association).

High consumer confidence, low gas prices, employment 
and wage growth, as well as the attractiveness of Florida 
as a destination for both domestic and international 
travelers, are contributing factors to visitor spending. 

(source: U.S. Travel Association)

All sectors of the Florida economy benefit directly from 

tourism or through:

Indirect impacts such as increased sales for local 
businesses who supply the tourism industry (e.g. supplier 
to the hotel who delivers goods and services and employs 
workers to meet the demand); and Induced impacts such 
as increased sales for local businesses through resident 
spending of income earned in tourism and supporting 
sectors (e.g. employees of the hotel supplier purchase 
goods and services at a household level such as food, 

child care, and home insurance).

Source: Tourism Economics

QUICK FACTS

• Out-of-state visitor spending supported 1.4 million Florida jobs in 2016, with an associated income of $53 billion.

• Out-of-state tourism generated $11.6 billion in state and local taxes and $13.6 billion in federal taxes in 2016.

TOTAL ECONOMIC IMPACT
(in billions)

DIRECT

$111.7B

INDIRECT

$38.6BINDUCED

$38.8B

TOTAL

$189.1B



P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
 S

N
A

P
S

H
O

T
  | 

13

OUT-OF-STATE VISITOR SPENDING
(in billions)

This chart shows the total amount of out-of-state visitor spending per year.

TOTAL TOURISM EMPLOYMENT COMPARED TO VISITOR VOLUME
(in millions)

This chart shows the number of Floridians employed by the Tourism industry compared to total visitor volume. As visitors increased, so did Florida jobs.

Source: Tourism Economics and VISIT FLORIDA

Source: Tourism Economics and VISIT FLORIDA

$120

$110

$100

$90

$80

$70

$60

2010

$78.3

2011

$87.2

2012

$91.5

2013

$98.5

2014

$104.7

2015

$108.8

2016

$111.7

1.50

1.55

1.60 120,000,000

1.45

100,000,000

1.40

80,000,000

1.35

60,000,000

1.30 40,000,000

1.25

20,000,000

1.20

-1.15

84.5 84.2
80.9 82.3

87.3
91.5

94.1

98.5

106.6

112.4

2010

1.20

2009

1.20

2008

1.25

2007

1.27

2011

1.24

2012

1.28

2013

1.31

2014

1.35

2015

1.40

2016

1.44

Total Tourism Employment Visitor Volume



| 
 F

L
O

R
ID

A
 V

IS
IT

O
R

S

14

IN THIS SECTION

DOMESTIC MARKET 15 

FLORIDA’S SUPER SIX MARKETS 15

SUPER SIX MARKET SNAPSHOT  16

DEMOGRAPHICS  17

AGE AND FAMILY COMPOSITION 18

SEASONALITY - CLOSE THE GAP 19

INTERNATIONAL MARKET 20

INTERNATIONAL MARKET SNAPSHOT 2 1

FLORIDA’S CANADIAN CORE 22

FLORIDA 
VISITORS



F
L

O
R

ID
A

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

  | 

1515

SECONDARY
DMAs

Share of Florida's 
Domestic Visitors

PP* 
change 
'15/'16

Vol
Shift

2016 2015

7. Detroit, MI 2.1% 2.0% 0.1%

8. Dallas-Fort Worth, TX 1.8% 2.0% -0.2%

9. Los Angeles, CA 1.7% 1.7% 0.0%

10. Birmingham, AL 1.7% 1.4% 0.3%

11. Cleveland-Akron, OH 1.6% 1.7% -0.1%

12. Nashville, TN 1.6% 1.0% 0.6%

13. Houston, TX 1.6% 1.5% 0.0%

14. Raleigh-Durham, NC 1.5% 1.6% -0.1%

15. Indianapolis, IN 1.4% 1.3% 0.2%

Where do Florida’s vacationers originate? How are they 
getting here? What are their favorite Florida activities 
and destinations? Combine this attention to data with 
valuable input from tourism industry leadership and 
the result is a record 116.5 million visitors in 2017 — with 
102.3 million, or 88 percent, of those visitors from the 
United States.

Florida attracts vacationers from all 50 states, but nearly 
three-quarters (73 percent) of those visitors come from 
15 states, all but two of them east of the Mississippi River. 
In 2016, Florida experienced the largest increase in share 
from Georgia, Kentucky, North Carolina, and Tennessee. 

DOMESTIC MARKET
THE GREAT MAJORITY OF FLORIDA’S VISITORS LIVE IN THE U.S.

FLORIDA’S SUPER SIX MARKETS
Among metropolitan areas, New York City, Atlanta, 
Chicago, Philadelphia, Washington, D.C., and Boston are 
the greatest contributors to Florida’s visitor numbers. 
These Super Six DMAs (Designated Market Areas) 
account for nearly one-third of Florida’s domestic 
volume. Nine secondary markets, including three metros 

CA
3.8%

OR

WA

MT

WY

CO

NM

TX
5.2%

OK

KS

NE

SD

ND

MN

WI

MI
3.3%

IL
4.1%

KY
3.1%

IN
2.7%

TN
3.8%

OH
5.2%

WV
VA

NC
4.9%

SC

FL

PA
5.0%

NY
9.7%

VT

NH
MA

RI

CT

NJ
4.4%
DE

MD
2.5%

ME

MS
AL
4.1%

GA
10.6%

IA

MO

AR

LA

ID

NV

UT

AZ

Source: D.K. Shifflet & Associates

Source: D.K. Shifflet & Associates
*percentage point

SUPER SIX
DMAs

Share of Florida's 
Domestic Visitors

PP* 
change 
'15/'16

Vol
Shift

2016 2015

1. New York, NY 11.1% 11.6% -0.5%

2. Atlanta, GA 6.7% 6.1% 0.6%

3. Chicago, IL 3.8% 3.6% 0.1%

4. Philadelphia, PA 3.2% 3.2% 0.0%  

5. Washington, D.C. 2.9% 3.0% -0.1%

6. Boston, MA 2.8% 2.9% -0.1%

west of the Mississippi River, contribute 15 percent of 
Florida’s visitors. The year-over-year increase of nearly 
a point in share meant an additional 824,000 visitors. 
Together, these 15 DMAs account for almost half of 
Florida’s 102.3 million domestic visitors.

Visitors west of the Mississippi also have played a 
significant role in Florida’s record run. From 2012 
to 2016, their share of domestic visitor volume has 
increased from 19.7 to 21.8 percent. 

Examining mode of travel, the data shows more drive 
vacationers coming to Florida (an increase of 2.5 
million from 2016 to 2017) and a willingness to cover 
greater distances to get here. The typical round-trip 
distance is more than 2,000 miles. There were 1.9 
million more air visitors from 2016 to 2017, and it’s 
gratifying to see the demand rising to the supply. 
Available flights from the United States into Florida 
have increased by 22 percent since 2013.

More Than 9%

More Than 5%

Less Than 5%

FLORIDA’S VISITORS FROM TOP 15 STATES



| 
 F

L
O

R
ID

A
 V

IS
IT

O
R

S

16

SUPER SIX MARKET SNAPSHOT

New York City
• New York City remained Florida’s top DMA in 2016 

despite experiencing a 4.1 percent decrease in 
 volume and a share decrease of 0.5 percentage 
 points to 11.1 percent. 

• New York City ranks as the No. 1 DMA for
 VISIT FLORIDA’s Family, Winter and Weekend Getaway 

audience segments. 

• Nearly a third of Florida’s visitors from New York City 
come in the spring and their top activity is visiting 
friends and relatives.

• Of the Super Six markets, the New York metropolitan 
area has the largest population at 13.4 million. 

Atlanta 
• Atlanta is the second-most popular origin DMA and the 

top drive market.

• Visitors from Atlanta have the shortest average length 
of stay compared to the other Super Six DMAs. 

• Atlanta has the largest share of family travel among the 
Super Six DMAs. Nearly 25 percent of all travel parties 
are traveling with children. 

Chicago
• Chicago is Florida’s third-most popular origin market, 

accounting for nearly 4 percent of Florida’s domestic 
visitors. Chicago is the second-most popular air market, 
representing nearly 6 percent of Florida’s domestic air 
visitors. 

• The majority of Florida’s visitors from Chicago come in 
spring and summer.

• Nearly half of Chicago’s visitors arrive to Florida by 
air and the seat capacity from Chicago to Florida has 
increased by 8 percent in the last year. 

Philadelphia 
• Philadelphia is Florida’s fourth-most popular origin 

market for Florida’s domestic visitors.  

• Almost half of the visitors from Philadelphia are Baby 
Boomers – the largest share of Boomers among the 
Super Six DMAs.

• The top activities for visitors from Philadelphia are 
going to the beach, visiting friends and relatives, and 
culinary experiences.

Washington, D.C.
• Visitors to Florida from Washington, D.C., have the 

highest average household income ($140,500) 
among the Super Six DMAs.

• One in three of Florida’s visitors from Washington, 
D.C. are Millennials – the greatest share compared to 
the other top six markets.

• The majority of visitors from Washington, D.C. are 
traveling alone. 

Boston 
• Boston is Florida’s sixth-most popular origin market for 

domestic visitors and the third-most popular market for 
domestic air visitors.

• The majority of Florida’s visitors from Boston come in 
the spring and winter.

• 60 percent of Boston’s visitors fly to Florida.

• Among the top six markets, Boston has the longest 
average length of stay at 4.9 nights.

Florida’s Secondary Markets
• Detroit, Dallas, Los Angeles, Birmingham, Cleveland, 

Nashville, Houston, Raleigh and Indianapolis represent 
an additional 15 percent of Florida’s domestic market. 

• These secondary markets experienced an increase in 
share of nearly 1 percent from last year. 

• Nashville had the largest share increase at 0.6 
percentage points and a corresponding volume 
increase of more than 50 percent. 

• Dallas-Fort Worth-Arlington had the largest population 
growth in the U.S. last year. The metropolitan area 
increased by 146,000.



F
L

O
R

ID
A

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

  | 

1717

DEMOGRAPHICS
LIFESTAGE SEGMENTS

Florida’s domestic visitors represent a diverse 

portfolio of generational cohorts, income levels, family 

composition, and ethnicities. Florida tracks visitor 

volume, spending, and other patterns by lifestage 

segmentation. Lifestage categories combine three 

variables (age, household income, and the presence of 

children in the household) to create seven segments that 

are most likely to differentiate visitors.

The most recent data around lifestage segments shows 

highlights and challenges. 

More affluent travelers (household income of $100,000 

and higher) are coming to Florida. The Sunshine State 

also attracts a greater share of the mature audience 

(55 and older) than all other U.S. destinations combined. 

But while families still constitute nearly one-third of 

Florida’s visitor volume, their number declined from 2015 

to 2016. Young families (households with children led by 

parents 18-34 years old) represent an opportunity for 

growing this vital audience segment.

Lifestage Defintions

Young & Free (18-34; any income; no kids)

Young Family (18-34; any income; kids in HH)

Maturing & Free (35-54; any income; no kids)

Moderate Family (35-54; <$75K; kids in HH)

Affluent Family (35-54; $75K+; kids in HH)

Moderate Mature (55 or older; <$100K; no kids)

Affluent Mature (55 or older; $100K+; no kids)

LIFESTAGE SEGMENT COMPOSITION
This chart shows the share of domestic visitors to Florida by lifestage. 

COMPARISON OF U.S. AND FLORIDA TRAVELERS
This chart shows the share of U.S. travelers by lifestage compared to the share of Florida’s visitors by lifestage. 

FloridaU.S.

Source: D.K. Shifflet & Associates

14%

11%

7%

6%

13%

16%

18% 18%

10%

20%

5%

15%

0%
Young 
& Free

Young 
Family

Maturing
& Free

Moderate
Family

Moderate
Mature

Affluent
Mature

Affluent
Family

Source: D.K. Shifflet & Associates

Affluent Mature

16%

Moderate Mature

18%

Affluent Family

16% Moderate Family

6%

Maturing & Free

19%

Young Family

10%

Young & Free

14%

17%

10%

19% 19%

14%

16%



| 
 F

L
O

R
ID

A
 V

IS
IT

O
R

S

18

AGE AND FAMILY COMPOSITION
FOCUS ON FAMILIES   

Non-Family

68%

55+ 
years old

37%

35-54 
years old

39%

18-34 
years old

23%

Family

32%

By Family CompositionBy Age

BABY BOOMERS ON THE RISE

Florida’s visitors span the generations. Boomers and Generation X represent the largest share – nearly 70 percent. 
Given 2016’s substantial rise in visitor volume, Florida gained visitors from each generation, except for Silent/G.I. The 
most notable increase came from Baby Boomers – up 3 percentage points and prompting share shifts elsewhere. For 
example, Millennial and Gen X generations declined in share, but they came to Florida in greater numbers year over 
year. Looking ahead, as Millennials age and start families, volume is expected to rise as more and more travel parties 
include children.

DOMESTIC VISITOR VOLUME 
BY GENERATION

This chart tracks Florida’s visitors by generational cohort over the past five years.

Silent/GI 
(born 1945 or earlier)

Boomers 
(born 1946-1964)

Gen X 
(born 1965-1980)

Millennial 
(born 1981 or after)

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates

20132012 2014 2015 2016

35,000,000

30,000,000

25,000,000

20,000,000

15,000,000

10,000,000

5,000,000

0

GENERATION OF U.S. TRAVELERS 
VS. FLORIDA TRAVELERS

This chart shows the breakout by generation of U.S. travelers  
compared to Florida travelers.

Silent/GI 
(born 1945 or earlier)

Boomers 
(born 1946-1964)

Gen X 
(born 1965-1980)

Millennial 
(born 1981 or after)

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates

0

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

32%

25%

37%

7%

Florida

7%

30%

34%

U.S.

29%

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates

QUICK FACT

The average age of a Florida visitor is 48.5 years 
– and that number increased in 2016.

Florida is recognized globally as a family vacation 
destination. Almost one-third of Florida’s domestic 
visitors have children in the household – a share better 
than all other states. The U.S. Travel Association’s 2017 
Domestic Travel Market report confirms that family 
tourism is increasing, so competition for these travelers 
will remain fierce and marketing campaigns that target 
them will be critically important.

The United States received a greater share of Millennials, 
America’s largest generation. But Florida, which closed 
some of that gap a year earlier, kept pace in 2016. 
Visitors 35-54 years old still represent the largest share 
(39 percent) of Florida’s domestic audience. The 55+ 
segment is close behind at 37 percent and in 2016 
showed the largest year-over-year growth.

While 2016 was a boom year overall for visitor volume, 
the number of family travelers declined by 8 percent. 

There was no trend line to anticipate this performance 
and 2017 was another record year. But rather than wait 
for answers, VISIT FLORIDA saturated the marketplace 
in spring 2018 with a new family campaign and a fresh 
creative approach.
 

DOMESTIC VISITORS BY AGE AND 
FAMILY COMPOSITION

This chart shows that in 2016, Non-Family Lifestages (those with no children in the 
household) made up 68 percent of Florida’s domestic visitors. This chart also shows 
that in 2016, the Mature Lifestages (55 and older) accounted for more than a third of 

Florida’s domestic visitors.



F
L

O
R

ID
A

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

  | 

1919

SEASONALITY – CLOSE THE GAP
KEEPING FLORIDA TOURISM BUSINESSES OPEN ALL YEAR LONG

 
In 2017, occupancy in the busiest month (March) reached a record 84.1 percent. 
Florida’s high season of spring is growing, but more importantly we have seen an 
increase in the fall, Florida’s shoulder season.

During the past seven years, occupancy, average daily room rate, and the number 
of rooms sold have steadily risen, along with a growth in inventory. In 2013, the 
occupancy gap between the high and low seasons was 28 percentage points. Each 
year since, that gap has shrunk. Last year, the difference between the seasons was 
18 points. From 2013 to 2017, March increased by two percentage points and the 
historically low month, September, increased by 12 points. 

Growing the slow season is a critical strategy in sustaining Florida’s record visitor 
volume. More importantly, reducing seasonality gaps would help maintain year-round 
employment and increase cost efficiencies for local businesses.

THE IMPACT OF HURRICANE IRMA

According to a Tourism Economics report on the impact 
of Hurricane Irma, 1.8 million fewer visitors came to 
Florida after Hurricane Irma than were expected based on 
pre-hurricane trends. Lost out-of-state visitor spending in 
the final months of 2017 was estimated at $1.5 billion.

Since September is historically the lowest occupied month 
for Florida, Irma’s impact on visitor statistics was less 
severe compared to a comparable event in March. 

While visitor volume and spending were depressed, 
the hotel industry experienced an increase in room 
demand from displaced Florida residents and emergency 
responders.

SEASONALITY OF FLORIDA’S 
EIGHT VACATION REGIONS
This map shows the seasonal highs and lows for occupancy 

in each of Florida’s vacation regions.

HIGH LOW

Northwest Summer Winter

North Central Fall Winter

Northeast Spring Winter

Central Spring Fall

Central West Spring Fall

Central East Spring Fall

Southwest Spring Fall

Southeast Spring Fall

HIGHEST OCCUPANCY 

MARCH ................84.1%

LOWEST OCCUPANCY 

SEPTEMBER .....66.4%

QUICK FACT

30.0%

25.0%

20.0%

15.0%

10.0%

5.0%

0%

STATE-WIDE OCCUPANCY GAP 
This chart shows the seasonal gap between the peak month (March) and the slowest month (September).

Source: STR, Inc.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

27.6%

24.6%

22.7%

19.5%
17.7%

OVER THE LAST 5 YEARS, 

THE OCCUPANCY GAP HAS 

DECREASED BY NEARLY 

10
PERCENTAGE POINTS 

QUICK FACT



| 
 F

L
O

R
ID

A
 V

IS
IT

O
R

S

20

International visitors are vital to Florida tourism revenue. 
On average, they stay longer and spend almost twice as 
much per person than domestic visitors.

In 2017, 14.2 million international visitors accounted for 
12.2 percent of Florida tourism volume. The most recent 
data shows that international visitors spent $24.7 billion 
in the state which accounts for 22.1 percent of total 
tourism revenue.

INTERNATIONAL MARKET
VISITORS WHO STAY LONGER AND SPEND MORE

Since 2013, the strong dollar and volatile global politics 
have depressed international visitation and United States 
vacation destinations have struggled as a whole. In Florida, 
the numbers are off by 8 percent from their apex. But in 
2017, one of the most important international markets – 
Canada – was up.

Perspective is valuable. During these past seven years of 
record volume, international and domestic visitors have 
taken turns leading the way.

HERE IS THE CURRENT OUTLOOK FOR SEVERAL KEY INTERNATIONAL MARKETS:

Canada remains Florida’s No. 1 international market, 
but competition from other vacation destinations has 
increased. While the exchange rate has stabilized, the 
lower value of the Canadian dollar will continue to affect 
auto trips. Marketing efforts must address the currency 
exchange reality and counter the possibility of Florida 
fatigue.

British outbound travel is more sensitive to economic 
and political circumstances than Florida’s other European 
feeder markets. British visitation has weakened since 
Brexit and the subsequent decline in the value of the 
pound compared to the U.S. dollar. The higher cost of 
visiting Florida, such as rising hotel and attractions rates, 
will be a challenge. Competitors also are spending more 
in the U.K. travel market. If Florida is to maintain its 
market share, in-country efforts must combat the rising 
cost of travel here and maintain awareness of the Florida 
travel product.

Florida’s top South American markets have great potential 
as long as they remain politically stable and economic 
growth continues as predicted. At their peak, the number of 
Brazilian outbound trips represented less than 5 percent of 
the population. For comparison, consider the U.K., where the 
number of trips and the population were virtually equal. As 
the conditions in Argentina, Brazil and Colombia continue to 
improve, the travel potential of these markets is too large to 
ignore and Florida visitation appears to be rebounding.

German outbound travel tends to be resilient to economic 
swings, making it a reliable source market. The Euro’s value 
versus the dollar is expected to remain stable through 2019 
and growth in wages is forecast to outpace prices, leaving 
Germans more disposable income for travel.

International travel to the U.S. is expected to be slow in the 
coming years, but Germans prioritize vacation travel and 
enjoy 25-30 paid vacation days a year. Florida still could 
realize growth.

INTERNATIONAL VOLUME
(in millions)

This chart shows the five-year trend of international visitation.

2013

16,000,000

14,000,000

14,500,000

15,000,000

15,500,000

2014 2015 2016 2017

*estimate is preliminary and subject to change

15.4
15.3 15.2

14.5
14.2*



F
L

O
R

ID
A

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

  | 

2121

China is the world’s largest outbound travel market and 
getting larger. Trips are more frequent and long-haul travel 
is no longer a once-in-a lifetime occasion. Independent 
travelers, who plan their own vacations without the help of 
a tour operator, accounted for almost all of the increases 
in Chinese travel overseas. That growing segment now 
represents 40 percent of China’s outbound market. 

China is forecast to be the fastest-growing overseas 
source market for U.S. tourism in the coming years. 

Florida’s opportunity lies with those independent travelers 
who are seeking new destinations and experiences beyond 
the traditional gateways in California and New York.

The forecast for Indian travel to the United States is good: 
5 percent growth is expected over the next five years. 
Indian travelers are active visitors and often travel to 
multiple Florida destinations during their trip. Those 
visiting friends or relatives (VFR) are a rich opportunity for 
marketing efforts and destination exploration.

INTERNATIONAL MARKET SNAPSHOT

Canada
• The average trip value of a Canadian  

 travel party is $2,298 while the  
 average trip value among Canadian  
 Families is $2,579 and Matures $2,621.

• Matures represent 43 percent of  

 Canadian visitors to the state.

2013

4.2M

2014

4.0M

2015

3.8M

2016

3.3M

2017

3.5M*

United Kingdom
• The average trip value for a UK  
 travel party is $2,228.

• Florida’s British visitors stay in   
 Florida an average of 12.4 nights.

2013

1.5M

2014

1.6M

2015

1.7M

2016

1.6M

2017

1.4M*

Brazil
• Brazilian travel parties, on average,   
 have a trip value of $3,185.

• Brazilian travelers stay in Florida 
 an average of 10.3 nights.

2013

1.8M

2014

1.6M

2015

1.5M

2016

1.0M

2017

993K*

Germany
• The average trip value for a   
 German travel party is $2,260.

• German travelers stay in Florida  
 an average of 12.7 nights and travel  
 widely throughout the state. 

2013

423K

2014

448K

2015

499K

2016

479K

2017

472K*

China
• The average trip value for a   

 Chinese travel party is $3,687.

• While visiting the U.S., Chinese  
 travelers stay in Florida an   
 average of 14.9 nights.

266K

2013

271K

2014

293K

2015

309K

2016

286K*

2017

Secondary 
Latin America
• The average trip value of an   
 Argentinian travel party is $3,585,  
 while the average for a Colombian  
 travel party is $1,523, and Mexican  
 air travel party is $1,602.

• The average length of stay in Florida  
 among Argentinians is 11.2 nights,  
 Colombians 11.0 nights, and Mexican  
 air visitors 7.6 nights.

Argentina Colombia Mexico

2013

404K

413K

818K

1.6M

2014

594K

430K

724K

1.7M

2015

565K

453K

722K

1.7M

2016

538K

477K

757K

1.8M

2017

528K*

415K*

649K*

1.6M*

*estimate is preliminary and subject to change



| 
 F

L
O

R
ID

A
 V

IS
IT

O
R

S

22

IMPACT OF THE EXCHANGE RATE ON CANADIAN VISITOR VOLUME
This chart shows the historical trend of Canadian visitation and the corresponding effect of the exchange rate.

Source: Conference Board of Canada, Statistics Canada
*estimate is preliminary and subject to change

$1.00

$0.80

$0.60

$0.40

$0.20

$0.00

1.6M

1.7M

1.9M

2.0M
2.1M

2.5M

2.9M

2.6M

3.1M
3.3M

3.6M

4.0M
3.8M

3.3M
3.5M*

2005200420032002 2006 20122007 20132008 20142009 20152010 20162011 2017

Visits to Florida CAD $ (average)

4.2M

Canada is Florida’s most significant international market 

– 3.5 million visitors strong.

At the beginning of Florida’s seven-year run in 2011, 

Canada, Brazil and the United Kingdom were leading 

the charge. When the United States economy and dollar 

rebounded, Canadian visitation suffered — almost three 

years of declines.

The tourism records kept coming for Florida, but 

Canadians had less money to spend here. They were 

looking elsewhere for a vacation. 

Florida benefits from excellent air access to the 

Canadian market, with non-stop service scheduled 

between 39 origin and destination city pairs. 

More than half of these Florida vacationers come from 

two major metros, Toronto and Montreal. They are older 

than the average domestic traveler; 43 percent qualify 

as Boomers.

FLORIDA’S CANADIAN CORE

CANADIAN VISITOR PROFILE

VISIT FLORIDA doubled down with our northern neighbors 

and the investment paid off: Canadian visitation to Florida 

was up 4 percent for 2017.

Further good news: The Conference Board of Canada 

forecasts average annual growth of 3 percent for Canadian 

visits to Florida through 2020.

Let’s take a closer look at this vital market and what Florida 

can do to strengthen this relationship.

Canadians stay in Florida for three weeks on average – 

longer than any other international visitors. Matures (55 

and older) average 35.8 nights and spend $2,621 per visit. 

Canadian families average only 8.8 nights, but they spend 

almost as much ($2,579) during their stay.

Canadians are winter sun seekers. Mature visitation is 

strongest in the first and second quarter of the year; 

families in the first and third quarters. 



F
L

O
R

ID
A

 V
IS

IT
O

R
S

  | 

2323

REPEAT FLORIDA TRAVEL
This chart shows the top reasons Ontario and Quebec travelers 

return to Florida year after year. 

74%Enjoy the warm climate

42%Perfect for rest and 
relaxation

33%Visit family/friends

32%
Easy to get to on 

direct flights

30%

30%

Enjoy visiting 
familiar places

27%Shopping

Quality of beaches

23%
Activities for everyone 

in my party

Source: VISIT FLORIDA Consumer Travel Insights Survey

DESTINATION INTEREST
This chart shows interest among Ontario and Quebec residents in visiting 

specific Florida destinations within the next year.

Orlando/Kissimmee 52%

Miami 47%

Florida Keys & Key West 39%

Fort Lauderdale 38%

Tampa/St. Petersburg/Clearwater 36%

Palm Beach 25%

Fort Myers/Naples/Marco Island 23%

Space Coast (Cape Canaveral, Titusville) 17%

Sarasota/Bradenton/Anna Maria Island 15%

Jacksonville/St. Augustine/Daytona 15%

Treasure Coast (Vero Beach, St. Lucie, Stuart) 12%

Destin/Fort Walton Beach/Panama City Beach 9%

Ocala 6%

Other Florida Destination(s) 7%

Given the proximity and ease of access, Canada remains 

a strong market to deliver repeat travel. Top reasons cited 

for return visits are the warm climate, a perfect place for 

rest and relaxation, visiting friends/family, and the ease of 

accessibility.

DECLINING INTEREST
This chart shows the top reasons Ontario and Quebec travelers are 

not considering a Florida leisure trip within the next year.

47%There are other places 
I’d rather visit

31%U.S. political climate

26%
Have been there 

many times

23%
Exchange rate makes 

it unaffordable

18%Too touristy

18%Travel cost is too high

17%
Safety or security 

concerns

16%
Cost of visiting Florida, 

outweighs value

Source: VISIT FLORIDA Consumer Travel Insights Survey

After 11 consecutive quarters of losses in 

Canadian visitation, 2017 was a good year for 

Florida. But the concerns are still there. The 

exchange rate remains a hurdle to overcome and 

outbound travel from Canada to other countries 

has increased 34 percent in the past five years. 

Further, other U.S. destinations have intensified 

their pursuit of the Canadian traveler.

Several studies have noticed Canadians’ 

gravitation toward new destinations. Almost 

half of Ontario and Quebec travelers who are 

not considering a Florida vacation say they are 

looking at more exotic places. A third of these 

potential visitors are turned off by U.S. politics 

(see chart).

COMPETITIVE CHANGES

FLORIDA DESTINATIONS AND ENCOURAGING TRAVEL

But while this traditional core of Canadian visitors 

remain loyal ambassadors to Florida, as marketers we 

must regularly remind the disinclined what’s new here 

and what they are missing. 



| 
 I

N
S

IG
H

T
S

 &
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
T

IO
N

S

24

IN THIS SECTION

WHAT LIES AHEAD 25 

REINSPIRING VISITORS 25

GLOBAL CLIMATE FOR TRAVEL 25

BLEISURE 26

BUILDING BRAND TRUST 26

OVERTOURISM 27

TRANSFORMATIONAL TRAVEL  27

INSIGHTS &
CONSIDERATIONS



IN
S

IG
H

T
S

 &
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
T

IO
N

S
  | 

2525

REINSPIRING VISITORS

Florida is one of the world’s leading destinations, riding the crest of seven consecutive record years of tourism. 

But will seven become eight? Here are six narratives that will impact VISIT FLORIDA’s ability to drive visitation. 

Florida has been a trusted destination for generations, 

with decades of visitation growth as proof. Vacationers 

can count on brilliant weather, constantly refreshed theme 

parks, gold-standard customer service … the list goes on. 

But now, as younger generations of travelers insist on having 

new experiences, how does a mature destination like ours 

WHAT LIES AHEAD

avoid “Florida Fatigue”? These are two primary reasons 

for not revisiting Florida: Been there, done that; not 

worth my time or money. The emergence of experiential 

travel, where visitors want to be exposed to new cultures 

and expand their worldviews, poses an opportunity for 

Florida to grow its story as a destination.

19%

29%

REASONS FOR NOT REVISITING FLORIDA
This chart shows reasons previous Florida travelers haven’t visited in more than five years.

7%

3%

3%

4%

12%

32%Been there, done that

Not worth the time or money

Budget/No money to travel

Not interested

Weather

Haven’t traveled lately

Distance

Other

Source: VISIT FLORIDA

GLOBAL CLIMATE FOR TRAVEL
International inbound travel to the United States continues 

to be unpredictable.

2017 is forecast to be the best year for global travel in 

this decade, but not to the United States, which received 

1 percent* fewer international visitors (Florida was down 

2 percent*). Currency exchange rates are a factor and 

politics can’t be overlooked.

Among American vacationers, Florida is a distinctive 

destination and is the dominant leader among U.S. travel 

markets. What differentiates Florida domestically – sunshine, 

beaches, theme parks, wildlife, human space flight – should 

work internationally as well.

Florida marketers must become more nimble and 

opportunistic than ever before. Choosing between brand 

development and brand protection will be determined by 

market need. We have seen in 2016 and 2017 the positive 

numbers gained from brand takeovers in the United 

Kingdom and Canada.

International marketing strategies also should be able 

to shift at a moment’s notice in an effort to prioritize 

countries – perhaps even new markets – with the 

potential to deliver the greatest impact.

*estimate is preliminary and subject to change



| 
 I

N
S

IG
H

T
S

 &
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
T

IO
N

S

26

BUILDING BRAND TRUST
As destination marketers, we have little or no control over 

our visitors’ travel experience and, ultimately, how they 

judge our brand. Strategic messaging – immersive imagery, 

transformative stories – is no longer enough. Why? Trust 

in leaders, institutions, brands, celebrities, and advertising 

is at an all-time low. Selling Florida with the hope that 

data-driven audience targets become repeat consumers 

is the black-and-white goal, but those customers want 

more: They want a brand relationship that is more than 

transactional. Brands that act with purpose, embrace 

transparency, and connect with their audiences are gaining 

a loyal following. And those relationships pay off when it 

matters. During Hurricane Irma, jetBlue capped its flights 

leaving Florida at $99 and customers remembered the 

kindness and shared with their friends on social media. 

As one of the top destinations in the world, Florida has 

much to lose if visitors no longer feel connected to our 

brand. Now is the time to think beyond our usual campaign 

messaging and put our brand purpose of brightening the 

lives of all into meaningful action.   

 

BLEISURE
Travel combining business and leisure is on the rise, 

primarily because Millennials see the affordability and 

efficiency of “tacking on” to existing business trips. Top 

reasons include destination excitement, cost factors and 

proximity to the weekend. Nearly half of Millennial workers 

complement their work travel with a little vacation time 

– presenting Florida with a rich opportunity to increase 

overnight visits and incremental spend.

51%

59%

FACTORS FOR BOOKING BLEISURE TRIP
This chart shows the driving factors in deciding to turn a work trip into a bleisure trip.

33%

44%

45%

47%

48%

66%Traveling to an exciting city/location

Additional costs required to extend

How close the trip is to the weekend

How many nights I have to stay for business

I have friends/family in the area

How affordable my hotel is

I can bring friends/family along

An event going on in the area

Source: Expedia Media Solutions

How long it’s been since the last vacation

How nice the hotel is

Travel distance

30%

27%

23%



IN
S

IG
H

T
S

 &
 C

O
N

S
ID

E
R

A
T

IO
N

S
  | 

2727

TRANSFORMATIONAL TRAVEL
The travel writer Pico Iyer says: “We travel, initially, to 

lose ourselves; and we travel, next, to find ourselves.” 

Transformational travel is defined as experiences that 

enable visitors to make meaningful lasting changes in 

their lives and promote personal well-being. It is travel 

motivated and defined by a shift in perspective and a 

deeper communion with nature and culture. Engaging 

with endangered manatees. Yoga retreats. 

Restoring a coral reef. Understanding the cultural and 

family traditions behind that perfect paella. 54 percent 

of travelers say they want a transformative experience 

and more are placing value on this type of travel. Florida 

has stories to tell and experiences to share that will help 

travelers change the way they see the world. 

OVERTOURISM
Prompted by a growing middle class and improved 

accessibility, destinations all over the globe have seen 

record increases in visitors. So much so that many tourism 

hotspots are experiencing a backlash from local residents 

angered by overcrowding and increased demands on 

infrastructure. 

Growth managers must be mindful of these tipping points. 

In Florida, tourism marketers can help by promoting 

lesser known destinations, encouraging travel outside of 

peak seasons, and attracting a balanced traveler mix that 

delivers maximum benefit to local economies.

THE IMPORTANCE OF TRANSFORMATIVE TRAVEL
This chart shows the importance of transformative travel experiences, on a scale of 1-10.

250

200

150

100

50

0

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Source: Skift Survey, 2017

FACTORS OF A TRANSFORMATIONAL EXPERIENCE
405 respondents answer the question: Why was the experience transformational?

FACTORS FOR BOOKING BLEISURE TRIP
This chart shows the driving factors in deciding to turn a work trip into a bleisure trip.

Source: Expedia Media Solutions

I LEARNED
SOMETHING NEW

I DISCOVERED 
MY PASSION

I SOLVED A 
CHALLENGE

43%

11%11%

I GAINED A NEW 
PERSPECTIVE

51%

I HAD A 
REFLECTIVE 

MOMENT

30%

54%

Source: Skift Survey, 2017



| 
 M

A
R

K
E

T
IN

G
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

28

MARKETING
APPROACH

IN THIS SECTION

HITTING THE MARK 29 

MARKETING APPROACH 30

MARKETING TACTICS 32

DEPARTMENT PROJECT PLANS 34



M
A

R
K

E
T

IN
G

 A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

  | 

2929

HITTING THE MARK 
As a mature destination hosting more than 116.5 

million non-resident vacations a year, Florida attracts 

visitors from a wide variety of consumer segments 

and geographic origins. Understanding and effectively 

communicating with these consumers, based on their 

individual preferences, is critical to Florida’s success as 

a tourism destination.

Based on demographic information, historical travel 

data and psychographic insights, VISIT FLORIDA has 

identified three key domestic consumer segments 

that have the potential to drive the greatest visitation 

to Florida: Winter travelers, Families, and Weekend 

Getaway travelers. International efforts will focus on 

Florida’s Foundation markets: Canada, U.K., Brazil, 

Germany, secondary Latin America countries and China.

Insights about these different consumer groups 

inform and shape VISIT FLORIDA’s integrated 

marketing efforts, enabling VISIT FLORIDA to optimize 

messaging, distribution and timing so potential 

travelers experience Florida content when they are 

most receptive to it.

Achieving VISIT FLORIDA’s strategic goals will require 

maximizing resource efficiency, constant program and 

performance monitoring, and optimizing every initiative. 

The opportunities ahead are great, and our success 

is made more likely by aligning the goals and efforts 

of Florida’s tourism industry. The power of a united 

industry is undeniable and offers strategic advantages 

that other competitors will struggle to match.

MARKETING STRATEGIES

01 DRIVE DEMAND Keep Florida top of mind among target audiences

02 INCREASE YIELD 

Stimulate balanced incremental growth that delivers the 
greatest economic impact to Florida through programs that 
focus on:

 • Protecting and growing visitor volume
 • Increase spending
 • Extending length of stay
 • Increase visit frequency and visitor  retention
 • Reducing the gap between seasonal highs and lows
 • Increasing travel to emerging Florida destinations

03  BRAND ENGAGEMENT Identify and engage advocates in promoting the 
Florida brand

04  INDUSTRY ALIGNMENT 
Promote industry alignment and collective impact through 
Partner investment and thought leadership

In fiscal year 2018-19, VISIT FLORIDA will harness our collaborative efforts around four key strategies:



D
O

M
E

S
T

IC
C

A
M

P
A

IG
N

S
IN

T
E

R
N

A
T

IO
N

A
L
 

C
A

M
P
A

IG
N

S

| 
 M

A
R

K
E

T
IN

G
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

30

For planning purposes, below is a high-level overview of VISIT FLORIDA’s FY 18-19 market approach. This plan and the 
tactics that follow are based on VISIT FLORIDA’s FY 18-19 level of funding.
Note: VISIT FLORIDA’s fiscal year begins in July and ends in June the following calendar year.

MARKETING APPROACH

LENGTH OF STAY
This chart shows the number of nights winter visitors stay.

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN

TRAVEL TRADE & MEETINGS

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates

AirplaneNon-Air

1 to 3 nights 4-7 nights 8+ nights

Summer 
38%

Fall
13%

Spring
 35%

Winter 
14%

LODGING TYPE

Paid Accommodation 59%

Hotel 37%

Non-Hotel 22%

Non-Paid Accommodation 41%

GENERATION

Silent/G.I. 10%

Baby Boomer 44%

GenX 27%

Millennial 19%
TRIP PLANNING TIME FRAME

3 weeks or less 15%

1 month 14%

2-3  months 28%

4-5 months 12%

6 months 10%

More than 6 months 21%

SEASONALITY

TRANSPORTATION MODE

Average Length 
of Stay in Nights

2012
4.9

13%

41%

46%

4.6
2013

15%

38%

47%

4.7
2014

13%

40%

47%

4.8
2015

13%

36%

51%

5.0
2016

14%

36%

50%

WINTER VISITOR PROFILE FAMILY PROFILE

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates

FAMILIES

PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD 
WITH CHILDREN IN THE 

FOLLOWING AGE RANGES

Less than 2 years 7%

2 - 5 years 29%

6 - 12 years 51%

13 - 17 years 32%

2012

74%

26%

2013

67%

33%

2014

66%

34%

2015

76%

24%

2016

SATTE

BOSTON TRAVEL 
TRADE EVENT 

TEXAS TRAVEL TRADE EVENT

CAA ROAD SHOW

EXPO MAYORISTAS

INTERNATIONAL INBOUND 
TRAVEL ASSOCIATION (IITA)

OTTAWA TRAVEL SHOW

BEST OF THE BEST 
TRAVEL IMPRESSIONS

INTERNATIONAL LUXURY 
TRAVEL MARKET (ILTM)

TRAVEL PROFESSIONALS 
OF COLOR

CANADA ROAD SHOW

CHINA SALES MISSION
UK SUMMER EVENT 

IPW 

WTM LATAMUGART

72%

FAMILIES

ADVENTURE

WEEKEND GETAWAYS

MEXICO

ITBHOLIDAY WORLD

CONTENT
PUBLIC RELATIONS
PROMOTIONS

ALWAYS ON

WINTER TRAVELERS

CHINA

UNITED KINGDOM UNITED KINGDOM

BRAZIL

BOOT DUSSELDORF

NEW YORK TIMES 
TRAVEL SHOW

GERMANY

28%

CHINA

FLORIDA HUDDLE



M
A

R
K

E
T

IN
G

 A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

  | 

3131

JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

PARTY COMPOSITION

Two Adults 43%

One Adult 43%

Family 10%

Three or More Adults 4%

ATTRACTIONS INTERESTED IN 
VISITING WHILE ON VACATION

Theme parks 62%

Aquariums 59%

Art/history museums 56%

Zoos 54%

Science museums 51%

Amusement parks 47%

Botanical gardens 47%

Space museums 43%

Water parks 42%

TOP ACTIVITIES FOR THE 
ADVENTURE TRAVELER

Hiking 45%

Visiting friends or family 27%

Camping 25%

Road cycling 22%

Skiing/Snowboarding 22%

Visiting historical sites 18%

Mountain biking 16%

Backpacking 15%

Attending local festivals/fairs 14%

PURPOSE OF TRIP

Visit Friend/Relative 32%

Getaway Weekend 28%

General Vacation 21%

Special Event 9%

Other 10%

WEEKEND TRAVELER PROFILE

35 - 49 

25%

65+ 

20%

18 - 34 

27%

50 - 64 

28%

BRAND USA JAPAN & 
SOUTH KOREA MISSION GASTRONOMY BREWERIES

BRAND USA MISSION DESTINO AVIAREPS

JPA

RED COW

SITV

ZOOMER 2018

ATLANTA TRAVEL 
TRADE EVENT

FLORIDA ENCOUNTER

CITM

FESTURIS GRAMADO

WTM

GOVERNOR’S CONFERENCE

LA CITA

WORLD ROUTES

EXPERIENCE

WINTER TRAVELERS

CHINA

UNITED KINGDOM

BRAZIL

Source: D.K Shifflet & Associates Source: MMGY Global, Portrait of American 
Travelers “Those Interested in Visiting Florida”

Source: Adventure Travel Trade Association, 
North American Adventure Travelers

MOTIVATION FOR ADVENTURE TRAVEL

EXPERIENCE AND ADVENTURE PROFILE

Transformation  
23%

Expanded Worldview 
14%

Nature and Discovery  
12%

Learning 
17%

Fun and Thrill 
9%

Connection 
5%

Physical Health 
4%

Unique Experiences 
2%

Meaningful Stories 
3%

Mental Health and Escape 
10%

AGE OF TRAVELER

Source: Adventure Travel Trade Association, 
North American Adventure Travelers



| 
 M

A
R

K
E

T
IN

G
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

32

MARKETING TACTICS

STRATEGY 1: DRIVE DEMAND

STRATEGY 2: INCREASE YIELD

• Create integrated audience campaigns in top domestic markets

• Create co-op programs aligned with VISIT FLORIDA’s overarching marketing objectives

• Develop and sustain marketing partnerships that increase reach and relevance

• Maintain year-round brand presence targeting domestic travelers

• Maintain ongoing search presence (SEO/SEM) 

• Leverage VISIT FLORIDA content for year-round domestic marketing campaigns 

• Align collaborative pitching with press visits and media relations

• Build and sustain relations with global media and social influencers

• Collaborate with DMO partners to pitch stories and host media visits that yield a larger awareness 
 footprint to the state

• Create influencer campaigns to reach social communities in order to promote awareness, engagement 
 and advocacy

• Expand relationships with Meetings media through sponsorships and targeted story pitching

• Develop and maintain relationships with tour operators and travel agents in key North American markets

• Leverage best-in-class partnerships to extend the Florida Meetings message through larger channels

• Coordinate promotions in key global markets to maintain high-level Florida brand awareness

• Create integrated campaigns in top international markets

• Execute trade media and consumer media relations at international events

• Develop and maintain relationships with tour operators and travel agents in key international markets

• Coordinate international trade FAMs throughout the year for key markets

• Develop educational programming for travel trade

• Build relationships with influential global product managers

• Increase relevance of VISIT FLORIDA-owned and –operated events such as Florida Huddle and 
 Florida Encounter

• Develop and maintain relationships with airlines and airports to support route development

• Build relationships with top meeting planners to connect them to Florida Partners

• Coordinate promotions featuring unique experiences, less traveled destinations and multi-destination 
 prize packages

• Develop and distribute content promoting lesser known destinations and experiences

• Leverage expertise of Welcome Center staff to educate and serve Florida visitors



M
A

R
K

E
T

IN
G

 A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

  | 

3333

STRATEGY 3: BRAND ENGAGEMENT

STRATEGY 4: INDUSTRY ALIGNMENT

• Engage with and educate Partners through marketing consultations and sales calls

• Continually promote VISIT FLORIDA programs and partnership opportunities through social channels, 
direct mail campaigns and in-person events

• Enhance Partner benefits platform to provide more exclusive opportunities for VISIT FLORIDA 
 Marketing Partners

• Develop programs and webinars that deliver education/thought leadership to the industry

• Invest in developing tools and resources that drive Partner retention and demonstrate value of participation

• Award advertising matching grants to promote Florida tourism

• Increase the value of co-op to Partners by developing year-round, non-traditional and bundled packages

• Create, manage and distribute corporate messaging to improve alignment with the Florida Tourism Industry

• Manage all crisis communication efforts and provide industry direction and support as needed.

• Facilitate international co-op opportunities for Partners, leveraging the Florida Brand

• Continue investment in the Air Team Florida program

• Create unique Partner opportunities at trade shows and signature events

• Build relationships with the Florida Tourism Industry through promotional Partner tours

• Promote a statewide customer service training and certification program for Welcome Center partners

• Produce Welcome Center takeover events throughout the year

• Promote engagement with #LoveFL across different audiences and passions

• Leverage social conversations to build brand engagement and advocacy

• Develop opportunities to connect with Florida visitors while they are traveling

• Foster social conversations related to Florida travel experiences



| 
 M

A
R

K
E

T
IN

G
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

34

• Florida consumer brand evolution and re-launch

• Planning and execution of six different integrated consumer 
 audience campaigns

• Ongoing focus and growth of Share a Little Sunshine, Florida’s 
 advocate community

• Develop an integrated campaign strategy to further strengthen 
 Florida’s market share of Canadian visitors

• Publish 150 new stories on VISITFLORIDA.com

• Improve search ranking for Florida content

• Develop content to augment six different integrated consumer 
 audience campaigns

• Execute a year-round content co-op plan

• Evolve our website functionality to better serve potential visitors 
 and Partners

• Florida Encounter event refresh

• Florida Huddle event refresh

• Develop and manage core VISIT FLORIDA events: Florida Governor’s 
Conference on Tourism, Florida Tourism Leadership Summit, Florida 
Encounter, Florida Huddle, Florida Tourism Day, and the VISIT FLORIDA 
Board of Director’s Meetings

• Improve attendee recruitment process for all corporate trade 
 show events

• Improve data collection process and ROI assessment

BRAND

CONTENT

CORPORATE
MEETINGS

DEPARTMENT PROJECT PLANS



M
A

R
K

E
T

IN
G

 A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

  | 

3535

• Build a better and more effective cooperative marketing model 
 and program

• Build out a “full-service” VISIT FLORIDA regional team

• Partner benefits refresh

• Develop a Partner Participation Report

• Improve e-newsletters and the Partner subscription process

• Annual Partner enrollment campaign

• Plan and purchase media for six different integrated consumer 
 audience campaigns

• Develop ongoing co-op opportunities for Partners aligned with 
audience campaigns

• Plan and purchase media for nine international audience campaigns

• Optimize and expand Search presence

• Improve media performance tracking to enhance future media 
 mix design

INDUSTRY
RELATIONS &
SALES

MEDIA 

• UK Integrated Marketing Campaign

• Brazil Integrated Marketing Campaign

• Germany Integrated Marketing Campaign

• China Integrated Marketing Campaign

• AirTeam Florida Expansion

• Build and market a new Florida E-Learning program

INTERNATIONAL



| 
 M

A
R

K
E

T
IN

G
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

36

RESEARCH

DEPARTMENT PROJECT PLANS

• Conduct a minimum of 8 regionally-focused group familiarization 
 tours and 55 individual media familiarization tours

• Develop public relations initiatives to enhance six domestic 
 integrated consumer audience campaigns

• Develop public relations initiatives to enhance four international 
 integrated marketing campaigns

• Improve VISIT FLORIDA’s media relationship development process 
 to deepen connections with trade and consumer journalists

• Coordinate promotions in 15 key global markets

• Conduct sales calls for relationship-building in six key global markets

• Execute promotions totaling $85M in media value

PROMOTIONS

PUBLIC 
RELATIONS

• Launch qualitative and behavioral consumer research studies

• In-depth customized Florida research study for each international market

• Evolve the marketing effectiveness study

• Florida brand evolution and re-launch testing 

• Develop interactive dashboards to monitor economic and 
 travel trends

• Deepen VISIT FLORIDA’s ability to track ROI for consumer 
 audience campaigns



M
A

R
K

E
T

IN
G

 A
P

P
R

O
A

C
H

  | 

3737

TRAVEL 
TRADE

• Complete I-95 Florida Welcome Center renovations

• Produce and market the Certified Visitor Information Seminar

• Plan and produce 12 Welcome Center Takeovers

• Execute four consumer on-site trade shows

• Install photo kiosks for visitors in the lobby during high visitation periods

VISITOR 
SERVICES

• Increase engagement with potential visitors across the globe

• Improved integration of social listening data to influence day-to-day 
social engagement and long-term audience planning

• Execute 25 social media influencer campaigns across the calendar year

• Develop an industry-wide editorial calendar to better align Florida’s 
social conversations

• Launch and maintain a social media presence across key channels 
 in China

SOCIAL

• Re-establish relationships with travel agents in Atlanta, Boston and 
Dallas through sales roadshows

• IPW & IITA Travel Trade Shows

• European Travel Trade Shows: WTM London, ITB, UK Summer Event

• LATAM Travel Trade Shows: WTM Latin America, JPA, La Cita, Mice 
Event, ILTM-Travelweek, Festuris Gramado, UGART, Expo Mayoristas

• Asian Travel Trade Shows: World Routes, ILTM Asia Pacific, CITM, 
SATTE

• Develop and execute a campaign to promote Florida’s new 
 E-Learning initative



The O�cial Tourism Marketing Corporation for the State of Florida



STRATEGIC 
PLAN

2020

The Official Tourism Marketing Corporation for the State of Florida

2540 W. Executive Center Circle, Suite 200

Tallahassee, FL 32301

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   1-2 1/13/16   3:14 PM



HOW? 

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   5 1/13/16   3:14 PM

ONE OF THE TOP
DESTINATIONS 
IN THE WORLD. 
WE WANT TO MAKE SURE WE STAY ON TOP. 

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   4 1/13/16   3:14 PM

FLORIDA IS

ONE OF THE TOP
DESTINATIONS 
IN THE WORLD. 
WE WANT TO MAKE SURE WE STAY ON TOP. 

- Protecting and growing visitor volume

- Increasing visitor spending

- Extending length of stay

- Increasing visit frequency and visitor retention

- Reducing the gap between seasonal highs and lows

- Increasing travel to emerging Florida destinations

STIMULATE BALANCED INCREMENTAL 
GROWTH THAT DELIVERS THE  
GREATEST ECONOMIC IMPACT TO 
FLORIDA THROUGH PROGRAMS  
THAT FOCUS ON:

KEEP FLORIDA TOP-OF-MIND 
AMONG TARGET AUDIENCES.

IDENTIFY AND ENGAGE ADVOCATES  
IN PROMOTING THE FLORIDA BRAND. 

PROMOTE INDUSTRY ALIGNMENT  
AND COLLECTIVE IMPACT THROUGH 
PARTNER INVESTMENT AND THOUGHT 
LEADERSHIP.

MARKETING STRATEGIES

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   3-4 1/13/16   3:14 PM



HOW? 

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   5 1/13/16   3:14 PM

BY CHALLENGING OURSELVES 

TO THINK BIGGER, TO BECOME  

MASTERS OF INNOVATION,  

AND TO ESTABLISH NEW  

INDUSTRY STANDARDS.

BY CONNECTING FLORIDA 

STORIES WITH TRAVELERS

WHEREVER THEY ARE, WHENEVER 

THEY WANT IT, ON ANY DEVICE.

BY LEADING BY EXAMPLE

WITH STRATEGIC ACTION  

AND ALIGNING THE INDUSTRY  

TO ACHIEVE THE GREATEST  

GOOD FOR FLORIDA.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   6 1/13/16   3:14 PM



VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   7 1/13/16   3:14 PM

One of the most powerful sentences  

in any language is, “I’m on vacation.”  

Everyday, millions of people experience  

that joy in Florida—the world’s greatest  

travel destination. Even more people  

dream about it. At VISIT FLORIDA,  

and through our Partners in the tourism  

industry, we appreciate the great  

responsibility and privilege of helping  

travelers realize a dream:

 “I’M ON  
VACATION.  
I’M IN  
FLORIDA.”

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   8 1/13/16   3:14 PM



WE HAVE PURPOSE. 
WE HAVE A VISION. 

WE HAVE A CLEAR MISSION.
WE HAVE A SINGULAR GOAL. 

WE HAVE A DEFINED OBJECTIVE.

This book will be our guide 

INTO THE FUTURE

FOCUSED ON WHAT IS MOST IMPORTANT.
AND OUR VALUES ENSURE THAT WE REMAIN 

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   9 1/13/16   3:14 PM

WE HAVE PURPOSE. 
WE HAVE A VISION. 

WE HAVE A CLEAR MISSION.
WE HAVE A SINGULAR GOAL. 

WE HAVE A DEFINED OBJECTIVE.

FOCUSED ON WHAT IS MOST IMPORTANT.
AND OUR VALUES ENSURE THAT WE REMAIN 

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   10 1/13/16   3:14 PM



SHINE.
TOGETHER, IT’S OUR TIME TO

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   11 1/13/16   3:14 PM

SHINE.
TOGETHER, IT’S OUR TIME TO

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   12 1/13/16   3:14 PM



BRIGHTEN
THE LIVES OF ALL.

OUR PURPOSE IS TO

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   13 1/13/16   3:14 PM

BRIGHTEN
THE LIVES OF ALL.

OUR PURPOSE IS TO

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   14 1/13/16   3:14 PM



OUR VISION IS TO ESTABLISH FLORIDA AS

THE NO. 1
TRAVEL DESTINATION

IN THE WORLD.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   15 1/13/16   3:14 PM

WE ARE ON A MISSION TO

STRENGTHEN FLORIDA’S 
SHARE OF THE GLOBAL  

TRAVEL MARKET.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   16 1/13/16   3:14 PM



WE ARE FOCUSED ON A SINGULAR GOAL TO 

MAXIMIZE THE  
ECONOMIC IMPACT  

OF TRAVEL AND  
TOURISM TO FLORIDA.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   17 1/13/16   3:14 PM

OUR OBJECTIVE IS CLEAR; 

GENERATE $100 BILLION 
IN TOURISM-RELATED 

SPEND BY 2020.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   18 1/13/16   3:14 PM



They serve as the foundation for our team and how 

we do business. They guide our actions and inspire us 

to be better every day.  

DIRECTION FOR  
OUR FUTURE PLANS.

OUR VALUES PROVIDE THE

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   19 1/13/16   3:14 PM

DIRECTION FOR  
OUR FUTURE PLANS.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   20 1/13/16   3:14 PM



VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   21 1/13/16   3:14 PM

MAKE AN IMPACT.
Impact is not a derivative of luck but a product of 

informed decisions, deliberate actions and measurable  

outcomes. We are results-focused and believe that 

every single day is full of opportunities to achieve 

positive change. We ask ourselves: How can I add 

value to my team, the Industry and the world? 

WE WILL

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   22 1/13/16   3:14 PM



VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   23 1/13/16   3:14 PM

WORK PURPOSEFULLY 
AND LIVE PASSIONATELY.
We will be excellent in our jobs. And we will have fun in  

the process. We will take initiative and act with integrity.  

To be our best selves requires dedicated time for work  

and play. Our “office” is the No. 1 destination in the world.  

We promote it. And explore it. 

WE WILL

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   24 1/13/16   3:14 PM



VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   25 1/13/16   3:14 PM

INNOVATE.
Innovation is born through challenging the status quo.  

We are committed to nurturing ideas, embracing change, 

and building a culture that encourages our team to be  

daring. If we stumble, we will learn from the experience  

and improve. 

WE WILL

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   26 1/13/16   3:14 PM



VISION

MISSION

GOAL

OBJECTIVE

Brighten the lives of all.

Establish Florida as the No. 1 travel destination in the world.

Strengthen Florida’s share of the global travel market.

Maximize the economic impact of travel and tourism to Florida.

$100 billion in tourism-related spend by 2020.

VALUES

STRATEGIC PLAN

PURPOSE

MAKE AN 
IMPACT.

INNOVATE.

WORK PURPOSEFULLY 
AND LIVE PASSIONATELY.

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   27 1/13/16   3:14 PM

FLORIDA IS

ONE OF THE TOP
DESTINATIONS 
IN THE WORLD. 
WE WANT TO MAKE SURE WE STAY ON TOP. 

- Protecting and growing visitor volume

- Increasing visitor spending

- Extending length of stay

- Increasing visit frequency and visitor retention

- Reducing the gap between seasonal highs and lows

- Increasing travel to emerging Florida destinations

STIMULATE BALANCED INCREMENTAL 
GROWTH THAT DELIVERS THE  
GREATEST ECONOMIC IMPACT TO 
FLORIDA THROUGH PROGRAMS  
THAT FOCUS ON:

KEEP FLORIDA TOP-OF-MIND 
AMONG TARGET AUDIENCES.

IDENTIFY AND ENGAGE ADVOCATES  
IN PROMOTING THE FLORIDA BRAND. 

PROMOTE INDUSTRY ALIGNMENT  
AND COLLECTIVE IMPACT THROUGH 
PARTNER INVESTMENT AND THOUGHT 
LEADERSHIP.

MARKETING STRATEGIES

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   3-4 1/13/16   3:14 PM



STRATEGIC 
PLAN

2020

The Official Tourism Marketing Corporation for the State of Florida

2540 W. Executive Center Circle, Suite 200

Tallahassee, FL 32301

VF-Values-StrategicPlan.indd   1-2 1/13/16   3:14 PM

























Check
if
self-employed

OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

Check if
applicable:

Address
change
Name
change
Initial
return

Final
return/
termin-
ated Gross receipts $

Amended
return
Applica-
tion
pending

Are all subordinates included? 

632001  11-11-16

Beginning of Current Year

Paid

Preparer

Use Only

Under section 501(c), 527, or 4947(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code (except private foundations)

|  Do not enter social security numbers on this form as it may be made public. Open to Public 
Inspection|  Information about Form 990 and its instructions is at 

A For the 2016 calendar year, or tax year beginning and ending

B C D Employer identification number

E

G

H(a)

H(b)

H(c)

F Yes No

Yes No

I

J

K

Website: |

L M

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

3

4

5

6

7a

7b

a

b

A
c

ti
vi

ti
e

s
 &

 G
o

ve
rn

a
n

c
e

Prior Year Current Year

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

R
e

ve
n

u
e

a

b

E
x
p

e
n

s
e

s

End of Year

20

21

22

Sign

Here

Yes No

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the separate instructions.  

(or P.O. box if mail is not delivered to street address) Room/suite

)501(c)(3) 501(c) ( (insert no.) 4947(a)(1) or 527

 |Corporation Trust Association OtherForm of organization: Year of formation: State of legal domicile:

 |

 |

N
et

 A
ss

et
s 

or
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
s

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this return, including accompanying schedules and statements, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is

true, correct, and complete. Declaration of preparer (other than officer) is based on all information of which preparer has any knowledge.

Signature of officer Date

Type or print name and title

Date PTINPrint/Type preparer's name Preparer's signature

Firm's name Firm's EIN

Firm's address

Phone no.

 

Form

Name of organization

Doing business as

Number and street Telephone number

City or town, state or province, country, and ZIP or foreign postal code

Is this a group return 

for subordinates?Name and address of principal officer: ~~

If "No," attach a list. (see instructions)

Group exemption number  |

Tax-exempt status:

Briefly describe the organization's mission or most significant activities:

Check this box if the organization discontinued its operations or disposed of more than 25%  of its net assets.

Number of voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1a)

Number of independent voting members of the governing body (Part VI, line 1b)

Total number of individuals employed in calendar year 2016 (Part V, line 2a)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total number of volunteers (estimate if necessary)

Total unrelated business revenue from Part VIII, column (C), line 12

Net unrelated business taxable income from Form 990-T, line 34

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

����������������������

Contributions and grants (Part VIII, line 1h) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Program service revenue (Part VIII, line 2g) ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~Investment income (Part VIII, column (A), lines 3, 4, and 7d)

Other revenue (Part VIII, column (A), lines 5, 6d, 8c, 9c, 10c, and 11e) ~~~~~~~~

Total revenue - add lines 8 through 11 (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12) ���

Grants and similar amounts paid (Part IX, column (A), lines 1-3)

Benefits paid to or for members (Part IX, column (A), line 4)

Salaries, other compensation, employee benefits (Part IX, column (A), lines 5-10)

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~

Professional fundraising fees (Part IX, column (A), line 11e)

Total fundraising expenses (Part IX, column (D), line 25)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other expenses (Part IX, column (A), lines 11a-11d, 11f-24e)

Total expenses. Add lines 13-17 (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 18 from line 12

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~

����������������

Total assets (Part X, line 16)

Total liabilities (Part X, line 26)

Net assets or fund balances. Subtract line 21 from line 20

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

��������������

May the IRS discuss this return with the preparer shown above? (see instructions) ���������������������

LHA Form (2016)

www.irs.gov/form990.

Part I Summary

Signature BlockPart II

990

Return of Organization Exempt From Income Tax990 2016

§

=
=

999

JUL 1, 2016 JUN 30, 2017

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC.

VISIT FLORIDA 59-3359293

2540 W. EXECUTIVE CENTER CIR 200 (850)488-5607
111,419,024.

TALLAHASSEE, FL  32301-5015
CYNTHIA HEFREN X

SAME AS C ABOVE
X 6

WWW.VISITFLORIDA.ORG, WWW.VISITFLORIDA.COM
X 1995 FL

TO STRENGTHEN FLORIDA'S SHARE OF
THE GLOBAL TRAVEL MARKET WITH THE GOAL OF MAXIMIZING ECONOMIC IMPACT

29
29

148
30

390,498.
0.

76,000,000. 78,499,784.
33,215,739. 32,112,409.

42,492. 40,218.
248,868. 740,113.

109,507,099. 111,392,524.
4,344,287. 6,318,084.

0. 0.
12,680,771. 12,419,217.

0. 0.
0.

90,844,128. 88,685,379.
107,869,186. 107,422,680.
1,637,913. 3,969,844.

38,017,210. 45,293,952.
18,982,908. 22,289,806.
19,034,302. 23,004,146.

CYNTHIA HEFREN, CFO

MICHAEL C CARTER P00292302
CARR, RIGGS & INGRAM, LLC 72-1396621
2633 CENTENNIAL BLVD., SUITE 200
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32308 (850) 878-8777

X

SEE SCHEDULE O FOR ORGANIZATION MISSION STATEMENT CONTINUATION



Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Code: Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

Expenses $ including grants of $ Revenue $

632002  11-11-16

 

1

2

3

4

Yes No

Yes No

4a

4b

4c

4d

4e

 

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part III ����������������������������

Briefly describe the organization's mission:

Did the organization undertake any significant program services during the year which were not listed on the

prior Form 990 or 990-EZ?

If "Yes," describe these new services on Schedule O.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization cease conducting, or make significant changes in how it conducts, any program services?

If "Yes," describe these changes on Schedule O.

~~~~~~

Describe the organization's program service accomplishments for each of its three largest program services, as measured by expenses.

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations are required to report the amount of grants and allocations to others, the total expenses, and

revenue, if any, for each program service reported.

( ) ( ) ( )

( ) ( ) ( )

( ) ( ) ( )

Other program services (Describe in Schedule O.)

( ) ( )

Total program service expenses |

Form (2016)

2
Statement of Program Service AccomplishmentsPart III

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

TO STRENGTHEN FLORIDA'S SHARE OF THE GLOBAL TRAVEL MARKET WITH THE
GOAL OF MAXIMIZING ECONOMIC IMPACT OF TRAVEL AND TOURISM TO FLORIDA
WITH THE GOAL OF $100 BILLION IN TOURISM BY 2020.

X

X

ADVERTISING - VISIT FLORIDA CONDUCTS MULTI-CHANNEL MARKETING
INITIATIVES TO REACH POTENTIAL VISITORS AND DRIVE VISITATION FROM
TRAVELERS ALL ACROSS THE UNITED STATES AND INTERNATIONALLY. THESE
INITIATIVES ARE MAINLY INTEGRATED MARKETING CAMPAIGNS THAT CONSIST OF
ADVERTISING, PUBLIC RELATIONS, CONTENT DEVELOPMENT AND DISTRIBUTION,
SPONSORSHIP, DIGITAL MARKETING AND SOCIAL MEDIA.

ADVERTISING IMPACT: TOURISM WAS RESPONSIBLE FOR WELCOMING 116.5 MILLION
VISITORS IN 2017, WHICH MAKES THE INDUSTRY ONE OF THE LEADING TAX
REVENUE AND JOBS PRODUCERS IN FLORIDA. BASED ON THE LATEST ECONOMIC
IMPACT STUDY, FLORIDA VISITORS SPENT $112 BILLION IN 2016, GENERATING
$11.6 BILLION IN STATE AND LOCAL TAXES AND SUPPORTING 1.4 MILLION

COOPERATIVE PROMOTIONAL PROGRAMS: VISIT FLORIDA ASSISTS INTERESTED
PARTIES IN ORGANIZING FLORIDA PROMOTIONAL PACKAGES. IN RETURN FOR VISIT
FLORIDA'S ASSISTANCE, VISIT FLORIDA AND OTHER PARTICIPANTS RECEIVE
COMPLIMENTARY ADVERTISING IN VARIOUS PRINT, TELEVISION, DIGITAL AND
RADIO MEDIA USED IN PROMOTING THE PACKAGE.

TRADE SHOWS: VISIT FLORIDA HOSTS THE ANNUAL GOVERNOR'S CONFERENCE ON
TOURISM. THE CONFERENCE OUTLINES THE MARKETING PLAN, PROVIDES
EDUCATIONAL SPEAKERS, VENDORS AND NETWORKING OPPORTUNITIES. VISIT
FLORIDA HOSTS FLORIDA ENCOUNTER, AN APPOINTMENT-BASED SHOW WHERE
MEETING PROFESSIONALS MEET WITH FLORIDA SUPPLIERS.  VISIT FLORIDA HOSTS
FLORIDA HUDDLE, ANOTHER APPOINTMENT-BASED SHOW WHERE TOUR OPERATORS
FROM ACROSS THE STATE MEET WITH DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL BUYERS. IN
ADDITION TO THESE VISIT FLORIDA-OWNED TRADE SHOWS, THE MARKETING AND
EVENTS DEPARTMENT WORKS CLOSELY WITH KEY TRAVEL AGENTS, TOUR OPERATORS
AND MEETING PROFESSIONALS TO KEEP FLORIDA IN THE DESTINATION FOREFRONT.
THEY ALSO ORGANIZE EDUCATIONAL SEMINARS, RESERVATION TRAINING,
FAMILIARIZATION TOURS, TRADE SHOWS AND CONSUMER SHOWS AND INVITE THE

SEE SCHEDULE O FOR CONTINUATION(S)

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 2



632003  11-11-16

 

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Section 501(c)(3) organizations.

a

b

c

d

e

f

a

b

11a

11b

11c

11d

11e

11f

12a

12b

13

14a

14b

15

16

17

18

19

a

b

If "Yes," complete Schedule A
Schedule B, Schedule of Contributors

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule C, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part II
If "Yes," complete

Schedule D, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part V

If "Yes," complete Schedule D,
Part VI

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VII

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part VIII

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part IX
If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X

If "Yes," complete Schedule D, Part X
If "Yes," complete

Schedule D, Parts XI and XII

If "Yes," and if the organization answered "No" to line 12a, then completing Schedule D, Parts XI and XII is optional
If "Yes," complete Schedule E

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts I and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts II and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule F, Parts III and IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part I

If "Yes," complete Schedule G, Part II
If "Yes,"

complete Schedule G, Part III

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Is the organization described in section 501(c)(3) or 4947(a)(1) (other than a private foundation)?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is the organization required to complete ?

Did the organization engage in direct or indirect political campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to candidates for

public office? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

 Did the organization engage in lobbying activities, or have a section 501(h) election in effect

during the tax year? 

Is the organization a section 501(c)(4), 501(c)(5), or 501(c)(6) organization that receives membership dues, assessments, or

similar amounts as defined in Revenue Procedure 98-19? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization maintain any donor advised funds or any similar funds or accounts for which donors have the right to

provide advice on the distribution or investment of amounts in such funds or accounts? 

Did the organization receive or hold a conservation easement, including easements to preserve open space,

the environment, historic land areas, or historic structures? 

Did the organization maintain collections of works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount in Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability, serve as a custodian for

amounts not listed in Part X; or provide credit counseling, debt management, credit repair, or debt negotiation services?

Did the organization, directly or through a related organization, hold assets in temporarily restricted endowments, permanent

endowments, or quasi-endowments? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If the organization's answer to any of the following questions is "Yes," then complete Schedule D, Parts VI, VII, VIII, IX, or X

as applicable.

Did the organization report an amount for land, buildings, and equipment in Part X, line 10? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount for investments - other securities in Part X, line 12 that is 5%  or more of its total

assets reported in Part X, line 16? 

Did the organization report an amount for investments - program related in Part X, line 13 that is 5%  or more of its total

assets reported in Part X, line 16? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report an amount for other assets in Part X, line 15 that is 5%  or more of its total assets reported in

Part X, line 16? 

Did the organization report an amount for other liabilities in Part X, line 25? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did the organization's separate or consolidated financial statements for the tax year include a footnote that addresses

the organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740)? 

Did the organization obtain separate, independent audited financial statements for the tax year? 

~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Was the organization included in consolidated, independent audited financial statements for the tax year?

~~~~~

Is the organization a school described in section 170(b)(1)(A)(ii)? 

Did the organization maintain an office, employees, or agents outside of the United States?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have aggregate revenues or expenses of more than $10,000 from grantmaking, fundraising, business,

investment, and program service activities outside the United States, or aggregate foreign investments valued at $100,000

or more? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for any

foreign organization? 

Did the organization report on Part IX, column (A), line 3, more than $5,000 of aggregate grants or other assistance to 

or for foreign individuals? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report a total of more than $15,000 of expenses for professional fundraising services on Part IX,

column (A), lines 6 and 11e? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $15,000 total of fundraising event gross income and contributions on Part VIII, lines

1c and 8a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $15,000 of gross income from gaming activities on Part VIII, line 9a? 

�����������������������������������������������

Form  (2016)

3
Part IV Checklist of Required Schedules

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 3



632004  11-11-16

 

Yes No

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

a

b

20a

20b

21

22

23

24a

24b

24c

24d

25a

25b

26

27

28a

28b

28c

29

30

31

32

33

34

35a

35b

36

37

38

a

b

c

d

a

b

Section 501(c)(3),  501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations. 

a

b

c

a

b

Section 501(c)(3) organizations. 

Note. 

(continued)

If "Yes," complete Schedule H

If "Yes," complete Schedule I, Parts I and II

If "Yes," complete Schedule I, Parts I and III

If "Yes," complete
Schedule J

If "Yes," answer lines 24b through 24d and complete
Schedule K. If "No", go to line 25a

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part I

If "Yes," complete
Schedule L, Part I

 If "Yes,"
complete Schedule L, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part III

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV
If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV

If "Yes," complete Schedule L, Part IV
If "Yes," complete Schedule M

If "Yes," complete Schedule M

If "Yes," complete Schedule N, Part I
If "Yes," complete

Schedule N, Part II

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part I
If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part II, III, or IV, and 

Part V, line 1

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part V, line 2

If "Yes," complete Schedule R, Part VI

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Did the organization operate one or more hospital facilities? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" to line 20a, did the organization attach a copy of its audited financial statements to this return? ~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to any domestic organization or

domestic government on Part IX, column (A), line 1? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report more than $5,000 of grants or other assistance to or for domestic individuals on

Part IX, column (A), line 2?  ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization answer "Yes" to Part VII, Section A, line 3, 4, or 5 about compensation of the organization's current

and former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a tax-exempt bond issue with an outstanding principal amount of more than $100,000 as of the

last day of the year, that was issued after December 31, 2002? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization invest any proceeds of tax-exempt bonds beyond a temporary period exception?

Did the organization maintain an escrow account other than a refunding escrow at any time during the year to defease

any tax-exempt bonds?

Did the organization act as an "on behalf of" issuer for bonds outstanding at any time during the year?

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization engage in an excess benefit

transaction with a disqualified person during the year? 

Is the organization aware that it engaged in an excess benefit transaction with a disqualified person in a prior year, and

that the transaction has not been reported on any of the organization's prior Forms 990 or 990-EZ? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization report any amount on Part X, line 5, 6, or 22 for receivables from or payables to any current or

former officers, directors, trustees, key employees, highest compensated employees, or disqualified persons?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization provide a grant or other assistance to an officer, director, trustee, key employee, substantial

contributor or employee thereof, a grant selection committee member, or to a 35%  controlled entity or family member

of any of these persons? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Was the organization a party to a business transaction with one of the following parties (see Schedule L, Part IV

instructions for applicable filing thresholds, conditions, and exceptions):

A current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? ~~~~~~~~~~~

A family member of a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee? 

An entity of which a current or former officer, director, trustee, or key employee (or a family member thereof) was an officer,

director, trustee, or direct or indirect owner? 

~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization receive more than $25,000 in non-cash contributions? 

Did the organization receive contributions of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualified conservation

contributions? 

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization liquidate, terminate, or dissolve and cease operations?

Did the organization sell, exchange, dispose of, or transfer more than 25%  of its net assets? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization own 100%  of an entity disregarded as separate from the organization under Regulations

sections 301.7701-2 and 301.7701-3? 

Was the organization related to any tax-exempt or taxable entity? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a controlled entity within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)?

If "Yes" to line 35a, did the organization receive any payment from or engage in any transaction with a controlled entity

within the meaning of section 512(b)(13)? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization make any transfers to an exempt non-charitable related organization?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization conduct more than 5%  of its activities through an entity that is not a related organization

and that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes? ~~~~~~~~

Did the organization complete Schedule O and provide explanations in Schedule O for Part VI, lines 11b and 19?

All Form 990 filers are required to complete Schedule O �������������������������������

Form  (2016)

4
Part IV Checklist of Required Schedules

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 4



632005  11-11-16

 

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

a

b

c

1a

1b

1c

a

b

2a

Note. 

2b

3a

3b

4a

5a

5b

5c

6a

6b

7a

7b

7c

7e

7f

7g

7h

8

9a

9b

a

b

a

b

a

b

c

a

b

Organizations that may receive deductible contributions under section 170(c).

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

7d

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds. 

Sponsoring organizations maintaining donor advised funds.

a

b

Section 501(c)(7) organizations. 

a

b

10a

10b

Section 501(c)(12) organizations. 

a

b

11a

11b

a

b

Section 4947(a)(1) non-exempt charitable trusts. 12a

12b

Section 501(c)(29) qualified nonprofit health insurance issuers.

Note.

a

b

c

a

b

13a

13b

13c

14a

14b

e-file

If "No," to line 3b, provide an explanation in Schedule O

If "No," provide an explanation in Schedule O

Did the organization receive a payment in excess of $75 made partly as a contribution and partly for goods and services provided to the payor?

Form  (2016)

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part V ���������������������������

Enter the number reported in Box 3 of Form 1096. Enter -0- if not applicable ~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the number of Forms W-2G included in line 1a. Enter -0- if not applicable ~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization comply with backup withholding rules for reportable payments to vendors and reportable gaming

(gambling) winnings to prize winners? �������������������������������������������

Enter the number of employees reported on Form W-3, Transmittal of Wage and Tax Statements,

filed for the calendar year ending with or within the year covered by this return ~~~~~~~~~~

If at least one is reported on line 2a, did the organization file all required federal employment tax returns?

If the sum of lines 1a and 2a is greater than 250, you may be required to  (see instructions)

~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have unrelated business gross income of $1,000 or more during the year?

If "Yes," has it filed a Form 990-T for this year? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

At any time during the calendar year, did the organization have an interest in, or a signature or other authority over, a

financial account in a foreign country (such as a bank account, securities account, or other financial account)?~~~~~~~

If "Yes," enter the name of the foreign country:

See instructions for filing requirements for FinCEN Form 114, Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR).

Was the organization a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction at any time during the tax year?

Did any taxable party notify the organization that it was or is a party to a prohibited tax shelter transaction?

~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," to line 5a or 5b, did the organization file Form 8886-T? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Does the organization have annual gross receipts that are normally greater than $100,000, and did the organization solicit

any contributions that were not tax deductible as charitable contributions?

If "Yes," did the organization include with every solicitation an express statement that such contributions or gifts

were not tax deductible?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization notify the donor of the value of the goods or services provided?

Did the organization sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of tangible personal property for which it was required

to file Form 8282?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

����������������������������������������������������

If "Yes," indicate the number of Forms 8282 filed during the year

Did the organization receive any funds, directly or indirectly, to pay premiums on a personal benefit contract?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~Did the organization, during the year, pay premiums, directly or indirectly, on a personal benefit contract?

If the organization received a contribution of qualified intellectual property, did the organization file Form 8899 as required?

If the organization received a contribution of cars, boats, airplanes, or other vehicles, did the organization file a Form 1098-C?

~

Did a donor advised fund maintained by the 

sponsoring organization have excess business holdings at any time during the year? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the sponsoring organization make any taxable distributions under section 4966?

Did the sponsoring organization make a distribution to a donor, donor advisor, or related person?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter:

Initiation fees and capital contributions included on Part VIII, line 12

Gross receipts, included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, for public use of club facilities

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Enter:

Gross income from members or shareholders

Gross income from other sources (Do not net amounts due or paid to other sources against

amounts due or received from them.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is the organization filing Form 990 in lieu of Form 1041?

If "Yes," enter the amount of tax-exempt interest received or accrued during the year ������

Is the organization licensed to issue qualified health plans in more than one state?

 See the instructions for additional information the organization must report on Schedule O.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the amount of reserves the organization is required to maintain by the states in which the

organization is licensed to issue qualified health plans

Enter the amount of reserves on hand

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization receive any payments for indoor tanning services during the tax year?

If "Yes," has it filed a Form 720 to report these payments? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

����������

5
Part V Statements Regarding Other IRS Filings and Tax Compliance

990

J

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

265
0

X

148
X

X
X

X

X
X

X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 5



632006  11-11-16  

Yes No

1a

1b

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

a

b

2

3

4

5

6

7a

7b

8a

8b

9

a

b

a

b

Yes No

10

11

a

b

10a

10b

11a

12a

12b

12c

13

14

15a

15b

16a

16b

a

b

12a

b

c

13

14

15

a

b

16a

b

17

18

19

20

For each "Yes" response to lines 2 through 7b below, and for a "No" response
to line 8a, 8b, or 10b below, describe the circumstances, processes, or changes in Schedule O. See instructions.

If "Yes," provide the names and addresses in Schedule O
(This Section B requests information about policies not required by the Internal Revenue Code.)

If "No," go to line 13

If "Yes," describe
in Schedule O how this was done

 (explain in Schedule O)

If there are material differences in voting rights among members of the governing body, or if the governing

body delegated broad authority to an executive committee or similar committee, explain in Schedule O.

Did the organization contemporaneously document the meetings held or written actions undertaken during the year by the following:

Were officers, directors, or trustees, and key employees required to disclose annually interests that could give rise to conflicts?

Form  (2016)

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VI ���������������������������

Enter the number of voting members of the governing body at the end of the tax year

Enter the number of voting members included in line 1a, above, who are independent

~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did any officer, director, trustee, or key employee have a family relationship or a business relationship with any other

officer, director, trustee, or key employee? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization delegate control over management duties customarily performed by or under the direct supervision

of officers, directors, or trustees, or key employees to a management company or other person? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization make any significant changes to its governing documents since the prior Form 990 was filed?

Did the organization become aware during the year of a significant diversion of the organization's assets?

Did the organization have members or stockholders?

~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have members, stockholders, or other persons who had the power to elect or appoint one or

more members of the governing body?

Are any governance decisions of the organization reserved to (or subject to approval by) members, stockholders, or

persons other than the governing body?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

The governing body?

Each committee with authority to act on behalf of the governing body?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Is there any officer, director, trustee, or key employee listed in Part VII, Section A, who cannot be reached at the

organization's mailing address? �����������������

Did the organization have local chapters, branches, or affiliates?

If "Yes," did the organization have written policies and procedures governing the activities of such chapters, affiliates,

and branches to ensure their operations are consistent with the organization's exempt purposes?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Has the organization provided a complete copy of this Form 990 to all members of its governing body before filing the form?

Describe in Schedule O the process, if any, used by the organization to review this Form 990.

Did the organization have a written conflict of interest policy? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Did the organization regularly and consistently monitor and enforce compliance with the policy? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization have a written whistleblower policy?

Did the organization have a written document retention and destruction policy?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the process for determining compensation of the following persons include a review and approval by independent

persons, comparability data, and contemporaneous substantiation of the deliberation and decision?

The organization's CEO, Executive Director, or top management official

Other officers or key employees of the organization

If "Yes" to line 15a or 15b, describe the process in Schedule O (see instructions).

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization invest in, contribute assets to, or participate in a joint venture or similar arrangement with a

taxable entity during the year? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization follow a written policy or procedure requiring the organization to evaluate its participation

in joint venture arrangements under applicable federal tax law, and take steps to safeguard the organization's

exempt status with respect to such arrangements? ������������������������������������

List the states with which a copy of this Form 990 is required to be filed 

Section 6104 requires an organization to make its Forms 1023 (or 1024 if applicable), 990, and 990-T (Section 501(c)(3)s only) available

for public inspection. Indicate how you made these available. Check all that apply.

Own website Another's website Upon request Other

Describe in Schedule O whether (and if so, how) the organization made its governing documents, conflict of interest policy, and financial

statements available to the public during the tax year.

State the name, address, and telephone number of the person who possesses the organization's books and records: |

6
Part VI Governance, Management, and Disclosure 

Section A. Governing Body and Management

Section B. Policies 

Section C. Disclosure

990

J

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

29

29

X

X
X
X
X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X
X

X
X

X

FL

X X

CYNTHIA B. HEFREN - (850)488-5607
2540 W. EXECUTIVE CENTER CIR, NO. 200, TALLAHASSEE, FL  32301-5015

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 6



In
di

vi
du

al
 tr

us
te

e 
or

 d
ire

ct
or

In
st

itu
tio

na
l t

ru
st

ee

O
ffi

ce
r

Ke
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

H
ig

he
st

 c
om

pe
ns

at
ed

em
pl

oy
ee

Fo
rm

er

(do not check more than one
box, unless person is both an
officer and a director/trustee)

632007  11-11-16

 current

 

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees

1a  

current 

current 

former 

former directors or trustees 

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)

 

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VII ���������������������������

Complete this table for all persons required to be listed. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year.

¥ List all of the organization's officers, directors, trustees (whether individuals or organizations), regardless of amount of compensation.
Enter -0- in columns (D), (E), and (F) if no compensation was paid.

¥ List all of the organization's key employees, if any. See instructions for definition of "key employee."
¥ List the organization's five  highest compensated employees (other than an officer, director, trustee, or key employee) who received report-

able compensation (Box 5 of Form W-2 and/or Box 7 of Form 1099-MISC) of more than $100,000 from the organization and any related organizations.

¥ List all of the organization's officers, key employees, and highest compensated employees who received more than $100,000 of
reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

¥ List all of the organization's that received, in the capacity as a former director or trustee of the organization,
more than $10,000 of reportable compensation from the organization and any related organizations.

List persons in the following order: individual trustees or directors; institutional trustees; officers; key employees; highest compensated employees; 
and former such persons.

Check this box if neither the organization nor any related organization compensated any current officer, director, or trustee.

PositionName and Title Average 
hours per

week 
(list any

hours for
related

organizations
below
line)

Reportable
compensation

from 
the

organization
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Reportable
compensation
from related

organizations
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Estimated
amount of

other
compensation

from the
organization
and related

organizations

Form (2016)

7
Part VII Compensation of Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, Highest Compensated

Employees, and Independent Contractors

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

(1)  TALBERT, WILLIAM 1.00
CHAIR X X 0. 0. 0.
(2)  FERENC, MARYANN 1.00
VICE CHAIR X X 0. 0. 0.
(3)  TOMLIN, JOHN 1.00
IMMEDIATE PAST CHAIR X X 0. 0. 0.
(4)  CHAMPAGNIE, SIMONE 1.00
SECRETARY X X 0. 0. 0.
(5)  PRESCOTT, GENE 1.00
TREASURER X X 0. 0. 0.
(6)  GAEKWAD, DANNY 1.00
CHAIR OF AUDIT COMMITTEE X 0. 0. 0.
(7)  HALEY, VIRGINIA 1.00
CHAIR OF INDUSTRY RELATIONS COMMITTE X 0. 0. 0.
(8)  MALDONADO, LINO 1.00
CHAIR OF MARKETING COUNCIL STEERING X 0. 0. 0.
(9)  SKROB, ROBERT 1.00
CHAIR OF PUBLIC AFFAIRS X 0. 0. 0.
(10) BRAGG, BECKY 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(11) CARTER, IAN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(12) CORNWELL, BOBBY 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(13) DOVER, CAROL 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(14) DUFFY, CHRISTINE 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(15) GAZITUA, CARLOS 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(16) HAYDEN, BILL 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(17) HERTZ, ANDREW 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 7



Fo
rm

er

In
di

vi
du

al
 tr

us
te

e 
or

 d
ire

ct
or

In
st

itu
tio

na
l t

ru
st

ee

O
ffi

ce
r

H
ig

he
st

 c
om

pe
ns

at
ed

em
pl

oy
ee

Ke
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

(do not check more than one
box, unless person is both an
officer and a director/trustee)

632008  11-11-16

 

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees 

(B) (C)(A) (D) (E) (F)

1b

c

d

Sub-total

Total from continuation sheets to Part VII, Section A

Total (add lines 1b and 1c)

2

Yes No

3

4

5

former 

3

4

5

Section B. Independent Contractors

1

(A) (B) (C)

2

(continued)

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such individual

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such individual

If "Yes," complete Schedule J for such person

Page Form 990 (2016)

PositionAverage 
hours per

week
(list any

hours for
related

organizations
below
line)

Name and title Reportable
compensation

from 
the

organization
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Reportable
compensation
from related

organizations
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Estimated
amount of

other
compensation

from the
organization
and related

organizations

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |

~~~~~~~~~~ |

������������������������ |

Total number of individuals (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than $100,000 of reportable

compensation from the organization |

Did the organization list any officer, director, or trustee, key employee, or highest compensated employee on

line 1a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For any individual listed on line 1a, is the sum of reportable compensation and other compensation from the organization

and related organizations greater than $150,000? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did any person listed on line 1a receive or accrue compensation from any unrelated organization or individual for services

rendered to the organization? ������������������������

Complete this table for your five highest compensated independent contractors that received more than $100,000 of compensation from 

the organization. Report compensation for the calendar year ending with or within the organization's tax year.

Name and business address Description of services Compensation

Total number of independent contractors (including but not limited to those listed above) who received more than

$100,000 of compensation from the organization |

Form  (2016)

8
Part VII

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

(18) HORTON, MALINDA 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(19) LUPFER, BILL 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(20) MURPHY, PATRICK 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(21) PADGETT, SAMANTHA 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(22) PROTZE, THERRIN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(23) REESE, DAVID 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(24) RITENOUR, ROY 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(25) ROSE, SCOTT 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(26) ROWE, DAN 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.

0. 0. 0.
2,059,727. 0. 266,075.
2,059,727. 0. 266,075.

20

X

X

X

SAPIENTNITRO, 605 LINCOLN ROAD SUITE 700,
MIAMI BEACH, FL 33139 ADVERTISING SERVICES 9,692,391.
FACEBOOK, INC.
1601 WILLOW ROAD, MENLO PARK, CA 94025 ADVERTISING SERVICES 3,607,468.
ADOBE SYSTEMS, INC.
345 PARK AVE, SAN JOSE, CA 94025

WEBSITE PLATFORM
DEVELOPMENT 3,458,256.

HI-REV RACING, LLC, 825 BALLOUGH ROAD,
SUITE 400, DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 ADVERTISING SERVICES 2,991,692.
MAT MEDIA, LLC, 201 S. MONROE STREET #201,
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301-1848 MARKETING SERVICES 2,644,500.

5
SEE PART VII, SECTION A CONTINUATION SHEETS

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 8



In
di

vi
du

al
 tr

us
te

e 
or

 d
ire

ct
or

In
st

itu
tio

na
l t

ru
st

ee

O
ffi

ce
r

Ke
y 

em
pl

oy
ee

H
ig

he
st

 c
om

pe
ns

at
ed

 e
m

pl
oy

ee

Fo
rm

er

632201
04-01-16

Section A. Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest Compensated Employees 

(A) (B) (C) (D) (E) (F)

(continued)
Form 990

Name and title Average 
hours 
per 

week
(list any

hours for
related

organizations
below
line)

Position 
(check all that apply)

Reportable
compensation

from 
the

organization
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Reportable
compensation
from related

organizations
(W-2/1099-MISC)

Estimated
amount of

other
compensation

from the
organization
and related

organizations

Total to Part VII, Section A, line 1c �������������������������

Part VII

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

(27) WAICHULIS, WILLIAM 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(28) BILBY, CLAIRE 1.00
DIRECTOR (06/2017 - PRESENT) X 0. 0. 0.
(29) WILLIAMS, DANA 1.00
DIRECTOR X 0. 0. 0.
(30) SISKIE, SHARON 1.00
SECOND VICE CHAIR (2/16/14 - 5/31/17 X 0. 0. 0.
(31) LAWSON, KENNETH 40.00
CEO/PRES (01/2017-PRESENT) X 0. 0. 0.
(32) OLSON, DANIEL M. 40.00
COO (12/2016-PRESENT) X 0. 0. 0.
(33) THOMAS, CRAIG A. 40.00
GENERAL COUNSEL (02/2017-PRESENT) X 0. 0. 0.
(34) HEFREN, CYNTHIA 40.00
CFO (04/2017-PRESENT) X 0. 0. 0.
(35) DODD, DAVID L. 40.00
VP, VISITOR SERVICES X 145,952. 0. 31,591.
(36) DECLAIRE, TIM 40.00
INTERIM DIRECTOR, INT'L MARKETING X 152,192. 0. 24,129.
(37) GONZALEZ, ALFREDO 40.00
VP, GLOBAL MTGS & TRAVEL TRADE X 198,486. 0. 28,373.
(38) SQUIRES-SWANSON, MARLENE 40.00
DIRECTOR, PAID MEDIA X 155,511. 0. 32,132.
(39) FAULK, KIMBERLY D. 40.00
VP, DOMESTIC SALES X 141,711. 0. 31,131.
(40) FIELDS, EVANGELINE R 40.00
FORMER CFO/COO X 339,040. 0. 20,195.
(41) PHIPPS, PAUL 40.00
FORMER CMO X 286,910. 0. 33,290.
(42) SECCOMBE, WILLIAM 40.00
FORMER CEO X 432,041. 0. 42,887.
(43) COSTELLO, SUSANNAH 40.00
FORMER VP, BRAND X 207,884. 0. 22,347.

2,059,727. 266,075.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 9



Noncash contributions included in lines 1a-1f: $

632009  11-11-16

Total revenue. 

 

(A) (B) (C) (D)

1 a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

1

1

1

1

1

1

a

b

c

d

e

f

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s
, 
G

if
ts

, 
G

ra
n

ts
a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

S
im

il
a

r 
A

m
o

u
n

ts

Total. 

Business Code

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

2

P
ro

g
ra

m
 S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

ve
n

u
e

Total. 

3

4

5

6 a

b

c

d

a

b

c

d

7

a

b

c

8

a

b

9 a

b

c

a

b

10 a

b

c

a

b

Business Code

11 a

b

c

d

e Total. 

O
th

e
r 

R
e

ve
n

u
e

12

Revenue excluded
from tax under

sections
512 - 514

All other contributions, gifts, grants, and

similar amounts not included above

See instructions.

Form  (2016)

Page Form 990 (2016)

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part VIII �������������������������

Total revenue Related or
exempt function

revenue

Unrelated
business
revenue

Federated campaigns

Membership dues

~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~

Fundraising events

Related organizations

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~

Government grants (contributions)

~~

Add lines 1a-1f ����������������� |

All other program service revenue ~~~~~

Add lines 2a-2f ����������������� |

Investment income (including dividends, interest, and

other similar amounts)

Income from investment of tax-exempt bond proceeds

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |

|

Royalties ����������������������� |

(i) Real (ii) Personal

Gross rents

Less: rental expenses

Rental income or (loss)

Net rental income or (loss)

~~~~~~~

~~~

~~

�������������� |

Gross amount from sales of

assets other than inventory

(i) Securities (ii) Other

Less: cost or other basis

and sales expenses

Gain or (loss)

~~~

~~~~~~~

Net gain or (loss) ������������������� |

Gross income from fundraising events (not

including $ of

contributions reported on line 1c). See

Part IV, line 18 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: direct expenses~~~~~~~~~~

Net income or (loss) from fundraising events ����� |

Gross income from gaming activities. See

Part IV, line 19 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: direct expenses

Net income or (loss) from gaming activities

~~~~~~~~~

������ |

Gross sales of inventory, less returns

and allowances ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Less: cost of goods sold

Net income or (loss) from sales of inventory

~~~~~~~~

������ |

Miscellaneous Revenue

All other revenue ~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 11a-11d ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |

|�������������

9
Part VIII Statement of Revenue

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

78,499,784.

78,499,784.

COOP. ADVERTISING 900099 23,096,921. 23,096,921.
TRADE SHOWS & EVENTS 900099 3,709,222. 3,709,222.
MEMBERSHIP DUES & ASSESSMENTS 900099 2,175,861. 2,175,861.
ADVERTISING REIMB. 900099 1,869,149. 1,869,149.
WELCOME CENTER 900099 476,730. 476,730.

541800 784,526. 394,028. 390,498.
32,112,409.

32,118. 32,118.

34,600.

26,500.
8,100.

8,100. 8,100.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 900099 541,621. 541,621.
CITRUS JUICE REVENUE 900099 198,492. 198,492.

740,113.
111,392,524. 32,470,124. 390,498. 32,118.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 10



Check here if following SOP 98-2 (ASC 958-720)

632010  11-11-16

Total functional expenses. 

Joint costs.

 

(A) (B) (C) (D)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

a

b

c

d

e

25

26

Section 501(c)(3) and 501(c)(4) organizations must complete all columns. All other organizations must complete column (A).

Grants and other assistance to domestic organizations

and domestic governments. See Part IV, line 21

Compensation not included above, to disqualified 

persons (as defined under section 4958(f)(1)) and 

persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B)

Pension plan accruals and contributions (include

section 401(k) and 403(b) employer contributions)

Professional fundraising services. See Part IV, line 17

(If line 11g amount exceeds 10% of line 25,

column (A) amount, list line 11g expenses on Sch O.)

Other expenses. Itemize expenses not covered 
above. (List miscellaneous expenses in line 24e. If line
24e amount exceeds 10% of line 25, column (A)
amount, list line 24e expenses on Schedule O.)

Add lines 1 through 24e

 Complete this line only if the organization

reported in column (B) joint costs from a combined

educational campaign and fundraising solicitation.

 

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part IX ��������������������������

Total expenses Program service
expenses

Management and
general expenses

Fundraising
expenses

~

Grants and other assistance to domestic

individuals. See Part IV, line 22 ~~~~~~~

Grants and other assistance to foreign

organizations, foreign governments, and foreign

individuals. See Part IV, lines 15 and 16 ~~~

Benefits paid to or for members ~~~~~~~

Compensation of current officers, directors,

trustees, and key employees ~~~~~~~~

~~~

Other salaries and wages ~~~~~~~~~~

Other employee benefits ~~~~~~~~~~

Payroll taxes ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Fees for services (non-employees):

Management

Legal

Accounting

Lobbying

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Investment management fees

Other. 

~~~~~~~~

Advertising and promotion

Office expenses

Information technology

Royalties

~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Occupancy ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~Travel

Payments of travel or entertainment expenses

for any federal, state, or local public officials

Conferences, conventions, and meetings ~~

Interest

Payments to affiliates

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization

Insurance

~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

All other expenses

|

Form (2016)

Do not include amounts reported on lines 6b,
7b, 8b, 9b, and 10b of Part VIII.

10
Part IX Statement of Functional Expenses

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

617,117.

5,700,967.

1,267,936.

8,366,940.

431,408.
1,674,612.
678,321.

107,519.
42,366.

3,136,550.
69,618,687.
1,399,517.
5,281,908.

556,348.
2,893,996.

2,511,115.

815,679.
113,475.

TOURISM RESEARCH 1,322,385.
FULFILLMENT 490,622.
CITRUS JUICE 198,492.
DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 196,720.

107,422,680.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 11



632011  11-11-16

 

(A) (B)

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10c

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

a

b

10a

10b

A
s
s
e

ts

Total assets. 

L
ia

b
il
it

ie
s

Total liabilities. 

Organizations that follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here and

complete lines 27 through 29, and lines 33 and 34.

27

28

29

Organizations that do not follow SFAS 117 (ASC 958), check here

and complete lines 30 through 34.

30

31

32

33

34

N
e

t 
A

s
s
e

ts
 o

r 
F

u
n

d
 B

a
la

n
c

e
s

 

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part X �����������������������������

Beginning of year End of year

Cash - non-interest-bearing

Savings and temporary cash investments

Pledges and grants receivable, net

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Accounts receivable, net ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Loans and other receivables from current and former officers, directors,

trustees, key employees, and highest compensated employees. Complete

Part II of Schedule L ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Loans and other receivables from other disqualified persons (as defined under

section 4958(f)(1)), persons described in section 4958(c)(3)(B), and contributing

employers and sponsoring organizations of section 501(c)(9) voluntary

employees' beneficiary organizations (see instr). Complete Part II of Sch L ~~

Notes and loans receivable, net

Inventories for sale or use

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Land, buildings, and equipment: cost or other

basis. Complete Part VI of Schedule D

Less: accumulated depreciation

~~~

~~~~~~

Investments - publicly traded securities

Investments - other securities. See Part IV, line 11

Investments - program-related. See Part IV, line 11

Intangible assets

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other assets. See Part IV, line 11 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 1 through 15 (must equal line 34) ����������

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Grants payable

Deferred revenue

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Tax-exempt bond liabilities

Escrow or custodial account liability. Complete Part IV of Schedule D

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~

Loans and other payables to current and former officers, directors, trustees,

key employees, highest compensated employees, and disqualified persons.

Complete Part II of Schedule L ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Secured mortgages and notes payable to unrelated third parties ~~~~~~

Unsecured notes and loans payable to unrelated third parties ~~~~~~~~

Other liabilities (including federal income tax, payables to related third

parties, and other liabilities not included on lines 17-24). Complete Part X of

Schedule D ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines 17 through 25 ������������������

|

Unrestricted net assets

Temporarily restricted net assets

Permanently restricted net assets

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

|

Capital stock or trust principal, or current funds

Paid-in or capital surplus, or land, building, or equipment fund

Retained earnings, endowment, accumulated income, or other funds

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~

~~~~

Total net assets or fund balances ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total liabilities and net assets/fund balances ����������������

Form (2016)

11
Balance SheetPart X

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

200. 200.
24,207,340. 31,223,167.

8,635,721. 8,542,655.

2,085,171. 610,168.

7,574,722.
2,836,960. 2,728,778. 4,737,762.

360,000. 180,000.

38,017,210. 45,293,952.
17,743,192. 21,454,192.

1,239,716. 835,614.

18,982,908. 22,289,806.
X

13,686,213. 15,528,783.
5,348,089. 7,475,363.

19,034,302. 23,004,146.
38,017,210. 45,293,952.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 12



632012  11-11-16

 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Yes No

1

2

3

a

b

c

2a

2b

2c

a

b

3a

3b

 

Form 990 (2016) Page 

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XI ���������������������������

Total revenue (must equal Part VIII, column (A), line 12)

Total expenses (must equal Part IX, column (A), line 25)

Revenue less expenses. Subtract line 2 from line 1

Net assets or fund balances at beginning of year (must equal Part X, line 33, column (A))

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Donated services and use of facilities

Investment expenses

Prior period adjustments

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Other changes in net assets or fund balances (explain in Schedule O)

Net assets or fund balances at end of year. Combine lines 3 through 9 (must equal Part X, line 33,

column (B))

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

�����������������������������������������������

Check if Schedule O contains a response or note to any line in this Part XII ���������������������������

Accounting method used to prepare the Form 990: Cash Accrual Other

If the organization changed its method of accounting from a prior year or checked "Other," explain in Schedule O.

Were the organization's financial statements compiled or reviewed by an independent accountant? ~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were compiled or reviewed on a

separate basis, consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis

Were the organization's financial statements audited by an independent accountant? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," check a box below to indicate whether the financial statements for the year were audited on a separate basis,

consolidated basis, or both:

Separate basis Consolidated basis Both consolidated and separate basis

If "Yes" to line 2a or 2b, does the organization have a committee that assumes responsibility for oversight of the audit,

review, or compilation of its financial statements and selection of an independent accountant?~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If the organization changed either its oversight process or selection process during the tax year, explain in Schedule O.

As a result of a federal award, was the organization required to undergo an audit or audits as set forth in the Single Audit 

Act and OMB Circular A-133? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes," did the organization undergo the required audit or audits? If the organization did not undergo the required audit

or audits, explain why in Schedule O and describe any steps taken to undergo such audits ����������������

Form (2016)

12
Part XI Reconciliation of Net Assets

Part XII Financial Statements and Reporting

990

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

111,392,524.
107,422,680.
3,969,844.

19,034,302.

0.

23,004,146.

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 13



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

623451  10-18-16

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016)

(Form 990, 990-EZ,
or 990-PF)

|  Attach to Form 990, Form 990-EZ, or Form 990-PF.
|  Information about Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) and

its instructions is at .

Name of the organization Employer identification number

Organization type

Filers of: Section:

 not

 General Rule  Special Rule.

Note: 

General Rule

Special Rules

(1) (2) 

General Rule 

Caution: 

 must

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF.

exclusively 

exclusively
 exclusively

nonexclusively

(check one):

Form 990 or 990-EZ 501(c)( ) (enter number) organization

4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust  treated as a private foundation

527 political organization

Form 990-PF 501(c)(3) exempt private foundation

4947(a)(1) nonexempt charitable trust treated as a private foundation

501(c)(3) taxable private foundation

Check if your organization is covered by the  or a

Only a section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) organization can check boxes for both the General Rule and a Special Rule. See instructions.

For an organization filing Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF that received, during the year, contributions totaling $5,000 or more (in money or

property) from any one contributor. Complete Parts I and II. See instructions for determining a contributor's total contributions.

For an organization described in section 501(c)(3) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that met the 33 1/3%  support test of the regulations under

sections 509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi), that checked Schedule A (Form 990 or 990-EZ), Part II, line 13, 16a, or 16b, and that received from

any one contributor, during the year, total contributions of the greater of $5,000 or 2%  of the amount on (i) Form 990, Part VIII, line 1h,

or (ii) Form 990-EZ, line 1. Complete Parts I and II.

For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the

year, total contributions of more than $1,000 for religious, charitable, scientific, literary, or educational purposes, or for

the prevention of cruelty to children or animals. Complete Parts I, II, and III.

For an organization described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) filing Form 990 or 990-EZ that received from any one contributor, during the

year, contributions  for religious, charitable, etc., purposes, but no such contributions totaled more than $1,000. If this box

is checked, enter here the total contributions that were received during the year for an  religious, charitable, etc.,

purpose. Don't complete any of the parts unless the applies to this organization because it received 

religious, charitable, etc., contributions totaling $5,000 or more during the year ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | $

An organization that isn't covered by the General Rule and/or the Special Rules doesn't file Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF),

but it  answer "No" on Part IV, line 2, of its Form 990; or check the box on line H of its Form 990-EZ or on its Form 990-PF, Part I, line 2, to

certify that it doesn't meet the filing requirements of Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF).

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990

Schedule B Schedule of Contributors

2016
FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X 6

X



623452  10-18-16

Name of organization Employer identification number

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016)

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

(a)

No.

(b)

Name, address, and ZIP + 4

(c)

Total contributions

(d)

Type of contribution

Person

Payroll

Noncash

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016) Page 

(See instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part I if additional space is needed.

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

$

(Complete Part II for
noncash contributions.)

2

Part I Contributors

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

1 STATE OF FLORIDA X
107 EAST MADISON STREET, CALDWELL
BLDG. 75,999,784.

TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399

2
FLORIDA RESTAURANT AND LODGING
ASSOCIATION (FRLA) X

11940 NORTH MONROE STREET 2,500,000.

TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 15



623453  10-18-16

Name of organization Employer identification number

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016)

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

(a)

No.

from

Part I

(c)

FMV (or estimate)

(See instructions)

(b)

Description of noncash property given

(d)

Date received

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016) Page 

(See instructions). Use duplicate copies of Part II if additional space is needed.

$

$

$

$

$

$

3

Part II Noncash Property

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 16



 (Enter this info. once.)

For organizations

completing Part III, enter the total of exclusively religious, charitable, etc., contributions of $1,000 or less for the year.

623454  10-18-16

Name of organization Employer identification number

religious, charitable, etc., contributions to organizations described in section 501(c)(7), (8), or (10) that total more than $1,000 for
the year from any one contributor.  (a)  (e) and 

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016)

  
 

(a) No.
from
Part I

(b) Purpose of gift (c) Use of gift (d) Description of how gift is held

(e) Transfer of gift

Transferee's name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee

(a) No.
from
Part I

(b) Purpose of gift (c) Use of gift (d) Description of how gift is held

(e) Transfer of gift

Transferee's name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee

(a) No.
from
Part I

(b) Purpose of gift (c) Use of gift (d) Description of how gift is held

(e) Transfer of gift

Transferee's name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee

(a) No.
from
Part I

(b) Purpose of gift (c) Use of gift (d) Description of how gift is held

(e) Transfer of gift

Transferee's name, address, and ZIP + 4 Relationship of transferor to transferee

Complete columns through the following line entry. 
 

Schedule B (Form 990, 990-EZ, or 990-PF) (2016) Page 

| $

Use duplicate copies of Part III if additional space is needed.

Exclusively

4

Part III

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 17



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

632041  11-10-16

Information about Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) and its instructions is at

(Form 990 or 990-EZ)
For Organizations Exempt From Income Tax Under section 501(c) and section 527

Open to Public
Inspection

Complete if the organization is described below.    Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ. 

|  

If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 3, or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 46 (Political Campaign Activities), then

If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 4, or Form 990-EZ, Part VI, line 47 (Lobbying Activities), then

If the organization answered "Yes," on Form 990, Part IV, line 5 (Proxy Tax) (see separate instructions) or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 35c (Proxy
Tax) (see separate instructions), then

Employer identification number

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

Yes No

a

b

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

Form 1120-POL Yes No

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) 

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016

¥ Section 501(c)(3) organizations: Complete Parts I-A and B. Do not complete Part I-C.

¥ Section 501(c) (other than section 501(c)(3)) organizations: Complete Parts I-A and C below. Do not complete Part I-B.

¥ Section 527 organizations: Complete Part I-A only.

¥ Section 501(c)(3) organizations that have filed Form 5768 (election under section 501(h)): Complete Part II-A. Do not complete Part II-B.

¥ Section 501(c)(3) organizations that have NOT filed Form 5768 (election under section 501(h)): Complete Part II-B. Do not complete Part II-A.

¥ Section 501(c)(4), (5), or (6) organizations: Complete Part III.
Name of organization

Provide a description of the organization's direct and indirect political campaign activities in Part IV.

Political campaign activity expenditures

Volunteer hours for political campaign activities

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~[[[~

Enter the amount of any excise tax incurred by the organization under section 4955

Enter the amount of any excise tax incurred by organization managers under section 4955

If the organization incurred a section 4955 tax, did it file Form 4720 for this year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

~~~~~~~~~~ $

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Was a correction made?

If "Yes," describe in Part IV.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the amount directly expended by the filing organization for section 527 exempt function activities

Enter the amount of the filing organization's funds contributed to other organizations for section 527

exempt function activities

~~~~ $

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

Total exempt function expenditures. Add lines 1 and 2. Enter here and on Form 1120-POL,

line 17b

Did the filing organization file for this year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ $

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Enter the names, addresses and employer identification number (EIN) of all section 527 political organizations to which the filing organization

made payments. For each organization listed, enter the amount paid from the filing organization's funds. Also enter the amount of political

contributions received that were promptly and directly delivered to a separate political organization, such as a separate segregated fund or a

political action committee (PAC). If additional space is needed, provide information in Part IV.

Name Address EIN Amount paid from
filing organization's

funds. If none, enter -0-.

Amount of political
contributions received and

promptly and directly
delivered to a separate
political organization.

If none, enter -0-.

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

SCHEDULE C

Part I-A Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c) or is a section 527 organization.

Part I-B Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(3).

Part I-C Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c), except section 501(c)(3).

Political Campaign and Lobbying Activities
2016

J J

J

J
J

J

J

J

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 18



632042  11-10-16

If the amount on line 1e, column (a) or (b) is:

2

A

B

Limits on Lobbying Expenditures
(The term "expenditures" means amounts paid or incurred.)

(a) (b) 

1a

b

c

d

e

f

The lobbying nontaxable amount is:

g

h

i

j

Yes No

4-Year Averaging Period Under section 501(h)
(Some organizations that made a section 501(h) election do not have to complete all of the five columns below.

See the separate instructions for lines 2a through 2f.)

Lobbying Expenditures During 4-Year Averaging Period

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) 

2a

b

c

d

e

f

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016 Page 

Check if the filing organization belongs to an affiliated group (and list in Part IV each affiliated group member's name, address, EIN,

expenses, and share of excess lobbying expenditures).

Check if the filing organization checked box A and "limited control" provisions apply.

Filing
organization's

totals

Affiliated group
totals

Total lobbying expenditures to influence public opinion (grass roots lobbying)

Total lobbying expenditures to influence a legislative body (direct lobbying)

~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

Total lobbying expenditures (add lines 1a and 1b)

Other exempt purpose expenditures

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total exempt purpose expenditures (add lines 1c and 1d)

Lobbying nontaxable amount. Enter the amount from the following table in both columns.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Not over $500,000

Over $500,000 but not over $1,000,000

Over $1,000,000 but not over $1,500,000

Over $1,500,000 but not over $17,000,000

Over $17,000,000

20%  of the amount on line 1e.

$100,000 plus 15%  of the excess over $500,000.

$175,000 plus 10%  of the excess over $1,000,000.

$225,000 plus 5%  of the excess over $1,500,000.

$1,000,000.

Grassroots nontaxable amount (enter 25%  of line 1f)

Subtract line 1g from line 1a. If zero or less, enter -0-

Subtract line 1f from line 1c. If zero or less, enter -0-

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If there is an amount other than zero on either line 1h or line 1i, did the organization file Form 4720

reporting section 4911 tax for this year? ��������������������������������������

Calendar year 
(or fiscal year beginning in)

2013 2014 2015 2016 Total

Lobbying nontaxable amount

Lobbying ceiling amount

(150%  of line 2a, column(e))

Total lobbying expenditures

Grassroots nontaxable amount

Grassroots ceiling amount

(150%  of line 2d, column (e))

Grassroots lobbying expenditures

Part II-A Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(3) and filed Form 5768 (election under
section 501(h)).

J

J

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 19



632043  11-10-16

3

(a) (b)

Yes No Amount

1

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

h

i

j

a

b

c

d

2

Yes No

1

2

3

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

(do not include amounts of political 

expenses for which the section 527(f) tax was paid).

1

2a

2b

2c

3

4

5

a

b

c

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016

For each "Yes," response on lines 1a through 1i below, provide in Part IV a detailed description
of the lobbying activity. 

Schedule C (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016 Page 

During the year, did the filing organization attempt to influence foreign, national, state or

local legislation, including any attempt to influence public opinion on a legislative matter

or referendum, through the use of:

Volunteers?

Paid staff or management (include compensation in expenses reported on lines 1c through 1i)?

Media advertisements?

Mailings to members, legislators, or the public?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Publications, or published or broadcast statements?

Grants to other organizations for lobbying purposes?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Direct contact with legislators, their staffs, government officials, or a legislative body?

Rallies, demonstrations, seminars, conventions, speeches, lectures, or any similar means?

Other activities?

~~~~~~

~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Total. Add lines 1c through 1i

Did the activities in line 1 cause the organization to be not described in section 501(c)(3)?

If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred under section 4912

If "Yes," enter the amount of any tax incurred by organization managers under section 4912

If the filing organization incurred a section 4912 tax, did it file Form 4720 for this year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~

������

Were substantially all (90%  or more) dues received nondeductible by members?

Did the organization make only in-house lobbying expenditures of $2,000 or less?

Did the organization agree to carry over lobbying and political campaign activity expenditures from the prior year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Dues, assessments and similar amounts from members

Section 162(e) nondeductible lobbying and political expenditures 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Current year

Carryover from last year

Total

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Aggregate amount reported in section 6033(e)(1)(A) notices of nondeductible section 162(e) dues

If notices were sent and the amount on line 2c exceeds the amount on line 3, what portion of the excess

does the organization agree to carryover to the reasonable estimate of nondeductible lobbying and political 

expenditure next year?

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Taxable amount of lobbying and political expenditures (see instructions) ���������������������

Provide the descriptions required for Part I-A, line 1; Part I-B, line 4; Part I-C, line 5; Part II-A (affiliated group list); Part II-A, lines 1 and 2 (see

instructions); and Part II-B, line 1. Also, complete this part for any additional information.

Part II-B Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(3) and has NOT filed Form 5768
(election under section 501(h)).

Part III-A Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(4), section 501(c)(5), or section 
501(c)(6).

Part III-B Complete if the organization is exempt under section 501(c)(4), section 501(c)(5), or section 
501(c)(6) and if either (a) BOTH Part III-A, lines 1 and 2, are answered "No," OR (b) Part III-A, line 3, is
answered "Yes."

Part IV Supplemental Information

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X
X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 20



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

632051  08-29-16

Held at the End of the Tax Year

(Form 990) | Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990,
Part IV, line 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11a, 11b, 11c, 11d, 11e, 11f, 12a, or 12b.

| Attach to Form 990.
| Information about Schedule D (Form 990) and its instructions is at 

Open to Public
Inspection

Name of the organization Employer identification number

(a) (b) 

1

2

3

4

5

6

Yes No

Yes No

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

a

b

c

d

2a

2b

2c

2d

Yes No

Yes No

1

2

a

b

(i)

(ii)

a

b

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule D (Form 990) 2016

Complete if the

organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 6.

Donor advised funds Funds and other accounts

Total number at end of year

Aggregate value of contributions to (during year)

Aggregate value of grants from (during year)

Aggregate value at end of year

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~

~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization inform all donors and donor advisors in writing that the assets held in donor advised funds

are the organization's property, subject to the organization's exclusive legal control?~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization inform all grantees, donors, and donor advisors in writing that grant funds can be used only

for charitable purposes and not for the benefit of the donor or donor advisor, or for any other purpose conferring

impermissible private benefit? ��������������������������������������������

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 7.

Purpose(s) of conservation easements held by the organization (check all that apply).

Preservation of land for public use (e.g., recreation or education)

Protection of natural habitat

Preservation of open space

Preservation of a historically important land area

Preservation of a certified historic structure

Complete lines 2a through 2d if the organization held a qualified conservation contribution in the form of a conservation easement on the last

day of the tax year.

Total number of conservation easements

Total acreage restricted by conservation easements

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Number of conservation easements on a certified historic structure included in (a)

Number of conservation easements included in (c) acquired after 8/17/06, and not on a historic structure

listed in the National Register

~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Number of conservation easements modified, transferred, released, extinguished, or terminated by the organization during the tax

year |

Number of states where property subject to conservation easement is located |

Does the organization have a written policy regarding the periodic monitoring, inspection, handling of

violations, and enforcement of the conservation easements it holds? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Staff and volunteer hours devoted to monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year 

|

Amount of expenses incurred in monitoring, inspecting, handling of violations, and enforcing conservation easements during the year 

| $

Does each conservation easement reported on line 2(d) above satisfy the requirements of section 170(h)(4)(B)(i)

and section 170(h)(4)(B)(ii)? ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

In Part XIII, describe how the organization reports conservation easements in its revenue and expense statement, and balance sheet, and

include, if applicable, the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that describes the organization's accounting for

conservation easements.

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 8.

If the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), not to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works of art,

historical treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, provide, in Part XIII,

the text of the footnote to its financial statements that describes these items.

If the organization elected, as permitted under SFAS 116 (ASC 958), to report in its revenue statement and balance sheet works of art, historical

treasures, or other similar assets held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, provide the following amounts

relating to these items:

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1

Assets included in Form 990, Part X

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | $

$~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |

If the organization received or held works of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets for financial gain, provide

the following amounts required to be reported under SFAS 116 (ASC 958) relating to these items:

Revenue included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 1

Assets included in Form 990, Part X

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | $

$����������������������������������� |

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

Part I Organizations Maintaining Donor Advised Funds or Other Similar Funds or Accounts. 

Part II Conservation Easements. 

Part III Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets.

SCHEDULE D Supplemental Financial Statements 2016
FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 21



632052  08-29-16

3

4

5

a

b

c

d

e

Yes No

1

2

a

b

c

d

e

f

a

b

Yes No

1c

1d

1e

1f

Yes No

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) 

1

2

3

4

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

a

b

c

a

b

Yes No

(i)

(ii)

3a(i)

3a(ii)

3b

(a) (b) (c) (d) 

1a

b

c

d

e

Total. 

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016

(continued)

(Column (d) must equal Form 990, Part X, column (B), line 10c.)

Two years back Three years back Four years back

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016 Page 

Using the organization's acquisition, accession, and other records, check any of the following that are a significant use of its collection items

(check all that apply):

Public exhibition

Scholarly research

Preservation for future generations

Loan or exchange programs

Other

Provide a description of the organization's collections and explain how they further the organization's exempt purpose in Part XIII.

During the year, did the organization solicit or receive donations of art, historical treasures, or other similar assets

to be sold to raise funds rather than to be maintained as part of the organization's collection? ������������

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 9, or
reported an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21.

Is the organization an agent, trustee, custodian or other intermediary for contributions or other assets not included

on Form 990, Part X?

If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII and complete the following table:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amount

Beginning balance

Additions during the year

Distributions during the year

Ending balance

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization include an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 21, for escrow or custodial account liability?

If "Yes," explain the arrangement in Part XIII. Check here if the explanation has been provided on Part XIII

~~~~~

�������������

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 10.

Current year Prior year

Beginning of year balance

Contributions

Net investment earnings, gains, and losses

Grants or scholarships

~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~

Other expenditures for facilities

and programs

Administrative expenses

End of year balance

~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Provide the estimated percentage of the current year end balance (line 1g, column (a)) held as:

Board designated or quasi-endowment

Permanent endowment

Temporarily restricted endowment

The percentages on lines 2a, 2b, and 2c should equal 100% .

| %

| %

| %

Are there endowment funds not in the possession of the organization that are held and administered for the organization

by:

unrelated organizations

related organizations

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" on line 3a(ii), are the related organizations listed as required on Schedule R?

Describe in Part XIII the intended uses of the organization's endowment funds.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11a. See Form 990, Part X, line 10.

Description of property Cost or other
basis (investment)

Cost or other
basis (other)

Accumulated
depreciation

Book value

Land

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~

Equipment

Other

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

��������������������

Add lines 1a through 1e. |�������������

2
Part III Organizations Maintaining Collections of Art, Historical Treasures, or Other Similar Assets 

Part IV Escrow and Custodial Arrangements. 

Part V Endowment Funds. 

Part VI Land, Buildings, and Equipment.

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

405,433. 302,796. 102,637.
6,795,657. 2,198,133. 4,597,524.
373,632. 336,031. 37,601.

4,737,762.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 22



(including name of security)

632053  08-29-16

Total. 

Total. 

(a) (b) (c) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(a) (b) (c) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(a) (b) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Total. 

(a) (b) 1.

Total. 

2.

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016

(Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 15.)

(Column (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 25.)

Description of security or category 

(Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 12.) |

(Col. (b) must equal Form 990, Part X, col. (B) line 13.) |

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016 Page 

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11b. See Form 990, Part X, line 12.

Book value Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

Financial derivatives

Closely-held equity interests

Other

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

(H)

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11c. See Form 990, Part X, line 13.
Description of investment Book value Method of valuation: Cost or end-of-year market value

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11d. See Form 990, Part X, line 15.

Description Book value

���������������������������� |

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 11e or 11f. See Form 990, Part X, line 25.

Description of liability Book value

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

Federal income taxes

����� |

Liability for uncertain tax positions. In Part XIII, provide the text of the footnote to the organization's financial statements that reports the

organization's liability for uncertain tax positions under FIN 48 (ASC 740). Check here if the text of the footnote has been provided in Part XIII

3
Part VII Investments - Other Securities.

Part VIII Investments - Program Related.

Part IX Other Assets.

Part X Other Liabilities.

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 23



632054  08-29-16

1

2

3

4

5

1

a

b

c

d

e

2a

2b

2c

2d

2a 2d 2e

32e 1

a

b

c

4a

4b

4a 4b

3 4c. 

4c

5

1

2

3

4

5

1

a

b

c

d

e

2a

2b

2c

2d

2a 2d

2e 1

2e

3

a

b

c

4a

4b

4a 4b

3 4c. 

4c

5

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016

(This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 12.)

(This must equal Form 990, Part I, line 18.)

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016 Page 

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

Total revenue, gains, and other support per audited financial statements

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Donated services and use of facilities

Recoveries of prior year grants

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines through ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Subtract line from line ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amounts included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 12, but not on line 1:

Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines and 

Total revenue. Add lines and 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

�����������������

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 12a.

Total expenses and losses per audited financial statements

Amounts included on line 1 but not on Form 990, Part IX, line 25:

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Donated services and use of facilities

Prior year adjustments

Other losses

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines through 

Subtract line from line 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Amounts included on Form 990, Part IX, line 25, but not on line 1:

Investment expenses not included on Form 990, Part VIII, line 7b

Other (Describe in Part XIII.)

~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Add lines and 

Total expenses. Add lines and 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

����������������

Provide the descriptions required for Part II, lines 3, 5, and 9; Part III, lines 1a and 4; Part IV, lines 1b and 2b; Part V, line 4; Part X, line 2; Part XI,

lines 2d and 4b; and Part XII, lines 2d and 4b. Also complete this part to provide any additional information.

4
Part XI Reconciliation of Revenue per Audited Financial Statements With Revenue per Return.

Part XII Reconciliation of Expenses per Audited Financial Statements With Expenses per Return.

Part XIII Supplemental Information.

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

111,392,524.

0.
111,392,524.

0.
111,392,524.

107,422,680.

0.
107,422,680.

0.
107,422,680.

PART X, LINE 2:

THE ORGANIZATION UTILIZES THE ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS ASSOCIATED WITH

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD (FASB) ASC 740, INCOME TAXES. USING

THAT GUIDANCE, TAX POSITIONS INITIALLY NEED TO BE RECOGNIZED IN THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WHEN IT IS MORE-THAN-LIKELY-NOT THE POSITIONS WILL BE

SUSTAINED UPON EXAMINATION BY THE TAX AUTHORITIES. IT ALSO PROVIDES

GUIDANCE FOR DERECOGNITION, CLASSIFICATION, INTEREST AND PENALTIES,

ACCOUNTING IN INTERIM PERIODS, DISCLOSURE AND TRANSITION. AS OF JUNE 30,

2017, THE ORGANIZATION HAS NO UNCERTAIN TAX PROVISIONS THAT QUALIFY FOR

EITHER RECOGNITION OR DISCLOSURE IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 24



632055  08-29-16

5

Schedule D (Form 990) 2016

(continued)
Schedule D (Form 990) 2016 Page 
Part XIII Supplemental Information 

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 25



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

632071  09-21-16

| Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 14b, 15, or 16.

| Attach to Form 990.

| Information about Schedule F (Form 990) and its instructions is at 
Open to Public 
Inspection

Employer identification number

1

2

3

For grantmakers. 

Yes No

For grantmakers. 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) 

3 a

b

c Totals 

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule F (Form 990) 2016

Name of the organization

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on

Form 990, Part IV, line 14b.

Does the organization maintain records to substantiate the amount of its grants and other assistance,

the grantees' eligibility for the grants or assistance, and the selection criteria used to award the grants or assistance? ~~

Describe in Part V the organization's procedures for monitoring the use of its grants and other assistance outside the

United States.

Activities per Region. (The following Part I, line 3 table can be duplicated if additional space is needed.)

Region Number of
offices

in the region

Number of
employees,
agents, and
independent
contractors
in the region

Activities conducted in the region
(by type) (such as, fundraising, pro-

gram services, investments, grants to
recipients located in the region)

If activity listed in (d)
is a program service,
describe specific type

of service(s) in the region

Total
expenditures

for and
investments
in the region

Sub-total ~~~~~~

Total from continuation

sheets to Part I ~~~

(add lines 3a

and 3b) ������

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

(Form 990)

Part I General Information on Activities Outside the United States. 

SCHEDULE F Statement of Activities Outside the United States 2016

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

EAST ASIA AND THE
PACIFIC 0 1 PROGRAM SERVICES REPRESENT VISIT FLORIDA 600,309.

EUROPE (INCLUDING
ICELAND & GREENLAND) 0 4 PROGRAM SERVICES REPRESENT VISIT FLORIDA 2,378,404.

NORTH AMERICA 0 1 PROGRAM SERVICES REPRESENT VISIT FLORIDA 225,874.

SOUTH AMERICA 0 4 PROGRAM SERVICES REPRESENT VISIT FLORIDA 767,783.

SOUTH ASIA 0 1 PROGRAM SERVICES REPRESENT VISIT FLORIDA 173,118.

0 11 4,145,488.

0 0 0.

0 11 4,145,488.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 26



6
3

2
0

7
2

  
0

9
-2

1
-1

6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I
G

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(a
) 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1 2 3

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 F

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

1
6

IR
S

 c
od

e 
se

ct
io

n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
1

6
P

a
g

e
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 if
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
sw

e
re

d
 "

Y
e
s"

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 I
V

, 
lin

e
 1

5
, 
fo

r 
a
n

y

re
c
ip

ie
n

t 
w

h
o

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d

 m
o

re
 t

h
a
n

 $
5

,0
0

0
. 
P

a
rt

 I
I 
c
a
n

 b
e
 d

u
p

lic
a
te

d
 if

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
R

e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

E
n

te
r 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
c
ip

ie
n

t 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s 

lis
te

d
 a

b
o

ve
 t

h
a
t 

a
re

 r
e
c
o

g
n

iz
e
d

 a
s 

c
h

a
ri
ti
e
s 

b
y 

th
e
 f

o
re

ig
n

 c
o

u
n

tr
y,

 r
e
c
o

g
n

iz
e
d

 a
s 

ta
x-

e
xe

m
p

t 
b

y

th
e
 I
R

S
, 
o

r 
fo

r 
w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 g

ra
n

te
e
 o

r 
c
o

u
n

se
l h

a
s 

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

 a
 s

e
c
ti
o

n
 5

0
1

(c
)(
3

) 
e
q

u
iv

a
le

n
c
y 

le
tt

e
r

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
|

E
n

te
r 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
th

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s 

o
r 

e
n

ti
ti
e
s

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
|

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

EA
ST

 A
SI

A 
AN
D 
TH
E

PA
CI

FI
C

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

19
,9
98
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EA
ST

 A
SI

A 
AN
D 
TH
E

PR
 &
 M
AR
KE
TI
NG
 &

PA
CI

FI
C

EV
EN
TS

50
1,
12
9.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

6,
46
9.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

10
,0
00
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

16
,7
73
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

31
,9
75
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

42
,2
45
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

95
,3
92
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

5
7

 
2
7



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

17
0,
11
5.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

23
6,
80
5.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

8,
36
3.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

5,
00
0.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

5,
09
2.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

5,
47
8.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

10
,0
00
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

10
,0
00
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

13
,2
52
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

 
2
8



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

15
,5
19
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

17
,2
00
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

24
,6
24
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

24
,6
74
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

25
,4
67
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

28
,2
19
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

32
,4
05
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

38
,9
30
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

49
,3
32
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

 
2
9



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

59
,5
76
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

84
,4
23
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

89
,7
60
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

94
,3
58
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

10
0,
00
0.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

14
2,
76
3.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

18
0,
00
0.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

19
7,
81
2.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PR
OM
OT
IO
NS

21
9,
39
5.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

 
3
0



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

31
3,
17
3.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

40
5,
90
8.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

EU
RO

PE
 (

IN
CL
UD
IN
G

IC
EL

AN
D 

&
GR

EE
NL

AN
D)

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

49
2,
38
9.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

MI
DD

LE
 E

AS
T 
AN
D

NO
RT

H 
AF

RI
CA

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

18
,0
81
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

6,
75
2.
CR
ED
IT
 C
AR

D
0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

8,
40
0.
CH
EC
K

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

10
,0
00
.C
HE
CK

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

10
,1
00
.C
HE
CK
, 
AC
H

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

14
,0
67
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

 
3
1



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

TO
UR
IS
M 
RE
SE
AR
CH

31
,0
00
.C
HE
CK

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

TO
UR
IS
M 
RE
SE
AR
CH

42
,6
00
.C
HE
CK

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

52
,8
67
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

TO
UR
IS
M 
RE
SE
AR
CH

79
,7
56
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

AD
VE
RT
IS
IN
G

88
,7
03
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF
ER

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

PU
BL
IC
 R
EL
AT
IO
NS

18
1,
70
0.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS

FE
R

0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

89
,6
55
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

NO
RT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

10
3,
90
0.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

SO
UT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

13
,0
00
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

 
3
2



6
3

2
1

8
2

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I

(a
) 

C
o

n
ti

n
u

a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
 o

r 
E

n
ti

ti
e

s
 O

u
ts

id
e

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
. 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(i
) 

1
IR

S
 c

od
e 

se
ct

io
n

an
d 

EI
N

 (
if 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I,
 li

n
e
 1

)

R
e
g

io
n

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f

g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t

o
f 

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
o

f 
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

SO
UT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

16
,6
30
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

SO
UT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

70
,6
01
.W
IR
E 
TR
AN
SF

ER
0.

SO
UT

H 
AM

ER
IC
A

MA
RK
ET
IN
G 
& 
EV
EN
TS

88
5,
22
8.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

PR
 A
ND
 M
AR
KE
TI
NG
 &

SO
UT

H 
AS

IA
EV
EN
TS

15
3,
91
4.
WI
RE
 T
RA
NS
FE
R

0.

 
3
3



6
3

2
0

7
3

  
0

9
-2

1
-1

6

3

P
a

rt
 I

II
G

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 I
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 O
u

ts
id

e
 t

h
e

 U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
. 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(f
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

(a
) 

(b
) 

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 F

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

1
6

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 F
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
1

6
P

a
g

e
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 if
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
sw

e
re

d
 "

Y
e
s"

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 I
V

, 
lin

e
 1

6
.

P
a
rt

 I
II
 c

a
n

 b
e
 d

u
p

lic
a
te

d
 if

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f

re
c
ip

ie
n

ts
A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f
c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

M
a
n

n
e
r 

o
f

c
a
sh

 d
is

b
u

rs
e
m

e
n

t
A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f
n

o
n

c
a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f
n

o
n

c
a
sh

 a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
(b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

,
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

T
yp

e
 o

f 
g

ra
n

t 
o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

R
e
g

io
n

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

 
3
4



632074  09-21-16

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

Schedule F (Form 990) 2016

 If "Yes," the
organization may be required to file Form 926, Return by a U.S. Transferor of Property to a Foreign
Corporation (see Instructions for Form 926)

If "Yes," the organization
may be required to separately file Form 3520, Annual Return To Report Transactions With Foreign
Trusts and Receipt of Certain Foreign Gifts, and/or Form 3520-A, Annual Information Return of Foreign
Trust With a U.S. Owner (see Instructions for Forms 3520 and 3520-A; do not file with Form 990)

If "Yes,"
the organization may be required to file Form 5471, Information Return of U.S. Persons With Respect To
Certain Foreign Corporations (see Instructions for Form 5471)

If "Yes," the organization may be required to file Form 8621,
Information Return by a Shareholder of a Passive Foreign Investment Company or Qualified Electing Fund
(see Instructions for Form 8621)

If "Yes,"
the organization may be required to file Form 8865, Return of U.S. Persons With Respect to Certain
Foreign Partnerships (see Instructions for Form 8865)

 If
"Yes," the organization may be required to separately file Form 5713, International Boycott Report (see
Instructions for Form 5713; do not file with Form 990)

Schedule F (Form 990) 2016 Page 

Was the organization a U.S. transferor of property to a foreign corporation during the tax year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Did the organization have an interest in a foreign trust during the tax year? 

~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Did the organization have an ownership interest in a foreign corporation during the tax year? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Was the organization a direct or indirect shareholder of a passive foreign investment company or a

qualified electing fund during the tax year? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Did the organization have an ownership interest in a foreign partnership during the tax year? 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Did the organization have any operations in or related to any boycotting countries during the tax year?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ Yes No

Part IV Foreign Forms

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

X

X

X

X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 35



632075  09-21-16

5

Schedule F (Form 990) 2016

Schedule F (Form 990) 2016 Page 

Provide the information required by Part I, line 2 (monitoring of funds); Part I, line 3, column (f) (accounting method; amounts of

investments vs. expenditures per region); Part II, line 1 (accounting method); Part III (accounting method); and Part III, column (c)

(estimated number of recipients), as applicable. Also complete this part to provide any additional information. See instructions.

Part V Supplemental Information

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 36



O
M

B
 N

o
. 

1
5

4
5

-0
0

4
7

D
e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 T

re
a
s
u

ry

In
te

rn
a
l 
R

e
v
e
n

u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e

6
3

2
1

0
1

  
1

1
-0

1
-1

6

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 I
(F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

C
o

m
p

le
te

 i
f 

th
e

 o
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
s
w

e
re

d
 "

Y
e

s
" 

o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 I
V

, 
li
n

e
 2

1
 o

r 
2

2
.

|
 A

tt
a

c
h

 t
o

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

.

|
 I

n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 a

b
o

u
t 

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 I

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

a
n

d
 i
ts

 i
n

s
tr

u
c

ti
o

n
s
 i
s
 a

t 

O
p

e
n

 t
o

 P
u

b
li
c

In
s
p

e
c

ti
o

n

E
m

p
lo

ye
r 

id
e

n
ti

fi
c

a
ti

o
n

 n
u

m
b

e
r

G
e

n
e

ra
l 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 o
n

 G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

P
a

rt
 I

1 2

Y
e

s
N

o

P
a

rt
 I

I
G

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 D
o

m
e

s
ti

c
 O

rg
a

n
iz

a
ti

o
n

s
 a

n
d

 D
o

m
e

s
ti

c
 G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

ts
. 

(f
) 

1
 (

a
) 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(e
) 

(g
) 

(h
) 

2 3

F
o

r 
P

a
p

e
rw

o
rk

 R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

 A
c

t 
N

o
ti

c
e

, 
s
e

e
 t

h
e

 I
n

s
tr

u
c

ti
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

F
o

rm
 9

9
0

.
S

c
h

e
d

u
le

 I
 (

F
o

rm
 9

9
0

) 
(2

0
1

6
)

N
a
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n

D
o

e
s 

th
e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 m

a
in

ta
in

 r
e
c
o

rd
s 

to
 s

u
b

st
a
n

ti
a
te

 t
h

e
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 g

ra
n

ts
 o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e
, 
th

e
 g

ra
n

te
e
s'

 e
lig

ib
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

th
e
 g

ra
n

ts
 o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e
, 
a
n

d
 t

h
e
 s

e
le

c
ti
o

n
 

c
ri
te

ri
a
 u

se
d

 t
o

 a
w

a
rd

 t
h

e
 g

ra
n

ts
 o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e
?

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

D
e
sc

ri
b

e
 in

 P
a
rt

 I
V

 t
h

e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
's

 p
ro

c
e
d

u
re

s 
fo

r 
m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 t

h
e
 u

se
 o

f 
g

ra
n

t 
fu

n
d

s 
in

 t
h

e
 U

n
it
e
d

 S
ta

te
s.

C
o

m
p

le
te

 if
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
sw

e
re

d
 "

Y
e
s"

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 I
V

, 
lin

e
 2

1
, 
fo

r 
a
n

y

re
c
ip

ie
n

t 
th

a
t 

re
c
e
iv

e
d

 m
o

re
 t

h
a
n

 $
5

,0
0

0
. 
P

a
rt

 I
I 
c
a
n

 b
e
 d

u
p

lic
a
te

d
 if

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.
M

e
th

o
d

 o
f

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 (
b

o
o

k,
F

M
V

, 
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l,

o
th

e
r)

N
a
m

e
 a

n
d

 a
d

d
re

ss
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
o

r 
g

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
E

IN
IR

C
 s

e
c
ti
o

n
(if

 a
p

p
lic

a
b

le
)

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f
n

o
n

c
a
sh

 a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f 
g

ra
n

t
o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

E
n

te
r 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

se
c
ti
o

n
 5

0
1

(c
)(
3

) 
a
n

d
 g

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s 

lis
te

d
 in

 t
h

e
 li

n
e
 1

 t
a
b

le

E
n

te
r 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
th

e
r 

o
rg

a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s 

lis
te

d
 in

 t
h

e
 li

n
e
 1

 t
a
b

le

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

~
~

|

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

|

L
H

A

w
w

w
.ir

s.
go

v/
fo

rm
99

0.

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s
,

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
ts

, 
a

n
d

 I
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 i
n

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s

20
16

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

X

BA
CH
 F

ES
TI

VA
L 

SO
CI

ET
Y 

OF
 W

IN
TE

R
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

PA
RK
 -

 1
00

0 
HO

LT
 A

VE
, 

#2
76

3 
-

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

WI
NT
ER

 P
AR

K,
 F

L 
32

78
9

59
-6

01
59

59
50
1(
C)
(3
)

7,
50
0.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

CO
LU
MB

IA
 C

OU
NT

Y 
TO

UR
IS

T
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

DE
VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
CO

UN
CI

L 
- 

P.
O.

 B
OX

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

15
29
 -

 L
AK

E 
CI

TY
, 

FL
 3

20
56

59
-6

00
05

64
CO
UN
TY
 G
OV
'T

6,
09
6.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

DE
ST
IN

 A
RE

A 
CH

AM
BE

R 
OF

 C
OM

ME
RC

E
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

44
84
 L

EG
EN

DA
RY

 D
RI

VE
, 

SU
IT

E 
A

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

DE
ST
IN

, 
FL

 3
25

41
59

11
45

15
0

50
1(
C)
(6
)

6,
16
9.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

DI
SC
OV

ER
 T

HE
 P

AL
M 

BE
AC

HE
S

SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

15
55
 P

AL
M 

BE
AC

H 
LA

KE
S 

BL
VD

.,
 S

TE
. 

8
PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

WE
ST
 P

AL
M 

BE
AC

H,
 F

L 
33

40
1

59
-2

32
11

12
CO
UN
TY
 G
OV
'T

27
,2
50
.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

FL
OR
ID

A 
PA

DD
LI

NG
 T

RA
IL

S
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

AS
SO
CI

AT
IO

N 
- 

PO
 B

OX
 1

42
08

2 
-

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

GA
IN
ES

VI
LL

E,
 F

L 
32

61
4

11
-3

82
78

08
50
1(
C)
(3
)

6,
50
0.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

FR
AN
KL

IN
 C

OU
NT

Y 
TO

UR
IS

T
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

DE
VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
CO

UN
CI

L 
- 

73
1 

US
PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

HI
GH
WA

Y 
98

 -
 E

AS
TP

OI
NT

, 
FL

 3
23

28
59

-6
00

06
12

50
1(
C)
(3
)

7,
50
0.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

9
.

3
.

 
3
7



6
3

2
2

4
1

0
4

-0
1

-1
6

P
a

rt
 I

I
C

o
n

ti
n

u
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
G

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

 O
th

e
r 

A
s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

rg
a

n
iz

a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 U

n
it

e
d

 S
ta

te
s
 

(a
)

(b
)

(c
)

(d
)

(e
)

(f
)

(g
)

(h
)

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 I

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 I
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
)

P
a
g

e
 1

(S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 I
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
),
 P

a
rt

 I
I.
)

 N
a
m

e
 a

n
d

 a
d

d
re

ss
 o

f 
o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 o

r 
g

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
 E

IN
 I
R

C
 s

e
c
ti
o

n
if 

a
p

p
lic

a
b

le
 A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

 A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

n
o

n
-c

a
sh

a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

 M
e
th

o
d

 o
f 

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
 

(b
o

o
k,

 F
M

V
, 

a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

 D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f
n

o
n

-c
a
sh

 a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

 P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f 
g

ra
n

t
o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

FR
IE
ND

S 
OF

 A
1A

 S
CE

NI
C 

& 
HI

ST
OR

IC
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

CO
AS
TA

L 
BY

WA
Y,

 I
NC

. 
- 

21
75

 M
IZ

EL
L

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

RD
 -
 S

T.
 A

UG
US

TI
NE

, 
FL

 3
20

80
01

-0
81

70
26

50
1(
C)
(3
)

6,
72
8.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

GR
EA
TE

R 
MI

AM
I 

CO
NV

EN
TI

ON
 A

ND
SU
PP
OR
T/
PR
OM
OT
E 
NE
W

VI
SI
TO

RS
 B

UR
EA

U 
- 

70
1 

BR
IC

KW
EL

L
FL
OR
ID
A 
DE
ST
IN
AT
IO
N

AV
E,
 S

UI
TE

 2
70

0 
- 

MI
AM

I,
 F

L 
33

13
1

59
-2

38
37

35
50
1(
C)
(6
)

31
,0
00
.

0.
AI
RL
IN
E 
SE
RV
IC
ES

JE
FF
ER

SO
N 

CO
UN

TY
 T

OU
RI

ST
DE
VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
CO

UN
CI

L 
- 

45
0 

WE
ST

SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

WA
LN
UT

 S
TR

EE
T 

- 
MO

NT
IC

EL
LO

, 
FL

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

32
34
4

59
-6

00
06

90
CO
UN
TY
 G
OV
'T

6,
60
0.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

PA
DD
LE

 F
LO

RI
DA

, 
IN

C.
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

PO
 B
OX

 5
95

3
PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

GA
IN
ES

VI
LL

E,
 F

L 
32

62
7

27
-4

62
81

50
50
1(
C)
(3
)

6,
99
3.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

RO
MA
NZ

A 
ST

 A
UG

US
TI

NE
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

83
 B
RI

DG
E 

ST
RE

ET
PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

ST
. 
AU

GU
ST

IN
E,

 F
L 

32
08

4
27

-0
67

88
40

50
1(
C)
(3
)

7,
50
0.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

VI
SI
T 

TA
MP

A 
BA

Y
SU
PP
OR
T 
PR
OG
RA
MS
 T
O

40
1 
EA

ST
 J

AC
KS

ON
 S

TR
EE

T 
SU

IT
E 

21
00

PR
OM
OT
E 
TO
UR
IS
M 
TO

TA
MP
A,

 F
L 

33
60

2
59

-2
52

91
18

50
1(
C)
(6
)

12
,7
50
.

0.
FL
OR
ID
A

 
3
8



6
3

2
1

0
2

  
1

1
-0

1
-1

6

2
P

a
rt

 I
II

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 O

th
e

r 
A

s
s
is

ta
n

c
e

 t
o

 D
o

m
e

s
ti

c
 I

n
d

iv
id

u
a

ls
. 

(e
) 

(a
) 

(b
) 

(c
) 

(d
) 

(f
) 

P
a

rt
 I

V
S

u
p

p
le

m
e

n
ta

l 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

. 

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 I

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

(2
0

1
6

)

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 I
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
(2

0
1

6
)

P
a
g

e
 

C
o

m
p

le
te

 if
 t

h
e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 a

n
sw

e
re

d
 "

Y
e
s"

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 I
V

, 
lin

e
 2

2
.

P
a
rt

 I
II
 c

a
n

 b
e
 d

u
p

lic
a
te

d
 if

 a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.

M
e
th

o
d

 o
f 

va
lu

a
ti
o

n
(b

o
o

k,
 F

M
V

, 
a
p

p
ra

is
a
l, 

o
th

e
r)

T
yp

e
 o

f 
g

ra
n

t 
o

r 
a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f

re
c
ip

ie
n

ts
A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f
c
a
sh

 g
ra

n
t

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

n
o

n
-

c
a
sh

 a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

D
e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
 o

f 
n

o
n

c
a
sh

 a
ss

is
ta

n
c
e

P
ro

vi
d

e
 t

h
e
 in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 r

e
q

u
ir
e
d

 in
 P

a
rt

 I
, 
lin

e
 2

; 
P

a
rt

 I
II
, 
c
o

lu
m

n
 (
b

);
 a

n
d

 a
n

y 
o

th
e
r 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l i

n
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
.

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

S
C
H
E
D
U
L
E
 
I
:
 
P
A
R
T
 
I
,
 
L
I
N
E
 
2

A
L
L
 
G
R
A
N
T
S
 
R
E
Q
U
I
R
E
 
A
N
 
A
P
P
L
I
C
A
T
I
O
N
 
F
O
R
M
,
 
A
C
C
O
M
P
A
N
I
E
D
 
B
Y
 
A
 
D
E
T
A
I
L
E
D

P
R
O
P
O
S
A
L
.
 
T
H
E
 
O
R
G
A
N
I
Z
A
T
I
O
N
 
H
A
S
 
D
E
V
E
L
O
P
E
D
 
A
N
D
 
I
M
P
L
E
M
E
N
T
E
D
 
C
O
M
P
R
E
H
E
N
S
I
V
E

S
E
L
E
C
T
I
O
N
 
C
R
I
T
E
R
I
A
 
A
N
D
 
R
E
Q
U
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
S
 
F
O
R
 
R
E
I
M
B
U
R
S
E
M
E
N
T
.
 
G
R
A
N
T
S
 
A
R
E
 
N
O
T

P
A
I
D
 
U
N
T
I
L
 
A
L
L
 
R
E
Q
U
I
R
E
M
E
N
T
S
 
F
O
R
 
R
E
I
M
B
U
R
S
E
M
E
N
T
 
A
R
E
 
M
E
T
.

 
3
9



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

632111  09-09-16

For certain Officers, Directors, Trustees, Key Employees, and Highest
Compensated Employees

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 23.
Open to Public

Inspection
Attach to Form 990.

| Information about Schedule J (Form 990) and its instructions is at 
Employer identification number

Yes No

1a

b

1b

2

2

3

4

a

b

c

4a

4b

4c

Only section 501(c)(3), 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations must complete lines 5-9.

5

5a

5b

6a

6b

7

8

9

a

b

6

a

b

7

8

9

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990. Schedule J (Form 990) 2016

|
|

Name of the organization

Check the appropriate box(es) if the organization provided any of the following to or for a person listed on Form 990,

Part VII, Section A, line 1a. Complete Part III to provide any relevant information regarding these items.

First-class or charter travel

Travel for companions

Housing allowance or residence for personal use

Payments for business use of personal residence

Tax indemnification and gross-up payments

Discretionary spending account

Health or social club dues or initiation fees

Personal services (such as, maid, chauffeur, chef)

If any of the boxes on line 1a are checked, did the organization follow a written policy regarding payment or

reimbursement or provision of all of the expenses described above? If "No," complete Part III to explain~~~~~~~~~~~

Did the organization require substantiation prior to reimbursing or allowing expenses incurred by all directors,

trustees, and officers, including the CEO/Executive Director, regarding the items checked on line 1a? ~~~~~~~~~~~~

Indicate which, if any, of the following the filing organization used to establish the compensation of the organization's

CEO/Executive Director. Check all that apply. Do not check any boxes for methods used by a related organization to

establish compensation of the CEO/Executive Director, but explain in Part III.

Compensation committee

Independent compensation consultant

Form 990 of other organizations

Written employment contract

Compensation survey or study

Approval by the board or compensation committee

During the year, did any person listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, with respect to the filing

organization or a related organization:

Receive a severance payment or change-of-control payment?

Participate in, or receive payment from, a supplemental nonqualified retirement plan?

Participate in, or receive payment from, an equity-based compensation arrangement?

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" to any of lines 4a-c, list the persons and provide the applicable amounts for each item in Part III.

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation

contingent on the revenues of:

The organization?

Any related organization?

If "Yes" on line 5a or 5b, describe in Part III.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization pay or accrue any compensation

contingent on the net earnings of:

The organization?

Any related organization?

If "Yes" on line 6a or 6b, describe in Part III.

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

For persons listed on Form 990, Part VII, Section A, line 1a, did the organization provide any nonfixed payments

not described on lines 5 and 6? If "Yes," describe in Part III

Were any amounts reported on Form 990, Part VII, paid or accrued pursuant to a contract that was subject to the

initial contract exception described in Regulations section 53.4958-4(a)(3)? If "Yes," describe in Part III

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

~~~~~~~~~~~

If "Yes" on line 8, did the organization also follow the rebuttable presumption procedure described in

Regulations section 53.4958-6(c)? ���������������������������������������������

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

SCHEDULE J
(Form 990)

Part I Questions Regarding Compensation

Compensation Information

2016

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

X

X

X

X

X X

X

X
X

X

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 40



6
3

2
1

1
2

  
0

9
-0

9
-1

6

2

P
a

rt
 I

I
O

ff
ic

e
rs

, 
D

ir
e

c
to

rs
, 
T

ru
s
te

e
s
, 
K

e
y 

E
m

p
lo

ye
e

s
, 
a

n
d

 H
ig

h
e

s
t 

C
o

m
p

e
n

s
a

te
d

 E
m

p
lo

ye
e

s
. 

N
o

te
: 

(B
) 

(C
) 

 
(D

) 
 

(E
) 

 
(F

) 

(i
) 

(i
i)

 
(i

ii
) 

(A
) 

(i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i) (i
)

(i
i)

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 J

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

1
6

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
1

6
P

a
g

e
 

U
se

 d
u

p
lic

a
te

 c
o

p
ie

s 
if 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l s

p
a
c
e
 is

 n
e
e
d

e
d

.

F
o

r 
e
a
c
h

 in
d

iv
id

u
a
l w

h
o

se
 c

o
m

p
e
n

sa
ti
o

n
 m

u
st

 b
e
 r

e
p

o
rt

e
d

 o
n

 S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
, 
re

p
o

rt
 c

o
m

p
e
n

sa
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 o

rg
a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
 o

n
 r

o
w

 (
i) 

a
n

d
 f

ro
m

 r
e
la

te
d

 o
rg

a
n

iz
a
ti
o

n
s,

 d
e
sc

ri
b

e
d

 in
 t

h
e
 in

st
ru

c
ti
o

n
s,

 o
n

 r
o

w
 (
ii)

.
D

o
 n

o
t 

lis
t 

a
n

y 
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

 t
h

a
t 

a
re

n
't

 li
st

e
d

 o
n

 F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 V
II
.

T
h

e
 s

u
m

 o
f 

c
o

lu
m

n
s 

(B
)(
i)-

(ii
i) 

fo
r 

e
a
c
h

 li
st

e
d

 in
d

iv
id

u
a
l m

u
st

 e
q

u
a
l t

h
e
 t

o
ta

l a
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

F
o

rm
 9

9
0

, 
P

a
rt

 V
II
, 
S

e
c
ti
o

n
 A

, 
lin

e
 1

a
, 
a
p

p
lic

a
b

le
 c

o
lu

m
n

 (
D

) 
a
n

d
 (
E

) 
a
m

o
u

n
ts

 f
o

r 
th

a
t 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
l.

B
re

a
kd

o
w

n
 o

f 
W

-2
 a

n
d

/o
r 

1
0

9
9

-M
IS

C
 c

o
m

p
e
n

sa
ti
o

n
R

e
ti
re

m
e
n

t 
a
n

d
o

th
e
r 

d
e
fe

rr
e
d

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

N
o

n
ta

xa
b

le
b

e
n

e
fit

s
T

o
ta

l o
f 

c
o

lu
m

n
s

(B
)(
i)-

(D
)

C
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n
in

 c
o

lu
m

n
 (
B

)
re

p
o

rt
e
d

 a
s 

d
e
fe

rr
e
d

o
n

 p
ri
o

r 
F

o
rm

 9
9

0

B
a
se

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n
B

o
n

u
s 

&
in

c
e
n

ti
ve

c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

O
th

e
r

re
p

o
rt

a
b

le
c
o

m
p

e
n

sa
ti
o

n

N
a
m

e
 a

n
d

 T
it
le

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

(1
) 
 D

OD
D,

 D
AV

ID
 L

.
1
4
5
,
9
5
2
.

0
.

0
.

9
,
2
0
0
.

2
2
,
3
9
1
.

1
7
7
,
5
4
3
.

0
.

VP
, 
VI

SI
TO

R 
SE

RV
IC

ES
0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(2
) 
 D

EC
LA

IR
E,

 T
IM

1
5
2
,
1
9
2
.

0
.

0
.

1
,
5
6
7
.

2
2
,
5
6
2
.

1
7
6
,
3
2
1
.

0
.

IN
TE
RI

M 
DI

RE
CT

OR
, 

IN
T'

L 
MA

RK
ET

IN
G

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(3
) 
 G

ON
ZA

LE
Z,

 A
LF

RE
DO

1
9
8
,
4
8
6
.

0
.

0
.

1
2
,
0
7
7
.

1
6
,
2
9
6
.

2
2
6
,
8
5
9
.

0
.

VP
, 
GL

OB
AL

 M
TG

S 
& 

TR
AV

EL
 T

RA
DE

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(4
) 
 S

QU
IR

ES
-S

WA
NS

ON
, 

MA
RL

EN
E

1
5
5
,
5
1
1
.

0
.

0
.

9
,
5
7
0
.

2
2
,
5
6
2
.

1
8
7
,
6
4
3
.

0
.

DI
RE
CT

OR
, 

PA
ID

 M
ED

IA
0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(5
) 
 F

AU
LK

, 
KI

MB
ER

LY
 D

.
1
4
1
,
7
1
1
.

0
.

0
.

8
,
5
6
9
.

2
2
,
5
6
2
.

1
7
2
,
8
4
2
.

0
.

VP
, 
DO

ME
ST

IC
 S

AL
ES

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(6
) 
 F

IE
LD

S,
 E

VA
NG

EL
IN

E 
R

3
3
9
,
0
4
0
.

0
.

0
.

1
9
,
5
4
1
.

6
5
4
.

3
5
9
,
2
3
5
.

0
.

FO
RM
ER

 C
FO

/C
OO

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(7
) 
 P

HI
PP

S,
 P

AU
L

2
8
6
,
9
1
0
.

0
.

0
.

1
7
,
1
5
0
.

1
6
,
1
4
0
.

3
2
0
,
2
0
0
.

0
.

FO
RM
ER

 C
MO

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(8
) 
 S

EC
CO

MB
E,

 W
IL

LI
AM

4
3
2
,
0
4
1
.

0
.

0
.

2
0
,
3
2
5
.

2
2
,
5
6
2
.

4
7
4
,
9
2
8
.

0
.

FO
RM
ER

 C
EO

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

(9
) 
 C

OS
TE

LL
O,

 S
US

AN
NA

H
2
0
7
,
8
8
4
.

0
.

0
.

1
2
,
7
9
9
.

9
,
5
4
8
.

2
3
0
,
2
3
1
.

0
.

FO
RM
ER

 V
P,

 B
RA

ND
0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

0
.

 
4
1



6
3

2
1

1
3

  
0

9
-0

9
-1

6

3

P
a

rt
 I

II
S

u
p

p
le

m
e

n
ta

l 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

S
c

h
e

d
u

le
 J

 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 

2
0

1
6

S
c
h

e
d

u
le

 J
 (
F

o
rm

 9
9

0
) 
2

0
1

6
P

a
g

e
 

P
ro

vi
d

e
 t

h
e
 in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
, 
e
xp

la
n

a
ti
o

n
, 
o

r 
d

e
sc

ri
p

ti
o

n
s 

re
q

u
ir
e
d

 f
o

r 
P

a
rt

 I
, 
lin

e
s 

1
a
, 
1

b
, 
3

, 
4

a
, 
4

b
, 
4

c
, 
5

a
, 
5

b
, 
6

a
, 
6

b
, 
7

, 
a
n

d
 8

, 
a
n

d
 f

o
r 

P
a
rt

 I
I.
 A

ls
o

 c
o

m
p

le
te

 t
h

is
 p

a
rt

 f
o

r 
a
n

y 
a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l i

n
fo

rm
a
ti
o

n
. 

F
L
O
R
I
D
A
 
T
O
U
R
I
S
M
 
I
N
D
U
S
T
R
Y
 
M
A
R
K
E
T
I
N
G

C
O
R
P
,
 
I
N
C
.

5
9
-
3
3
5
9
2
9
3

P
A
R
T
 
I
,
 
L
I
N
E
 
1
A

F
I
R
S
T
 
C
L
A
S
S
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
:
 
T
H
E
 
O
R
G
A
N
I
Z
A
T
I
O
N
'
S
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
P
O
L
I
C
Y
 
D
O
E
S
 
N
O
T
 
P
E
R
M
I
T

E
M
P
L
O
Y
E
E
S
 
T
O
 
T
R
A
V
E
L
 
F
I
R
S
T
 
C
L
A
S
S
 
V
I
A
 
A
I
R
;
 
H
O
W
E
V
E
R
,
 
E
X
C
E
P
T
I
O
N
S
 
H
A
V
E
 
B
E
E
N

M
A
D
E
 
D
U
E
 
T
O
 
E
X
T
E
N
U
A
T
I
N
G
 
C
I
R
C
U
M
S
T
A
N
C
E
S
.

S
O
C
I
A
L
 
&
 
H
E
A
L
T
H
 
C
L
U
B
 
D
U
E
S
:

W
I
L
L
I
A
M
 
S
E
C
C
O
M
B
E
:
 
$
1
,
8
9
8

P
A
U
L
 
P
H
I
P
P
S
:
 
$
5
8
5

H
E
A
L
T
H
 
C
L
U
B
 
D
U
E
S
 
A
R
E
 
I
N
C
L
U
D
E
D
 
I
N
 
T
H
E
 
I
N
D
I
V
I
D
U
A
L
'
S
 
C
O
M
P
E
N
S
A
T
I
O
N
.
 
 
T
H
E

S
O
C
I
A
L
 
C
L
U
B
 
D
U
E
S
 
A
R
E
 
P
A
I
D
 
T
O
 
H
A
V
E
 
A
C
C
E
S
S
 
T
O
 
M
E
E
T
I
N
G
 
S
P
A
C
E
.

 
4
2



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

Loan to or
from the

organization?

632131  10-24-16

 Information about Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ) and its instructions is at

(Form 990 or 990-EZ) | Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 25a, 25b, 26, 27, 28a,
28b, or 28c, or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 38a or 40b.

Open To Public
Inspection

| Attach to Form 990 or Form 990-EZ.
|  

Employer identification number

1 (b) (d) 
(a) (c) 

Yes No

2

3

(a) (c) (e) (g) (h) (i) (d) (b) (f) 

Yes No Yes No Yes No

Total

(b) (a) (c) (d) (e) 

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016

Approved
by board or
committee?

Written
agreement?

Relationship
with organization

Name of the organization

(section 501(c)(3), section 501(c)(4), and 501(c)(29) organizations only).

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 25a or 25b, or Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 40b.

Relationship between disqualified
person and organization

Corrected?
Name of disqualified person Description of transaction

Enter the amount of tax incurred by the organization managers or disqualified persons during the year under

section 4958 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |

|

$

$Enter the amount of tax, if any, on line 2, above, reimbursed by the organization ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990-EZ, Part V, line 38a or Form 990, Part IV, line 26; or if the organization

reported an amount on Form 990, Part X, line 5, 6, or 22.

Name of
interested person

Purpose
of loan

Original
principal amount

 In
default?

Balance due

To From

���������������������������������������� | $

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 27.

Relationship between
interested person and

the organization

Name of interested person Amount of
assistance

Type of
assistance

Purpose of
assistance

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

SCHEDULE L

Part I Excess Benefit Transactions 

Part II Loans to and/or From Interested Persons.

Part III Grants or Assistance Benefiting Interested Persons.

Transactions With Interested Persons
2016

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 43



632132  10-24-16

2

(e) (a) (b) (c) (d) 

Yes No

Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016

Schedule L (Form 990 or 990-EZ) 2016 Page 

Complete if the organization answered "Yes" on Form 990, Part IV, line 28a, 28b, or 28c.
Sharing of

organization's
revenues?

Name of interested person Relationship between interested
person and the organization

Amount of
transaction

Description of
transaction

Provide additional information for responses to questions on Schedule L (see instructions).

Part IV Business Transactions Involving Interested Persons.

Part V Supplemental Information

FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

CAROL DOVER MEMBER, BOARD OF DI 2,500,000.DURING THE X

SCH L, PART IV, BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING INTERESTED PERSONS:

(A) NAME OF PERSON: CAROL DOVER

(B) RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INTERESTED PERSON AND ORGANIZATION:

MEMBER, BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(D) DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION: DURING THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017,

VISIT FLORIDA WAS RELATED TO FLORIDA RESTAURANT AND LODGING ASSOCIATION

(FRLA) BY VIRTUE OF FRLA'S PRESIDENT/CEO BEING A MEMBER OF VISIT

FLORIDA'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS.  THERE ARE CONTRACTS BETWEEN VISIT FLORIDA

AND FRLA.  THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT FOR FY16-17 IS FUNDED BY A DIRECT

APPROPRIATION OF $2,500,000 TO VISIT FLORIDA FROM FLORIDA'S HOTEL AND

RESTAURANT TRUST FUND AND REQUIRES A PRIVATE MATCH.  THE PROGRAM IS

ADMINISTERED JOINTLY BY VISIT FLORIDA AND FRLA.  THE REMAINING FUNDS FROM

THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT FOR FY15-16 OF $94,456 WAS CARRIED FORWARD FOR

A TOTAL OF $2,594,456 RELATED TO THE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT. DURING

FY16-17, $2,201,710 WAS EXPENSED RELATED TO THESE AGREEMENTS.  THE

REMAINING $392,746 WILL BE SPENT IN FY17-18.  IN ADDITION, VISIT FLORIDA

HAS A SPONSORSHIP AGREEMENT TOTALING $150,000 WITH FRLA FOR SEVERAL OF

THEIR PROGRAMS THROUGHOUT THE YEAR.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 44



OMB No. 1545-0047

Department of the Treasury
Internal Revenue Service

632211  08-25-16

Information about Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) and its instructions is at 

Complete to provide information for responses to specific questions on
Form 990 or 990-EZ or to provide any additional information.

| Attach to Form 990 or 990-EZ.
| 

(Form 990 or 990-EZ)

Open to Public
Inspection

Employer identification number

For Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see the Instructions for Form 990 or 990-EZ. Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016)

Name of the organization

LHA

www.irs.gov/form990.

SCHEDULE O Supplemental Information to Form 990 or 990-EZ 2016
FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

FORM 990, PART I, LINE 1, DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION MISSION:

OF TRAVEL AND TOURISM TO FLORIDA WITH THE GOAL OF $100 BILLION IN

TOURISM BY 2020.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4A, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS:

FLORIDA JOBS.

VISITORS SPEND AN AVERAGE OF $307 MILLION PER DAY IN FLORIDA. EVERY 78

VISITORS TO THE STATE SUPPORTS ONE TOURISM JOB. VISIT FLORIDA HAS

SIGNIFICANTLY CONTRIBUTED TO THE CONTINUED INCREASE IN VISITOR

SPENDING, TAX REVENUE AND JOB CREATION.

FROM 2010 TO 2016, VISITOR SPENDING INCREASED BY $33 BILLION, A 43

PERCENT INCREASE. FOR EVERY $1 THE STATE INVESTS IN VISIT FLORIDA,

$2.15 IN TAX REVENUE IS RETURNED. IN 2016, 54.2 PERCENT OF VISITORS

WERE SIGNIFICANTLY INFLUENCED BY VISIT FLORIDA MARKETING EFFORTS (UP

17.3 PERCENTAGE POINTS SINCE 2010).

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4C, PROGRAM SERVICE ACCOMPLISHMENTS:

FLORIDA INDUSTRY TO PARTICIPATE IN THESE EVENTS TO CREATE A LARGER

FLORIDA PRESENCE.

FORM 990, PART III, LINE 4D, OTHER PROGRAM SERVICES:

WEBLISTING AFFILIATE PLATFORM FOR TOURISM-RELATED BUSINESSES. AS OF

JUNE 30, 2017, VISIT FLORIDA HAD 9,946 WEBLISTING AFFILIATES AND 2,535

FULLY ENGAGED MEMBERS (PARTNERS) FOR A TOTAL OF 12,481 TOURISM

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 45



632212  08-25-16

2

Employer identification number

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016)

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016) Page 

Name of the organization FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

BUSINESSES SERVED BY VISIT FLORIDA.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION A, LINE 7A:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS COMPOSED OF 30 TOURISM-RELATED MEMBERS APPOINTED

BY ENTERPRISE FLORIDA, INC. IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION A, LINE 7B:

VISIT FLORIDA WAS CREATED BY, AND OPERATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH, FLORIDA

STATUTE 288.1226. THE ORGANIZATION PROVIDES REPORTS TO ENTERPRISE FLORIDA,

INC. (EFI). EFI IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ANNUALLY CERTIFYING THAT VISIT FLORIDA

IS OPERATING IN A MANNER CONSISTENT WITH THE POLICIES.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 11B:

AFTER REVIEW BY VISIT FLORIDA'S ACCOUNTING MANAGEMENT, AS PREPARED BY AN

INDEPENDENT CPA, A COPY OF THE 990 AND ACCOMPANYING SCHDULES ARE GIVEN TO

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR REVIEW. AFTER THE AUDIT COMMITTEE'S REVIEW THE FORM

990 AND ACCOMPANYING SCHEDULES ARE FILED BY THE INDEPENDENT CPA WITH THE

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CENTER AND THE COMMITTEE REPORTS THEIR REVIEW TO

VISIT FLORIDA'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 12C:

VISIT FLORIDA, AS A PART OF ITS CORPORATE CODE OF ETHICS AND STANDARDS OF

CONDUCT POLICY, HAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT. EACH YEAR, THE BOARD

MEMBERS REAFFIRM VIA ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE THEIR OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE

ADOPTED POLICY. IN ADDITION, THE BOARD MEMBERS ANNUALLY DISCLOSE ANY

TRANSACTIONS ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES, THEIR PRINCIPAL, THEIR PRINCIPAL'S

CORPORATE PARENT(S), OR THEIR PRINCIPAL'S SUBSIDIARIES RELATED TO VISIT

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 46



632212  08-25-16

2

Employer identification number

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016)

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016) Page 

Name of the organization FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

FLORIDA'S PRIVATE MATCH REQUIREMENT.

ADDITIONALLY, VISIT FLORIDA'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES RELATED TO SELECTING

A GOODS OR SERVICE PROVIDERS OUTLINES THAT ALL TRANSACTIONS SHOULD BE

CONDUCTED AT ARM'S LENGTH AND MANAGEMENT SHOULD REFRAIN FROM CONTRACTING OR

ACQUIRING GOODS OR SERVICES FROM FAMILY MEMBERS THAT WILL REPORT OR SEE

DIRECTION DIRECTLY FROM THEM OR A DEPARTMENT MANAGER THAT REPORTS TO THEM.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION B, LINE 15:

UNTIL JANUARY 10, 2017, COMPENSATION FOR THE CEO WAS RECOMMENDED BY THE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ("COMMITTEE") OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND FORWARDED

TO THE BOARD FOR APPROVAL. THE COMMITTEE WOULD WRITE THE CONTRACT FOR THE

CEO AND DETERMINE THE COMPENSATION PACKAGE. EVERY YEAR, THE PACKAGE WAS

REVIEWED TO DETERMINE IF AN INCREASE WOULD BE GIVEN TO THE CEO AS WELL AS

TO EVALUATE THE CEO'S PERFORMANCE FOR THE PAST YEAR TO DECIDE IF HE HAD

EARNED ANY OR ALL OF HIS INCENTIVE PAY.

DURING DECEMBER 2016, THE COMMITTEE WAS AUTHORIZED TO NEGOTIATE A

TRANSITION PLAN FOR THE CURRENT CEO AND BRING THE NEGOTIATED PLAN FORWARD

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE JANUARY 2017 MEETING. DURING THAT MEETING,

THE EXIT STRATEGY AGREEMENT WITH THE OUTGOING CEO WAS UNANIMOUSLY

APPROVED. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ALSO APPROVED THE INCOMING CEO'S SALARY,

NOTING THAT HE WOULD SERVE WITHOUT A CONTRACT AND WOULD BEGIN HIS DUTIES

EFFECTIVE JANUARY 11, 2017. EACH YEAR, THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE WILL

PERFORM A REVIEW OF THE CEO'S PERFORMANCE AND REPORT TO THE BOARD OF

DIRECTORS ANY RECOMMENDATIONS.

COMPENSATION FOR ALL OTHER EMPLOYEES, INCLUDING ALL SENIOR MANAGEMENT

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 47



632212  08-25-16

2

Employer identification number

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016)

Schedule O (Form 990 or 990-EZ) (2016) Page 

Name of the organization FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MARKETING
CORP, INC. 59-3359293

EMPLOYEES, IS DETERMINED BY A SALARY SURVEY THAT IS CONDUCTED BY AN

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR EVERY THREE YEARS AND IS UPDATED BY THE INDEPENDENT

CONTRACTOR ANNUALLY FOR FLORIDA INDUSTRY AVERAGE INCREASES WITHIN EACH

POSITION'S SALARY RANGE. IN ADDITION, ALL EMPLOYEES RECEIVE AN ANNUAL

PERFORMANCE REVIEW. SALARY INCREASES ARE DETERMINED BY THE PERFORMANCE

REVIEW AND WHERE THE EMPLOYEE FALLS IN THEIR POSITION'S SALARY RANGE. MERIT

INCREASES TO SALARIES WERE LAST GIVEN IN AUGUST 2016. THE LAST SALARY

SURVEY WAS CONDUCTED IN 2014.

FORM 990, PART VI, SECTION C, LINE 19:

VISIT FLORIDA'S GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY AND

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE MOST RECENT YEARS ARE MADE AVAILABLE TO

THE PUBLIC UPON REQUEST. THE MOST RECENT AUDIT, AS WELL AS FORM 990 AND ITS

ACCOMPANYING SCHEDULES ARE AVAILABLE ON THE ORGANIZATION'S WEBSITE. THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ARE PROVIDED TO THE FINANCE COMMITTEE AND BOARD

MEMBERS AT THE BOARD MEETINGS. THE FINANCIALS ARE DISCUSSED IN DETAIL AT

THE FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETTING AND IN SUMMARY DURING THE BOARD MEETING,

WHICH ARE BOTH OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.

FORM 990, PART XII, LINE 2C:

THE PROCESS HAS NOT CHANGED FROM THE PRIOR YEAR.

08470511 783925 45-05242.000  2016.05070 FLORIDA TOURISM INDUSTRY MA 45-05HQ1
 48























































































5
S 
I
S'

Q)
3.
o
-*»

S
<B
t3
c
Cr

S
o
o
S.
S’
"T

Sr
S"

3
o
<B
g»
a'

<Q

3  
cd rr
D

3  CD
c   

15 a>
§ SCD §
§ 21
g ®

Q)

Cr
CD

0)
S'-

Q.

S- 2o O
C  cj--

o'
CD 3

3 §

"O
c

d-g:
o

3' S'
5fc C 

Cr §'
3 O'«¦ a

3 
3 sr0) 2
5. C 
® 3

0) "S
O  

3 3
0)
a

¦g t3
C 

2 C 
O O
3  Co CO
0) s
CO 5.

° I
Co ,2
Co CQ
§: S'
® CO

3
0)  D
a c5
o-  5c~

?
f 

0)
a.
0)

a>

>
3U

Q
Q)
12D-

CQ
0)

( 
_Q
C
0
V)

O
r

0
n"

-<
00

E

o
cr
cr

(/>'
i +*

0
CQ
0 
0
0
Q.

0
CQ
tt 
0
r Kc
-s
0

a-
C  

<
00

73
0

5
s00

0
13
13"

CQ

Q.
0
o
ZT
0
3
cr
0

O
o
3
3
0
iO

0

(/)
"D
0
0¦

0 
CQ

~n
o

>Q
0

13
ho

3 £2
0 CD

S 
D

3 <
® S.

Q  
0 (/)

s 0
§. 0

ll
L ¦ ¦

N
¦o-

a-
co"

a' 
S’ =3

g £
O'  D
a o
3-*
o'

5
CD

<?
o 0
3.  
s Z 0

>
Q.
Q.
i000

H £2
0 2 00

S. 03
IT (f)
00 DO
0 ~s
0 O
0 13

O
C

CQ"

)
l t*

T|
r_

0 
NO
0 o
""

m 0

0
3
o
Q"" 0

o' 00
zr on
Q o
0 cl O
Z3 ho

@
too o17

) o
3
cr
0
b
o
3

O
o-

0
"D
o
o'

<<

0
3
0
o
0
o
Z3
C_
O
zr
13
0
O
Q

|
O

"Q
o'

CL
0

I
O
c
0'

3
0
?c
0
Z3

CQ

a>

|
s
Cr

00

0

~nI
00

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



While itJs a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeetipg. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.Tnis form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



Appearing at request of Chair:   Yes f feo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 1 Yes I I NoWhile it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)

73
(D

TS
CD
0)

3 
(Q

C 
T5
CD
0)

CQ

>
CL
Cl

V)
V)

O
cr
H

0
3
0

o
13
o'

B
n
o

>
(Q
0 

0)

C 
cB
CD¦'-K

I -

T

( ~

\j

v V, 

\ '' i

m "0

3
0

zr
0
3
0

0)¦Q
D

I
r

D

§'
Cr

APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)



While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony  time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at thismeeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14) >
TS

3
CD
CD
13

(Q
C 

CD
JO
c
CD
)

O
3"

n"

C 

o
cr
cr
*<
( 

CD
CQ
i '
f  *
C 
-I
CD
Q.

CQ

0)
r"+*
c
-5

§
0
in

C 
3

73
0
0

0 7 u 3-
s CQ0

in 0 C 
C3-

0
3 R" __   B

C J3' L_ \
CQ

¦nt

¦C 

$

0

0

O
¦g
o'

>
Q
)

=3
o'

3   
0) S'
g. gr
3

CD S.

Q 0
5f  )
s  
5. C 

ll
Q.    

Ckj

>-.

m
3
0

S 

o' ~o
Z2 O

?
to

o 0
3. 3

i

V 

S 

*

0}-O
¦O

Cr

s
CD
S'

D
0)
S'-

S'
<«y'~

&

03

CD
3¦o
O'
05
Cr
S'

4J

fc.

?
E
S
2
s
Si
o
o
%
o

ii?
0

1
s?I
3



 

 

SENATOR VICTOR M. TORRES, JR. 
15th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
 
 
COMMITTEES: 
Commerce and Tourism, Vice Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, 
   Tourism, and Economic Development 
Children, Families, and Elder Affairs 
Governmental Oversight and Accountability 
Military and Veterans Affairs and Space 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Select Committee on Collective Bargaining 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   101 Church Street, Suite 305, Kissimmee, Florida 34741  (407) 846-5187  FAX: (850) 410-4817 
   226 Senate Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5015 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 BILL GALVANO DAVID SIMMONS 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

February 11, 2019 

 

Joe Gruters, Chair 

Commerce and Tourism 

404 S. Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 

 

 

RE: Request for excusal from February 11, 2019 committee meeting 

 

 

Dear Chair Gruters: 

 

Due to a family medical issue, I am unable to attend today’s meeting of the Committee on 

Commerce and Tourism.  Please accept this letter as a formal request for excusal of this absence.  

Please let me know if you have any questions or need any additional information. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
 

Victor M. Torres, Jr. 

Florida State Senator 

District 15 

 

 

c: Todd McKay, Staff Director, Committee on Commerce and Tourism 

    Lisa Vickers, Chief of Staff, President Negron 



 

 

SENATOR LINDA STEWART 
13th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

  
 
COMMITTEES: 
Environmental Preservation and  
   Conservation, Vice Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on the Environment 
   and Natural Resources 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Higher 
   Education 
Education 
Governmental Oversight and Accountability 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Committee on Public Counsel Oversight 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   1726 S. Bumby Avenue, Orlando, Florida 32806  (407) 893-2422  FAX: (888) 263-3680 
   205 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5013 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 JOE NEGRON ANITERE FLORES 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

February 11, 2019 
 
 
The Honorable Joe Gruters, Chair 
Commerce and Tourism Committee 
404 South Monroe Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 
 
Dear Chair Gruters: 
 
Please accept this letter as notice that I will be absent for the beginning of the Commerce and 
Tourism Committee on Monday, February 11, 2019.  I have Senate Bill 130 relating to Sexual 
Battery Prosecution Time Limitation in the Criminal Justice Committee scheduled for a hearing 
during that time.  I will join Commerce and Tourism upon conclusion of my bill presentation. 
 
If I or my staff can be of any assistance to you, please do not hesitate to reach out to me. Thank 
you for your consideration and understanding. 
 
 
Respectfully, 
 
 
 
Linda 
 
 
 
 
c.c. Todd McKay, Staff Director 
       Madeline Reeve, Administrative Assistant 
 



CourtSmart Tag Report 
 
Room: EL 110 Case No.:  Type:  
Caption: Senate Commerce Committee Judge:  
 
Started: 2/11/2019 2:31:06 PM 
Ends: 2/11/2019 2:58:11 PM Length: 00:27:06 
 
2:31:09 PM Chair Gruters calls committee to order 
2:31:22 PM AA calls roll 
2:31:31 PM Chair's comments 
2:31:52 PM SB 180, Sen. Stargel 
2:32:23 PM SB 180, Sen. Stargel 
2:33:22 PM Sen. Stargel explains bill 
2:33:35 PM AA calls roll on SB 180 
2:33:48 PM SB 180 reported favorably 
2:34:33 PM Presentation Visit FL, Dana Young 
2:46:05 PM Question Sen. Hutson 
2:46:20 PM Response Sen. Young 
2:46:53 PM Chair Gruters end presentation 
2:47:01 PM SB 414, Sen. Lee 
2:51:02 PM Comments by Chair 
2:51:13 PM Response by bill sponsor 
2:51:33 PM Phillip Swderman, Policy Dir, Americans for Prosperity FL speaking for the bill 
2:53:06 PM Close by Sen. Lee 
2:53:16 PM Roll call on SB 414 
2:53:30 PM Bill reported favorably 
2:53:36 PM SB 298, Sen. Montford 
2:55:28 PM Waive close 
2:55:43 PM Roll call, favorably report 
2:55:58 PM Sen. Hutson chairs and calls Sen. Gruters to report SB 178 
2:57:12 PM Sen. Gruters waives close 
2:57:23 PM Roll call on bill and reported favorably 
2:57:45 PM Sen. Wright moves adjourn 


	Intro
	Bill and Amendment List Report
	Expanded Agenda (Long)

	Tab 1
	S00180
	CM Bill Analysis 2/11/2019
	00180__
	SB 180 appearances.pdf


	Tab 2
	S00298
	CM Bill Analysis 2/11/2019
	00298__
	DOR Rural Development Analysis.pdf
	SB 298 appearances.pdf
	SB 298 - Annual Incentives Report.pdf


	Tab 3
	S00414
	CM Bill Analysis 2/11/2019
	00414__
	SB 414 - DEO Letter Sports Development.pdf
	SB 414 - Professional Sports Franchise distributions.pdf
	SB 414 appearances.pdf


	Tab 4
	Comment
	Final_Presentation 2.11.19.pdf


	Tab 5
	S00178
	CM Bill Analysis 2/11/2019
	00178__
	SB 178 - 2018 DEO DSO Report.pdf
	SB 178 - Visit Florida DEO Agreement FY 17 18.pdf
	SB 178 appearances.pdf

	Comment
	Torres Excuse Letter.pdf
	Stewart Excuse Letter.pdf
	2.11.19 TagReport.pdf





